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HOW
CAN WE
HELP YOU?

Who are we?

How does SOLACE work?

What needs are addressed?

SOLACE is a program of the State

If you or someone in the legal
community is in need of help, simply
email SOLACE@gabar.org. Those emails
are then reviewed by the SOLACE
Committee. If the need fits within the
parameters of the program, an email
with the pertinent information is sent
to members of the State Bar.

Needs addressed by the SOLACE
program can range from unique medical
conditions requiring specialized referrals
to a fire loss requiring help with clothing,
food or housing. Some other examples
of assistance include gift cards, food,
meals, a rare blood type donation,
assistance with transportation in a
medical crisis or building a wheelchair
ramp at a residence.

Bar of Georgia designed to assist
those in the legal community who
have experienced some significant,
potentially life-changing event in their
lives. SOLACE is voluntary, simple and
straightforward. SOLACE does not
solicit monetary contributions but
accepts assistance or donations in kind.

Contact SOLACE@gabar.org for help.

The purpose of the SOLACE program is to allow the legal community to
provide help in meaningful and compassionate ways to judges, lawyers,
court personnel, paralegals, legal secretaries and their families who
experience loss of life or other catastrophic illness, sickness or injury.

TESTIMONIALS
In each of the Georgia SOLACE requests made to date, Bar members have graciously
stepped up and used their resources to help find solutions for those in need.
A solo practitioner’s
quadriplegic wife needed
rehabilitation, and members
of the Bar helped navigate
discussions with their
insurance company to obtain
the rehabilitation she required.

A Louisiana lawyer was in need
of a CPAP machine, but didn’t
have insurance or the means
to purchase one. Multiple
members offered to help.

A Bar member was dealing
with a serious illness and in
the midst of brain surgery,
her mortgage company
scheduled a foreclosure on
her home. Several members
of the Bar were able to
negotiate with the mortgage
company and avoided the
pending foreclosure.

Working with the South
Carolina Bar, a former
paralegal’s son was flown
from Cyprus to Atlanta
(and then to South Carolina)
for cancer treatment.
Members of the Georgia and
South Carolina bars worked
together to get Gabriel and
his family home from their
long-term mission work.

Contact SOLACE@gabar.org for help.

FOREWORD

Dear ICLE Seminar Attendee,
Thank you for attending this seminar. We are grateful to the Chairperson(s) for organizing this
program. Also, we would like to thank the volunteer speakers. Without the untiring dedication
and eﬀorts of the Chairperson(s) and speakers, this seminar would not have been possible.
Their names are listed on the AGENDA page(s) of this book, and their contributions to the success
of this seminar are immeasurable.
We would be remiss if we did not extend a special thanks to each of you who are attending this
seminar and for whom the program was planned. All of us at ICLE hope your attendance will
be beneﬁcial as well as enjoyable We think that these program materials will provide a great
initial resource and reference for you.
If you discover any substantial errors within this volume, please do not hesitate to inform us.
Should you have a diﬀerent legal interpretation/opinion from the speaker’s, the appropriate
way to address this is by contacting him/her directly.
Your comments and suggestions are always welcome.
Sincerely,
Your ICLE Staﬀ
Jeﬀrey R. Davis
Executive Director, State Bar of Georgia
Tangela S. King
Director, ICLE
Rebecca A. Hall
Associate Director, ICLE
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Peter W. Carter
Executive Vice President - Chief Legal Officer & Corporate Secretary
Delta Air Lines, Inc.
Peter Carter has served as Delta’s Executive Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and
Corporate Secretary since July of 2015. As Chief Legal Officer, Peter oversees Delta’s legal
and government affairs worldwide. Before joining Delta, Peter was a partner at the
international law firm Dorsey & Whitney LLP, where he chaired the firm’s Policy Committee
and the Securities Litigation and Enforcement practice group. He is a Fellow of the
American College of Trial Lawyers and has been recognized by numerous organizations
and publications including being named one of the Best Lawyers in America for Bet-theCompany and Commercial Litigation, one of "America's Leading Business Lawyers" by
Chambers USA, and Antitrust Lawyer of the year in 2013 by Best Lawyers in America.
Before joining Dorsey, Peter clerked for Judge James B. Loken at the U.S. Court of Appeals
for the Eighth Circuit. Peter serves as a member of the Boards of the United Way, Alliance
Theater and the Georgia Chamber of Commerce, and was appointed to serve on Governor
Nathan Deal’s Judicial Selection Task Force.

Alan Rosselot
Alan Rosselot is an Assistant General Counsel in the legal department at Delta Air Lines. Alan
joined Delta in 2004 where his practice has largely been in the areas of securities, capital
markets, corporate governance and major transactions, including Delta’s merger with Northwest
Airlines in 2009. As a member of the department’s Securities and Corporate Governance team,
Alan currently has primary responsibility for the legal aspects of Delta’s capital markets
transactions and the company’s compliance with securities laws, including preparation of the
company’s proxy statement. He also supports the Corporate Secretary function of the company.
Alan leads the Delta Law Department’s pro bono committee and serves on the Boards of
Directors of Pro Bono Partnership of Atlanta and Camp Sunshine. Prior to joining Delta, Alan
was an associate with Kilpatrick Stockton (now Kilpatrick Townsend & Stockton) in the firm’s
Corporate and Securities practice. Alan is a graduate of Davidson College and the University of
Georgia School of Law.

Michael Shumaker
Michael Shumaker is Assistant General Counsel of SunTrust Banks, Inc., and is a member of its
Corporate Legal Team focused on the Company’s corporate governance, treasury management,
securities reporting, and strategic acquisitions and divestitures. Mr. Shumaker also devotes a
considerable amount of his practice to the Company’s strategic investments and relationships,
including with financial technology firms nationwide. Mr. Shumaker also provides advice to
SunTrust Robinson Humphrey, Inc., SunTrust’s investment bank, on a variety of matters.
Prior to joining SunTrust, Mr. Shumaker was a member of the Financial Services – Corporate
and Regulatory Team at Bryan Cave LLP in Atlanta, advising private equity and financial
institution clients on a variety of matters. He is a graduate of the University of Georgia and the
University of North Carolina School of Law.

A. Michelle (Shelli) Willis
SunTrust Bank, SVP and Deputy General
Counsel, Corporate Legal Team, SunTrust
Public Affairs

In her current role as a senior leader on a corporate legal team, Shelli partners with relevant stakeholders to achieve
business goals while minimizing risk, particularly legal, regulatory compliance, and reputational risk. As an example, she
recently restructured a company insider trading policy and framework, together with controls for cyber and data
incident notifications, in conformity with current SEC guidance. As Assistant Corporate Secretary to the SunTrust Board
of Directors and Governance and Nominating Committee, Shelli has also centralized and created quality controls for
Board reporting and approvals, and developed a framework for a unified approach to company multi-state expansion.
Shelli’s experience in representing financial institutions has provided broad expertise in finance, legal, and regulatory
issues so that she can identify potential issues before they become a crisis. Her experience extends from corporate
governance, social responsibility, and investor relations, to cyber and information security matters, and collaborative
thought leadership delivering creative legal and business solutions.
Shelli currently leads the SunTrust Corporate Legal Team and during her SunTrust career has held a number of
leadership roles that broadened her skills including leading the Wholesale Lending, Treasury & Payments, Employment,
and Procurement Contracting Legal Teams. Prior to joining SunTrust, she was a partner at the law firm Troutman
Sanders, where she was head Firm partner for the workout team for a national banking institution and a founding
member of the Firm’s Women’s Forum.
As a community leader, Shelli serves on the Advisory Board, HouseATL Affordable Housing Task Force and Capital
Markets Council for Urban Land Institute Atlanta. She is also a member of The Trust for Public Land’s Georgia Advisory
Council and chairs its Urban Parks Committee. She is a frequent speaker on topics such as real estate, finance, cyber
security, diversity, and sustainability, and has been recognized for her support of diversity and inclusion efforts by the
National Diversity Counsel.
Shelli earned her undergraduate degree from Duke University, cum laude, and her J.D. from Emory University, where
she graduated Order of the Coif and served as an editor for the Emory Law Journal. She recently completed a Goizueta
Business School, Emory Executive Education, Advanced Leadership Program conducted in partnership with SunTrust.
Shelli lives with her family in Atlanta, Georgia.

A. Michelle (Shelli) Willis, SunTrust Bank, SVP and Deputy General Counsel,
willisam@comcast.net, 404-217-9020
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The Rise Of Federal Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) Whistleblowing Claims

Thomas J Munger, Esq.
Munger & Stone, LLP
999 Peachtree Street, NE
Suite 2850
Atlanta, Georgia 30309
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Introduction
Claims of retaliation for engaging in protected activity under federal law are the fastest growing area in
employment law From 2002 to 2018, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission ("EEOC")
reported a 70% increase in retaliation claims such that almost half of its charge case load includes a
retaliation claim.
Employment law experts generally believe that it is harder to defend a retaliation claim than a
discrimination claim. There are many federal court suits where discrimination claims fail on summary
judgment but attendant retaliation claims are sent to trial. Retaliation claims by members of
management up to the C-suite can be particularly difficult to defend and can have particularly damaging
ramifications both within the litigation forum and in the public domain. A belief that a corporate leader
who claims that the corporation is violating some law has betrayed his or her loyalty to the company can
lead down a troubling path, beginning with ostracization and possibly leading to termination. At the
same time, there are cases where leaders have sought to stave off expected and lawful discipline or
poor evaluations for performance or conduct issues by claiming protection under an anti-retaliation
statute. The varying contexts of retaliation claims necessitate a carefully planned and executed strategy
to avoid the many pitfalls that can be presented.
Many states, including Florida and California have statutory or common law protection for employees
who have been retaliated against by their employers for reporting or opposing alleged unlawful
conduct.1 However, the most commonly filed whistleblowing retaliation claims are under federal law.
As noted above, the EEOC oversees enforcement of retaliation claims under the federal civil rights laws,
including Title VII. Other divisions of the U.S. Department of Labor oversee enforcement of a network of
20 different whistleblower statutes. Many of those statutes focus on particular industries such as the
nuclear power industry (the Energy Reorganization Act) or the airline industry (commonly referred to as
AIR21). However, since its passage in 2002, whistleblowing claims under Section 806 of Sarbanes-Oxley,
18 USC §1514A ("SOX"), have become the most wide-reaching. In recent years, the scope of SOX has
grown both with federal agency and court interpretations and with statutory expansions of SOX under
the 2010 Dodd-Frank statute.
This paper provides an overview of SOX (with an emphasis on recent interpretations and developments
under the law) aimed at an audience of in-house counsel. While other federal and state law
whistleblowing laws differ from SOX in many respects, SOX law both explicitly and implicitly had
borrowed from other whistleblower statutes both in language and interpretation.2 Thus, a general
understanding of SOX claims is a good framework for being sensitive to the array of risks created by
whistleblower statutes generally.

1

Georgia has a whistleblower statute that applies only to public employees. O.C.G.A. § 45-1-4. Thus, employees
of private employers in Georgia may seek to file whistleblower claims under one or more of the federal law
whistleblower statutes.
2
For example, SOX law expressly draws both substantively and procedurally from AIR21 – the airline whistleblower
law. 49 U.S.C. § 42121. Thus, some of the cases cited herein are under AIR21 or other federal whistleblower cases
that are deemed to be analogous to SOX.

2

Whistleblower Claims Under The Sarbanes Oxley Act ("SOX claims")
Who can file and who can be liable for SOX claims?
It was clear in 2002 from the statute, that an employee of a publicly-traded company can file a SOX
claim and that a publicly-traded company can be liable for such a claim. 18 U.S.C. § 1514A. However,
after disagreement amongst courts, the 2010 Dodd-Frank statute made it clear that a non-public
subsidiary of a publicly traded company can also be liable under SOX. Moreover, SOX reaches claims by
employees of contractors, subcontractors, and agents of public companies. In Lawson v. FMR, 134 S. Ct.
1158 (2014), the U.S. Supreme Court held that employees of a privately-held investment company which
provided services to a mutual fund, such as preparing reports that were required to be filed under
Section 15(d) of the Securities And Exchange Act, could be liable under SOX. Justice Sotomayor
dissented and wrote that the holding would mean that a claim could be filed by a babysitter "if the
parent stops employing the babysitter after he expressed concern that the parent's teenage son may
have participated in an internet fraud." Thus, many hold this decision to broaden the scope of SOX in a
significant way.
What are categories of protected conduct under SOX?
Protected conduct under SOX occurs if an employee provides information, causes information to be
provided, or otherwise assists in an investigation regarding any conduct which the employee reasonably
believes constitutes a violation of section 1341 (mail fraud), 1343 (wire fraud), 1344 (bank fraud) or
1348 (securities fraud), any rule or regulation of the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any
provision of Federal law relating to fraud against shareholders, when the information or assistance is
provided to or the investigation is conducted by: (1) a Federal regulatory or law enforcement agency;
(2) any Member of Congress or any committee of Congress; or (3) a person with supervisory authority
over the employee or such other person working for the employer who has authority to investigate,
discovery or terminate misconduct. 18 U.S.C. § 1514A.
Protected conduct also occurs where an employee files, causes to be filed, testifies, participates in, or
otherwise assists in a proceeding filed or about to be filed (with any knowledge by the employer)
relating to any of alleged violations cited above. Id.
What internal complaints/reports are protected under SOX?
Shortly after SOX was passed, a number of courts held that reports must be related to claims of
shareholder fraud in order to be protected under SOX. However, in Reyna v. ConAgra Foods, Inc., 506 F.
Supp. 2d 1363 (M.D. Ga. 2007), the court held that a report of mail fraud, wire fraud or bank fraud can
amount to SOX protected conduct even if the alleged fraud is not related to shareholder fraud. Thus, in
Reyna, the employer lost summary judgment on a claim by two HR employees who claimed SOX
protected conduct in: (1) reporting that their HR manager fabricated a false Social Security card for an
employee whose I-9 form had expired; and (2) that a manager sought to have two individuals added to
his company health insurance plan coverage on the claim that they were his wife and daughter when
the plaintiffs had reason to suspect that they two individuals were his sister and his niece. The plaintiffs
were terminated allegedly because they breached confidentiality in accessing computer records about
the health insurance coverage request, but the court denied summary judgment on SOX claims by the
plaintiffs.
3

In 2011, the Department of Labor (through its Administrative Review Board, or ARB) expressly held that
a report need not be connected to fraud on shareholders to be protected under SOX and held that in
essence a report of any corporate fraud can trigger protected conduct. Sylvester v. Parexel Int'l, LLC,
ARB No. 07-123 (May 25, 2011). The ARB also rejected a line of authority stating that a report must be
"definitive and have a special relationship" with one of the laws enumerated in SOX (such as mail fraud
or wire fraud) to be protected. Instead, the ARB held that the employee must subjectively believe that
there is a violation, and that belief must be a reasonable one. The complainant need not prove an
actual violation, nor must the complainant specifically cite a legal provision he or she believes to have
been violated when making a protected conduct report or complaint. The complainant also need not
prove that the fraud was criminal. The ARB also held in Sylvester that an employee engages in protected
conduct if he or she reasonably reports that a violation is about to occur based on a belief grounded in
facts known to the employee. In contrast, speculation that nonfraudulent activity might ultimately lead
to financial losses and fraud on shareholders has been held to be insufficient to be protected under SOX.
Satarian v. American DG Energy, Inc., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 59684 (D. N.J. April 30, 2014)(plaintiff was
engineer who had not special knowledge of or involvement in company's tax and accounting practice).
In Sharkey v. J.P. Morgan, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 139761 (S.D.N.Y. 2010). the court held that a SOX claim
by an employee of J.P. Morgan alleging that a long-term client of the firm was engaged in mail and bank
fraud survived a motion to dismiss. In Funke v. Federal Express Corp., ARB Case 09-004 (July 11, 2011)
the ARB held that the fraud in question need not be on the part of the employer. The plaintiffs alleged
that a Federal Express customer was using Federal Express to ship fraudulent money orders.
The notion that a report be one that results from a subjective and objectively reasonable belief in a
violation is to be interpreted liberally. Gale v. U.S. Dept. of Labor, 384 Fed. Appx. 926 (11th Cir. 2010).
The objectively reasonable standard is based on the knowledge available to a reasonable person in the
same factual circumstances with the same training and experience as the employee who made the
report. Harp v. Charity Comm. Inc., 558 F.3d 722 (7th Cir. 2009). Thus, an employee with less
experience and training may have a lower burden to show this his or her belief was objectively
reasonable. For example, in Peres v. Progenics Pharmaceuticals, 965 F. Supp. 2d 353 (S.D.N.Y. 2013), the
court held that an employee without knowledge in securities law could reasonable conclude that a
company press release that he found to be misleading could be securities fraud or a violation of an SEC
regulation, or law relating to shareholder fraud.
An example of the reach of SOX is found in cases like Dietz v. Cypress Semiconductor Corp., ARB Case
No. 15-017 (ARB March 30, 2016). There, the employee worked for a company acquiring another
company. The acquiring company announced a bonus program for employees of the company to be
acquired. The employee internally complained that the bonus plan violated state wage laws and that
material parts of the plan were not disclosed to the acquiring company employees. The employee
alleged this was protected under SOX. The respondent argued that state laws are not covered by SOX.
However, the ARB held that was not dispositive because the employee alleged what would amount to
wire fraud when the employer made representations by wire that amounted to misrepresentations
about the bonus plan by concealing material facts about the plan.
Where can SOX complaints be filed?
The complainant must initially file a SOX complaint with OSHA at the DOL. This can be done in person,
by mail or on-line. The filing deadline is 180 days from the challenged action. If OSHA does not issue a
final decision within 180 days from the filing of the complaint, the employee can withdraw his complaint
4

from OSHA and file a SOX suit directly in federal court. It is fairly rare that OSHA issues a final decision
within 180 days of the complaint. However, while some complainants file a federal court action, most
stay within the DOL forum -- perhaps because of the possibility for a relatively quick resolution of
disputes in that forum, the difficulty for employers to obtain summary judgment in that forum and
because, overall, employees generally fare better before Administrative Law Judges. Further, the
somewhat limited remedies available under SOX (including the lack of punitive damages) may make the
delay and expense of a jury trial less appealing.
What happens in a DOL/OSHA investigation of a SOX complaint?
Typically, following the filing of an OSHA Complaint, OSHA sends notice of the complaint to the
employer and asks for a position statement. An OSHA investigator communicates with the employer
(normally an HR employee or legal counsel) and the complaining party (through his or her lawyer if
represented) and investigates the complaint. The investigation normally involves a request for
information and documents. OSHA can issue subpoenas for documents and sometimes interviews
witnesses as part of its investigation.
Ultimately, there is a finding by OSHA on whether there is sufficient basis to conclude that a violation
has occurred. If OSHA finds a violation, there is a provision that allows it to order immediate
reinstatement of a terminated complainant. This issue creates due process issues and jurisdiction
issues addressed in Bechtel v. Competitive Tech, Inc., 448 F.3d 469 (2nd Cir. 2006). However, employers
should be aware that OSHA sometimes orders immediate reinstatement.
After a finding by OSHA, either party has 30 days to object to the finding and request a hearing with the
Office of Administrative Law Judges ("OALJ"). An ALJ is then assigned the case. Sometimes the ALJ
simply issues a Notice of Hearing with dates and locale for a hearing and pre-hearing deadlines and
other times the ALJ schedules a phone conference with the parties to determine a schedule for the case.
Discovery typically begins quickly. While Motions to Dismiss are permitted, they are rarely granted
(unless the claim is clearly untimely) and usually do not stay discovery.
It is worth noting that, under the Dodd-Frank amendments, absent possibly a collective bargaining
agreement, a mandatory arbitration agreement between the employer and employee does not prevent
the employee from litigating a claim at the DOL.
How are SOX claims litigated?
The process before an Administrative Law Judge is similar to but different in key respects from the
process in federal court. Under the applicable rules, the hearing is supposed to be scheduled in a short
time frame but that rule is sometimes honored in the breach because the schedule of the ALJ. The
parties are entitled to discovery under rules that are similar to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
There is an opportunity for the parties to move for judgment as a matter of law before a hearing
(analogous to a Motion for Summary Judgment and referred to as a Motion for Summary Decision). The
hearing is de novo (the OSHA finding carries no weight officially). The Federal Rules of Evidence do not
specifically apply. The ALJ is required by the rules to issue a decision within 120 days of the hearing but
that is frequently ignored. After the ALJ issues his finding, any party has 10 days to file a petition with
the ARB for review. The ARB consists of five members appointed by the President. The ARB may or may
not accept review. If the ARB does not accept review or if it does so and issues a decision, a party can
then file an appeal with a federal circuit court of appeals. 49 U.S.C. § 42121(b)(4).
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What are the burdens of proof in a SOX claim?
The complainant bears the initial burden of proof. He or she must prove by a preponderance of the
evidence that: (1) he/she engaged in protected activity; (2) [t]he employer knew that he/she engaged in
the protected activity; (3) the employer took an adverse personnel action against him/her, and (4) the
protected activity was a contributing factor to the adverse action. Palmer v. Canadian National Rwy.,
ARB Case No. 16-035 (Sept. 30, 2016). “To prove a fact by a preponderance of the evidence means to
show that the fact is more likely than not.” Palmer, at * 19. The question on this burden is “[D]id the
employees’ protected activity, play a role, any role, in the adverse action?” Palmer, at * 55.
In Palmer, the ARB held that, in determining whether the complainant met his contributing factor
burden, “ALJs are not required to disregard any of the evidence the respondent might offer to show that
the protected activity did not contribute to the adverse action.” Id. at * 15. The ARB stated, “Moreover,
there are no limitations on the types of evidence an ALJ may consider when determining whether a
complainant has demonstrated that protected activity was a contributing factor in the adverse action . .
.” Id. Thus, where “the employer’s theory of the case is that protected activity played no role
whatsoever in the adverse action, the ALJ must consider the employer’s evidence of its nonretaliatory
reasons in order to determine whether protected activity was a contributing factor in the adverse
action.” Id. at * 16.
In assessing the contributing factor burden, ALJs have listed the types of evidence that can support a
finding that the burden was met. For example, in Lee v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 2014 FRS-00022 (ALJ,
Feb. 18, 2015), the ALJ identified the following types of contributing factor evidence:
•
•
•
•
•

Close temporal proximity between the protected activity and the adverse action
Shifting explanations by the employer as to the reason(s) for the adverse action
Inconsistent application of policies to the complainant with respect to the adverse
action
Proof of hostility and antagonism by adverse action decision-maker(s) towards the
complainant regarding his protected activity
The expressed attitude of the employer’s decision-makers regarding the protected
activity

Id. at * 8. See also Evans v. Gainey Transp. Services, Inc., Case No. 2007-STA-00004 (ALJ, April 10,
2007)(examining the same factors to determine a complainant did not meet his contributing factor
burden).
Other ALJ’s have identified evidence that undermines and may prevent a finding that a complainant met
his or her contributing factor burden. Such evidence includes:
•

•

A lack of temporal proximity between the adverse action and the protected activity. Lewis v.
Netjets Large Aircraft, Inc., Co., 2006-AIR-15 at * 6 (ALJ, July 2, 2007)(where gap of 11 months
between protected activity and adverse action, summary decision to employer on lack of
causation).
An intervening event between the protected activity and the adverse action. “For example,
‘inferring a causal relationship between the protected activity and the adverse action is not
logical when the two are separated by an intervening event that independently could have
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•

caused the adverse employment action’.” Mizusawa v. United Parcel Service, 2010-AIR-00011 at
13 (ALJ, October 21, 2010)(citations omitted).
Issues regarding the complainant’s performance addressed with the complainant before the
protected activity. Robinson v. Morgan Stanley, 2005-SOX-44 (ALJ, March 26, 2007).

In Robinson, the complainant was terminated after she engaged in protected activity. In finding that she
had not met her contributing factor burden, the ALJ relied on undisputed evidence that the employer
had addressed performance issues with the complainant before the protected activity occurred –
including that she needed to improve in her teamwork, professionalism of her communications, and
acceptance of feedback. Id. at * 123. The ALJ found that such pre-protected problems established “a
reasonable foundation unrelated to any SOX protected activity for the employment actions taken by her
supervisor in 2004 [after the protected activity] when the same performance deficiencies persisted.” Id.
at * 123.
If the complainant meets his or her contributing factor burden, the burden shifts to the employer -- and
the burden is relatively high. The employer prevails if it establishes with clear and convincing evidence
that, in the absence of the protected activity, it would have taken the same adverse action. Palmer,
supra. at * 60. Clear and convincing evidence is generally considered an intermediate level of burden,
i.e., more than a preponderance of evidence but less than a beyond a reasonable doubt burden. Id.
This burden has been described as being met if the ALJ finds that it is “highly probable” (some estimate
a 70% probability) that the employer would have taken the same adverse action in the absence of the
protected activity. Id.
In Raulerson v. CSX Transportation, Inc., Case No. 2013-FRS-00021 (Feb. 18, 2016), the ALJ identified the
types of evidence that could support a finding that an employer has met this burden:
•
•
•
•
•

Lack of temporal proximity
The complainant’s work record
Employer policies
Evidence of other employees who suffered the same adverse action
The proportional relationship between the adverse actions and the bases for the actions.

Id. at * 120 (citing Speegle v. Stone & Webster Constr., Inc., ARB Case No. 13-074 (ARB, April 25, 2014).
It is important to note that the burdens under SOX are friendlier to complainants than the burdens on
plaintiffs in retaliation claims under other federal anti-discrimination laws such as Title VII. Generally
speaking, under Title VII, employers are not faced with a "clear and convincing evidence" burden simply
because the plaintiff presents a standard prima facie case of discrimination or retaliation.
What remedies can be obtained under SOX?
A prevailing complainant can obtain reinstatement (or front pay in lieu of reinstatement), back pay,
consequential damages, and attorneys/experts fees and costs. 49 USC § 421121(b)(3).
The ARB considers emotional distress damages as recoverable under the consequential damages
provision. In Sulfer v. Playboy Enterprises, Inc., 2014 WL 189246 (C.D. Cal. March 5, 2014), the plaintiff
obtained a $6 million compensatory damages verdict in a SOX claim. She had objected internally to a
reserve account being created for executive bonuses that had not been properly reviewed and
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approved. This was the largest such award, and the case was settled before it was subject to appellate
review.
In addition, the ARB has allowed damages for "loss of reputation" for having been exposed as a
whistleblower (both loss of reputation within the employer and outside the employer). Menendez v.
Halliburton, Inc., ARB Case No. 12-026 (March 15, 2013). The ARB allowed such damages even when
characterized as "intangible professional damage."
Can in-house counsel use privileged communications to support a SOX claim?
Generally, the answer is yes. While there are some contrary minority view decisions, generally speaking
an in-house attorney can use privileged and confidential material if necessary to prosecute his
whistleblowing claim. The most important recent decision in this area is Wadler v. Bio-Rad Laboratories,
Inc., Case No. 3:15-02356 (N.D Cal.). The plaintiff was a General Counsel who reported internally that
the company was possibly violating the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (FCPA) with respect to its China
operations. His report was investigated under the auspices of the company's audit committee utilizing
outside counsel. The conclusion was that there was no such violation of the FCPA. The GC was then
terminated purportedly because of poor performance and behavior issues the employer claimed was
unrelated to his FCPA report.
The plaintiff filed complaints with the SEC and OSHA (under SOX and Dodd-Frank). During those
investigations, the employer submitted a PowerPoint that was used internally to support the conclusion
of no FCPA violation and also revealed the specifics of the plaintiff's report – making no claim of
privilege on these communications. In addition, the employer did not object on privilege grounds until
after the deadline for motions for summary judgment when it claimed that the privilege would prevent
the plaintiff from prevailing as he could not rely on privileged information. The District Court disagreed.
First, it held that the plaintiff was permitted to use privileged communications to assert his claims when
necessary to do so. Second, it held that California attorney-client privilege law did not apply and that
instead federal common law of privilege applied. The court pointed to the Model Rule 1.6 (which was
not adopted in California) that allowed such use of privileged information. In this context, it held that
California privilege law was preempted by SOX. The court pointed to the SEC rule that required an
attorney to report evidence of material violations of the securities laws or similar violations by his
employer. It pointed to the provision in Dodd-Frank that permitted attorneys to use such reports to the
company in any litigation about his report. Section 205.3(d)(1). The employer argued that was limited
to defensive use in an action against the lawyer. The District Court disagreed.
In addition, the District Court held that the employer had waived the privilege both at the agencies and
in the case before it. Notably, one of the bases for the waiver was that, in explaining why it claimed it
terminated the plaintiff GC, the employer revealed issues such as an allegedly unauthorized settlement
negotiation and a communication from the GC about a 10K disclosure. Thus, the employer had put
privileged communications at issue in the case.
Importantly, the District Court found that the employer's waiver did not just apply to the specific
privileged communications it disclosed to the agencies. It also found (consistent with majority law) that
it thereby also waived all privileged communications related to those disclosed commutations.
The District Court denied the employer's motion in December 2016.
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In 2017, claims under SOX, Dodd-Frank and California wrongful termination common law were
presented to the jury. The jury found for the plaintiff on all three claims and awarded $2.96 in economic
damages. It also awarded $5 million in punitive damages on the California claim.
The employer appealed and oral argument on the appeal was heard at the 9th Circuit in November 2018.
Employment Law360 reported that the judges did not seem moved by the employer's arguments on the
SOX claim. It should be noted that the District Court rejected the employer's argument that Dodd-Frank
required an external complaint to the SEC (the plaintiff's report was only internal). Since that decision
the U.S. Supreme Court agreed that Dodd-Frank requires a report to the SEC. However, it appears that
the verdict might be affirmed as the economic damages can be awarded under SOX (that does not
require an external report) and the punitive damages can be awarded under the California claim.
This case presents a number of possible lessons and questions for employers on how to respond to
claims by in-house counsel in this context.
What are possible ramifications to losing a SOX claim?
While perhaps obvious, the ramifications of a holding against an employer under SOX may go beyond
the particular case. That the result will likely be on-line, it can be used against the employer in future
SOX cases against it. Moreover, shareholders learning of such a decision (or even a publicized claim)
could not only lead to shareholder action but cause a loss in confidence in the integrity of the financials
of the employer and affect issues ranging from share price to possible mergers/acquisitions.
What are best practices in preventing and defending SOX claims?
While obvious, key steps are having effective policies and communicating them through documents and
training. Corporate Compliance policies alone may be ineffective. Even on-line training has been seen
as less effective than in-person training. Having ethics and compliance hotlines that allow for
anonymous complaints can be very effective but not if the complaints are not quickly and properly
addressed. Employers must also consider the privilege issues if such complaints are investigated by inhouse and/or outside counsel.
When becoming aware of an internal complaint – particularly by a higher-level employee or in-house
counsel – the strategy and implementation of the strategy at the start can often be crucial. Employers
should be very careful about who within the company is informed of the internal complaint and ensure
that they are on an absolute need to know basis. Immediately, the company needs to consider issues
ranging from document preservation, protection of any privileged communications, and
communications with the person who made the report and any relevant witnesses. These early
decisions can be complex but outcome determinative later.
Lawyers experienced in this area often see a negative company reaction to a whistleblower as being
disloyal or even having betrayed the company. But if the complaint remains internal, it allows the
company an opportunity to review the matter objectively without an agency or court process. Many
whistleblowers have the interests of the company as a motive for their actions. The role of emotions
both from the whistleblower and those involved in the alleged improprieties are often a volatile factor
that needs to be considered and addressed as objectively as possible. A corporate culture that
encourages internal reports of possible impropriety will be more effective in avoiding external claims.
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Once an external claim is filed, there needs to be some immediate decisions on issues such as privilege,
and possible corporate communications. A possible lesson from the Bio-Rad case is that such decisions
should be made with a view towards the current circumstances and their long-term impact. For
example, the disclosures of privileged information to the SEC might have been effective in convincing
the SEC that there were no FCPA violations, but it created a waiver in the private litigation that may
have been a factor in facing an $8 million verdict.
Of course, many such claims are mediated or the subject of settlement discussions before an external
filing as that can serve the interests for all parties. Issues like confidentiality of a settlement agreement
also need to be carefully considered.
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Introduction
In its ﬁrst ten years, the Leadership Council on Legal Diversity has grown, and grown
rapidly, to a membership of more than 300 corporate chief legal ofﬁcers and law ﬁrm
managing partners1. These individuals represent the top ranks of leadership in the legal
profession. They have each made a personal commitment to the next generation of
leaders in the law to build a profession that is as diverse as the nation it serves. Theirs is
a compelling vision, but one that they understand will not be realized quickly. Cleareyed about the challenges, they are committed to action and determined to see results
that are profound and lasting. Their pledge to upcoming generations of diverse attorneys is characterized by the three words that capture the spirit and the promise of
LCLD: Leadership, Action, Results.

The LCLD Story
In 2008, a group of general counsel and managing partners from around the United
States gathered “in the desert,” at Scottsdale, Arizona, for candid, no-holds-barred discussions about the legal profession and why progress with diversity and inclusion was
1

At this writing, LCLD membership has doubled since 2009 to 305 members, including more
than a hundred corporate general counsel.

moving as slowly as it was. Indeed, by the standard of diversity, the legal profession
lagged behind all others2. Led by Rick Palmore, then general counsel for General Mills,
the group decided to create a new organization—an agent for change called the Leadership Council on Legal Diversity. This organization would be different from other diversity-related nonproﬁts in three fundamental ways.
First, membership would be conﬁned to general counsel and managing partners—the
leaders of the legal profession. No substitutes. The group knew that they could not expect to see real progress unless they themselves were willing to step up and put their
own reputations on the line. As one of those leaders said, “You can’t point the ﬁnger at
somebody unless you have decided to make a personal commitment yourself.” 3
Second, the organization had to be collaborative. It was not a law ﬁrm problem. It was
not a client problem. It was everyone’s problem, and everyone had to work together to
address the challenge. Whatever strategies and actions were to be developed, they
would be developed collaboratively.
Third, this would be a long-term commitment. As one of the founding board members,
Dennis Broderick, then general counsel of Macy’s, said, “It’s a long baseball game.”4
LCLD members had to take action and plant seeds now, but growth from those seeds
would not occur overnight. The problem was a long time coming. It would not be a
quick ﬁx. The commitment to the issues and to LCLD would be over many years.
This group in Scottsdale, heard two speakers who inspired and challenged them: Justice
Sandra Day O’Connor, who had retired in 2006 as Associate Justice of the U.S. Supreme

2

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, diversity by profession: physicians and surgeons, 33%, ac counting, 29%; architects and engineers, 27%; attorneys, 15%
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Unattributed comment reported at the Call to Action Summit, Scottsdale Arizona, April 2008
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Broderick, Dennis. Comment to an early meeting of the LCLD Board, 2009

Court5, and former U.S. Secretary of State Warren Christopher 6. It was right that the
speakers were individuals who had operated at the highest levels of the law and government. They “thought big,” one participant said, and big thoughts were in order.
To make sure that the “big thoughts” translated into big actions, the founding visionary,
Rick Palmore, made some early decisions in order to rapidly stand up the organization.
One of those decisions was bringing me on to run the “day-to-day” as executive director—a “temporary” request, he told me. Now, ten years later, he and I still laugh about
that word.
Rick’s story about the genesis of LCLD predates the organizing of the group by a few
years. It goes something like this: “I was walking back to my ofﬁce from yet another
conference on diversity and the lack of progress, and I asked myself, ‘Okay, Palmore,
what are you doing about it?’” He penned and sent out the famed “Call to Action” document in 20047 that was later signed by 150 general counsel, committing those individuals to the vision of a more diverse profession and to taking the steps to make that vision a reality. As he later said, “We’re not going to be general counsel forever, so while
we are here, what is it that we can do?” 8
Rick understood something profound about the law and, in fact, about life. His insight
was that in each person’s career there was “a moment” that signaled it was the time to
speak. “You speak too early,” he said, “and no one’s listening yet. You speak too late
and you’ve lost your audience.” The right time is when you have inﬂuence, when you
5

“Supreme Court Justice Sandra Day O’Connor Resigns,” by William Branigan, Fred Barbash,
and Daniela Deane, Washington Post, July 1, 2005
6

“Warren Minor Christopher,” U.S. State Department, Department of the Historian https://history.state.gov/departmenthistory/people/christopher-warren-minor
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loader.cfm?csModule=security/getﬁle&pageid=16074&recorded=1
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Palmore, Roderick. Private conversation with Robert Grey

have resources, when you have some control of the levers of an organization, and when
you have “a voice.” He believed the time for speaking out and acting as the leaders of
the profession was now.

Leadership
Rick Palmore’s argument, his insistence, and his integrity compelled many others. Some
felt they had no real alternative but to join this new organization that would work collaboratively and that would insist on not words, but action. One early recruit was Deborah Majoras, general counsel for Procter & Gamble. As she was considering whether to
join LCLD, she said, “I looked at the membership of LCLD, and I thought these people
are just as busy as I am. They believed it was worth dedicating the time to the effort. I
agreed, and I signed up.”9
Another early recruit was Frank Burch, then head of the ﬁrm of DLA Piper. He laughs
and says that he joined because of “the invisible guiding hand of Rick Palmore.”10
Throughout its ﬁrst ten years, LCLD has remained true to its vision of “Leadership. Action. Results.” That ﬁdelity to the vision has created dramatic growth, with a caliber of
membership that is extraordinary. Just a glance at the roster shows some of the most
dynamic and forward-thinking corporations and brands in the nation: Microsoft, Apple,
Disney, Starbucks, Google, Facebook, eBay, UPS, United, 3M, Eli Lily, GAP, BASF,
Clorox, Procter & Gamble, McDonald’s, Bristol-Myers Squibb, Walmart, and many others.
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Of LCLD’s 300 members, about 100 are corporations and 200 are law ﬁrms. LCLD
works to maintain a ratio of two to one—two law ﬁrms for every corporation. That balance seems to work.
LCLD’s Board of Directors is balanced as well—roughly half male, half female—and it
reﬂects our goal for the makeup of leadership in the profession.
The group that is in charge is invested. Board members show up not only for the Board
meetings but also for LCLD events. They are there with their colleagues to make sure
that LCLD is driven by the leaders of the profession.
That leadership is exempliﬁed by a Commitment Statement which each Member must
sign. It pledges, “to assure that the best talent ﬂourishes in our profession, we must
eliminate impediments that preclude minorities and women from a full opportunity to
perform, to succeed, and to lead.”11
These leaders are smart and understand that the challenge can’t be captured simply by
the word “diversity.” Yes, it’s about diversity. But it’s really about seizing the talent in
our profession and turning that talent into leaders. As Rick Palmore has said, “We cannot continue to waste talent.”

The LCLD Programs
Early on, LCLD’s leadership decided to create talent development programs that would
be different from everything else out there.
What was not needed was more of the same. As useful as such programs can be (and
there are many of them), it was more important to design a curriculum and experiences
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Commitment Statement, LCLD websiite: https://www.lcldnet.org/media/uploads/resource/
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that would have deep and long-lasting impact. LCLD’s programs are structured to
equip rising, high-potential, diverse attorneys at key points in their early development,
and later as they attempt to move up to the highest levels of leadership.
For us, a mountain has been an instructive metaphor. At its base are programs designed
for diverse law students. Ascending the mountain, we have established programs for
associates and young partners., There are programs for more experienced partners and
corporate legal department attorneys farther up the career slope. Always our eye is on
the mission: to advance the next generation of leaders up the mountain, to the summit
of the profession.

Law School Mentoring
Dennis Broderick of Macy’s said to his fellow LCLD Board members some years ago
that he wanted LCLD to establish a mentoring program that was national in scope.
When asked how to do that, he said: “I don’t know yet, but Robert Grey and I are going
to ﬁgure it out. We have got to do this. We have got to be available to those individuals
who are trying to be the lawyers we want to hire. Let’s expose them to those who are in
the practice as often as we can, but let’s start with them their ﬁrst year of law school.”
This is a ﬁve-year-old program now. We sign up between 500 and 700 lawyers in 33
cities every year to mentor minority and women law students to make sure they have
someone to contact, to help them discuss their career goals and the objectives and expectations of employers.
Two aspects: First, we work very closely to make sure the students are paired and that
we follow up with those individuals who are mentors and mentees. Second, we create
group mentoring opportunities. For example, all of the mentees in Indianapolis are invited to meet other mentees, and the mentors meet other mentors. In Indianapolis they

break into small group discussions to talk about opportunities they have had with their
mentors. The idea is to create a welcoming environment for them to be successful in
law school and consequently as lawyers.
1L Scholars
Heading up the LCLD program mountain, we ﬁnd the 1L Scholars Program at the next
level. It includes about 250 1L students at law schools across the country, invited to be
summer interns by corporate law departments and law ﬁrms. It started right after the
last recession. An especially strong feature of the LCLD 1L Scholars Program is the existence of 50 partnering opportunities. “Partnering,” in this context, refers to summer experiences where a law ﬁrm and a corporation give a 1L scholar the opportunity to
spend time both in the law ﬁrm and in the client corporation. The students begin to see
how the law ﬁrm’s work—and, in fact, their own efforts—are used by the corporation.
The result is the kind of conﬁdence and experience that will enable individuals to say
they are in the right place, doing the right thing, and feeling successful.
Pathﬁnders
The Pathﬁnder Program is for associates and early-career corporate law department attorneys. A group of newly minted in-house lawyers get together with three- to ﬁve-year
folks in law ﬁrms, and we talk about building on their capacity to think about what they
can to improve the opportunities in their organizations, to understand how to work
with senior lawyers, questions they should be asking, and expectations they should be
meeting. It is putting them on a path to advance their career and not wait for someone
to invite them to advance their career. This is about taking charge of their own trajectories, and their lives.

LCLD Fellows
We consider the Fellows to be LCLD’s ﬂagship program. It was our ﬁrst and the one
with the highest proﬁle around the country.
The Fellows are eight to ﬁfteen years into their legal careers. These are mature individuals; generally, they are partners. And they’ve discovered that the attributes that got
them that far will not necessarily propel them to the next level. They may have prospered as associates for nailing the technical aspects of the work, but now it’s about ﬁnding billable work, bringing in and keeping clients, and building a book of business.
They are learning that if you are ever going to grow your business, you have to grow
your network and build relationships.
The idea of being in an organization that not only gives business but refers business, is
important to young partners’ success. That is not to suggest that LCLD is a new business pond to be ﬁshed.
That’s not what we do. We don’t invite participants to the program to ask for business.
We encourage individuals in the program to build relationships, and to learn that the
people who are successful in developing business are ﬁrst successful in building relationships that become powerful networks.
The Fellows work very closely together. The year-long Fellows program includes three
in-person meetings. We also organize about 20 Leadership Lunches around the country,
each hosted by an LCLD Member—a managing partner or general counsel—in a small
group setting. This is as much about peer-mentoring as it is about building relationships
and creating a network. “Access” is a key part of the Fellows program.
Additionally, the Fellows, who now number nearly 300 in each year’s class, get ﬁve opportunities each year to have what we call Learning Experiences at LCLD corporate
member campuses, such as Coca-Cola and 3M.

Eli Lilly in Indianapolis has had two Learning Experiences, during which GC Mike
Harrington invited several dozen Fellows to visit with him for a day and a half. On the
ﬁrst half-day, Lilly organized a meeting with outside counsel at a jointly hosted welcome reception. The next day was a full program that included sessions with Mike, his
direct reports, and representatives of upper management that the law department
serves.
There is exposure to the leadership of the corporation, and sometimes an opportunity to
talk about “the things that keep Mike awake at night,” and also keep his outside counsel on their toes as they seek to meet the expectations of Harrington and Eli Lilly. The
attending Fellows go back to their home organizations with a better idea of how at least
one corporate legal department works and expectations it has for its own in-house people and for outside counsel.12
Fellows Alumni
The Fellows Alumni were organically formed. Their initial year as Fellows was important enough that the ﬁrst year’s class decided to form a career-long organization and
stay together. There are now more than 1,600 Fellows Alumni who have been through
the Fellows program and chosen to stay in touch. They have an annual conference
where they invite provocative speakers. Last year’s was in New York City. This year’s
was in Los Angeles. They have access to the profession’s leaders, and they stay connected to one another, for networking, mutual support, and community service.
RESULTS
One of the most gratifying changes that LCLD has been able to engineer has been in the
area of social isolation. Research from the American Bar Foundation shows high levels
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of social isolation among diverse attorneys13 , but among LCLD Fellows that level is virtually zero 14. The connectivity, the networking, and the personal relationships that grow
during the initial Fellows year and continue throughout the career of a Fellow Alum are
extraordinarily important. The social isolation metric is a valuable—and early—indication that LCLD is making a difference.
Leaders of LCLD are not naive about what it will take to move the needle on diversity
and inclusion. The statistics on women and minority attorneys, on LGBT and disabled
attorneys are stubborn, sometimes even falling back a little year to year. But much is
happening behind the numbers. Individuals from diverse backgrounds are indeed rising to positions of leadership, as GCs and MPs, and as practice group leaders and ofﬁce
managing partners. Many of those who are seeing their careers move upward credit
LCLD with helping them navigate the systems, traditions, and habits of mind that have
historically worked against the advancement of diverse attorneys.
There are success stories, on an individual basis, that give me tremendous optimism for
the future.
The LCLD Year
The LCLD year is marked by a series of key meetings. During the ﬁrst quarter of each
year, the Board meets for a strategic update. They look at the existing strategic plan,
square it with realities, push the plan with new ideas, and give it fresh energy, not only
with an eye toward the rest of the year, but with an eye toward the years ahead—to
2020, to 2025, and beyond.
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In June of each year, a slightly larger group meets, usually at Harvard Law School. This
is a roll-up-your-sleeves session that we’ve called a “summit” and, more recently, a
“laboratory.” In attendance are the Board, other LCLD members who are unusually active in LCLD initiatives, and new members who want to see what goes on inside the organization. There are incredible breakout groups and the kind of frank conversations
that are worth their weight in gold.
Approximately 40 general counsel and managing partners review the strategic plan and
ask each other tough questions: Are we measuring the right factors? hAre we making
enough progress? Are we getting results from our investment in programs? Are we asking the right questions? Are we doing the right things? That self-examination happens
every year.
The ﬁndings and recommendations that come out of that meeting inform the next major
gathering, which is the fall annual membership meeting, usually in October.
The annual meeting, generally held in the nation’s capital, is a one-day Davos for Diversity, with continued breakouts similar to those that occur at the June summit, but with
larger numbers. A typical meeting sees attendance of more than 300 Members and
guests.
Over the years, the speaker roster has been impressive: former attorney general Eric
Holder, New Jersey Senator Cory Booker, Merck CEO Ken Frazier, political analyst and
CEO of the think-tank New America Anne Marie Slaughter, former P&G Chair John
Pepper, journalist/author Joshua Cooper Ramo, Harvard professor David Wilkins,
UCLA Vice Chancellor and “implicit bias” expert Jerry Kang, and others.
Members leave the annual meeting inspired, and, hopefully, newly resolved to tackle
the issues of diversity and inclusion on the ground, in the organizations they lead.,.

What Lies Ahead
The LCLD programs are showing success. We have a growing set of programs to develop talent and to assist our organizations in building diversity, but in our view that’s not
enough. We are not going to be successful until our organizations—the law ﬁrms and
the corporate legal departments—evolve at the same time, to eliminate the impediments to growth and leadership faced by diverse attorneys.
Organizational development is different from talent development. We are looking for
speciﬁc ways to help organizations—law ﬁrms and corporate legal departments—optimize the talent that they have. Are systemic changes in order? Are there new ways to
look at management committees? Should there be more intentional efforts to diversify
those committees, practice group leader positions, ofﬁce managing director positions? Is
the recruiting and promotion pool in need of strengthening? Is there a Rooney Rule15 or
Mansﬁeld Rule16 approach that should be integrated into the creation of those pools?
Our members are forward-thinking. They are looking for new ideas. They are game to
take chances and try new things.
We invite our Members to engage in the June Leadership Summit at Harvard. But
there’s a twist: Members who attend are asked to be transparent about their organizations’ diversity efforts, or even to have them documented with a full-blown case study.
That’s not a post-mortem, but a living one in which we say, “We are going to follow
your progress, and report on your progress. There have to be measurable elements. We
want to know how that is working out in progress reports.”
15
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LCLD’s leaders believe that where that progress, that “real change” is going to occur, is
going to be on the local level, on the ground. So, while LCLD continues with its national
level programs for rising attorneys, we are extremely keen on seeing programs take root
regionally and locally, with more and more of our Members taking the lead to develop
initiatives that can be replicated around the country. That is the future of LCLD.
It’s All About Local
We’re not going to be successful unless we work at the local level, and we’re off to a
good start.
The LCLD community in Columbus is a good example. There, we have seven Members,
22 Fellows and Alumni, four Pathﬁnders, ﬁve 1L Scholars, 40 Mentoring Pairs and six
Diversity Professionals. They are the catalysts for “trying stuff,” for building new and
innovative solutions to inherited problems. In the years immediately ahead we will be
experimenting with ideas that seem most promising for increasing diversity and inclusion in legal organizations. Some will fail. Some will show some success and will be
modiﬁed. Some will be adopted by larger numbers. Gradually, we will see new ideas
spread and begin to see changes at a fundamental level. This is the kind of systemic
change that will take root and make for real change.
If we share our emerging ﬁndings and not keep that information to ourselves, we are
likely to encourage somebody else. Or if somebody else is doing something similar, they
may modify what they are doing to make it better. This is the power of our network for
advancing diversity and inclusion. LCLD is the conduit.
Sustainable Partnerships: A Recent Example
Brian Brooks, GC for Fannie Mae, and Kenny Perry, deputy general counsel and a
LCLD Fellow, have created a local-market program called “Sustainable Partnerships.”

Their activities are serving as a textbook example for how to create, develop, and promote a good idea.
They invited all Fellows in the Washington, D.C. area to meet with them and other General Counsel for three day-long events. Maryanne Lavan, General Counsel of Lockheed
Martin; Cynthia Gibson, General Counsel of Scripps Network Interactive; and I served
on the ﬁrst event’s panel.
All of the panel said: “Use us.”
As participants in the year-long Sustainable Partnerships program, they promised to
provide exposure to middle management, to have those managers tell what they expect
from outside, to share the way in which they invite individuals to promote their services, and how management talks about the way in which engagements develop.
Sustainable Partnerships allows Fellows to make mock pitch presentations that are
judged by in-house counsel. This provides a rigorous exercise for getting people up to
speed, invested, and made aware of those with whom they might do business. On
learning of the Sustainable Partnerships program, ﬁve law ﬁrms and corporations decided to establish similar programs in their own communities.
10,000 New Leaders.
LCLD’s goal for 2020, outlined in 2010 by past Chair Brad Smith, now president of Microsoft, called for LCLD to produce 10,000 additional “legal role models” through our
programs—individuals who’ve been exposed to new paths to leadership. To think that
we could touch 10,000 lawyers and prospective lawyers to be part of our effort to engage our colleagues, black and white, men and women, straight and gay, disabled or
not, in an effort to improve the outcomes of our profession is a powerful notion.
We are easily on track to create 10,000 legal role models by 2020. We’re excited about the
individuals we work with. We are excited that we have a pipeline. The best way to

capitalize on that is by rolling up our sleeves, committing ourselves to making this happen, and holding ourselves accountable.
I think Rick Palmore, our founding visionary, put it best:
“You can see what we are trying to do. This has been a forward-thinking group of leaders in the law. This group has said we are going to advance the idea of a better profession through more engagement with a wide band, or pool, of talent, but that talent has
got to come back and re-engage in organizations. It has to give back as much as it is being given. We can’t do this unless we are all in – from a leadership standpoint, from a
hiring/promotion standpoint, and from a teaching/learning standpoint. Let’s make
sure everybody has the same opportunity. Let’s hold ourselves accountable in measuring our success and progress. Let’s make sure at the end of the day this profession leads
in the advancement of our culture and our society.”17
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II.

Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism

The Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism were developed by the
Commission to encourage, guide and assist individual lawyers, law firms, and bar
associations. These documents have been widely distributed among the lawyers and judges of
Georgia through CLE programs and Commission events. A number of local bar association have
used these documents as the basis for bar pledges and creeds. Several law firms have
incorporated these documents into their firm mission statements. The Commission's hope is that
members of the profession will recognize the special obligations that attach to their calling and
will also recognize their responsibility to serve others and not be limited to the pursuit of selfinterest. The Creed and Aspirational Statement cannot be imposed by edict because moral
integrity and unselfish dedication to the welfare of others cannot be legislated. Nevertheless, a
public statement of principles of ethical and professional responsibility can provide guidance for
newcomers and a reminder for experienced members of the bar about the basic ethical and
professional tenets of their profession. The Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on
Professionalism were adopted by the Commission in 1990 and by Supreme Court order made a
part of the Rules and Regulations for the Organization and Government of the State Bar of
Georgia.
The Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism have been adopted by the
Chief Justice's Commission on Professionalism and incorporated into the Rules and Regulations
for the Organization and Government of the State Bar of Georgia. The purpose of the Lawyer's
Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism is to serve as encouragement, guidance and
assistance to individual lawyers, law firms, and bar associations as they recognize the special
obligations that attach to their calling and their responsibility to serve others.
The Creed and Aspirational Statement cannot be imposed by edict because moral integrity and
unselfish dedication to the welfare of others cannot be legislated. Nevertheless, a public
statement of principles of professionalism can provide guidance for newcomers and a reminder
for experienced members of the bar about the basic tenets of our profession.
A LAWYER'S CREED
To my clients, I offer faithfulness, competence, diligence, and good judgment. I will strive to
represent you as I would want to be represented and to be worthy of your trust.
To the opposing parties and their counsel, I offer fairness, integrity, and civility. I will seek
reconciliation and, if we fail, I will strive to make our dispute a dignified one.
To the courts, and other tribunals, and to those who assist them, I offer respect, candor, and
courtesy. I will strive to do honor to the search for justice.
To my colleagues in the practice of law, I offer concern for your welfare. I will strive to make
our association a professional friendship.
To the profession, I offer assistance. I will strive to keep our business a profession and our
profession a calling in the spirit of public service.

To the public and our systems of justice, I offer service. I will strive to improve the law and
our legal system, to make the law and our legal system available to all, and to seek the common
good through the representation of my clients.
ASPIRATIONAL STATEMENT ON PROFESSIONALISM
The Court believes there are unfortunate trends of commercialization and loss of professional
community in the current practice of law. These trends are manifested in an undue emphasis on
the financial rewards of practice, a lack of courtesy and civility among members of our
profession, a lack of respect for the judiciary and for our systems of justice, and a lack of regard
for others and for the common good. As a community of professionals, we should strive to make
the internal rewards of service, craft, and character, and not the external reward of financial gain,
the primary rewards of the practice of law. In our practices we should remember that the
primary justification for who we are and what we do is the common good we can achieve
through the faithful representation of people who desire to resolve their disputes in a peaceful
manner and to prevent future disputes. We should remember, and we should help our clients
remember, that the way in which our clients resolve their disputes defines part of the character of
our society and we should act accordingly.
As professionals, we need aspirational ideals to help bind us together in a professional
community. Accordingly, the Court issues the following Aspirational Statement setting forth
general and specific aspirational ideals of our profession. This statement is a beginning list of
the ideals of our profession. It is primarily illustrative. Our purpose is not to regulate, and
certainly not to provide a basis for discipline, but rather to assist the Bar's efforts to maintain a
professionalism that can stand against the negative trends of commercialization and loss of
community. It is the Court's hope that Georgia's lawyers, judges, and legal educators will use the
following aspirational ideals to reexamine the justifications of the practice of law in our society
and to consider the implications of those justifications for their conduct. The Court feels that
enhancement of professionalism can be best brought about by the cooperative efforts of the
organized bar, the courts, and the law schools with each group working independently, but also
jointly in that effort.
General Aspirational Ideals
As a lawyer, I will aspire:
(a)

To put fidelity to clients and, through clients, to the common good, before selfish
interests.

(b)

To model for others, and particularly for my clients, the respect due to those we call upon
to resolve our disputes and the regard due to all participants in our dispute resolution
processes.

(c)

To avoid all forms of wrongful discrimination in all of my activities including
discrimination on the basis of race, religion, sex, age, handicap, veteran status, or national
origin. The social goals of equality and fairness will be personal goals for me.

(d)

To preserve and improve the law, the legal system, and other dispute resolution processes
as instruments for the common good.

(e)

To make the law, the legal system, and other dispute resolution processes available to all.

(f)

To practice with a personal commitment to the rules governing our profession and to
encourage others to do the same.

(g)

To preserve the dignity and the integrity of our profession by my conduct. The dignity
and the integrity of our profession is an inheritance that must be maintained by each
successive generation of lawyers.

(h)

To achieve the excellence of our craft, especially those that permit me to be the moral
voice of clients to the public in advocacy while being the moral voice of the public to
clients in counseling. Good lawyering should be a moral achievement for both the
lawyer and the client.

(i)

To practice law not as a business, but as a calling in the spirit of public service.

Specific Aspirational Ideals
As to clients, I will aspire:
(a)

To expeditious and economical achievement of all client objectives.

(b)

To fully informed client decision-making. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(c)

To fair and equitable fee agreements. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(d)

Counsel clients about all forms of dispute resolution;
Counsel clients about the value of cooperation as a means towards the productive
resolution of disputes;
Maintain the sympathetic detachment that permits objective and independent
advice to clients;
Communicate promptly and clearly with clients; and,
Reach clear agreements with clients concerning the nature of the representation.

Discuss alternative methods of charging fees with all clients;
Offer fee arrangements that reflect the true value of the services rendered;
Reach agreements with clients as early in the relationship as possible;
Determine the amount of fees by consideration of many factors and not just time
spent by the attorney;
Provide written agreements as to all fee arrangements; and
Resolve all fee disputes through the arbitration methods provided by the State Bar
of Georgia.

To comply with the obligations of confidentiality and the avoidance of conflicting

loyalties in a manner designed to achieve the fidelity to clients that is the purpose of these
obligations.
As to opposing parties and their counsel, I will aspire:
(a)

To cooperate with opposing counsel in a manner consistent with the competent
representation of all parties. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)

(b)

Notify opposing counsel in a timely fashion of any cancelled appearance;
Grant reasonable requests for extensions or scheduling changes; and,
Consult with opposing counsel in the scheduling of appearances, meetings, and
depositions.

To treat opposing counsel in a manner consistent with his or her professional obligations
and consistent with the dignity of the search for justice. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Not serve motions or pleadings in such a manner or at such a time as to preclude
opportunity for a competent response;
Be courteous and civil in all communications;
Respond promptly to all requests by opposing counsel;
Avoid rudeness and other acts of disrespect in all meetings including depositions
and negotiations;
Prepare documents that accurately reflect the agreement of all parties; and
Clearly identify all changes made in documents submitted by opposing counsel
for review.

As to the courts, other tribunals, and to those who assist them, I will aspire:
(a)

To represent my clients in a manner consistent with the proper functioning of a fair,
efficient, and humane system of justice. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(b)

Avoid non-essential litigation and non-essential pleading in litigation;
Explore the possibilities of settlement of all litigated matters;
Seek non-coerced agreement between the parties on procedural and discovery
matters;
Avoid all delays not dictated by a competent presentation of a client's claims;
Prevent misuses of court time by verifying the availability of key participants for
scheduled appearances before the court and by being punctual; and
Advise clients about the obligations of civility, courtesy, fairness, cooperation,
and other proper behavior expected of those who use our systems of justice.

To model for others the respect due to our courts. As a professional I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Act with complete honesty;
Know court rules and procedures;
Give appropriate deference to court rulings;
Avoid undue familiarity with members of the judiciary;
Avoid unfounded, unsubstantiated, or unjustified public criticism of members of

(6)
(7)
(8)

the judiciary;
Show respect by attire and demeanor;
Assist the judiciary in determining the applicable law; and,
Seek to understand the judiciary's obligations of informed and impartial decisionmaking.

As to my colleagues in the practice of law, I will aspire:
(a)

To recognize and to develop our interdependence;

(b)

To respect the needs of others, especially the need to develop as a whole person; and,

(c)

To assist my colleagues become better people in the practice of law and to accept their
assistance offered to me.

As to our profession, I will aspire:
(a)

To improve the practice of law. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)

(b)

Assist in continuing legal education efforts;
Assist in organized bar activities; and,
Assist law schools in the education of our future lawyers.

To protect the public from incompetent or other wrongful lawyering. As a professional, I
should:
(1)
(2)
(3)

Assist in bar admissions activities;
Report violations of ethical regulations by fellow lawyers; and,
Assist in the enforcement of the legal and ethical standards imposed upon all
lawyers.

As to the public and our systems of justice, I will aspire:
(a)

To counsel clients about the moral and social consequences of their conduct.

(b)

To consider the effect of my conduct on the image of our systems of justice including the
social effect of advertising methods. As a professional, I should ensure that any
advertisement of my services:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(c)

is consistent with the dignity of the justice system and a learned profession;
provides a beneficial service to the public by providing accurate information
about the availability of legal services;
educates the public about the law and legal system;
provides completely honest and straightforward information about my
qualifications, fees, and costs; and
does not imply that clients' legal needs can be met only through aggressive tactics.

To provide the pro bono representation that is necessary to make our system of justice
available to all.

(d)

To support organizations that provide pro bono representation to indigent clients.

(e)

To improve our laws and legal system by, for example:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Serving as a public official;
Assisting in the education of the public concerning our laws and legal system;
Commenting publicly upon our laws; and,
Using other appropriate methods of effecting positive change in our laws and
legal system.

ROBERT J. GREY JR.
President, Leadership Council on Legal Diversity
Senior Counsel [Retired]
Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP
Robert J. Grey Jr., a senior counsel with Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP (formerly Hunton &
Williams), Richmond, retired from the active practice of law in March 2016. Robert received his
B.S. from Virginia Commonwealth University in 1973 and his law degree from Washington &
Lee University in 1976.
From 1978 to 1981, he was an assistant professor at VCU and started his own law firm, Grey &
Wesley. In 1982, he was appointed by the Governor to the Virginia Alcoholic Beverage Control
Board. He became chair in 1983 and served until 1985, when he joined the law firm of Mays,
Valentine, Davenport & Moore (later Troutman Sanders). In 1995 he went to LeClair Ryan and
became affiliated with the McCammon Mediation Group Ltd. He joined Hunton & Williams in
2002. From 1998 to 2002 he served as chair of the ABA’s House of Delegates and was the first
African American to be an officer of the Association. He was elected President of the ABA in
2004, the second African American to hold the position. In 2009, Mr. Grey was appointed by
President Obama, and confirmed by the Senate, to serve on the Board of the Legal Services
Corporation. In 2012, Robert was elected President of Leadership Council on Legal Diversity.
Mr. Grey’s previous community service includes the chairmanship of the Greater Richmond
Chamber of Commerce and membership on the board of visitors of Virginia Polytechnic Institute
State University, the board of trustees at W&L, and the board of visitors at St. Catherine’s
School. Mr. Grey lives in Richmond.
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Trump v. Hawaii
Decided June 26, 2018

• Congress has given the President broad discretion to suspend
the entry of noncitizens into the United States.
• No Establishment Clause violation despite President’s
statements.
• Executive order is sufficiently justified by national security
concerns.

Masterpiece Cakeshop
v.
Colorado Civil Rights Commission
Decided June 4, 2018

• A clash between fundamental rights.
• Colorado Commission showed anti-religious bias and was
not a neutral decisionmaker.
• The Big Question is left unanswered.

Wisconsin Central v. United States
Decided June 21, 2018

• Is stock “money remuneration” under a federal payroll tax
statute?
• In a 5-4 decision, Court holds that stock is not taxable
because it is not “money.” No one buys groceries with
stock.
• Majority focuses on plain meaning of statutory text; dissent
deems statute ambiguous and would defer to IRS
interpretation.

Other Notable Cases from OT 2017
• Carpenter v. United States – Fourth Amendment
• Lucia v. SEC – Appointments Clause
• District of Columbia v. Wesby – Raucous Party Clause

This Term’s Highlights
• Gundy v. United States – Nondelegation (argued October 2)
• Frank v. Gaos – Cy pres class action awards (argued October 31)
• Gamble v. United States – Double Jeopardy (argued December 6)

This Term’s Highlights
• Apple v. Pepper – Antitrust standing (argued November 26)
• Timbs v. Indiana – Excessive Fines Clause (argued November 28)
• In re Department of Commerce – Census question
(argument scheduled for February 19, 2019)

The Road Ahead
• The Roberts Court … Not Just In Name
• Chevron in the Crosshairs
• The Least Dangerous Branch?

November 11, 2018

Vol. 11, No. 2

Overview
The Supreme Court Round-Up previews upcoming cases, summarizes opinions, and tracks the
actions of the Office of the Solicitor General. Each entry contains a description of the case, as well
as a substantive analysis of the Court’s actions.

October Term 2018
Argued Cases
1. Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Fish & Wildlife Serv., No. 17-71 (5th Cir., 827 F.3d 452;
cert. granted Jan. 22, 2018; argued Oct. 1, 2018). The Endangered Species
Act requires the Secretary of the Interior to designate the “critical habitat”
of an endangered species, which may include areas “occupied by the species,”
plus “areas outside the geographical area occupied by the species” that are
“essential for conservation of the species.” 16 U.S.C. § 1532(5)(A). The Fish
and Wildlife Service designated a 1500-acre tract of land as critical habitat
for the dusky gopher frog. The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether the
Endangered Species Act allows the designation of private land that neither
contains nor (absent a radical change in land use) could provide habitat for
an endangered species. (2) Whether an agency’s decision not to exclude an
area from critical habitat based on the economic impact of the designation is
subject to judicial review.
2. Mount Lemmon Fire Dist. v. Guido, No. 17-587 (9th Cir., 859 F.3d 1168; cert.
granted Feb. 26, 2018; argued Oct. 1, 2018). The Age Discrimination in
Employment Act applies to private entities only if they had “twenty or more
employees for each working day in each of twenty or more calendar weeks in
the current or preceding calendar year.” 29 U.S.C. § 630(b). Does the
twenty-employee minimum apply to political subdivisions of a State, or does
the Act apply to State political subdivisions of any size?
3. Gundy v. United States, No. 17-6086 (2d Cir., 695 F. App’x 639; cert. granted
Mar. 5, 2018, limited to Question 4; argued Oct. 2, 2018). Whether the Sex
Offender Registration and Notification Act’s delegation of authority to the
Attorney General to issue regulations under 42 U.S.C. § 16913 violates the
nondelegation doctrine.
4. Madison v. Alabama, No. 17-7505 (Ala. Cir. Ct., No. CC-1985-001385.80; cert.
granted Feb. 26, 2018; argued Oct. 2, 2018). The Questions Presented are:

(1) Whether consistent with the Eighth Amendment, the State may execute a
prisoner whose mental disability leaves him with no memory of his
commission of the capital offense. (2) Whether the Eighth Amendment
prohibits the execution of a prisoner whose competency has been
compromised by dementia and multiple strokes.

Gibson Dunn
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5. New Prime Inc. v. Oliveira, No. 17-340 (1st Cir., 857 F.3d 7; cert. granted
Feb. 26, 2018; argued Oct. 3, 2018). Section 1 of the Federal Arbitration Act
says that the Act does not apply “to contracts of employment of seamen,
railroad employees, or any other class of workers engaged in foreign or
interstate commerce.” 9 U.S.C. § 1. The Questions Presented are: (1)
Whether a dispute over the applicability of the Section 1 exemption must be
resolved in arbitration pursuant to a valid delegation clause. (2) Whether the
exemption applies to independent-contractor agreements.
6. Stokeling v. United States, No. 17-5554 (11th Cir., 684 F. App’x 870; cert.
granted Apr. 2, 2018; argued Oct. 9, 2018). Whether a prior conviction for
robbery under Florida law—which requires as an element overcoming
“victim resistance”—is categorically a “violent felony” under the Armed
Career Criminal Act.
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7. United States v. Stitt, No. 17-765 (6th Cir., 860 F.3d 854; cert. granted Apr. 23,
2018, consolidated with United States v. Sims, No. 17-766 (8th Cir., 854 F.3d
1037); argued Oct. 9, 2018). Whether burglary of a nonpermanent or mobile
structure that is adapted or used for overnight accommodation can qualify as
“burglary” under the Armed Career Criminal Act.
8. Nielsen v. Preap, No. 16-1363 (9th Cir., 831 F.3d 1193 & 667 F. App’x 966;
cert. granted Mar. 19, 2018; argued Oct. 10, 2018). Whether a criminal alien
becomes exempt from mandatory detention under 8 U.S.C. § 1226(c) if, after
the alien is released from criminal custody, the Department of Homeland
Security does not take him into immigration custody immediately.
9. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp. v. Devries, No. 17-1104 (3d Cir., 873 F.3d 232; cert.
granted May 14, 2018; argued Oct. 10, 2018). Whether products-liability
defendants can be held liable under maritime law for injuries caused by
products that they did not make, sell, or distribute.
10. Henry Schein, Inc. v. Archer & White Sales, Inc., No. 17-1272 (5th Cir., 878
F.3d 488; cert. granted June 25, 2018; argued Oct. 29, 2018). Whether the
Federal Arbitration Act permits a court to decline to enforce an agreement
delegating questions of arbitrability to an arbitrator if the court concludes
that the claim of arbitrability is “wholly groundless.”
11. Lamps Plus, Inc. v. Varela, No. 17-988 (9th Cir., 701 F. App’x 670; cert.
granted Apr. 30, 2018; argued Oct. 29, 2018). Whether the Federal
Arbitration Act forecloses a state-law interpretation of an arbitration
agreement that would authorize class arbitration based solely on general
language commonly used in arbitration agreements.
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12. Wash. State Dep’t of Licensing v. Cougar Den, Inc., No. 16-1498 (Wash., 392
P.3d 1014; CVSG Oct. 2, 2017; cert. supported May 15, 2018; cert. granted
June 25, 2018; argued Oct. 30, 2018). An 1855 treaty between the United
States and the Yakama Indian Nation provides tribal members with “the
right, in common with citizens of the United States, to travel upon all public
highways.” Can Washington enforce a state tax upon a tribal member for
importing fuel into Washington on the public highways?
13. Garza v. Idaho, No. 17-1026 (Idaho, 405 P.3d 576; cert. granted June 18,
2018; argued Oct. 30, 2018). For purposes of ineffective assistance of
counsel, does a presumption of prejudice apply where a criminal defendant
instructs his trial counsel to file a notice of appeal, but trial counsel decides
not to do so because the defendant’s plea agreement included an appeal
waiver?
14. Jam v. Int’l Fin. Corp., No. 17-1011 (D.C. Cir., 860 F.3d 703; cert. granted
May 21, 2018, limited to Question 1; argued Oct. 31, 2018). The Questions
Presented are: (1) Whether the International Organizations Immunities
Act—which affords international organizations the “same immunity” from
suit that foreign governments have—confers the same immunity on those
organizations as foreign governments have under the Foreign Sovereign
Immunities Act. (2) If not, what rules govern the immunity to which
international organizations are entitled?
15. Frank v. Gaos, No. 17-961 (9th Cir., 869 F.3d 737; cert. granted Apr. 30, 2018;
argued Oct. 31, 2018). Whether, or in what circumstances, a cy pres award of
class action proceeds that provides no direct relief to class members supports
class certification and comports with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23’s
requirement that a class settlement be “fair, reasonable, and adequate.”
16. Sturgeon v. Frost, No. 17-949 (9th Cir., 872 F.3d 927; cert. granted June 18,
2018; argued Nov. 5, 2018). Does the Alaska National Interest Lands
Conservation Act prohibit the National Park Service from exercising
regulatory control over State, Native Corporation, and private land
physically located within the boundaries of the National Park System in
Alaska?
17. Va. Uranium, Inc. v. Warren, No. 16-1275 (4th Cir., 848 F.3d 590; CVSG
Oct. 2, 2017; cert. supported Apr. 9, 2018; cert. granted May 21, 2018;
argued Nov. 5, 2018). Whether the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 preempts
Virginia’s moratorium on uranium mining on nonfederal lands.
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18. Bucklew v. Precythe, No. 17-8151 (8th Cir., 883 F.3d 1087; cert. granted
Apr. 30, 2018, with Question 4 directed by the Court; argued Nov. 6, 2018).
The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether a court evaluating an as-applied
challenge to a State’s method of execution based on an inmate’s rare and
severe medical condition may assume that medical personnel are competent
to manage his condition and that the procedure will go as intended. (2) Must
evidence comparing a State’s method of execution to an alternative proposed
by the inmate be offered by a single witness, or should a court on a motion
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for summary judgment look to the record as a whole to determine whether a
factfinder could conclude that the methods significantly differ in the risks
they pose to the defendant? (3) Does the Eighth Amendment require an
inmate to prove an adequate alternative method of execution when raising an
as-applied challenge to the State’s proposed method of execution based on his
rare and severe medical condition? (4) Whether the petitioner met his
burden to prove what procedures would be used to administer his proposed
alternative method of execution, the severity and duration of pain likely to be
produced, and how they compare to the State’s method of execution.
19. BNSF Railway Co. v. Loos, No. 17-1042 (8th Cir., 865 F.3d 1106; cert. granted
May 14, 2018; argued Nov. 6, 2018). Whether a railroad’s payment to an
employee for time lost from work is taxable under the Railroad Retirement
Tax Act.
20. Republic of Sudan v. Harrison, No. 16-1094 (2d Cir., 802 F.3d 399; CVSG
Oct. 2, 2017; cert. petition should be held in abeyance May 22, 2018; cert.
granted June 25, 2018; argued Nov. 7, 2018). Whether a plaintiff suing a
foreign state under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act may serve the
foreign state under 28 U.S.C. § 1608(a)(3) by mail addressed and dispatched
to the head of the foreign state’s ministry of foreign affairs via the foreign
state’s diplomatic mission in the United States.
21. Culbertson v. Berryhill, No. 17-773 (11th Cir., 861 F.3d 1197; cert. granted
May 21, 2018; argued Nov. 7, 2018). Under 42 U.S.C. § 406(b), when a
“court renders a judgment favorable” to a Social Security claimant “who
was represented before the court by an attorney, the court may determine
and allow as part of its judgment a reasonable fee for such representation,
not in excess of 25 percent of the total of the past-due benefits to which the
claimant is entitled by reason of such judgment.” The Question Presented is
whether the 25-percent cap applies only to fees for representation in court, or
also to fees for representation at the administrative level.
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22. Apple Inc. v. Pepper, No. 17-204 (9th Cir., 846 F.3d 313; CVSG Oct. 10, 2017;
cert. supported May 8, 2018; cert. granted June 18, 2018; argument
scheduled Nov. 26, 2018). iPhone apps are available only through the App
Store, and Apple charges independent software developers an annual fee to
submit apps to be sold in the App Store. Do consumers have standing to seek
antitrust damages based on that fee, or are they “indirect purchasers” who
lack standing to assert antitrust claims under Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois?
23. Nieves v. Bartlett, No. 17-1174 (9th Cir., 712 F. App’x 613; cert. granted
June 28, 2018; argument scheduled Nov. 26, 2018). Does the existence of
probable cause defeat a First Amendment retaliatory arrest claim under 42
U.S.C. § 1983?
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24. Nutraceutical Corp. v. Lambert, No. 17-1094 (9th Cir., 870 F.3d 1170; cert.
granted June 25, 2018; argument scheduled Nov. 27, 2018). Federal Rule of
Procedure 23(f) sets a 14-day deadline to file a petition for permission to
appeal an order granting or denying class certification. Is that deadline
subject to equitable exceptions that would excuse a party’s failure to timely
file a petition for permission to appeal or a motion for reconsideration?
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25. Carpenter v. Murphy, No. 17-1107 (10th Cir., 875 F.3d 896; cert. granted
May 21, 2018; argument scheduled Nov. 27, 2018). Whether the 1866
territorial boundaries of the Creek Nation within the former Indian
Territory of eastern Oklahoma constitute an “Indian reservation” today
under 18 U.S.C. § 1151(a).
26. Timbs v. Indiana, No. 17-1091 (Ind., 84 N.E.3d 1179; cert. granted June 18,
2018; argument scheduled Nov. 28, 2018). Whether the Eighth Amendment’s
Excessive Fines Clause is incorporated against the States under the
Fourteenth Amendment.
27. Dawson v. Steager, No. 17-419 (W. Va., 2017 WL 2172006; CVSG Jan. 8,
2018; cert. supported May 15, 2018; cert. granted June 25, 2018, limited to
Question Presented by SG; argument scheduled Dec. 3, 2018). Whether the
doctrine of intergovernmental tax immunity, as codified by 4 U.S.C. § 111,
prohibits the State of West Virginia from exempting from state taxation the
retirement benefits of retired state law enforcement officers without
providing the same exemption for retired employees of the U.S. Marshals
Service.
28. Lorenzo v. SEC, No. 17-1077 (D.C. Cir., 872 F.3d 578; cert. granted June 18,
2018; argument scheduled Dec. 3, 2018). Whether a misstatement, without
more, can serve as the basis for a fraudulent-scheme claim under SEC Rule
10b-5(a).
29. Biestek v. Berryhill, No. 17-1184 (6th Cir., 880 F.3d 778; cert. granted June 25,
2018; argument scheduled Dec. 4, 2018). To determine whether an applicant
is eligible for Social Security benefits, an administrative-law judge must
determine whether the applicant “can make an adjustment to other work,”
20 C.F.R. § 404.1520(a)(4)(v), and that determination must be supported by
substantial evidence, 42 U.S.C. § 405(g). Does a vocational expert’s
testimony constitute substantial evidence of “other work” available to an
applicant, when the expert does not provide the data underlying the
testimony?
30. Helsinn Healthcare S.A. v. Teva Pharm. USA, Inc., No. 17-1229 (Fed. Cir.,
855 F.3d 1356; cert. granted June 25, 2018; argument scheduled Dec. 4,
2018). Whether, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, an inventor’s
sale of an invention to a third party that is obligated to keep the invention
confidential qualifies as prior art for purposes of determining the
patentability of the invention.
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31. Gamble v. United States, No. 17-646 (11th Cir., 694 F. App’x 750; cert. granted
June 28, 2018; argument scheduled Dec. 5, 2018). Whether the Court should
overrule the “separate sovereigns” exception to the Double Jeopardy Clause.

Cases Awaiting An Argument Date
32. Herrera v. Wyoming, No. 17-532 (Wyo. Dist. Ct., No. 2016-242; CVSG Jan. 8,
2018; cert. supported May 22, 2018; cert. granted June 28, 2018). Whether
Wyoming’s admission to the Union or the establishment of the Bighorn
National Forest abrogated the Crow Tribe of Indians’ federal treaty rights to
hunt such that those rights could not serve as a bar to criminal prosecution
for unlawful hunting under state law.
33. Fourth Estate Pub. Benefit Corp. v. Wall-Street.com, LLC, No. 17-571 (11th
Cir., 856 F.3d 1338; CVSG Jan. 8, 2018; cert. supported May 16, 2018; cert.
granted June 28, 2018). Section 411(a) of the Copyright Act says that no civil
action for infringement of a copyright shall be instituted until preregistration
or registration of the copyright claim has been made. 17 U.S.C. § 411(a).
Does “registration of [a] copyright claim” occur when the copyright holder
delivers the required application, deposit, and fee to the Copyright Office, or
when the Copyright Office acts on the application?
34. Franchise Tax Bd. of Cal. v. Hyatt, No. 17-1299 (Nev., 407 P.3d 717; cert.
granted June 28, 2018). Whether Nevada v. Hall, 440 U.S. 410 (1979), which
permits a sovereign State to be haled into another State’s courts without its
consent, should be overruled.
35. Obduskey v. McCarthy & Holthus LLP, No. 17-1307 (10th Cir., 879 F.3d 1216;
cert. granted June 28, 2018). Whether the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act
applies to non-judicial foreclosure proceedings.
36. Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht, No. 17-290 (3d Cir., 852 F.3d 268;
CVSG Dec. 4, 2017; cert. supported May 22, 2018; cert. granted June 28,
2018). Does the FDA’s rejection of a drug-label warning preempt a state-law
failure-to-warn claim based on the absence of that warning?
37. Thacker v. Tenn. Valley Auth., No. 17-1201 (11th Cir., 868 F.3d 979; cert.
granted Sept. 27, 2018, limited to Question 1). May the Tennessee Valley
Authority invoke immunity for its performance of governmental,
discretionary functions?
38. Home Depot U.S.A., Inc. v. Jackson, No. 17-1471 (4th Cir., 880 F.3d 165; cert.
granted Sept. 27, 2018, with Question 2 directed by the Court). The
Questions Presented are: (1) Whether an original defendant to a class-action
claim can remove the class action if it otherwise satisfies the jurisdictional
requirements of the Class Action Fairness Act when the class action was
originally asserted as a counterclaim against a co-defendant. (2) Should this
Court’s holding in Shamrock Oil & Gas Co. v. Sheets, 313 U.S. 100 (1941)—
that an original plaintiff may not remove a counterclaim against it—extend
to third-party counterclaim defendants?
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39. Azar v. Allina Health Servs., No. 17-1484 (D.C. Cir., 863 F.3d 937; cert.
granted Sept. 27, 2018, with the Question Presented limited by the Court).
Whether 42 U.S.C. § 1395hh(a)(2) or § 1395hh(a)(4) required the
Department of Health and Human Services to conduct notice-and-comment
rulemaking before providing the challenged instructions to a Medicare
Administrator Contractor making initial determinations of payments due
under Medicare.
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40. Rimini Street, Inc. v. Oracle USA, Inc., No. 17-1625 (9th Cir., 879 F.3d 948;
cert. granted Sept. 27, 2018). Whether the Copyright Act’s allowance of “full
costs” (17 U.S.C. § 505) to a prevailing party is limited to taxable costs under
28 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 1821 or also authorizes non-taxable costs.
41. Tenn. Wine & Spirits Retailers Ass’n v. Byrd, No. 18-96 (6th Cir., 883 F.3d 608;
cert. granted Sept. 27, 2018). Whether the Twenty-first Amendment
empowers States, consistent with the dormant Commerce Clause, to regulate
liquor sales by granting retail or wholesale licenses only to individuals or
entities that have resided in-state for a specified time.
42. Manhattan Cmty. Access v. Halleck, No. 17-1702 (2d Cir., 882 F.3d 300; cert.
granted Oct. 12, 2018). The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether the
Second Circuit erred in rejecting this Court’s state actor tests and instead
creating a per se rule that private operators of public access channels are
state actors subject to constitutional liability. (2) Whether the Second Circuit
erred in holding—contrary to the Sixth and D.C. Circuits—that private
entities operating public access television stations are state actors for
constitutional purposes where the state has no control over the private
entity’s board or operations.
43. Return Mail, Inc. v. United States Postal Service, No. 17-1594 (Fed. Cir., 868
F.3d 1350; cert. granted Oct. 26, 2018, limited to Question 1). Whether the
Government is a “person” who may petition to institute review proceedings
under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act.
44. Mission Prod. Holdings, Inc. v. Tempnology, LLC, No. 17-1657 (1st Cir., 879
F.3d 389; cert. granted Oct. 26, 2018, limited to Question 1). Whether, under
section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, a debtor-licensor’s “rejection” of a
license agreement—which “constitutes a breach of such contract,” 11 U.S.C.
§ 365(g)—terminates rights of the licensee that would survive the licensor’s
breach under applicable non-bankruptcy law.
45. United States v. Haymond, No. 17-1672 (10th Cir., 869 F.3d 1153; cert. granted
Oct. 26, 2018). Whether the court of appeals erred in holding
“unconstitutional and unenforceable” the portions of 18 U.S.C. § 3583(k)
that required the district court to revoke respondent’s ten-year term of
supervised release, and to impose five years of reimprisonment, following its
finding by a preponderance of the evidence that respondent violated the
conditions of his release by knowingly possessing child pornography.
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46. Knick v. Twp. of Scott, No. 17-647 (3d Cir., 862 F.3d 310; cert. granted Mar. 5,
2018, limited to Question 1; argued Oct. 3, 2018; restored for reargument
Nov. 2, 2018). Whether the Court should reconsider the requirement that
property owners exhaust state court remedies before a federal takings claim
ripens.
47. Smith v. Berryhill, No. 17-1606 (6th Cir., 880 F.3d 813; cert. granted Nov. 2,
2018). Whether a decision of the Social Security Administration’s Appeals
Council dismissing as untimely a request for review of a decision issued by an
ALJ after a hearing is a “final decision of the Commissioner of Social
Security made after a hearing” that is subject to judicial review under 42
U.S.C. § 405(g).
48. Gray v. Wilkie, No. 17-1679 (Fed. Cir., 875 F.3d 1102; cert. granted Nov. 2,
2018). Whether the Federal Circuit has jurisdiction under 38 U.S.C. § 502 to
review an interpretive rule reflecting Department of Veteran Affairs’
definitive interpretation of its own regulation, even if the Department chooses
to promulgate that rule through its adjudication manual.
49. Am. Legion v. Am. Humanist Ass’n, No. 17-1717, consolidated with Md.-Nat’l
Capital Park & Planning Comm’n v. Am. Humanist Ass’n, No. 18-18 (4th Cir.,
874 F.3d 195; cert. granted Nov. 2, 2018). The Questions Presented are:
(1) Whether a 93-year-old memorial to the fallen of World War I is
unconstitutional merely because it is shaped like a cross. (2) Whether the
constitutionality of a passive display incorporating religious symbolism
should be assessed under the tests articulated in Lemon v. Kurtzman, 403 U.S.
602 (1971), Van Orden v. Perry, 545 U.S. 677 (2005), Town of Greece v.
Galloway, 134 S. Ct. 1811 (2014), or some other test. (3) Whether, if the test
from Lemon v. Kurtzman, 403 U.S. 602 (1971), applies, the expenditure of
funds for routine upkeep and maintenance of a cross-shaped war memorial,
without more, amounts to an excessive entanglement with religion in
violation of the First Amendment.
50. Mont v. United States, No. 17-8995 (6th Cir., 723 F. App’x 325; cert. granted
Nov. 2, 2018). Whether a period of supervised release for one offense is tolled
under 18 U.S.C. § 3624(e) during a period of pretrial confinement that upon
conviction is credited toward a defendant’s term of imprisonment for
another offense.
51. Flowers v. Mississippi, No. 17-9572 (Miss., 240 So. 3d 1082; cert. granted
Nov. 2, 2018, with the Question Presented limited by the Court). Whether
the Mississippi Supreme Court erred in how it applied Batson v. Kentucky,
476 U.S. 79 (1986), in this case.

Pending Original Cases
1. Mississippi v. Tennessee, No. 22O143 (Original Jurisdiction; CVSG Oct. 20,
2014; leave to file bill of complaint opposed May 12, 2015; leave to file bill of
complaint granted June 29, 2015). The Questions Presented are:
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(1) Whether the Court will grant Mississippi leave to file an original action to
seek relief from respondents’ use of a pumping operation to take
approximately 252 billion gallons of high quality groundwater. (2) Whether
Mississippi has sole sovereign authority over and control of groundwater
naturally stored within its borders, including in sandstone within
Mississippi’s border. (3) Whether Mississippi is entitled to damages,
injunctive, and other equitable relief for the Mississippi intrastate
groundwater intentionally and forcibly taken by respondents.
2. Delaware v. Pennsylvania & Wisconsin, No. 22O145, consolidated with
Arkansas v. Delaware, No. 22O146 (Original Jurisdiction; leave to file a bill of
complaint granted Oct. 3, 2016). Whether check-like instruments that
function like a money order or traveler’s check, issued in relatively large
amounts by a bank or other financial institution, are governed by the
Disposition of Abandoned Money Orders and Traveler’s Checks Act of 1974,
12 U.S.C. § 2501 et seq., and which State has authority to claim ownership of
such instruments that go unclaimed.

Pending Cases Calling For The Views Of The
Solicitor General
1. Missouri v. California, No. 22O148 (Original Jurisdiction; CVSG Apr. 16,
2018). Whether a California law requiring farms raising egg-laying hens to
let those hens move around freely violates the Commerce Clause.
2. Indiana v. Massachusetts, No. 22O149 (Original Jurisdiction; CVSG Apr. 16,
2018). Whether a Massachusetts law barring sales of eggs, pork, and veal
from animals confined in a cruel manner violates the Commerce Clause.
3. Kansas v. Garcia, No. 17-834 (Kan., 401 P.3d 588; CVSG Apr. 16, 2018).
Under regulations implementing the Immigration Reform and Control Act,
all prospective employees, whether citizens or aliens, must fill out a so-called
Form I-9. Although employers face civil and criminal penalties for violations
of the Act, the statute’s express preemption provision says that States are
prohibited from imposing penalties on employers of unauthorized aliens.
The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether a State may use information
entered on a Form I-9 in a prosecution when the same information appears
in other documents. (2) If the Act preempts any use of that information,
whether Congress has the constitutional authority to preempt State authority
so broadly.
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4. Gilead Sciences, Inc. v. United States ex rel. Campie, No. 17-936 (9th Cir., 862
F.3d 890; CVSG Apr. 16, 2018). The False Claims Act creates a cause of
action, which private parties may invoke on the Government’s behalf, based
on the submission of false claims to the Government for payment. A plaintiff
must show that any misrepresentation was material to the Government’s
payment decision. The Question Presented is whether a misrepresentation is
material if the Government pays a claim in full despite knowledge of the
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alleged misrepresentation and the pleadings do not otherwise suggest the
misrepresentation was material.
5. Osage Wind, LLC v. Osage Minerals Council, No. 17-1237 (10th Cir., 871 F.3d
1078; CVSG May 14, 2018). The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether the
court of appeals had jurisdiction over an appeal filed by a nonparty that did
not participate in any capacity in the district court, but where the suit was
filed by the United States as trustee for that nonparty. (2) Whether the court
of appeals erred in applying the Indian canon of construction to interpret the
term “mining” under the Osage Act to include the removal of dirt and rocks
in order to construct a structure on the surface.
6. City of Cibolo v. Green Valley Special Util. Dist., No. 17-938 (5th Cir., 866 F.3d
339; CVSG May 21, 2018). Under 7 U.S.C. § 1926(b), a rural utility
association that receives a federal loan for water or wastewater
infrastructure enjoys monopoly protection for “[t]he service provided or
made available” by the association during the term of the loan. The
Questions Presented are: (1) Whether the term “service” refers to the service
funded by the loan or all services provided by the loan recipient. (2) Whether
an association, to show it has “provided or made available” the service, must
show that the service is or can promptly be furnished or whether the
association must show that it had a legal duty under state law to provide the
service.
7. Airline Serv. Providers v. L.A. World Airports, No. 17-1183 (9th Cir., 873 F.3d
1074; CVSG June 4, 2018). Although federal labor law and the Airline
Deregulation Act generally preempt state and local regulations concerning
labor-management relations and airline prices, an exception applies where
the state or local government does not exercise its sovereign power to
regulate, but instead purchases goods or services in the marketplace. The
City of Los Angeles enacted a licensing rule barring companies from
providing services to airlines at Los Angeles International Airport unless they
enter into a “labor peace” agreement with any union that demands one. Does
the “market participant” exception apply given that the City owns and
operates the Airport?

Gibson Dunn
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8. Republic of Sudan v. Owens, No. 17-1236 (D.C. Cir., 864 F.3d 751; CVSG
June 11, 2018). The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether plaintiffs suing a
foreign state bear a lighter burden in establishing the facts necessary for
jurisdiction than in proving a case on the merits. (2) Whether plaintiffs suing
a foreign state can establish facts necessary for jurisdiction based solely on
the opinion testimony of terrorism experts. (3) Whether a plaintiff’s failure
to prove that a foreign state specifically intended or directly advanced a
terrorist attack is relevant to proximate cause and jurisdictional causation
under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act’s terrorism exception.
9. Opati v. Republic of Sudan, No. 17-1268 (D.C. Cir., 864 F.3d 751; CVSG
June 11, 2018). The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether a party who does
not contest a nonjurisdictional legal issue before judgment may demonstrate
extraordinary and exceptional circumstances warranting appellate review of
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the issue post-judgment. (2) Whether the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act
applies retroactively to permit punitive damages under 28 U.S.C. § 1605A(c)
against foreign states for terrorist activities occurring before the current
version of the statute was enacted.
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10. Republic of Sudan v. Opati, No. 17-1406 (D.C. Cir., 864 F.3d 751; CVSG
June 11, 2018). The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether the term
“extrajudicial killing” under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act means a
summary execution by state actors. (2) Whether foreign sovereign immunity
may be withdrawn for emotional distress claims brought by family members
of victims under the Act. (3) Whether 28 U.S.C. § 1605A(c) provides the
exclusive remedy for actions brought under § 1605A(a), and thus forecloses
state causes of action previously asserted through the “pass through”
provision of 28 U.S.C. § 1606. (4) Whether the statute of limitations
contained in § 1605A(b) is jurisdictional in nature, and if not, whether the
D.C. Circuit should have heard Sudan’s limitations defense asserted through
a timely, direct appeal. (5) Whether the undisputed fact of civil war, internal
strife, and partitioning of Sudan into two countries constitutes excusable
neglect or extraordinary circumstances for vacatur under Federal Rule of
Civil Procedure 60(b).
11. Ass’n des Eleveurs de Canards et d’Oies du Quebec v. Becerra, No. 17-1285
(9th Cir., 870 F.3d 1140; CVSG June 18, 2018). The Questions Presented are:
(1) Whether a State’s ban on the sale of federally approved poultry products
based on the State’s disapproval of the way in which the poultry product was
produced imposes an “ingredient requirement” in addition to or different
than those in the Poultry Products Inspection Act. (2) Whether Congress has
preempted the field of poultry products regulation.
12. Harvey v. Ute Indian Tribe of Uintah & Ouray Reservation, No. 17-1301 (Utah,
2017 UT 75; CVSG June 25, 2018). The Questions Presented are:
(1) Whether the tribal remedies exhaustion doctrine, which requires federal
courts to stay cases challenging tribal jurisdiction until the parties have
exhausted parallel tribal court proceedings, applies to state courts as well.
(2) Whether the tribal remedies exhaustion doctrine requires that nontribal
courts yield to tribal courts when the parties have not invoked the tribal
court’s jurisdiction.
13. de Csepel v. Republic of Hungary, No. 17-1165 (D.C. Cir., 859 F.3d 1094;
CVSG June 25, 2018). Whether, under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities
Act, a foreign state itself is immune from suit in the United States in a case in
which rights in property taken in violation of international law are in issue,
the property is located outside the United States, the property is owned or
operated by an agency or instrumentality of the foreign state, and that
agency or instrumentality is engaged in commercial activity in the United
States.
14. Poarch Band of Creek Indians v. Wilkes, No. 17-1175 (Ala., 2017 WL 4385738;
CVSG Oct. 1, 2018). Whether an Indian tribe is immune from civil liability
for tort claims asserted by nonmembers.
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15. Atlantic Richfield Co. v. Christian, No. 17-1498 (Mont., 408 P.3d 515; CVSG
Oct. 1, 2018). The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether a common-law
claim for restoration seeking cleanup remedies that conflict with EPAordered remedies is a “challenge” to the EPA’s cleanup jurisdictionally
barred by 42 U.S.C. § 9613 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act (“CERCLA”). (2) Whether a landowner at
a Superfund site is a “potentially responsible party” that must seek EPA’s
approval under 42 U.S.C. § 9622(e)(6) of CERCLA before engaging in
remedial action, even if EPA has never ordered the landowner to pay for a
cleanup. (3) Whether CERCLA pre-empts state common-law claims for
restoration that seek cleanup remedies that conflict with EPA-ordered
remedies.

Gibson Dunn
Counsel for
Respondents

16. Clearstream Banking S.A. v. Peterson, No. 17-1529, consolidated with Banca
UBAE S.p.A. v. Peterson, No. 17-1530, and Bank Markazi v. Peterson, No. 171534 (2d Cir., 876 F.3d 63; CVSG Oct. 1, 2018). The Questions Presented
are: (1) Whether the court of appeals correctly held that the FSIA affords
execution immunity only to assets located “in the United States.” (2)
Whether, instead of determining personal jurisdiction for the first time on
appeal, a court of appeals may remand a case to the district court to decide
the question of personal jurisdiction in the first instance.
17. Hernandez v. Mesa, No. 17-1678 (5th Cir., 885 F.3d 811; CVSG Oct. 1, 2018).
The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether, when plaintiffs plausibly allege
that a rogue federal law enforcement officer violated clearly established
Fourth and Fifth Amendment rights for which there is no alternative legal
remedy, the federal courts can and should recognize a damages claim under
Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of the Fed. Bureau of Narcotics, 403
U.S. 388 (1971). (2) If not, whether the Westfall Act violates the Due Process
Clause of the Fifth Amendment insofar as it preempts state-law tort suits for
damages against rogue federal law enforcement officers acting within the
scope of their employment for which there is no alternative legal remedy.
18. RPX Corp. v. ChanBond LLC, No. 17-1686 (Fed. Cir., No. 17-2346; CVSG
Oct. 1, 2018). Whether a party dissatisfied with a final written decision of the
Patent Trial and Appeal Board has Article III standing to appeal that
decision based solely on the statutory provisions of 35 U.S.C. §§ 315, 318, and
319, regardless of whether the appellant otherwise suffered an injury in fact.
19. Thole v. U.S. Bank, N.A., No. 17-1712 (8th Cir., 873 F.3d 617; CVSG Oct. 1,
2018). The Questions Presented are: (1) May an ERISA plan participant or
beneficiary seek injunctive relief against fiduciary misconduct under 29
U.S.C. § 1132(a)(3) without demonstrating individual financial loss or the
imminent risk thereof? (2) May an ERISA plan participant or beneficiary
seek restoration of plan losses caused by fiduciary breach under 29 U.S.C.
§ 1132(a)(2) without demonstrating individual financial loss or the imminent
risk thereof?
20. First Solar, Inc. v. Mineworkers’ Pension Scheme, No. 18-164 (9th Cir., 881
F.3d 750; CVSG Oct. 9, 2018). Whether a private securities-fraud plaintiff
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may establish the critical element of loss causation based on a decline in the
market price of a security where the event or disclosure that triggered the
decline did not reveal the fraud on which the plaintiff’s claim is based.
21. Ariosa Diagnostics, Inc. v. Illumina, Inc., No. 18-109 (Fed. Cir., 705 F. App’x
1002; CVSG Oct. 29, 2018). Do unclaimed disclosures in a published patent
application and an earlier application it relies on for priority enter the public
domain and thus become prior art as of the earlier application’s filing date,
or, as the Federal Circuit held, does the prior art date of the disclosures
depend on whether the published application also claims subject matter from
the earlier application?
22. Swartz v. Rodriguez, No. 18-309 (9th Cir., 899 F.3d 719; CVSG Oct. 29, 2018).
The Questions Presented are: (1) Whether the panel’s decision to create an
implied remedy for damages under Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of
the Fed. Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388 (1971), in the new context of a
cross-border shooting, misapplies Supreme Court precedent and violates
separation-of-powers principles, where foreign relations, border security, and
the extraterritorial application of the Fourth Amendment are some of the
special factors that counsel hesitation against such an extension. (2) Whether
petitioner, a U.S. Border Patrol agent, is entitled to qualified immunity
because there is no clearly established law applying the Fourth Amendment
to protect a Mexican citizen with no significant connection to the United
States, who is injured in Mexico by a federal agent’s cross-border shooting.

CVSG Cases In Which The Solicitor General
Supported Certiorari
1. Va. Uranium, Inc. v. Warren, No. 16-1275 (4th Cir., 848 F.3d 590; CVSG
Oct. 2, 2017; cert. supported Apr. 9, 2018; cert. granted May 21, 2018;
argued Nov. 5, 2018). Whether the Atomic Energy Act of 1954 preempts
Virginia’s moratorium on uranium mining on nonfederal lands.

Gibson Dunn
Counsel for
Amicus Curiae
Chamber of
Commerce of
the United
States of
America

2. Apple Inc. v. Pepper, No. 17-204 (9th Cir., 846 F.3d 313; CVSG Oct. 10, 2017;
cert. supported May 8, 2018; cert. granted June 18, 2018; argument
scheduled Nov. 26, 2018). iPhone apps are available only through the App
Store, and Apple charges independent software developers an annual fee to
submit apps to be sold in the App Store. Do consumers have standing to seek
antitrust damages based on that fee, or are they “indirect purchasers” who
lack standing to assert antitrust claims under Illinois Brick Co. v. Illinois?
3. Dawson v. Steager, No. 17-419 (W. Va., 2017 WL 2172006; CVSG Jan. 8,
2018; cert. supported May 15, 2018; cert. granted June 25, 2018, limited to
Question Presented by SG; argument scheduled Dec. 3, 2018). Whether the
doctrine of intergovernmental tax immunity, as codified by 4 U.S.C. § 111,
prohibits the State of West Virginia from exempting from state taxation the
retirement benefits of retired state law enforcement officers without
providing the same exemption for retired employees of the U.S. Marshals
Service.
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4. Wash. State Dep’t of Licensing v. Cougar Den, Inc., No. 16-1498 (Wash., 392
P.3d 1014; CVSG Oct. 2, 2017; cert. supported May 15, 2018; cert. granted
June 25, 2018; argued Oct. 30, 2018). An 1855 treaty between the United
States and the Yakama Indian Nation provides tribal members with “the
right, in common with citizens of the United States, to travel upon all public
highways.” Can Washington enforce a state tax upon a tribal member for
importing fuel into Washington on the public highways?
5. Fourth Estate Pub. Benefit Corp. v. Wall-Street.com, LLC, No. 17-571 (11th
Cir., 856 F.3d 1338; CVSG Jan. 8, 2018; cert. supported May 16, 2018; cert.
granted June 28, 2018). Section 411(a) of the Copyright Act says that no civil
action for infringement of a copyright shall be instituted until preregistration
or registration of the copyright claim has been made. 17 U.S.C. § 411(a).
Does “registration of [a] copyright claim” occur when the copyright holder
delivers the required application, deposit, and fee to the Copyright Office, or
when the Copyright Office acts on the application?
6. Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp. v. Albrecht, No. 17-290 (3d Cir., 852 F.3d 268;
CVSG Dec. 4, 2017; cert. supported May 22, 2018; cert. granted June 28,
2018). Does the FDA’s rejection of a drug-label warning preempt a state-law
failure-to-warn claim based on the absence of that warning?
7. Herrera v. Wyoming, No. 17-532 (Wyo. Dist. Ct., No. 2016-242; CVSG Jan. 8,
2018; cert. supported May 22, 2018; cert. granted June 28, 2018). Whether
Wyoming’s admission to the Union or the establishment of the Bighorn
National Forest abrogated the Crow Tribe of Indians’ federal treaty rights to
hunt such that those rights could not serve as a bar to criminal prosecution

CVSG Cases In Which The Solicitor General
Opposed Certiorari
1. Republic of Sudan v. Harrison, No. 16-1094 (2d Cir., 802 F.3d 399; CVSG
Oct. 2, 2017; cert. petition should be held in abeyance May 22, 2018; cert.
granted June 25, 2018; argued Nov. 7, 2018). Whether a plaintiff suing a
foreign state under the Foreign Sovereign Immunities Act may serve the
foreign state under 28 U.S.C. § 1608(a)(3) by mail addressed and dispatched
to the head of the foreign state’s ministry of foreign affairs via the foreign
state’s diplomatic mission in the United States.
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Supreme Court Statistics:
Gibson Dunn has a longstanding, high-profile presence before the Supreme Court of the
United States, appearing numerous times in the past decade in a variety of cases. During the
Supreme Court’s 5 most recent Terms, 9 different Gibson Dunn partners have presented oral
argument; the firm has argued a total of 17 cases in the Supreme Court during that period,
including closely watched cases with far-reaching significance in the class action, intellectual
property, separation of powers, and First Amendment fields. Moreover, while the grant rate for
certiorari petitions is below 1%, Gibson Dunn’s certiorari petitions have captured the Court’s
attention: Gibson Dunn has persuaded the Court to grant 24 certiorari petitions since 2006.

© 2018 Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP
Attorney Advertising: The enclosed materials have been prepared for general
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Thomas H. Dupree, Jr.

1050 Connecticut Avenue, N.W., Washington, DC 20036-5306
Tel: 202.955.8547
tdupree@gibsondunn.com
Thomas H. Dupree, Jr. is Co-Partner-in-Charge of the Washington, DC office of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher.
He is a member of the firm’s litigation department and its Appellate and Constitutional Law practice group.
Mr. Dupree is an experienced trial and appellate advocate. He has argued more than 80 appeals in the
federal courts, including in all thirteen circuits as well as the United States Supreme Court. He has
represented clients throughout the country in a wide variety of trial and appellate matters, including cases
involving punitive damages, class actions, product liability, arbitration, intellectual property, employment,
and constitutional challenges to federal and state statutes.
In 2007, Mr. Dupree was appointed Deputy Assistant Attorney General. He served in the Civil Division at
the U.S. Department of Justice from 2007 to 2009, ultimately becoming the Principal Deputy Assistant
Attorney General. In that capacity, he served as the division’s second-in-command, overseeing the more
than 900 lawyers in the Civil Appellate, Commercial, Federal Programs and Torts branches, as well as the
Office of Immigration Litigation and the Office of Consumer Litigation. Mr. Dupree was responsible for
managing many of the government’s most significant cases involving regulatory, commercial, constitutional
and national security matters on behalf of virtually all of the federal agencies, the White House, and senior
federal officials. Before being named the division’s top deputy, Mr. Dupree ran its largest litigating branch,
managing a staff of 280 lawyers.
Chambers and Partners named Mr. Dupree one of the leading appellate lawyers in the United States in
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018. He received similar honors in 2010, when he was ranked as
one of the top ten appellate litigators under age 40 by Law360. In 2009, the National Law Journal and
Legal Times selected him as one of the top 40 lawyers under 40 in Washington, D.C.. Based on surveys of
hundreds of corporate counsel, Mr. Dupree was named a “Client Service All-Star” by BTI Consulting Group
in a 2013 report for his “overall legal prowess” and his “ability to deliver a plan of action that yields results.”
Legal Times has called Mr. Dupree “no stranger to high-profile work.” Among other things, he played a
substantial role in the successful representation of George W. Bush before the United States Supreme
Court in Bush v. Gore, and represented New England Patriots quarterback Tom Brady in challenging his
“Deflategate” suspension.
In 2014, Mr. Dupree argued and won, by a unanimous 9-0 vote, a landmark personal jurisdiction case in the
United States Supreme Court, Daimler AG v. Bauman. For this achievement, American Lawyer magazine
named him Litigator of the Week, noting that he “won over both the liberal and conservative wings of the
court.”
Other matters Mr. Dupree has handled include:
•

Persuading the Supreme Court to grant a petition for certiorari on behalf of a major automobile
manufacturer and to vacate a $290 million punitive damage award, which had been the largest
personal injury award ever affirmed on appeal in United States history.

Gibson Dunn
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•

Winning an appeal on behalf of Jerry and Jessica Seinfeld in the United States Court of Appeals for the
Second Circuit in a copyright and trademark case involving the New York Times #1 bestselling book
Deceptively Delicious.

•

Successfully representing Facebook and its CEO Mark Zuckerberg in a federal lawsuit arising from the
plaintiff’s fraudulent claim of a significant ownership stake in Facebook.

•

Successfully representing superagent Scott Boras in confidential baseball-related arbitrations.

Mr. Dupree appears frequently on national television as a legal analyst. He is a regular guest on Fox News
Channel and MSNBC. He has also appeared on NBC Nightly News, PBS NewsHour, ABC World News
Tonight, and Good Morning America, as well as on CNN, CNBC, Bloomberg and C-Span. He has been
quoted in numerous print publications, including the New York Times, the Wall Street Journal, the
Washington Post, the Los Angeles Times and many others, discussing legal issues and developments. In
addition, Mr. Dupree has testified before Congress on constitutional and separation-of-powers issues,
including the President’s authority to act through executive order.
Mr. Dupree graduated cum laude from Williams College, and with Honors from the University of Chicago
Law School, where he served as an Editor of the University of Chicago Law Review. After law school, he
clerked for the Honorable Jerry E. Smith of the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.
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		POLITICAL/DC ROUNDUP
		Stefan C. Passantino, Michael Best & Friedrich,
		LLP, Washington, D.C.

Stefan Passantino
Michael Best & Friedrich LLP
Partner
Practice Group Chair, Government Relations, Political Law & Public Policy
Stefan Passantino, former White House Deputy Counsel in charge of compliance and ethics
oversight joined Michael Best & Friedrich LLP Government Relations, Public Policy &
Compliance Practice Group in Washington, D.C. Passantino is the newest addition to join
Michael Best’s team of former White House staff including former Chief of Staff Reince Priebus.
Passantino joins Michael Best after serving as Deputy Assistant to the President and Deputy
Counsel since January 2017. An Atlanta native, Passantino’s work in the political law and
compliance arena dates to the early 2000s. Passantino previously chaired the Political Law
group at McKenna Long & Aldridge, LLP, which then merged with the global law firm Dentons
U.S., LLP, where he counseled corporations, advocacy and lobbying groups, candidates and
campaigns on matters of election law, state and federal lobbying rules, and ethics regulations
compliance.
At Michael Best, Passantino focuses his practice on serving corporations and businesses in the
areas of campaign finance, public policy, and compliance counseling concerning the rules and
regulations related to corporate involvement in political activities. His practice will serve clients
on a national scope, and he will primarily work out of the firm’s D.C. office.
Michael Best’s attorneys in the Government Relations, Public Policy & Compliance Practice
combined with the firm’s government relations and public affairs affiliate Michael Best
Strategies, will advise clients on lobbying, campaign finance and compliance, public affairs,
crisis management, and public policy regarding the intersection of business and government.
The groups have extensive experience advising businesses, individuals, nonprofits,
municipalities, quasi-government entities, and trade associations on legislative and regulatory
matters. Many of the firm’s attorneys have served in prior senior government positions and
private industries adding to their understanding of complex regulatory, policy, and political
matters.
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§ Regulatory Change
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INDUSTRY STRUCTURE
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Current Landscape of the Industry
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More Data:
• Nearly all US bank assets are
controlled by BHCs
• Top ten BHCs control ~60%
of total assets
• The percentage of U.S. banks
owned by BHCs has more
than doubled since 1980
• Note the growth in non-bank
assets, particularly after
Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act
(1999)
• Virtually all large BHCs are
registered as FHCs
• Only a handful of banks with
more than $10 Billion in
assets do not have a holding
company

Source:
Federal
R eserve B ank
of N ew York
(2012)
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Structure Basics
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Predominant Structure

Source: Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
7

An Accident of History?
•

Bank Holding Company Act of 1956
– Originally: antitrust
– Later: separation of banking and commerce

•

Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act of 1999
– Significant changes to mirror European and Asian universal bank model
– Financial holding company designation
– Umbrella supervision and functional regulation

•

Home Owners’ Loan Act §10
– Unique scheme for SLHCs, but similar underlying principles
– Grandfathered unitary thrift holding companies

•

Dodd-Frank Act 2010
– Significant increase in burden on holding companies
– Collins Amendment and phase-out of trust preferred securities
– Codification of source of strength doctrine
– Established Fed as umbrella supervisor of SLHCs with convergent approach

8

Capital Flexibility/Double Leverage
• Raise Funds at Holding Company Level
– Preferred Stock
– Subordinated Debt
– Senior Debt (Potentially Secured by Bank Stock)
• Downstream to Bank as Common Equity Tier 1 Capital
• Consolidated vs. Bank-Level Capital Ratios
– PCA Capital Ratios Only at Bank Level
– Bank-Level Enforcement Action Compliance
– Legal Lending Limits
• Expectations and Limitations of Lenders
9
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Trust Preferred Securities
• Like Real Estate, They’re Not Making Any More
• Collins Amendment of Dodd-Frank
• Holding Companies ≤$15 Billion
• Grandfathered – Legacy and Acquired
– Tier 1 Capital Treatment
– Treated Like Debt for Tax Purposes
– Low Rates – LIBOR plus 200 bps
10

Capital Flexibility – Stock Repurchases
• Common Activity for Banks of All Sizes

– Increase Share Liquidity
– Increase Shareholder Return by Purchase of Undervalued Stock
– Tax-Efficient Means of Generating Returns to Shareholders

• Bank Holding Companies

– Federal Reserve Supervisory Letter SR 09-4

• Consistent with Organization’s Capital Needs
• Board of Directors and Management Decision
• Expectation of Limiting Dividends and Repurchases to Net Income for
the Past Four Quarters

– Regulation – 12 CFR Part 225.4(b)

• Required Notice if Consideration ≥ 10% of Consolidated Net Worth
• Unless Well-Capitalized Before and After Redemption
11

Bank Permissible Investments
• Banks are generally limited by law to investments in high
quality U.S. government and agency securities, and state,
county, and municipal debt
• BHCs may invest in up to five percent of any class voting
securities of any entity (BHC Act, Section 4(c)(6)
– Provide the means to invest in fintech and other companies to
leverage for financial and operational purposes.

12
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Permissible Non-banking BHC Activities
– consumer finance, credit card,
mortgage and commercial
– financial operations
– operating nonbank depository
institutions, such as industrial
loan companies and trust
companies
– financial counseling services
– leasing agencies
– investment in community
development corporations
– financial data processing
services
– bank-related courier services
– credit life insurance

– money transmittal
– management consulting for
other financial institutions
– collection agency services
– tax preparation services
– consumer credit bureau
services
– consumer financial counseling
– securities brokerage services
for customer investments
– government securities
underwriting
– printing and selling checks.
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SUPERVISION AND ENFORCEMENT
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Overview of the Supervisory Structure
Charter Type

Primary Regulator

Secondary
Regulator(s)

All Banks &
Holding Cos.
CFPB

Fed

CFPB

FDIC

CFPB

National Bank

OCC

State Member
Bank
State NonMember Bank

State Chartering
Agency
State Chartering
Agency

Bank Holding
Company

The Fed regulates as an umbrella
supervisor

CFPB

Financial Holding
Company

The Fed regulates as an umbrella
supervisor

CFPB

Nonbank SIFIs

The FSOC will designate who these
SIFIs are, and the Fed will oversee

CFPB
15
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U.S. BANK REGULATORS
Office of the
Comptroller
of the
Currency
Federal
Branches of
Foreign Banks

National
Banks

Federal
Deposit
Insurance
Corporation

Federal
Thrifts*

StateChartered
Non-Member
Banks &
Thrifts

State Banking
Regulators

State
Branches of
Foreign Banks

Federal
Reserve

StateChartered
Member
Banks

Bank & Thrift
Holding
Companies

Edge Corps.

Foreign
Banks

US
Branches &
Agencies
Federal Financial
Institutions
Examination
Council

National Credit
Union
Administration

Appraisal
Subcommittee

Credit Unions

* A thrift is a savings and loan association or a savings bank, also known as a “federal
savings association.”
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Fragmented Regulation of Banks
•

•

•

Multiple agencies have overlapping regulatory authorities and varying primary
missions:
– safety and soundness
– consumer protection
– systemic risk oversight
Some benefits:
– competition,
– regulatory innovation,
– checks and balances against individual regulators
– “diversity, inventiveness, and flexibility in the banking system, which are
important for responding to changes in market share and in technology”
However:
– inefficient and inconsistent oversight
– delays in regulatory actions
– challenges to comprehensive risk oversight

17
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Hierarchy of Rules

• Laws
• Regulations
• Guidance Documents
–
–
–
–

Handbooks/Manuals
Bulletins
Supervisory Letters
Interpretive letters/GC opinions

• Current Issues:

– Supervision by Enforcement vs. Rulemaking
– Supervision by Guidance vs. Rulemaking
19
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Scope of Supervision
•
•
•
•

“Cradle to grave” supervision
Prudential (“Traditional”) Regulators: long-standing safety and soundness
focus, but shift to risk management focus
CFPB: Sole focus is compliance with consumer protection laws and
regulations
All levels of the organization subject to supervision
– Holding company
– Depository institution (bank/thrift)
– Bank subsidiaries
– Non-bank affiliates

•

Multiple and overlapping jurisdiction
– Bank Regulators
– Functional Regulators
21
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How Supervision Is Conducted
• Examination process
– Formal findings
– Informal communications with directors and management
• Reporting requirements
– Facilitates off-site and continuous analysis and monitoring
• Corporate applications and other filings
– Well capitalized / well managed
– Assessment of adequacy of risk management
• Dodd-Frank Act Provisions
– Recovery and Resolution Planning (Living Wills)
– Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review (CCAR) - $10B assets
– Stress-testing (DFAST)

22

Examination Process

• Periodic vs. continuous
• Joint / separate exams
• Prudential Regulators:

– Smaller banks: Comprehensive; reports of
examination (ROEs)
– Large banks: Multiple LOB or specialized exams; ROEs
and targeted supervisory letters (or similar
terminology) that contain MRAs, MRIAs, violations of
law or regulations

• CFPB:

– Consumer product and service examinations, targeted
and horizontal reviews; ROEs and supervisory letters

• Exit meeting with board and senior management

23

Examination Process (cont’d)
• CAMELS ratings (depository institutions)
– Capital Adequacy, Asset Quality, Management,
Earnings, Liquidity, Sensitivity to Risk

• RFI/C(D) ratings (bank holding companies)
– Risk, Financial, Impact on DI subs, Composite DI
ratings

• Consumer Compliance Rating (CFPB)
24
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Enforcement Actions
• Implicit rule (pre-crisis): Use enforcement actions only when
everything else fails. Preferred course is to use the supervisory
process so that corrective action takes place invisibly and
seamlessly.
• Present environment (post-crisis): Substantially more aggressive
use of enforcement tools; less benefit of the doubt.
• Formal and informal enforcement actions may be used.
• Investigative process: Supervisory/exam findings; use of
administrative subpoenas, civil investigative demands.
• Before moving to formal or informal enforcement process,
institution usually given opportunity to respond to potential
charges.
25

Enforcement Actions
• Informal
– Supervisory letters, informal written commitments, MOUs
• Formal
– Written agreements/consent orders (with “final agency action”
language)
– Cease and desist (C&D) orders
• Prohibit or require
– Temporary C&D
– Civil money penalties (CMPs)
• Tiered
– Restitution orders
– Removal and prohibition orders
– Others (less often): Prompt Corrective Action orders, Safety and
Soundness orders
26

CAPITAL

27
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DEFINITION OF CAPITAL
• Economic: Plant and equipment/fixed assets
• Corporate: Funds received for sale of stock
• Accounting: Excess of assets over liabilities
• Banking regulators:
– Cushion against losses
– Net worth of the financial institution
– Funding that does not have to be repaid
28

HOW IMPORTANT IS CAPITAL?
• CAMELS rating: banks & depositories
•
•
•
•
•
•

Capital
Assets
Management
Earnings
Liquidity
Sensitivity to risk

• Holding Companies: RFI/C(D): risk, financial
condition, impact on the sub banks, composite for
the BHC and rating of each insured depository
• Stress testing and CCAR process for largest and most
complex BHCs (filtering down)
29

RISKS ADDRESSED BY CAPITAL
•
•
•
•
•
•

Credit risk
Interest rate risk
Operational risk
Market risk
Liquidity risk
Reputation risk

• Compliance risk
• Legal risk
• Regulatory risk
30
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BANK CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS: HISTORY
• Increasingly sophisticated approach

– 1983 began with capital rules again
– 1987 “Basel I” risk-based capital guidelines capture offbalance sheet items and risk-weight assets
– Market Risk recognized in 1986
– Basel II (2004) to capture more types of risk for large
banks
– Basel III (2010) layers on Basel I and includes more capital,
more tangible capital and required leverage and liquidity
coverage
• Higher quantity and quality of capital

• Guidelines and not Regulations, until Basel III
– US Final Rule (2013) implements most of Basel III

31

CONSEQUENCES OF LOW CAPITAL LEVELS
• Actions by Regulators
–
–
–
–

Lose FHC Status
Capital directive to increase capital (plan)
Rejection of capital plans under CCAR
Other actions: dividend limits, consult with regulators, no
acquisitions, no bonuses

• Regulatory Requirements
–
–
–
–

Limits on repurchase of stock
No expedited application procedures
Limits on transactions with affiliates
Apply to make nonbank acquisitions

• Reputational Harm

32

HOW IS CAPITAL MEASURED?
• Capital is measured as a ratio of capital to
assets. There have been three key ratios:
– Leverage ratio: Tier 1 capital to book assets
– Tier 1 ratio: Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted
assets
– Total capital ratio: Total capital to risk–
weighted assets
• Basel III added Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)
to risk-weighted assets
33
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THE NUMERATOR: THE ELEMENTS OF
TIER 1 CAPITAL
• Tier 1 capital includes:
– Common shareholders equity
– Certain preferred stock
• Perpetual: no fixed term, not redeemable at
the option of the holder
• Noncumulative: may eliminate w/o paying
later
• No adjustable rate based on issuer’s condition
34

THE NUMERATOR: TIER 2 CAPITAL
• Tier 2 or Supplemental Capital includes:
– Preferred stock that does not qualify as Tier 1
• Limited term
• Cumulative
• Trust Preferred (subject to phase out)

• Certain Sub Debt
• Portions of the Allowance for Loan and Lease Losses
(ALLL)

35

THE NUMERATOR: CET1 CAPITAL
• Common Equity Tier 1 Capital:
– Primarily common stock, related surplus (net of
treasury stock), retained earnings, and
– Common Equity Tier 1 minority interests subject
to certain regulatory adjustments.

36
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THE DENOMINATOR: ASSETS
• Leverage ratio uses book assets, no
conversion or weighting is necessary
– Use average over the quarter rather than quarterend

37

THE DENOMINATOR: RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS
• Basel III Standardized Risk Weighting (examples):
– 0% for cash, claims on gov’ts of OECD countries, agencies of US
with full faith & credit of US gov’t
– 20% for claims against US depository institutions and OECD
banks, general obligation muni bonds, GSEs
– 50% for certain 1-4 family first lien mortgage loans, certain
multifamily mortgage loans, muni revenue bonds
– 100% for general corporate and consumer exposures
– 150% for “high volatility commercial real estate”
– 300% for publicly traded equity exposures
– 1250% for junior securitization tranches
38

REQUIRED RATIOS
• The Basel III Rule requires minimum capital ratios
beginning January 1, 2015, as follows:

– 4.5% - new ratio of minimum Common Equity Tier 1 equal
to risk-weighted assets;
– 6% - an increase in the minimum required amount of Tier
1 Capital to risk-weighted assets;
– 8% - continuation of the current minimum required
amount of Total Capital (Tier 1 plus Tier 2) of riskweighted assets; and
– A minimum leverage ratio of Tier 1 Capital to total
adjusted average quarterly assets equal to 4% in all
circumstances.
39

13

12/7/18

CAPITAL CONSERVATION BUFFER
Maximum payout amount for capital distributions and
discretionary bonus payments to executive officers
Common Equity Capital
Conservation Buffer
(as a percentage of
risk-weighted assets)

Maximum payout ratio
(as a percentage of eligible
retained income)

> 2.5%
> 1.875% and <= 2.5%
> 1.25% and <= 1.875%
> 0.625% and <= 1.25%
<= 0.625%

No payout limitation applies
60%
40%
20%
0%
40

REQUIRED BASEL III RATIOS
• Factoring in the fully phased-in conservation buffer
increases the minimum ratios depicted above to:
– 7% for Common Equity Tier 1,
– 8.5% for Tier 1 Capital and
– 10.5% for Total Capital.

• It is possible under the Basel III Rule to be “wellcapitalized” while remaining out of compliance with
the capital conservation buffer.
41

PROMPT CORRECTIVE ACTION FRAMEWORK
Capital Category

Total
Risk-Based
Capital
Ratio

Tier 1
Risk-Based
Capital
Ratio

Common
Equity
Tier 1
Risk-based
Capital
Ratio

Tier 1
Leverage
Ratio

Supplementary Leverage Ratio
(Advanced) Starting 2018*

Well Capitalized

10%

8%

6.5%

5%

N/A

Adequately Capitalized

8%

6%

4.5%

4%

>3%

< 8%

< 6%

< 4.5%

< 4%

<3%

< 3%

< 3%

N/A

Undercapitalized
Significantly
Undercapitalized
Critically
Undercapitalized

< 6%

< 4%

Tangible equity to total assets ratio is <= 2% regardless of other capital ratios

*Does not reflect enhanced SLR requirements for G-SIBS

42
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LIQUIDITY

43

Liquidity
• Liquidity is a measure of the ability and ease with
which assets may be converted to cash.
• Liquid assets are those that can be converted to cash
quickly if needed to meet financial obligations.
• To remain viable, FDIC-insured institutions must have
enough liquid assets to meet their near-term
obligations, such as withdrawals by depositors.

44

Liquidity
• Because the global financial crisis was in part a
liquidity crisis, Basel III also includes a liquidity
framework that requires FDIC-insured institutions to
measure their liquidity against specific liquidity tests.
• One test, referred to as the Liquidity Coverage Ratio
(“LCR”), is designed to ensure that the institution has
an adequate stock of unencumbered high-quality
liquid assets that can be converted easily and
immediately in private markets into cash to meet
liquidity needs for a 30-calendar day liquidity stress
scenario.
45
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Liquidity Coverage Ratio
Liquid assets held
for operational
liquidity needs that are
unencumbered and
otherwise unrestricted
Outflows from:
•Deposits (retail and wholesale)
•Other unsecured funding (retail and
wholesale)
•Sponsored structured
transactions
•Derivatives
•Commitments
•Collateral outflows
•Debt security outflows
•Secured funding and asset
exchange outflows
•Other outflows
(At assumed outflow rates)

Greater of:
(i) unadjusted excess
HQLA amount; and
(ii) adjusted excess
HQLA amount

Inflows (capped at 75%
of Outflows) from:
•Net derivatives
•Retail and unsecured
wholesale cash inflows
•Securities and securities
lending cash inflows
•Secured lending and
asset exchange inflows
(At assumed inflow
rates)

High Quality
Liquid Assets

≥ 100%
Total Net Cash
Outflows
Measured over
30-day Calculation
Period

46

Liquidity
• Bottom line - provide an incentive for
institutions to increase their holdings in
Treasury securities and other sovereign debt
as a component of assets, increase the use of
long-term debt as a funding source and rely on
stable funding like core deposits (in lieu of
brokered deposits).

47

THE SPECIAL ROLE OF THE FDIC

48
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History of the FDIC
– Instituted in 1933 in response to thousands of bank failures that
occurred in the 1920s and 1930s.
• Initially $2,500 per depositor
• Currently $250,000 per depositor per bank
• Since the start of the FDIC on Jan. 1, 1934, no depositor has lost
any insured funds as a result of a failure.
– A societal judgment that the government should bear some of the
losses from bank failures
• Bank balance sheets are not transparent
• Individual depositors poorly situated to evaluate risk
– Critical to the proper functioning of our banks
49

Importance of Deposit Insurance
– Virtually eliminates bank runs
– Allows banks to lend long because of a stable deposit base and
become better intermediaries of funds (“maturity
transformation”)
•

Represents at least part of the reason that the US has 6,000 insured banks

•
•
•
•

Shifts costs of failure to the government
Makes the government the single largest interested party in insured banks
Justifies huge regulatory burden
Permits competition on basis other than financial strength (i.e., rate and
convenience)
Moral hazard

– Mitigates systemic contagion
– BUT:

•

50

Insurance of Deposits
• $250,000 per depositor, per insured bank, for each ownership category,
including principal and accrued interest (the “SMDIA”)
• Deposits in separate branches of an insured bank are not separately
insured.
• Deposits maintained in different categories of legal ownership at the same
bank can be separately insured.
•
•
•
•

– Therefore, it is possible to have deposits of more than $250,000 at one insured
bank and still be fully insured.

A depositor does not have to be a US citizen, or even a resident.
Foreign currency denominated accounts in insured US banks are covered.
“Pass-through” concept for prepaid cards, HSAs, etc.
FDIC insurance only protects depositors, although some depositors may
also be creditors or shareholders of an insured bank.

51
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Assessments and the DIF
•

•

Since 2011, the DIF is managed to a “designated reserve ratio” (DRR) long
term goal of 2.0% of estimated insured deposits
– 1.35% DRR by September 30, 2020, as required by the Dodd-Frank Act
– 1.28% DRR as of 9/30/17, with $92.7BN in the fund as of 12/31/17
Quarterly assessments:
– Base = average consolidated total assets minus average tangible equity
(not, the extent of insured deposits held)
– Rate = 1.5 to 40 basis points, depending upon size, risk characteristics,
CAMELS ratings, and various adjustments
– New surcharges for >$10B asset banks to get DRR to 1.35% by
12/31/18

•

– Also: FICO bonds assessments
E.g., Wells Fargo paid $1.3BN in total assessments in 2016
52

Trends

• 555 banks have failed since 2000
• 394 of those banks failed between 2009-2011
• 8 institutions failed in 2017

53

54
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Fragmented Regulation of Non-Banks
•

FinCEN MSB registration
– Money Transmitters
– Prepaid access providers
– Virtual currency exchanger or administrator

•

State money transmitter licenses
– 49 states and DC
– No standard “UCC” for this area
– Headwinds for innovation

•

State lender licensing
– Lenders

– Servicers
– Loan brokers

•

Virtual currency licenses
– NYDFS
– CSBS framework
55

Pop Quiz: A non-bank lender to small businesses wants to crossmarket a treasury management product and to leverage the
platform for underwriting personal loans and selling insurance
products to business owners. Which of the following potentially
has jurisdiction?
• FinCEN
• Small Business
Administration
• OFAC
• Federal Trade Commission
• IRS
• Federal Reserve Board
• Consumer Financial
• FDIC
Protection Bureau
• Office of the Comptroller of • State Attorneys General
the Currency
• State Banking Departments
• Department of Justice
• State Insurance
Departments
56

New “Minimums” for PCA

57
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REGULATORY CHANGE

58

59

The Dodd-Frank/Post-Crisis Response
– Minimize the prospects of failure
•
•
•
•
•

Enhanced regulatory oversight
Stress testing
Activity restrictions (Swaps push-out; Volcker Rule; etc.)
Higher quality and quantity of capital
Liquidity Coverage Ratio

•
•

“Living wills”
“Orderly Liquidation Authority”

•
•
•
•

Designed to instill greater creditor discipline
Restrictions on Federal Reserve’s 13(3) powers
Restrictions on special FDIC guarantee powers
Query whether these restrictions will be honored in a time of crisis

– Substantially strengthen the ability of the Government to
administer any failure
– Hamstring one-off programs to keep an institution alive

60
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61

Remaining Issues
– Have we really ended “too big to fail”?
– Have we created such uncertainty regarding how systemically
important resolutions will be handled that we are laying the
seeds for the next crisis?
– Have we exacerbated creditor uncertainty?
– Have we hamstrung the regulators in dealing with large
institutions?
– Have we so hamstrung the banks that they cannot operate
profitably?
– Can we possibly address cross-border issues?
62

What is the Volcker Rule?

§ Part of the Dodd-Frank Act

§ Generally, the rule seeks to stop “banking entities” from making speculative
trades with their own capital that could threaten their stability.
§ Broadly, the Rule prohibits banking entities from:
§ engaging in “proprietary trading,” or
§ acquiring or retaining an ownership interest in, sponsoring, or having certain
relationships with “covered funds.”
§ Note: these prohibitions have numerous exemptions and exceptions.
§ Trading activities and investments generally were required to be in
conformance by July 21, 2015.
§ Must have appropriate compliance programs.

63
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2018 Regulatory Relief Legislation
• On May 24, 2018, the Economic Growth,
Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act
was signed into law.
– Bipartisan support.
– House made no changes to the Senate bill.

• The Act is the most significant legislation
impacting the regulation of financial institutions
since the Dodd–Frank Act in 2010.
– Preserves most of the Dodd–Frank Act.
– A “rebalancing.”

64

Reg Relief 2018

• The Dodd–Frank Act required the Federal Reserve to
impose enhanced prudential standards (EPS) on
systemically important financial institutions (SIFIs),
defined as those with $50 billion or more in total
consolidated assets.
• Among other requirements, EPS under § 165 of DoddFrank included:

– Resolution planning.
– Company-run and supervisory stress testing.
– Risk management requirements (including requirements,
duties, and qualifications for a risk management committee
and chief risk officer).
– Single counterparty credit limits.
– Enhanced public disclosures.
65

II. Revised SIFI Thresholds
The Act raises the SIFI threshold for applying EPS to bank holding
companies (BHCs) from $50 billion to $250 billion in a phased
approach.
≥$50B

≥$100B

BHCs with total consolidated assets between
$50 billion and $100 billion will generally be
exempt from EPS immediately (except risk
committee).
Except for supervisory stress testing and risk
committee requirements, BHCs with total
consolidated assets between $100 billion
and $250 billion will generally be exempt 18
months after the date of the Act, unless the
Federal Reserve:
• Exempts the BHC earlier; or
• Imposes EPS by order or rule taking into
account certain factors.

≥$250B

Risk committees before the Act:
Any publicly traded BHC ≥ $10B –
independent risk committee of board
required
Risk committees under the Act:
Any publicly traded BHC ≥ $50B – Federal
Reserve required to impose risk
committee
Any publicly traded BHC < $50B – Federal
Reserve may impose risk committee
66
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II. Revised SIFI Thresholds
Supervisory Stress Tests
– BHCs ≥ $250B

• No change; subject to
annual supervisory stress
test

– BHCs $100B–250B

• Subject to “periodic”
supervisory stress tests,
rather than annual

– BHCs < $100B

• Exempt from supervisory
stress tests

Company-Run Stress Tests
§ BHCs ≥ $250B

§ Subject to “periodic”
company-run stress tests,
rather than semiannual

§ BHCs $100B–250B

§ Exempt from company-run
stress tests 18 months
after the date of the Act

§ BHCs < $100B

§ Exempt from company-run
stress tests immediately

Required number of scenarios in all
DFAST stress tests reduced from three to
two (no “adverse” scenario).

67

Community Bank Relief
Federal banking agencies shall establish a community bank leverage ratio
(CBLR) of not less than 8 percent and not more than 10 percent:
8% ≤

!"#$%&'( ()*%!+

",(-"$( !.!"' /.#0.'%1"!(1 "00(!0

A bank must have less than $10 billion
in total consolidated assets and must
not be determined ineligible by its
primary federal regulator due to its risk
profile in order to utilize the CBLR
(a “Qualifying Bank”).
Factors considered in determining risk profile
include off-balance sheet exposures, trading
assets and liabilities, and derivative
exposures, among other factors.

≤ 10%

Qualifying Banks that satisfy the CBLR
will be deemed to have met generally
applicable leverage capital
requirements, generally applicable
risk-based capital requirements, any
other capital or leverage
requirements to which such insured
depository institution and insured
depository institution holding
company is subject and will be
deemed to be well capitalized.
68

A FEW WORDS ON FINTECH

69
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Fintech Innovation Clusters

World
Economic
Forum, 2015
70

Source: CB Insights, 2015

71

Fintech Wants
• Reduction of costs
• Increased share of economics
• Regulatory certainty
• Speed to market
• Flexible product offerings
• Independence/control your own destiny

72
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Fintech Needs
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Payments clearing and settlement
Holding DDA accounts
FDIC insurance
Issuing cards
Sponsorship of acquiring activities
Export of usury rates
State licensing preemption
Providers of liquidity and financing
Competing for government business
Direct access to ATM networks, etc.
73

Bank Partnership Symbiosis?
[sim-bee-oh-sis] noun, plural
symbioses
• 1. Biology: the living together
of two dissimilar organisms, as
in mutualism, commensalism,
amensalism, or parasitism.
• 2. Psychiatry: a relationship
between two people in which
each person is dependent upon
and receives reinforcement,
whether beneficial or
detrimental, from the other.
• 3. Psychoanalysis: the
relationship between an infant
and its mother in which the
infant is dependent on the
mother both physically and
emotionally.
• 4. any interdependent or
mutually beneficial relationship
between two persons, groups,
etc.
74

Bank Partnership Quid Pro Quo
• Sharing of economics
• Contract leverage
• Third party risk oversight

– Audits
– Marketing oversight
– BSA/AML compliance
– Underwriting of remote customers
– Consumer compliance
– Fair lending/servicing
75
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OCC Fintech Charter
• Proposal to establish a Federal limited purpose banking charter
(“fintech charter”) issued December 2016

•
•
•
•
•

– Comptroller Curry: “It will be much better for the health of the
federal banking system and everyone who relies on these
institutions, if these companies enter the system through a clearly
marked front gate, rather than in some back door"

Lending money, paying checks or receiving deposits
Preemption
Same or similar regulatory and supervisory standards
May or many not result in BHCA application
Financial inclusion plan

• Will those with a fintech charter have an easier time partnering
with a bank?
76

Cliff Stanford
Alston & Bird, LLP
404-881-7833
cliff.stanford@alston.com
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Kevin B. Hagler
Commissioner
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Prior to joining the Department, Kevin started his career by working for Altus Bank
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Kevin serves on the Executive Board of the Conference of State Bank Supervisors as
Vice Chairman, and serves as Chair of the Finance Committee. He also serves on the
Regulatory Committee, the Audit Committee, and the Emerging Payments and
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Emerging Landscape
WHAT ARE THE ODDS?

Getting Struck
By Lightning?

Dating
A Millionaire?

Experiencing
A Data Breach?

1 in 960,000

1 in 220

1 in 4
Global Average 28%

Source: Know the Odds: The Cost of a Data Breach in 2017, Larry Ponemon & Wendi Whitmore, SecurityIntelligence, June 20, 2017
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Emerging Landscape
Number Of Public Data Breaches Over The Last 5 Years

Industry Sectors Affected

Average Cost Per Incident

$3,860,000
Sources: Identity Theft Resource Center IBM X-Force Threat Intelligence Index 2018
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Emerging Landscape
Increased focus on privacy


Class action lawsuits on the rise



Regulators flexing their muscles



Supreme Court weighing in (Carpenter
v. United States)



Public paying attention (Facebook and
Cambridge Analytica)
Congressional appearances of
Facebook, Twitter, and Google
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U.S. Legislative Developments
Draft Federal Privacy Legislation


Senate Commerce Committee hearings this fall



Oct. 2018 White House Request for Comment on national privacy framework



Involvement by tech companies (e.g., Intel draft bill)

Federal Credit Freeze Law


Requires consumer reporting agencies to provide free credit freezes and year-long
fraud alerts to consumers

Clarifying Lawful Overseas Use of Data (CLOUD) Act


Framework for law enforcement cross-border data requests to service providers

Foreign Investment Risk Review Modernization Act


Reforms and modernizes CFIUS review process



Expands covered transactions to include foreign investment in U.S. businesses
involved in critical infrastructure, critical technologies, or maintaining or collecting U.S.
citizens’ personal data that may be exploited to threaten national security
Emerging Trends in Data, Privacy, and Security

9

U.S. Legislative Developments
California Consumer Privacy Protection Act (CCPA)


Effective Jan. 1, 2020



Protects personal information of California resident “consumers”



Right to Deletion, Access/Portability, Receive Notice, Opt Out/Opt In, Be
Free From Discrimination

California SB-327 Information Privacy: Connected Devices


Effective Jan. 1, 2020



Requires connected devices to have “reasonable security features”

New York Cybersecurity Regulation 23 NYCRR 500


Effective Mar. 2017, phased compliance deadlines through Mar. 1, 2019



Establishes cybersecurity requirements for financial services companies
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U.S. Legislative Developments
Coast-to-Coast State Data Breach Laws


South Dakota and Alabama enacted laws in Mar. 2018 (joining the other 48
states, DC, Guam, Puerto Rico, and USVI)




Arizona, Colorado, Louisiana, Nebraska, Oregon, Virginia amendments
Vermont imposed data breach requirements on “data brokers”

Ohio Data Protection Act


Effective Nov. 2, 2018



Safe harbor for entities that implement written cybersecurity program that
“reasonably conforms” to an industry-recognized cybersecurity framework

Municipal Data Privacy & Security Regulation


Oakland Surveillance and Community Safety Ordinance



Chicago Personal Data Collection and Protection Ordinance



San Francisco charter amendment to establish privacy policy guidelines
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International Developments
EU’s General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)
Applies to “processing” of Personal Data


•

Establishment in EU

•
•

Monitoring behavior
Offering goods or services

Data Controller Responsibilities:
•
Privacy by Design, Use of
Processors, Recordkeeping, Security,
Breach Notification, Data Protection
Officer, Data Transfers
 Access, Rectification, Erasure, Data
Portability, Object (Opt-Out) rights
 ePrivacy Regulation: Will strengthen
privacy rules for electronic
communications
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International Developments
Canada’s Personal Information Protection and Electronic
Documents Act (PIPEDA)


Data breach notification requirements effective Nov. 1, 2018



Notification required for breach of security safeguards if reasonable to
believe breach creates a real risk of significant harm to an individual
Records of all breaches (reportable or not) must be retained for 2 years




Breach of Security Safeguards: “loss of, unauthorized access to or
unauthorized disclosure of personal information resulting from a breach of
an organization’s security safeguards or from a failure to establish those
safeguards”
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International Developments
Other recently promulgated international regulations


Australia’s Notifiable Data Breaches (NBD) scheme



Israel’s Privacy Protection Regulations (Data Security), 5777-2017




Bahrain’s Personal Data Protection Law No. 30 of 2018
Brazil’s Data Protection Law (Lei Geral de Proteção de Dados)



China’s Regulation on the Internet Security Supervision and Inspection by
Public Security Organs
India’s and Argentina’s draft personal data protection bills
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Regulatory Developments
Active year in data privacy and security
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Regulatory Developments
State Attorneys General
Data privacy and security authority under consumer protection/UDAP, data
breach, reasonableness, fair credit reporting, data disposal laws




Recent Enforcement Actions
•
Record $148 million Uber settlement with all 50 states and DC for
failure to disclose 2016 breach
•
•

Arizona AG’s office to investigate Google’s location tracking practices
Multi-state settlement (Connecticut, DC, New Jersey, and Washington)
with Aetna relating to mishandling of protected health information and
improper disclosures of patients’ HIV status
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Regulatory Developments
Federal Trade Commission (FTC)



Federal regulatory agency charged with protecting consumers against
unfair, deceptive, and fraudulent practices in the marketplace (as well as
promoting competition)
Increasingly active in area of data privacy and security, particularly against
companies with unreasonable data security practices or that act
inconsistently with public privacy policies
Expansive view of protected personally identifiable information



Recent Enforcement Actions





•
•

Settlement with Uber for failure to adequately disclose 2016 data breach
Settlements with IDmission, LLC, mResource LLC, SmartStart
Employment Screening, Inc., and VenPath, Inc. for falsely claiming
certification under Privacy-Shield framework
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Regulatory Developments
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)


Disclosure rules include Board role in overseeing cybersecurity



Oct. 2018 report of investigation emphasizing need for sufficient internal
accounting controls to prevent cyber-related fraud (particularly business
email compromise)



Feb. 2018 guidance on public company cybersecurity disclosures



Recent Enforcement Actions
•
$35 million settlement with Altaba/Yahoo! for handling of massive data
breaches
•

$1.25 million settlement with Mizuho Securities USA for failing to
protect customer info

•

$1 million settlement with Voya Financial Advisors for violating Identity
Theft Red Flags Rule

Emerging Trends in Data, Privacy, and Security

18

Regulatory Developments
UK Information Commissioner’s Office (ICO)


Issued first GDPR enforcement notice to Canadian analytics firm for lack
of transparency about use of personal data



Fined Facebook maximum Data Protection Act penalty (500,000 GBP) for
Cambridge-Analytica scandal



Fined Uber $490,000 for 2016 data breach

Dutch Supervisory Authority


Investigated DPO and record of processing activities compliance



Fined Uber $678,000 for 2016 data breach

Irish Data Protection Commission


Investigating Facebook for recent breach and Twitter for potential GDPR
violations after refusing to disclose whether it tracks users that click on links

German Data Protection Conference (DSK)


Published joint “blacklist” of processing activities that require a DPIA
Emerging Trends in Data, Privacy, and Security
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Data Privacy & Security
Compliance
Oversight


Data Protection Officers (DPOs)



Cross-business risk committees




Privacy/compliance champions
Government or Public Affairs



Enterprise Risk Management

Policy/Governance


Codes, Privacy Policy



Benchmark



Don’t reinvent the wheel
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Data Privacy & Security
Compliance
Data Mapping


Understand data assets

Process


Privacy Impact Assessments (PIA)



Data Privacy Impact Assessments (DPIA)
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Data Privacy & Security
Compliance
Monitoring/Audit


Need processes before one can audit



Privacy needs to make friends with audit/symbiotic relationship

Due Diligence/Risk Assessment


Funds are never unlimited



Prioritizing matters



Assessing risks drives priorities

Prevention/Remediation


Are we fixing problems that we find?
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Data Privacy & Security
Compliance
Training


Online training is necessary like hygiene



Live training is most effective




Lobby your way onto the agenda
Deliver well so you get invited back

Communications


Employees have had the training. Now what?



Most people need to hear it more than once and often, in different media




Recency and primacy
Intranet presence with its own reference pages



Present at large organization gatherings, annual meetings
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Data Privacy & Security
Compliance
Ethics
When privacy rules run against competing interests






•

Monetizing organizational assets

•
•

An investigation
Internal policy
You can do that with the data, but should we?
The regulation doesn’t require this process, but should we do it anyway?
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Questions
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NY DFS Regulation: Certify Your
Compliance by February 15 and
Assess Your Risk by March 1
The New York Department of Financial Services’ (DFS) cybersecurity
regulation (DFS Regulation), which took effect on March 1, 2017, imposes
significant requirements on financial services companies doing business in
New York. Covered entities are likely already familiar with much of the rule,
as the first transitional period ended on August 28, 2017 (see our previous
client alert for a summary of compliance steps). By February 15, 2018,
covered entities must submit their first annual certification of compliance
1
with the regulation. Also around the corner is the deadline for additional
required steps, such as completing a risk assessment and implementing
multi-factor authentication. In-house counsel should ensure that those
compliance steps are taken by the end of the second transition period on
March 1, 2018.
Even companies that are not subject to the DFS Regulation would do well
to get out ahead of the issue, since the trend of industry-targeted
cybersecurity regulation seems likely to continue. In September 2017,
Governor Andrew Cuomo directed the DFS to increase the scope of the
2
DFS Regulation to apply to credit reporting agencies, which must now
register with DFS and comply with the DFS Regulation. Cybersecurity
experts expect that that other regulatory and law enforcement agencies will
look to the DFS Regulation in developing their own cybersecurity
regulations.
CERTIFY COMPLIANCE BY FEBRUARY 15, 2018
It is time for all “Covered Entities”—entities and individuals supervised by
the Department of Financial Services—to certify their compliance with the
DFS regulation. All entities must submit their first annual Certificate of
3
Compliance this month. The Board of Directors or other senior officer of
the Covered Entity must certify that the entity's cybersecurity program
complies with the DFS Regulation. These Certifications of Compliance can
4
be filed electronically on the DFS website. Note that Covered Entities
cannot rely on an affiliate's certification: each entity is required to annually
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certify its own compliance with Part 500. A subsidiary cannot rely on its parent company's certification.

5

IMPLEMENT SECOND TRANSITION PERIOD REQUIREMENTS BY MARCH 1, 2018
When the one year transition period ends on March 1, all Covered Entities must also implement the following
requirement:
• Risk Assessment (23 NYCRR 500.09): All Covered Entities must conduct a written risk assessment by March 1. This
assessment must be performed again if there is a material change to any of the aspects addressed by the
assessment.
6

Unless subject to the limited exemption for smaller entities, Covered Entities must also implement the following
requirements by March 1:
• CISO Reporting (23 NYCRR 500.04(b)): Annually and in writing, the Chief Information Security Officer must report on
the Covered Entity's cybersecurity program and material cybersecurity risks to the covered entity's Board.
• Penetration Testing and Vulnerability Assessments or Continuous Monitoring (23 NYCRR 500.05):
Covered Entities must assess their cybersecurity programs in one of two ways: (1) conduct annual penetration testing
and biannual vulnerability assessments in accordance with its risk assessment, or (2) implement “continuous
monitoring,” which means monitoring that is “effective” and detects “ongoing” changes that may create vulnerabilities.
DFS has clarified that “non-continuous monitoring of Information Systems, such as through periodic manual review of
7
logs and firewall configurations” does not qualify.
• Multi-Factor Authentication (23 NYCRR 500.12): Covered Entities must use multi-factor authentication, or a
reasonably equivalent alternative, when individuals access internal networks from an external network and to protect
against unauthorized access.
• Cybersecurity Awareness Training: (23 NYCRR 500.14(b)): All personnel must receive regular cybersecurity
awareness training that is updated per the risk assessment.
UPCOMING TRANSITION PERIODS ENDING SEPTEMBER 3, 2018 AND MARCH 1, 2019
By September 3, 2018, Covered Entities must have drafted written procedures detailing secure software development
practices and policies to prevent internal authorized users from tampering with nonpublic information. Covered Entities
must also maintain audit trails for five years, encrypt nonpublic information, and dispose of nonpublic information
securely. By March 1, 2019, Covered Entities must develop cybersecurity policies regarding data held by third party
service providers. Covered Entities will have to certify their compliance with the regulation yearly, and may benefit from a
compliance review prior to certification.
KING & SPALDING’S DATA, PRIVACY & SECURITY PRACTICE
With more than 60 Data, Privacy & Security lawyers in offices across the United States, Europe, and the Middle East,
King & Spalding is able to provide substantive expertise and collaborative support to clients across a wide spectrum of
industries and jurisdictions facing privacy and cybersecurity-based legal concerns. We apply a multidisciplinary approach
to such issues, bringing together attorneys with backgrounds in corporate governance and transactions, healthcare,
intellectual property rights, complex civil litigation, e-discovery, government investigations, government advocacy,
insurance recovery, and public policy. Our Data, Privacy & Security Practice has unparalleled experience in areas
ranging from providing regulatory compliance advice, to responding to security incidents including data breaches and
cybersecurity incidents, interfacing with stakeholders and the government, engaging in complex civil litigation (such as
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class actions), handling state and federal government investigations and enforcement actions, and advocating on behalf
of our clients before the highest levels of state and federal government.

ABOUT KING & SPALDING
Celebrating more than 130 years of service, King & Spalding is an international law firm that represents a broad array of clients, including half of the
Fortune Global 100, with 1,000 lawyers in 20 offices in the United States, Europe, the Middle East and Asia. The firm has handled matters in over
160 countries on six continents and is consistently recognized for the results it obtains, uncompromising commitment to quality, and dedication to
understanding the business and culture of its clients.

This alert provides a general summary of recent legal developments. It is not intended to be and should not be relied upon as legal advice.
In some jurisdictions, this may be considered “Attorney Advertising.”
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23 NYCRR 500, available at http://www.dfs.ny.gov/legal/regulations/adoptions/dfsrf500txt.pdf.
23 NYCRR 201, available at http://www.dfs.ny.gov/legal/regulations/proposed/propdfs.htm.
3
23 NYCRR 500.17(b), Appendix A.
4
New York Department of Financial Services, Key Dates under New York’s Cybersecurity Regulation (23 NYCRR Part 500),
http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/cybersecurity.htm (Sept. 27, 2017).
5
See 23 NYCRR 500.01(a) (if an entity controls the policy of another entity, they are affiliated).
6
23 NYCRR 500.19 exempts entities with “(1) fewer than 10 employees, including any independent contractors, of the Covered Entity or its Affiliates
located in New York or responsible for business of the Covered Entity, or (2) less than $5,000,000 in gross annual revenue in each of the last three
fiscal years from New York business operations of the Covered Entity and its Affiliates, or (3) less than $10,000,000 in year-end total assets,
calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, including assets of all Affiliates…” and those that do not “directly or indirectly
control, own, access, generate, receive, or possess Nonpublic Information.”
7
New York Department of Financial Services, Frequently Asked Questions Regarding 23 NYCRR Part 500,
http://www.dfs.ny.gov/about/cybersecurity_faqs.htm (Dec. 12, 2017).
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In light of the continuing drumbeat of high profile data breaches and the
recent guidance from the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) to public companies in response (SEC Release Nos. 33-10459; 3482746, February 21, 2018 (“SEC Cybersecurity Guidance”)), many public
companies will find it timely to review the operation of their insider trading
compliance programs (see our March 2018 Client Alert for more
information). The SEC Cybersecurity Guidance serves as a call to action
for various stakeholders in public companies – for boards, to evaluate their
oversight of cybersecurity risks, and for management, to evaluate the
approach to disclosure of cybersecurity risks and incidents, disclosure
controls and procedures, and insider trading compliance programs. Just
last month, the SEC brought a first-of-its kind enforcement action alleging
that a company failed to disclose a cybersecurity breach quickly enough. It
is clear the SEC will be monitoring cybersecurity disclosure issues closely
in the coming quarters.
In this client alert, we discuss some practical steps that public companies
may wish to consider when evaluating their insider trading compliance
programs.
1. PURPOSES OF AN EFFECTIVE INSIDER TRADING COMPLIANCE
PROGRAM
While there is no specific statute or regulation that requires a public
company that is not a broker-dealer or investment adviser to maintain an
insider trading compliance policy, following the insider trading scandals of
the 1980s and the enactment of the Insider Trading and Securities Fraud
Enforcement Act of 1988 (“ITSFEA”), such policies have been universally
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adopted. Under the ITSFEA, controlling persons may be subject to treble damages for “reckless disregard” of the fact
that subordinates may engage in violations, and for the failure to take appropriate steps to prevent such conduct. The
failure to maintain an effective insider trading compliance program arguably could be evidence of “reckless disregard”
under the statute. Under the federal sentencing guidelines, companies can reduce their “culpability score” for employees’
insider trading by having an effective compliance program in place. Finally, the U.S. Department of Justice has indicated
that the operation of effective compliance programs will impact its decision to prosecute firms for the actions of their
employees.
The terms of insider trading policies vary considerably, however, and the manner in which companies administer their
programs varies even more. Accordingly, before going into the specifics of how a program might be updated in response
to recent events and the SEC Cybersecurity Guidance, it is useful to consider the purposes that these programs aim to
serve. Attention to these “first principles” will inform many of the decisions that should be considered in implementing and
updating a company’s insider trading policies and procedures.
Insider trading compliance programs serve three main purposes:
•

Protecting the Company and Other Control Persons. The last thing any public company and its officers and
directors need is an insider trading investigation. At a minimum, these investigations require companies to produce
extensive corporate records demonstrating what information was available, to whom and when. Arguments could
also arise that corporate officers, and perhaps the company itself, are liable as “control persons” for illegal
employee trading. The establishment, maintenance and enforcement of an effective insider trading compliance
program should make it less likely that a company’s insiders will engage in illegal activity. It should also mitigate
exposure for the company and the distractions and expense of an investigation, in the event there is a bad actor.

•

Protecting the Company’s Workforce. Insider trading compliance programs also protect the company’s directors,
officers and other employees from becoming embroiled in the costly and distracting legal and reputational
nightmare of defending against allegations of “insider trading.” An officer seeking to sell some shares as part of her
financial planning wants comfort that, if she does so, her actions will not become the subject of scrutiny. Consider,
for example, the appearance of improper trading if her sale is followed by the company announcing disappointing
news and a decline in the share price. As another example, if a company’s policies and reminders encourage an
officer, director or employee to protect material non-public information (“MNPI”) from family members, a costly and
embarrassing investigation triggered by a family member’s trading could be avoided.

•

Protecting the Company’s Reputation. Allegations of insider trading against an employee, officer or director may
cause significant reputational harm to a public company. Defending against this reputational damage may be
expensive for the company and distracting for its workforce.

2. CONFIRM THAT MANAGEMENT AND THE BOARD ARE ALIGNED ON THE PHILOSOPHY BEHIND YOUR
PROGRAM
Public companies face many choices in designing their insider trading compliance programs. These choices should be
informed by balancing the risks that the company and its officers face from insider trading by company personnel against
the costs of imposing an overly-restrictive policy. A highly restrictive policy may reduce the risk of the company and its
managers facing an insider trading investigation, but there are costs to such an approach. At the extreme, the company’s
ability to use its equity securities in incentive compensation programs may be compromised if employees believe that
they will not be able to sell those securities to meet their financial needs. In more pragmatic terms, an overly-restrictive
program may be difficult to administer on a day-to-day basis, and may result in a pattern of non-compliance.
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The company’s culture may also come into play in designing and operating its insider trading compliance program. Some
companies tend to impose more restrictions on any activities that could subject the company to legal liabilities, with the
added benefit of helping employees avoid difficult situations. Other companies take a more “hands-off” approach,
restricting the activities of employees only when dictated by compelling needs of the company.
Whenever the company considers changes in its insider trading compliance program, it is important to ensure that the
board and management are aligned on the purposes and philosophy embodied in the program.
3. ENSURE THAT YOUR INSIDER TRADING COMPLIANCE POLICY IS UP TO DATE AND FOLLOWS BEST
PRACTICES
Before considering the appropriateness of updates to a company’s insider trading compliance policy to address
cybersecurity matters, it is useful to review some key operational elements employed by most policies. Most insider
trading compliance policies:
•

Prohibit trading or tipping by directors, officers and other employees (along with their respective family and
household members) in possession of MNPI;

•

Impose “window” restrictions around quarterly earnings announcements, so that certain individuals may trade only
during limited periods of time each quarter;

•

Require directors and senior officers privy to sensitive information to “pre-clear” their transactions;

•

Provide that various types of purchases and sales by insiders will be exempt from these restrictions; and

•

Allow the company to impose special trading blackouts in appropriate circumstances (e.g., a team working on a
material acquisition or that has become aware of a material event).

With those key elements in mind, you should address the following points.
•

Consider whether cybersecurity incidents should be included among examples of events that may be
material.

Insider trading compliance policies uniformly prohibit trading while an employee, officer or director is in possession of any
MNPI about the company. To assist individuals in their understanding of what constitutes MNPI, policies typically include
a list illustrating the types of information that are likely to be considered “material.” Some of these examples are
applicable to all public companies (e.g., the company’s quarterly results varying significantly from previous guidance or
an impending change in senior management), while other examples should be tailored to risks specific to the company
and its industry.
In view of the SEC Cybersecurity Guidance, we recommend that all public companies consider their risk profile, including
with respect to cybersecurity, and update their list of examples of MNPI to reflect their current situation. Rather than
simply listing “a material cybersecurity incident,” consider whether the examples listed in your policy appropriately
address the broader set of similar events your business might encounter. In addition to the company’s technology
infrastructure, consider risks to its facilities or fleet. Consider other types of events that could disrupt the company’s
operations. The following language, for example, would cover cybersecurity incidents, as well as a broader range of
events – “a significant disruption in the company’s operations or loss, potential loss, breach or unauthorized access of its
property or assets, including its facilities and information technology infrastructure.”
Companies should consider whether this type of list of examples of MNPI will be useful for its workforce, and any such
list must be carefully tailored to include the types of information that are most important to the company. A policy that
includes this type of list should state clearly that the examples are provided solely for illustration purposes and that they
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are not a complete list of types of events that might be material. Policies often remind employees that they have the
responsibility for being certain that they do not have MNPI when they enter into transactions and that they should consult
supervisors or compliance personnel with any questions.
•

Confirm that the Company has an effective mechanism for imposing special blackouts.

As described above, most insider trading compliance policies include provisions under which the company reserves the
right to impose a trading blackout at any time, on any group of employees or officers (referred to as a “special blackout”).
In the SEC Cybersecurity Guidance, the SEC focuses on the period when a company is investigating the underlying
facts and assessing the materiality of a significant cybersecurity incident, prior to the time that it publicly discloses the
incident. The SEC emphasizes that companies should consider whether and when it may be appropriate to implement a
special blackout in this period.
In view of this guidance from the SEC, public companies should ensure that their insider trading compliance policies
include appropriate provisions permitting them to impose special blackouts. Beyond including such a measure in the
policy, each company should consider how it would identify employees who should be covered and how it would
communicate with them, in an urgent situation. It may also be useful to consider, in advance, the types of transactions
that might be exempt from a special blackout.
•

Consider whether other updates of your insider trading compliance policy might be appropriate.

As companies experience changes in the way they do business, the composition of their workforces and their channels
of public communication, it is useful for them to review and refresh their insider trading compliance policies. As you
consider amendments to your policy relating to cybersecurity matters, the following are a few subjects that may also be
worthy of consideration:
— Windows. Is the timing for opening and closing the quarterly window in connection with earnings still consistent
with the timing of financial information becoming available internally? For example, has the company
implemented a new internal reporting system that provides better visibility into its quarterly results earlier in the
quarter? Has the list of insiders who have regular access to financial information changed?
— Trading groups. Are you comfortable with how employees, officers and directors are categorized between the
group subject to pre-clearance and windows, the group subject to windows but no pre-clearance and the group
restricted only when in possession of MNPI? For example, have you added personnel to your legal, finance,
accounting, IR or IT functions that are privy to information that historically had only been available to officers
who are subject to pre-clearance?
— Pre-clearance. Does your policy reflect actual practice for obtaining pre-clearance and is responsibility for preclearance in the right hands? For example, should the company consider a committee approach to preclearance instead of designating one individual? What documentation and recordkeeping requirements are
imposed for pre-clearance requests?
— New means of communications, security ownership or financial instruments. Have there been
developments in channels of communications or types of security ownership and financial instruments that
should be expressly referenced in the policy? For example, does the policy adequately address the interplay
between consumer engagement through the internet and social media channels, on the one hand, and
unauthorized disclosure of MNPI and “tipping,” on the other hand?
— Relationships with Third Parties. Insider trading compliance policies typically touch other companies in two
respects. First, company employees should be prohibited from trading on the basis of MNPI relating to other
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public companies that they obtain during the course of their work for the company. Second, policies often
contain provisions calling on company employees to arrange for agreements with third party vendors,
consultants and contractors, prohibiting these third parties from trading in company securities or disclosing
MNPI. In view of new approaches to collaboration and the increased sharing of information with people outside
of the company, the company may wish to consider its coverage of such third parties.
— Recurring questions. Whenever a company updates its policy, it should consider the types of recurring
questions asked by employees, officers and directors. Addressing these issues in the policy should provide
clarity for the workforce, improve consistency and reduce the burden of administering the program.
4. REVIEW AND UPDATE PROCESSES AND PROCEDURES FOR A CUSTOMIZED APPROACH TO POLICY
ADMINISTRATION
Drafting a robust insider trading compliance policy is the easy part. The more significant challenge is ensuring that the
company’s processes and procedures relating to the flow of information and the administration of the policy are both
effective and practical. With no “one size fits all” approach, it is important to work together with internal stakeholders and
outside advisors to develop and implement customized processes and procedures that work for your company.
•

Information Flow. It is critical that a company have effective disclosure controls for material events, including
relating to cyber and data privacy matters. Companies must design reliable processes through which information
will flow “from the field” to officers responsible for public disclosure and insider trading compliance, as well as
processes through which headquarters personnel may pull information from the field. Among other things, proper
flows of information enable the company to impose “special blackouts” when appropriate, as described above.

•

Coordination between public disclosure and insider trading compliance functions. Given the increased focus
on the accuracy and completeness of public disclosure related to cybersecurity, and the impact of information about
cybersecurity on insiders’ securities transactions, it is critically important to have effective coordination between
those responsible for the company’s public disclosure and its insider trading compliance program. Although it is
appropriate for companies to use different “triggers” for denying pre-clearance of insiders’ transactions, imposing
special blackouts on groups of employees and making disclosure of an event to the public, decisions on these
matters should be made on the basis of consistent information and legal analyses.

•

Pre-Clearance Officer or Committee. Since there is no “check the box” guide to determining if an event such as a
cybersecurity incident is “material” or disclosable, with the availability of information often evolving over time, even
with the most systemized insider trading compliance program there will be pressure on people administering the
policy to call the “balls and strikes” correctly. Companies should consider whether decisions to open or close
windows, to pre-clear transactions or to impose special blackouts should rest with one individual (e.g., a senior legal
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officer) or instead with a small committee (e.g., a committee composed of legal, finance and compliance officers).
We believe there will be a trend toward more companies adopting the committee approach, thereby relieving a
single individual from the responsibility (and scrutiny) of such decisions. There is no need for committees to meet in
person or even confer by telephone, as electronic messages may allow them to work efficiently.
•

Basis of Granting Pre-Clearance. Regardless of whether an individual officer or a committee will pass on requests
for pre-clearance, it will be useful for the company to provide guidance regarding the standard and degree of
conservatism to be employed in making the pre-clearance decision. Should only the existence of currently material
information result in a denial, or should clearance also be denied if there is a real concern that information currently
known could develop into MNPI? This is another example of a decision on which the board and senior management
should be aligned, based on their approach to risk.

•

Administrative Nuts and Bolts. Diligent day-to-day attention to the administration of the policy is important for its
effectiveness, and operational matters should not be overlooked. Among other things, you should work with
advisors to address the following points:
— Establish processes for adding and removing individuals from pre-clearance and window groups, as well as for
periodically confirming that the approach to classification is appropriate
— Craft succinct communications for the opening and closing of windows, expected trading calendars, reminders,
special blackouts etc.
— Consider whether the company should obtain periodic certifications of compliance from employees, officers and
directors, as well as certifications when an insider trades within a window or requests pre-clearance
— Ensure that the company has proper recordkeeping for its insider trading compliance program, and consider
what the records would show if the company were required to produce its records in an enforcement
proceeding
— Consider whether there are metrics that suggest insiders either are or are not complying with the company’s
policy. Do the numbers of inquiries about the policy or requests for pre-clearance suggest that insiders are
complying with the policy?

•

Awareness and Training. “Tone at the top” is an important component of any area of compliance and can be
reinforced with a thoughtful approach to awareness and training. Consider how information is most effectively
communicated through all levels of your organization and design procedures to disseminate information regarding
your insider trading program and the importance of compliance. This includes considerations such as where the
policy is made available, the frequency and content of communications about the policy and training programs on
compliance. It is often helpful to view these items through the eyes of your least-sophisticated employee.

•

While expediency is important, given the importance of establishing a program with policies and procedures that
can and will be adhered to, we encourage those responsible for their program to undertake a methodical review of
their insider trading compliance policy and program with the consultation of knowledgeable advisors. Please reach
out to any of the King & Spalding attorneys listed herein if we can help.
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On February 21, 2018, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
published interpretive guidance on public company cybersecurity
disclosures. While the new guidance confirms the SEC’s intensified focus
on cybersecurity disclosures, by the SEC’s own characterization, it
primarily reinforces and somewhat expands upon guidance previously
issued by the SEC staff in October 2011. In fact, much of the language
included in this new guidance tracks word for word with the staff’s 2011
guidance. The SEC’s five commissioners voted unanimously to issue the
guidance, but the support of two commissioners was given with reservation
based on their view that these “reminders” do not raise the bar on
disclosure to the necessary level and leave much more to be done by the
SEC on the topic.

Phyllis Sumner

Notable differences to the 2011 guidance include:
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Elevated significance from staff guidance to Commission-level
guidance;

Inclusion of a discussion on disclosure regarding the board of
directors’ role in risk oversight of cybersecurity;

Enhanced focus on disclosure controls and procedures as they
relate to cybersecurity; and

Considerations with respect to insider trading laws and selective
disclosure under Regulation FD raised by cybersecurity incidents.
While the consensus appears to be that this “new” guidance does not
represent a significant change to SEC rules and guidance already in effect,
we believe that it still warrants vital attention due not only to the importance
of the subject matter, but also to the emphasis on board oversight, a
growing focus in this area.
The full text of the SEC’s statement and guidance can be found here.
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REINFORCING 2011 GUIDANCE
The new interpretive guidance provides important reminders regarding SEC rules that may require disclosure of
cybersecurity matters, including an outline of (1) disclosure obligations in annual and quarterly reports and under the
Securities Act of 1933, (2) the use of current reports on Form 8-K as tools to update registration statements and report
cybersecurity incidents (without imposing a specific current filings that may prompt disclosure: Risk Factors, MD&A,
Description of Business, Legal Proceedings and Financial Statement Disclosures.
As in the 2011 guidance, the new guidance emphasizes that a company’s disclosure should be “tailored to their
particular cybersecurity risks and incidents” but is explicit that it is not intended to “suggest that a company should make
detailed disclosures that could compromise its cybersecurity efforts – for example, by providing a ‘roadmap’ for those
who seek to penetrate a company’s security protections.” The new guidance also provides additional insight on factors
the SEC believes should be weighed when assessing the materiality of a particular incident, including the importance of
any compromised information, the impact on the company’s operations, reputation, financial performance and third party
relationships and the possibility of litigation or regulatory action.
BOARD OVERSIGHT OF CYBERSECURITY RISK
A disclosure area that was not previously highlighted in the 2011 guidance but that is notably explored in the new
guidance is board risk oversight. Under Item 407(h) of Regulation S-K and Item 7 of Schedule 14A, companies are
required to disclose the extent of the board of directors’ role in risk oversight. The new guidance is clear that, to the
extent cybersecurity risks are material to a company’s business, the SEC believes the risk oversight discussion in a
company’s proxy statement should include disclosure regarding the board’s role in overseeing management of
cybersecurity risks.
THE IMPORTANCE OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
The new guidance emphasizes the need to maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure timely and
accurate disclosure of cybersecurity matters and focuses on whether those controls sufficiently escalate the information
regarding cybersecurity incidents and risks up the corporate ladder to top management, including the CEO and CFO
providing required certifications. The SEC advises that certifications and disclosures should take into account the
adequacy of controls and procedures for identifying cybersecurity risks and incidents.
IMPLICATIONS UNDER INSIDER TRADING LAWS AND REGULATION FD
The new guidance reminds companies that information about cybersecurity incidents and risks may constitute material
nonpublic information and encourages a reevaluation of insider trading policies and procedures to confirm they
adequately address material nonpublic information related to cybersecurity matters to avoid both violations of antifraud
provisions and reputational damage. On that same note, the SEC also reminds companies to remain mindful of selective
disclosure concerns under Regulation FD that may be raised due to cybersecurity matters.
KEY TAKEAWAYS
1. The SEC is serious about meaningful cybersecurity disclosure. There is no doubt that if a company experiences a
breach, its cybersecurity disclosures will come under scrutiny. Even in the absence of a breach, at the direction of
Chairman Jay Clayton, the SEC will be carefully monitoring cybersecurity disclosures as part of the regular review
process. Companies should review their existing disclosures utilizing the disclosure framework contained in the new
guidance and refresh as appropriate.
2. Expect increasing emphasis on board oversight not only from the SEC but from shareholders, customers and other
stakeholders. The board should have a firm understanding of its role and oversight responsibilities with respect to
kslaw.com
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cybersecurity. Boards should take affirmative steps to confirm directors understand the risks and are comfortable with
how the board oversees those risks. This year’s proxy statement should also include disclosure describing the board’s
oversight. In addition, companies should consider whether it would be valuable to their investors to highlight any
experience or expertise in cybersecurity matters held by their directors, as suggested by Commissioner Kara Stein in
her statement on the new guidance.
3. Revisit disclosure controls and insider trading and selective disclosure policies and procedures to confirm
cybersecurity incidents and risks are adequately prepared for. Companies should ensure senior decision-makers are
receiving adequate information about cybersecurity matters to enable them to make informed disclosure and insider
trading decisions and “whiteboard” how a significant incident would play out under applicable policies and procedures.
This includes information potentially subject to disclosure, as well as consideration of prophylactic measures in the
context of trading by corporate insiders.
4. Management’s judgment will continue to be required when faced with cybersecurity incidents and risks. While the
SEC’s guidance establishes a framework to assist in determinations of materiality and preparation of disclosure, it
does not provide “check the box” line item requirements that can be used to determine if an incident is disclosable
and, if disclosable, when it should be disclosed. Every cybersecurity incident unfolds differently, with the level of
information about the breadth and severity of the intrusion and potential data compromised often developing over the
course of days, weeks or even months. While the SEC underscores “timeliness” in its guidance, there is no one size
fits all for the timing and content of disclosure, and management will continue to be called upon to use judgment in
these disclosure matters.
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Celebrating more than 130 years of service, King & Spalding is an international law firm that represents a broad array of clients, including half of the
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understanding the business and culture of its clients.
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20+ Years of Free Trade Proliferation
Opportunities
• Duty Reduction
• New Market Access
• Reduced Border Clearance Times
Challenges
• Requires detailed analysis
• Rules vary by Free Trade Agreement
• Documentation varies by FTA
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Rising Borders & Uncertain Futures
• Increased Complexity to Supply Chain
• Cost Increase to Company
– Longer lead times
– Customs clearance costs
– Customs duties
• Antidumping/Countervailing Duties
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FLEXIBLE APPROACH
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Sourcing Considerations
• Tariff / Origin Engineering
• Labels & Regulatory Compliance
• Lead time for change
Duty Recovery Opportunities
• Impact of USMCA
• Duty Drawback
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Economic Sanctions
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Trade Embargoes &
Economic Sanctions
Screening of current and potential suppliers,
customers, banks
Impacts ability to purchase, sell and market
products
Sponsorships and Special Events
Retaliation from impacted countries
Limited ability to operate in certain jurisdictions
via narrow exceptions (i.e., Iran, Syria, etc.)
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Yohai Baisburd is a partner with Cassidy Levy Kent LLP in Washington, DC. Yohai counsels
companies, trade associations and governments in a variety of international trade matters in the
United States and globally. Mr. Baisburd’s practice focuses on trade remedy (antidumping,
subsidies, safeguards) litigation and import/export compliance and enforcement proceedings. He
is recognized by Chambers and Partners for his Customs Law expertise and in The Best Lawyers
in America for International Trade and Finance Law. Mr. Baisburd is on the roster of potential
US panelists for NAFTA Chapter 19 panels.
Mr. Baisburd has significant experience in trade litigation before the U.S. International Trade
Commission (ITC), the U.S. Department of Commerce (DOC), Mexico’s Secretaría de
Economía, China’s Ministry of Commerce, Australia’s Productivity Commission, South Africa’s
International Trade Administration Commission, the U.S. Court of International Trade, the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA)
binational panels, Mexican courts and the World Trade Organization (WTO).
Mr. Baisburd also counsels clients in customs matters (internal compliance programs, fraud
investigations, C-TPAT compliance, classification, valuation, country of origin marking and Free
Trade Agreement and duty preference program compliance) in the United States, Latin America
and Europe; export controls, sanctions and anti-boycott matters; national security controls on
investment in U.S. entities, including CFIUS; and trade policy issues such as free trade
agreement negotiations.

Yohai Baisburd
Cassidy Levy Kent (USA) LLP
900 19th Street NW | Fourth Floor | Washington, DC 20006
Direct +1 202 567 2319 | Main +1 202 567 2300 | Mobile +1
301 642 6757

Kevin Sullivan is International Trade Counsel at The Coca-Cola Company, where he
provides legal counsel and compliance advice to the Company’s global operations on a
variety of international trade, procurement, and related matters. Since joining the
Company in 2015, Kevin has been primarily responsible for expanding the Company’s
international trade compliance program and identifying strategic sourcing and efficiency
opportunities. Prior to joining the Company, Kevin was a Senior Attorney at Sikorsky
Aircraft Corporation in Stratford, CT, and a compliance attorney at Baker & McKenzie
LLP in Washington, DC.
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Overview
I.

New Cytberthreat and Fraud Schemes Emerging

II. Prevention
III. Embezzlement and Insider Fraud
IV. Response Plans and Litigation Due Diligence
V. Statistics and Lessons Learned from the FBI
VI. Federal Government Resources
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New Cyberthreat and Fraud Schemes Emerging
LOSSES FROM CYBERCRIME ARE MOUNTING
• Business email compromise
• Wire fraud
• Checks and embezzlement
• Other threats on the rise via technology

4

Cyber Game Changer
• Technology has touched and changed fundamentally all aspects of our lives
̶

How we do business
̶

Shop
̶

Bank
̶

Communicate
̶

Socialize
̶

Recreate

• Some of these shifts have been sudden and dramatic, while others have been
more subtle
• For most companies, question is when, not if, it will experience an incident or
be a target
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Cyber Era Impact on Fraud
• Global connectivity
• As of Today 3.2 billion people or almost ½ of the world’s total population, has
access to the Internet
• 60% of Internet users are in developing countries
• Today, there are over 2 billion computers connected to the Internet
• By 2020, the number networked devices or the “Internet of Things” will
outnumber people by six to one
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Cyber Attacker Techniques
• Hacking
̶

Manual or Automated
̶

Takes advantage of weaknesses in systems

• Social Engineering
̶

Takes advantage of human weaknesses

• Malware or Viruses
• Physical access
• The most damaging compromise tends to be our personal or work e-mail
credentials.
• With these credentials, cyber criminals can gain control of our bank accounts,
see what we’re working on, etc.
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Social Engineering
• Social engineering is a type of psychological attack where an attacker
misleads you into doing something they want you to do.
• Cyber attackers use this technique on the Internet because it is extremely
effective and can be used to target millions of people.
EXAMPLES
• FedEx/UPS sends your employees an email saying that they need to revalidate their account info or the account will be suspended ̶ please log in
here
• FedEx/UPS sends your or your employees an email saying that invoices are
attached please click here

8

Phishing
• Phishing refers to an attack that uses email or a messaging service (like those
on social media sites) that tricks or fools you into taking an action, such as
clicking on a link or opening an attachment.
• Phishing often involves a combination of solid marketing and effective social
engineering
• Spear-Phishing is a specifically targeted form of phishing
̶

Whaling
̶

CEO Fraud

9

Phishing
The New Path into the Company
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Phishing
• Generic greeting
• Forged link
• Requests personal information or includes an attachment to view
• Sense of urgency
• Bad grammar used to be a signal but the grammar and spelling of fraudsters
has IMPROVED!

11

SMSishing
Same problem - different device
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Social Media
• Cyber attackers can analyze your posts and use them to gain access to your
or your organization’s information.
• For example, they can use information you share
̶

Guess the answers to the secret questions that reset your online passwords
̶

Create targeted email attacks against you (called spearfishing) or call someone in
your organization pretending to be you
̶

In addition, these attacks can spill into the physical world, such as identifying where
you work or live

13

Wire Fraud
What is wire fraud?
The misappropriation of funds by deceiving financial institutions,
their customers, or individuals into conducting wire transfers.

14

Wire Fraud
According to FinCEN, from 2013 through September 6, 2016, there have been
approximately 22,000 reported cases of email compromise fraud, involving $3.1
billion.
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Different Types of Wire Fraud
• Business E-Mail Compromise, or (BEC) targets financial institutions and their
customers
• E-Mail Account Compromise, or (EAC) targets a victim’s personal account

16

Wire Fraud

Agent, broker, seller
or buyer receives
phishing email

Adversary
compromises user
email account

Original
Bank

Money moved to
adversary bank account
and shortly thereafter to
another account(s)

Adversary monitors and
reads all user emails

New
Bank

Banks and accounts are
substituted for a “mule”
account
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Last minute, adversary
modifies wiring
instructions

Actual Breaches
• Example 1: In a construction loan draw request, the general contractor’s
email account was breached and wire instructions for the draw request were
intercepted and changed to a fraudulent account. A fraudulent email was sent
to the developer, who in turn sent it to the settlement officer with instructions to
proceed with disbursement.
• Example 2: One of 45 disbursements on a transaction involved payment of
an invoice sent to the buyer; buyer in turn sent it to their attorney who sent it to
the settlement officer with instructions to pay at close of escrow. As it turned
out, the buyer’s email account was breached by a fraudster and the money
was sent to the fraudster’s account.
• Example 3: Buyer’s email account was breached and wire instructions for
earnest money deposit were rerouted to a fraudster’s account.
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What You Can Do
Wire Fraud

• Protect your email and password
• Verify email headers
• Call the other party to confirm the identity of the bank where payment is to be
received and account number
• Check your email for signs of compromise
• Add multifactor authentication

19

Red Flags/Warning Signs
• Change in Wire Instructions
• Resembling a customer’s email account
• Foreign Bank
• Emailed instructions marked as “immediate”, “urgent”, “high importance” or
“secret”
• Wording that is grammatically incorrect, misspelled names, or changed bank
accounts
• Changing method of payment
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What You Can Do

Banking and Trust Accounts
• The Financial Services Information Sharing and Analysis Center (FS-ISAC) —
issued guidelines urging businesses to carry out all online banking activities
from “a standalone, hardened and completely locked down computer system
from where regular e-mail and Web browsing is not possible.”
• Their recommendations include:
̶
̶

Multi-factor authentication
Stand alone dedicated PC not running Windows’
•

An Apple MAC

•

A Linux PC

•

Live CD*
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What You Can Do

Banking and Trust Accounts
• International wire blocks — some banks are offering this service
• ACH blocks
• Dedicated stand alone computer
• Have a dedicated banking relationship manager who can act quickly on your
behalf
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Embezzlement and Insider Fraud
PRIMARY THREATS
- Fraudulent bookkeeper and insider fraud
- Theft of personally identifiable information of customers
- Data breach and compromise
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Real Examples
• Extract from American Bar Association Form 990 (2016)
Filed with IRS:
In 2017, the ABA became aware of an unauthorized diversion of assets totaling
approximately $1.3 million over a period of multiple years, committed by a nonmanagement staff member. The employee was immediately placed on administrative
leave when the unauthorized diversion of assets was detected and was terminated the
following day. The ABA commenced an investigation and notified both the Executive
Committee of its board of directors and law enforcement, with whom the ABA has
cooperated fully in the investigation. Furthermore, forensic experts from the accounting
firm of Grant Thornton were engaged to participate in the investigation along with the ABA
Internal Audit, Fincncial Services Staff and the General Counsels Office. The ABA
reviewed and revised procedures including more stringent controls and monitoring and
increased financial oversight. The ABA is in the process of seeking recover of the funds
from its insurance carrier.
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REAL EXAMPLES (cont’d)
Other Recent Headlines:
• Former employee of NYC law firm convicted of stealing toner cartridges,
resold on black market for office supplies
• Trusted bookkeeper in VA stole over $500,000 by forging checks, using funds
for an extravagant lifestyle
• Phantom vendors – Testimony of Rick Gates in Manafort trial regarding
fraudulent vendor invoices submitted for payment
• Payroll theft, phantom vendors, ghost employees, unauthorized use of
business account for employee personal expenses, false reimbursement
requests, supply theft, and theft of customer information are most frequent
types of insider theft and embezzlement
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REASONS FOR THEFT

• The old adage that the most likely person to steal from the workplace is the
longtime trusted bookkeeper or partner remains true
• Employee theft occurs because of motivation, faulty rationalization, and
opportunity – employees facing financial issues or feeling underpaid or other
jurstications
• Opportunity and lack of controls
• Incentive programs and pressures for advancement
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ESTABLISHING CONTROL AND PREVENTION

•

Involve top management and owners

•

Ask questions – see something say something

•

Create a strong ethical culture and mindset of integrity

•

Implement anti-theft policies and procedures for every department

•

Conduct regular supply inventories

•

Bifurcate various accounting and payroll responsibilities

•

Institute regular cybersecurity training

•

Impose regular cross-checks and testing

•

Provide anonymous reporting mechanisms and ombudsman
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BUSINESS EMPLOYEE COMPROMISE AND LIABILITY?
Who pays in a Business Employee Compromise scam?
•

Increasingly sophisticated fraud involving internet email compromise and wire transfers

•

The party bearing the loss varies depending on the circumstances

•

It ordinarily depends on the party’s whose system was compromised and what
safeguards were in place to prevent the BEC scam

•

Businesses are on notice of the prevalence of this type of scan and have a duty to take
action to prevent losses

•

Courts increasingly holding the company liable for failing to train or implement basic
cybersecurity protocalls, some of which are as simple as a phone call

•

Insurance agreements may not be written in a manner to protect against new
cybersecurity threats
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Develop an Action Plan Pre-Intrusion
• Have well established plans and procedures in place for a cyber-intrusion
• Preplanning limits damages, maximizes ability to recover stolen funds
• Recognize that even a small loss of data or PII of customers can have a
devastaging impact
• Know any deadlines for reporting to your financial institution and insurer
• Make the plan actionable: (i) determine who has lead responsibility; (ii)
develop a communication protocol; (iii) determine backup personnel; (iv)
decide what data,netowrks, or services should be isolated to provide greatest
protection; (v) develop procedures for notigying law enforcement; (vi) develop
procedures for notifying financial institutions
• Legal counsel should be familiar with technology and cyber-incident
management
• Engage with law enforcement prior to incident
• Prepare needed documents such as Hold Harmless Agreement
29

Implement Action Plan When Intrusion Occurs
• Report the incident to your financial institution and insurer and use every
contact from relationship manager to online fraud reporting
• Have financial institution contact receiving bank and request hold
• Contact local FBI
• File Complaint with IC3
• Preserve data
• Conduct internal investigation using experienced fraud investigators
•

Recognize when to retain an external party for the investigation

• Engage in appropriate customer and public disclosure
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Pre-Litigation Due Diligence
• Interview involved employees
• Expand scope of investigation as approrpriate
• Preserve documents, record and collect information from third-parties
• Interplead any funds held
• Asset freeze orders, injunctions, and pre-judgment attachment
• Consider equitable remedies – declaratory judgment and specific performance
• Evaluate vendor liability
• Ascertain whether third-party claims for recovery exist
• Enforce hold harmless and customer agreements regarding allocation of loss
• Seek restitution awards in any criminal prosecution of fraudster
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Insurance
• Notify insurer of claim immediately
• May trigger theft policy or fraudulent instruction coverage
• Be proactive when renewing coverage to expand coverage with new cyber
threats in mind
• Policies still drafted narrowly to cover traditional financial fraud yet there is
typically no unauthorized entry by business email compromise
• More recent caselaw finding intrusion without “hacking”
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Develop a Business Email Compromise/Cybersecurity Fraud Policy

Develop a comprehensive policy addressing BEC, both precautions and postincident response
1.

Email Security

•

Implement a review process for emails from high level executives, lawyers, or other representatives
purporting to be handling confidential, time-sensitive, or wire transfer matters.

•

Initiate a call-back procedure to contact the executive to confirm data or wire transfers and specific
account information

•

Maintain vendor contact information and note any changes in payment instruction; contact the vendor
using known contact information to confirm the change

•

Confirm transfers of funds or data using a multi-factor authentication policy

•

Delete unsolicited email from unknown parties

•

Be suspicious of emails creating false sense of urgency or need for quick response

•

Double check email addresses and names for accuracy

•

Look for inconsistencies in emails or grammar errors

•

Utilize your IT department
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Develop a Business Email Compromise Policy (cont’d)

2.

Employee Awareness and Training

•

Conduct hands-on employee training on how to detect BEC scams

•

Alert regularly employees about new BEC scams and how to combat

•

Information Technology team must implement additional authentication, reporting and conformance
policies

•

Require reporting of BEC scam attempts to IT

3.

Compliance

•

Enact disciplinary procedures for any violation of policy

•

Exceptions must be approved by IT

•

Obtain user acknowledgements of BEC/cybersecurity policy

•

Conduct regular audits and mock exercises
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STAY INFORMED

Attend programs and stay abreast of trends and caselaw
•

Curry v. Schletter Inc., No. 1:17-cv-0001-MC-DLH, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 49442 (WD
NC March 26, 2018) (denying in part motion to dismiss by employer in putative class
action by former and current employees alleging negligence, invasion of privacy and
other claims arising out of spoof email from a purported supervisor reqesting W-2 tax
information for company’s employees)

•

Medidata Sols. Inc. v. Fed. Ins. Co., 729 Fed Appx. 117 (2d Cir. 2018) (affirming district
court finding that plain and unambiguous language of computer fraud provision in policy
covers losses from a “spoofing attack” and rejecting insurer’s argument that the policy
applied only to “hacking-type” intrusions)

•

Dittman v. UPMC d/b/a The University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, No. 43 WAP 2017,
2018 Pa. LEXIS 6051 (Pa. Nov. 21, 2018) (Pennsyvania Supreme Court held that
UPMC’s collection of personal information from workers in their employ meant they had
common law duty of care to protect the information in a data breach and employers
may be sued for purely economic loss arising from failure to safeguard employee data)
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Statistics and Lessons Learned From the FBI

• Recent statistics
• New threats
• Enforcement actions
• Lessons learned
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Know Available Federal Government Resources

•

Best Practices for Victim Response and Reporting of Cyber Incidents:
https://www.justice.gov/sites/default/files/opa/speeches/attachments/2015/04/29/criminal_divis
ion_guidance_on_best_practices_for_victim_response_and_reporting_cyber_incidents.pdf

•

Incident Preparedness: Building alliances to improve the nation’s cybersecurity:
https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/cyber-task-forces-fact-sheet.pdf/view

•

The Future of Ransomware and Social Engineering Sep 28 2017:
https://www.dni.gov/files/PE/Documents/6---2017-AEP_The-Future-of-Ransomware-andSocial-Engineering.pdf

•

How to Protect Your Networks from Ransomware – Department of Justice:
https://www.justice.gov/criminal-ccips/file/872771/download

•

Report of the Attorney General’s Cyber Digital Task Force: https://justice.gov/cyberreport

•

Cyber Incident Reporting: https://www.dhs.gov/publication/cyber-incident-reporting-unifiedmessage-reporting-federal-government

•

Ransomware: https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/ransomware-prevention-and-response-forceos.pdf

•

Report of Investigation Pursuant to Section 21(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
Regarding Certain Cyber-Related Frauds Perpetrated Against Public Com,panies and Related
Internal Accounting Controls Requirements: https://www.sec.gov/litigation/investreport/3481207.pdf
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Contact Your Local FBI Office

Chad Hunt
Supervisory Special Agent
FBI Atlanta
Computer Intrusion Squad (CY1)
Desk: 770 216 3188
Mobile: 404 392 1465
chunt@fbi.gov
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CONCLUDING REMARKS AND QUESTIONS

• Last words
• Any questions
• Let’s be careful out there
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Mary C. Zinsner, Troutman Sanders LLP, Washington, D.C.
Mary C. Zinsner focuses her practice on business and commercial litigation and
representation of financial institutions in lender liability, operations, consumer finance and
class actions, fiduciary, and creditor’s rights disputes. Ms. Zinsner regularly represents
clients in defense of litigation involving allegations of identity theft, cybersecurity, and
privacy matters. Ms. Zinsner practices extensively in the federal and state courts in
Virginia, Maryland, and the District of Columbia and has handled many appellate matters
before the Supreme Court of Virginia, United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth
Circuit, and United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit. Having
clerked for the Honorable Claude M. Hilton, United States District Judge for the Eastern
District of Virginia, she is very familiar with local federal court practices and frequently
lectures on litigation practices in the “Rocket Docket.” Ms. Zinsner was selected as a
Virginia Super Lawyer in Business Litigation by Virginia Super Lawyers Magazine (2013 2018) and was a 2008 Top Washington Lawyers Finalist in Corporate Litigation by
Washington Business Journal. She is a member of the Board of Directors of the Virginia
Law Foundation and a former member of the Board of Governors of the Virginia Bar
Association.

Pablo Iglesias is AVP, Escrow Operations Manager & Southeast Escrow Advisor
for First American Title Insurance Company-National Commercial Services. Pablo
received a bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University of South Florida.
Pablo started his career at Bank of America where he sold financial products to
consumers and small businesses. Later on Pablo would partner with 2 friends to
assist in growing their small residential closing company aimed at helping Title
Companies and Lenders increase profits by closing more loans every month and
removing the stress of vendor management. This small local company would grow
from 300 closings a month in FL to over 3000 closings nationally every month.
Pablo would later be recruited to build an internal closing and vendor management
platform for a regional national title company, Boston National Title. The Closer
LLC was formed and would go on to close over 4000 residential transactions a
month with a US based staff of 4. Pablo leveraged software and offshore teams to
help streamline internal processes to manage the large level of business. After a
downturn in the residential market in 2013 Pablo transitioned to the commercial
side of real estate for First American National Title National Commercial Services
where he is in his current role. Pablo has closed over 50,000 residential loans in his
career and now focuses on closing large complicated commercial transactions,
regularly closing deals in the hundreds of millions to billions of dollars. He is a
member of the National Escrow Advisory Team dedicated to creating consistent
and compliant processes to improve customer experience while increasing
productivity. He works with all departments within the company to ensure all staff
are aware of current trends in fraud, create training materials, and assist escrow
associates in acquiring the skills they need to perform their jobs at top levels.

Chad Hunt
With over fifteen years of investigative experience, Mr. Hunt is currently a
Supervisory Special Agent (SSA) with the FBI in the Atlanta Field Office,
where he leads a cyber team that conducts investigations in support of the
FBI's Cyber Division. SSA Hunt also spent two years at FBI Cyber Division
Headquarters as a program manager, and was also assigned to Australia as a
cyber Assistant Legal Attaché. Prior to joining the FBI, he worked for
twelve years in private industry.

LEGAL OPS: WHAT’S IN THE BOX? ASSESSING
THE VALUE OF LEGAL OPS FOR YOUR TEAM
Panelists:
		Beth Lehman, Legal Operations Executive,
		 SunTrust Banks, Inc., Atlanta
		Susan Hackett, Legal Executive Leadership, LLC,
		 Chevy Chase, MD
9:35
		

Susan Hackett, CEO
hackett@lawexecs.com
+1.301.785.5534

Further Reading / Resources on
Legal Operations (“LegalOps”)
Links to articles included in this bibliography are mostly open to all readers, but there are
some links to ACC materials that may not open to non-ACC members without a password. If
you need assistance with any links or if you find links that aren’t working, please let me know:
hackett@lawexecs.com.
ACC’s Legal Ops Homepage: https://www.acc.com/legalops/
ACC’s Legal Ops Maturity Model: https://www.acc.com/maturity/index.cfm
ACC’s Value Challenge Homepages: https://www.acc.com/valuechallenge
Corporate Legal Operations Consortium (CLOC): https://www.cloc.com
CLOC Initiatives and Resources: https://cloc.org/achieve/#initiatives
ACC’s Legal Ops Maturity Model: https://www.acc.com/maturity/index.cfm
Thomson Reuters – Legal Executive Institute: State of Corporate Legal Departments Report:
http://www.legalexecutiveinstitute.com/2018-corporate-law-departments-report/
ACC - Legal Operations: Leading Practices in Implementing Strategy, Leading Change, and
Advancing Law Department Excellence:
https://www.acc.com/legalresources/resource.cfm?show=1433075
Unless you Ask: Get more from external relationships (ACC Primer)
https://www.acc.com/legalresources/resource.cfm?show=1432511
CLOC – Law Firm Performance Evaluation Model:
http://cloc.ldcsurveys.com/s3/Law-Firm-Performance
ACC Value Practice: Assessing Legal Performance at Allstate:
https://www.acc.com/legalresources/resource.cfm?show=189752
My Coverage of the CLOC Institute 2017 in Corporate Counsel:

http://www.corpcounsel.com/id=1202785532354/The-Legal-Ops-MovementFrom-Duct-TapeTriage-to-FullFledged-Business-Partnership
and
http://www.corpcounsel.com/id=1202786490511/Takeaways-From-CLOC-What-Happened-inVegas-Wont-be-Staying-in-Vegas
Coverage of Liberty Mutual’s Legal Ops transformation:
In the ACC Docket: https://www.acc.com/docket/articles/gc-and-clo-spotlight-libertymutual.cfm/?_ga=2.87400664.1104257506.1497367011-1628381293.1494236391
In law.com and Corporate Counsel: http://www.law.com/sites/almstaff/2017/06/01/insideliberty-mutuals-legal-tech-transformation/
How to Build the Foundation of Your Legal Operations Team the Right Way: Thomson Reuters:
(Note there are additional links to resources from TR on this page.)
https://www.slideshare.net/IngridFazio/how-to-build-foundation-of-legal-deptwps0414861216-71059876
Mary O’Carroll of Google discusses her CLOC takeaways:
http://www.corpcounsel.com/id=1202786364991/Head-of-Legal-Ops-at-Google-Shares-Her2017-CLOC-Institute-Closing-Remarks
“Failing is Learning:” from ACC Legal Ops Conference
http://www.legaltechnews.com/id=1202788538471
The Relevance of Lawyers in the New Normal: Re-engineering the Legal Skill Set
Part 1 (August 2013)
https://legalsolutions.thomsonreuters.com/law-products/news-views/corporatecounsel/the-relevance-of-lawyers-in-the-new-normal
Part 2 (October 2013)
https://legalsolutions.thomsonreuters.com/law-products/news-views/corporatecounsel/challenging-corporate-counsel-to-continuously-improve-through-every-stage-oftheir-career
Part 3 (November 2013)
https://legalsolutions.thomsonreuters.com/law-products/news-views/corporatecounsel/benchmarking-professional-development-success-practices-a-deeper-dive

Building High-Performance Legal Teams:
How In-House Legal Departments Are
Re-engineering Value Via New Skillsets and Roles
by Susan Hackett

New client service models require lawyers to develop new competencies, especially
the ability to collaborate effectively with other team members who have different
skills and disciplines.

Since corporate law departments are the great experiment I’ve
been studying and encouraging for almost three decades, I
couldn’t say no when Jim Leipold, the sage executive director of NALP, asked me to share my thoughts with you on the
topic of corporate in-house skillsets and training. He sees how
disruptive changes in both the market and legal practice are
shifting focus toward new competencies that will drive distinguishing value in “new law” practices. And both Jim and I
agree that in-house legal departments (whose value is measured and rewarded by delivering efficiency based on strong
project and process management, economic command/financial insight, knowledge practices, and improved legal service
delivery) provide a natural Petri dish in which to examine the
struggle to re-engineer lawyers’ skillsets and roles.

Skills That Drive Greater Value, Improved
Alignment with Clients, and Better Results
I wrote a set of articles some years back identifying a variety
of skills and disciplines I noted as critical to future success
for legal teams. It was my concern that none of these skills or
disciplines were part of the standard law school curriculum or
promoted in early training or entry-level positions in traditional legal workplaces (at that time); neither were they widely
offered or emphasized (and rarely rewarded) in professional
development, promotion and compensation reviews, or continuing education efforts for mature lawyers. They still receive
only spotty attention.
The skills and disciplines I was focusing on included:

But working on this article has offered me the time to reflect,
and the result is that I need to deviate a bit from what my past
writings and ramblings have preached. I’ve come to recognize
that the most important skillset corporate lawyers need to
hone for future success isn’t one they can learn in a continuing education classroom, an MBA program, or through some
electives or a joint business program added to a law school’s
third-year curriculum. The most important skillset is learning
to respect and collaborate with other professionals, and value
their skills, disciplines, and problem-solving toolkits. Allow
me to explain.

• Business and finance savvy — basics in accounting, money
management, financials, valuation, corporate business cycles,
management theory, use of historical and predictive data to
make financial decisions, etc.
• Working collaboratively in teams, rather than
independently as individuals — organizing teams based
on the roster of competencies needed to efficiently deliver
service and the business result the client values, rather
than the legal answer that the firms’ lawyers are trained to
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analyze; understanding how to unify, empower, and leverage
diverse teams and team members.
• Legal process management — Lean Six Sigma,
disaggregation or unbundling of legal tasks, assessment and
alignment of worker roles to insure efficiency, consistency,
and predictable pricing and cost-savings, continuous
improvement efforts, a focus on measuring and driving
results while minimizing activity, etc.
• Legal project management — assessing the matter, staffing,
budget, and communication plans that govern projects and
teams; tracking and reporting progress over the life of the
project; integrating technology into the processes to support
efficiency; dividing work and tasks into stages that allow for
scheduling and predicting the timely completion of work; etc.
• Technology and data — better understanding the role
and robust use of data and tech as resources that can
improve client service and legal results; training workers
to consistently and “comfortably” use automation and
technology in their daily workflow; creating practice
management systems and platforms for use by legal teams
and by clients to empower client and lawyer DIY and
self-service options; harnessing data that flows from legal
department, law firm, corporate, and industry benchmark
sources that can inform decision-making (legal and practice
management) and process improvements.
• Interpersonal and communication skills — improving
and leveraging leadership EQ (emotional quotient),
understanding how to actively listen, dispute and conflict
relationship management skills, successfully transacting
with difficult people or delivering (and receiving) difficult
messages.
• Critical evaluation and continuous improvement
— measuring performance/establishing metrics (data
and analytics that drive better practices and allow for
comparative benchmarking); assessing client satisfaction

and creating client feedback loops that lead to continuous
improvement initiatives; revisiting organizational incentives,
evaluation/review processes, and compensation to connect
them to improved business results/team performance, not
just work ethic and legal skills; revamping the rewards
(punishments) for the behaviors you want to encourage
(discourage).
• Legal and enterprise risk management, with an even
stronger focus on risk mitigation — helping clients and
decision makers (such as boards) weigh risk and understand
the best balance for the company (avoiding the problem
of “legal, but stupid”); driving the elimination — rather
than improved management — of corporate failures, bad
behaviors, costly litigation/disputes; shifting the focus from
a remedial workload brought to the legal team (cleaning
up spilled milk and managing milk glasses prone to spills)
to proactive advancement of the business agenda (keeping
the milk in more spill-proof glasses and multiplying their
number and value).
• Leadership — vision and strategic planning, inspiring
others by modeling entity-first/people-first behaviors,
creating a meaningful culture based on inclusion and values,
strong organizational governance and operations (firm and
department).
• Managing behavioral change — figuring out how to help
people move from “how we’ve always done it” to “what’s
next?”; creating agile teams that embrace a culture of change;
developing greater sensitivity to and accommodation of the
emotional or personal quotients in the workplace — aka
“EQ” skills.
• Legal pricing — accurately forecasting, scoping, and
calculating staffing, timelines, and budgets for projects based
on data, practice efficiencies, and experience to bring process
predictability to work; understanding the cost of the work so
that an appropriate price can be affixed to it by providers, and
having the tools to understand whether it’s best to insource
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Rethinking Lawyers’ Skillsets and Training

work or pay an appropriate margin for an outside firm or
provider to deliver it.
• Understanding and assessing the variety of legal fee
structuring, pricing, and the resulting retention and
staffing options — knowing what works best in a variety of
situations/matters, what the client’s appetite is for sharing
or shifting risk, and what procurement principles can teach
us in better understanding how data and past practices
inform and progress better pricing and retention decisions;
connecting the value of the work to the value of the result
(not the value of how long it took a lawyer to do it).
• Communicating with, listening to, and reporting on the
value of legal work to clients and other stakeholders —
helping management and the board assess how to fund and
deploy their legal team to assure both the client’s highest use
of their lawyers and their lawyers’ attention to their most
critical needs/opportunities.

And in today’s competitive environment,
we know that what clients want, sooner or
later, with or without us, clients will get.
We know that many of these skills and competencies are
business, leadership, and executive skills, informed by practice
management, legal operations (so-called “legal ops”), and
service delivery expertise. They are valuable counterparts to
our good ol’ legal competencies. When you combine these new
skillsets with traditional legal practice competencies, the combination offers clients trusted and distinguishing value, as well
as an improved, strategic, nimble, sustainable, motivated, and
profitable business. And in today’s competitive environment,
we know that what clients want, sooner or later, with or without
us, clients will get.

So, all we have to do is add a prerequisite of several years of
practical business experience and a few years of undergraduate
or MBA-level classwork to law school and we’re all set, right?
And then we can pull our most successful partners and leading
in-house lawyers away from their work for a year-long sabbatical from their paying jobs so that they can be retooled with an
executive, operational, financial, and technology savvy skillset.
The kinds and variety of skills I’m talking about above are not
“downloadable” in a two-day seminar or a series of four-hour
courses hosted once a month.
Uh-oh.
Hence my need to go back to the drawing board, because this
kind of magical thinking isn’t at all realistic, is it? A complete
professional retooling is especially not realistic for mature
lawyers already struggling to make it to a few CLEs every year.
And law students struggling with debt and insecurity about
where their legal futures lie are not going to love the idea of
another several years of schooling or training before they’ll be
seen as qualified or properly equipped to practice.
In retrospect, I realize that my approach to pushing these skills
toward lawyers was all wrong. It’s not that the skills listed above
aren’t critical to success for legal teams in 2018 and beyond —
they are. I still stand by that. What I had wrong was my belief
that what is needed — or is possible — is to try to equip all (or
at least most) lawyers with all (or at least most) of these skills.
What is needed is to teach lawyers how to understand many of
these disciplines in general, and then help them better leverage
those skills in others and apply the resulting service mix to
their clients’ problems.

PD Quarterly

May 2018

14

Building High-Performance Legal Teams: Hackett

Collaboration Is the New Black and Demands
Lawyers’ Respect
My focus now is helping lawyers develop a better relationship — based on respect and a desire to drive better value and
results — with those professionals and operations leaders who
have these skills. Lawyers’ best use and greatest potential in the
future is to collaborate with others from complementary disciplines who are also performing to their highest potential and
best use. We don’t need to try to create a tribe of über-lawyers
who are equally adept at legal ops, or trained legal ops workers
whose role is to be “mini-lawyers” or perform functions better
left to technology and automation. But we do need for each
group to understand and collaborate with the other. None of
us will reach our potential or live up to our clients’ increasing
expectations if lawyers continue to treat those on their team
who don’t have law degrees as “supporting” cast members or
unnecessary hangers-on rather than as professionals who share
a leading role in service delivery and practice strategy, and who
offer unique insight and value.

Lawyers’ best use and greatest potential
in the future is to collaborate with
others from complementary disciplines
who are also performing to their
highest potential and best use.
When building a high-functioning, high-performance legal
team, the relatively easy part is finding smart lawyers, talented
ops leaders, and other business and technical experts. The hard
part is training lawyers to work with “non-lawyers” in a productive and respectful fashion. It’s then that we run straight into the
wall of that crazy-stupid dichotomy that so many lawyers create
between those with legal skills and those without: the so-called
clash of the lawyers versus the “non-lawyers.” (I avoid using this
derogative term, and I hope that you can recognize its toxic nature, too. Having uttered it in order to bring the concern to your
attention, we can now choose to move away from it.)

Hence, we come at last to the law department experience —
that giant ongoing experiment in marrying legal, business,
technical, and managerial skills in a manner that is valued (and
demonstrated daily) by their corporate clients. Since in-house
counsel work inside a company, where their skills and educational background are a small minority amongst the company’s
valued talents, they are forced to adapt to and adopt (not merely
“tolerate”) the company’s primary disciplines, business culture,
communication modes, and workstyles. Most corporate counsel entering their first in-house jobs learn quickly that their
success depends heavily on their ability to collaborate with and
draw in the expertise of other professionals with important
disciplines to share (finance, technology, communications,
etc.) — some work in departments with operations leaders who
have these skills; others may not have access to legal ops teams,
and therefore seek out corporate employees who can help them
learn the ropes.
While some corporate counsel never learn to recognize the
importance of these complementary disciplines and skills
(whether because they’re insulated or because their clients
just assume that legal arrogance is normal), it’s been shown by
examining the skills and traits of those who rise in corporate
legal functions that they either appreciate these skills or work
hard to assimilate them. Those who continue to promote the
divide between them and those with other skills will find that
in tomorrow’s world, they’ll be seen as being just as fungible in
their roles as many outside counsel/law firms feel in theirs.

Operations Team Collaboration in Law
Departments: The CLOC and ACC Legal
Ops Experience
If you travel to https://cloc.org/what-is-legal-operations, you’ll
find a model that offers the basic and most common range of
corporate legal ops competencies recognized by CLOC (the
Corporate Legal Operations Consortium); here’s a sample of
the to-do list CLOC included in their definition of a “standard”
legal ops function:
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• Strategic Planning: Create a long-term strategy, aligning
yearly goals and corresponding metrics.
• Financial Management: Manage the departmental budget.
Track accruals and forecasting. Work with Finance to
identify spending trends, potential cost savings, and
efficiency opportunities.
• Vendor Management: Create a vendor management program
to insure quality outside counsel support at the right rates
and under optimal fee arrangements. Hold regular business
reviews. Negotiate fee agreements. Drive governance of
billing guidelines.
• Data Analytics: Collect and analyze relevant data from
department tools and industry sources, define objectives to
provide metrics and dashboards that drive efficiencies and
optimize spend, etc.
• Technology Support: Create a long-term technology
roadmap including tools such as e-billing/matter
management, contract management, content management,
IP management, business process management, e-signature,
board management, compliance management, legal hold,
subsidiary management, etc.
• Alternative Support Models: Drive departmental efficiency
by leveraging managed services, LPOs, and other service
providers.
• Knowledge Management: Enable efficiencies by creating
seamless access to legal and department institutional
knowledge through the organization and centralization
of key templates, policies, processes, memos, and other
learnings.
• Professional Development and Team Building: Deliver
improved GC Staff and overall team performance by
globalizing the team and creating a culture of growth,
development, collaboration, and accountability.

• Communications: Work collaboratively across the legal
ecosystem to create consistent global processes, from onboarding to complex project management support. Publish
regular departmental communications, plan and execute
all-hands meetings.
• Global Data Governance/Records Management: Create a
records management program including a record retention
schedule, policies, and processes.
• Litigation Support: Support e-discovery, legal hold,
document review.
• Cross-Functional Alignment: Create and drive relationships
with other key company functions, such as HR, IT, Finance,
and Workplace Resources. Represent the Legal organization
at CLOC.
If you travel to the Association of Corporate Counsel’s (ACC’s)
LegalOps homepages, you’ll find a maturity model for law
departments focusing on building these competencies and
activities into in-house high-performance teams and strategic
agendas, along with short descriptions of what departments
in early stage, intermediate, and advanced ops integration are
focusing on and accomplishing.
What is striking as one examines these resources and the growing array of corporate legal department “legal ops” teams, is
how clearly law departments and their leaders are torn between
the “let’s build a great internal law firm” business model they’ve
practiced in the past, and being the client-aligned legal-results
strategic-growth-services provider they know they need to become to remain valuable to their business clients in the future.
Reality check: there are plenty of law firms that already exist for
clients who want to hire them; what legal departments provide
is supposed to be not only different, but laser focused on delivering strategic business outcomes. So naturally, in the struggle
to differentiate, legal ops has become the fastest-growing
segment of the in-house legal team, even as legal ops teams that
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have already formed struggle to define their value within their
departments, with outside firms, and in the profession at large.
It’s a bit messy for now since we’re all learning and there’s not
much of a playbook to guide us: not surprising since very few
companies had organized legal ops teams five years ago; now,
the number of departments building ops functions in larger law
departments nearly doubles pretty much every year.

It’s really hard to “un-learn” the law
firm culture of not valuing professional
staff as partners in our practices.
Today’s ops leaders — compared to their counterparts of five or
ten years ago — are more visible, carry greater responsibilities,
are better respected, and have an even wider array of services
and disciplines within their power. When I first started working with emerging ops teams back in the early and mid 2000s at
ACC, it was hard to find ops leaders or teams — in part because
operations responsibilities were diffused and spread over
many people whose titles didn’t reflect their ops role or leadership, and in part because there were just so few people who
performed operations functions as a full-time job or even as a
long-term dedicated leader. Responsibility for outside counsel
management, technology decisions, professional development,
budget and spend, department metrics, and project and matter management was shared by many lawyers (usually it was
lawyers or maybe a paralegal or two), and rotated amongst their
ranks via committee-type assignments. Professional ops roles
were not coordinated via a central function or even invested in
only one person.
A number of the first full-time operations leaders I met who
had established ops teams were in the financial services/
insurance industries; they were not lawyers, but experienced
executive managers assigned to the legal team to provide procurement, financial, and technology services that would assure
proper compliance with data and regulatory rules, as well as
with complex corporate accounting and business requirements.
But outside of those industries, the majority of ops leaders (they

didn’t call themselves “ops leaders” then) I met back then were
lawyers trying to build an ops function without much (if any)
of a team. They worked in larger manufacturing, tech, and
service companies, and were usually appointed to fulfill the ops
role while they were also carrying a significant legal portfolio,
too. Just for the record, while they were incredibly talented and
committed, most felt ready to commit hara-kiri.
While the number of lawyers leading dedicated operations
teams today is still significant, the fastest growing segment of
this community are those who bring critical experience and
skills that many lawyers lack: people management, technology and data savvy, financial and executive skills, and so on.
And even on teams led by lawyers, team members tend to be
experienced leaders drawn from other disciplines who display
business, technical, and executive skillsets. For the folks from
outside of the legal discipline who work in ops, their challenge
is to learn the legal nuances in order to speak the language and
earn the trust of the lawyers with whom they interact. For the
lawyers in this role, the challenge is to unlock their inner business potential and start thinking like a business person who
happens to be a lawyer.

So, How’s the Experiment Going?
I can’t help but think that the reason why law departments are
succeeding in building trusted and collaborative ops teams
faster than law firms have is because lawyers were many, if not
most, of the original law department ops leaders. They recognized the skills they lacked and sought out people in the company (or elsewhere) from whom they could learn the business
practices their teams needed. And they came to respect those
skills when they saw not only how hard it is to apply them, but
also the kinds of terrific results they drive.
Those departments without a history of “homegrown,” incrementally developed ops teams made up of lawyers assigned to
perform the function — departments that are simply seeking to
wholesale hire some professionals (lawyers or business people)
to get a new function rolling — tend to have a harder time en-
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couraging their lawyers to collaborate with or give full authority to their ops teams to drive improved department business
practices. For many lawyers who’ve never worked collaboratively with any other professionals except other lawyers, it still
boils down to “lawyers versus non-lawyers”: not only do they
sport blinders to the value of what the ops team brings, but they
don’t trust that ops leaders will ever understand or have the
sophistication to operate in the legal domain. (As if law school
teaches lawyers the skills and competencies they deploy in their
practices every day — we all learn legal service as apprentices to
others with more experience.)
So perhaps forcing lawyers to learn these roles the hard way is
one of the few methods that reliably teaches lawyers to appreciate business, professional, and technical skills they traditionally never learned to respect or value in law firms. Maybe our
best course isn’t a course at all, but assignment to a committee
to develop a business project, or a forced apprenticeship to a
seasoned operations professional.
It’s really hard to “un-learn” the law firm culture of not valuing professional staff as partners in our practices, even for
in-house counsel who leave firms for businesses in which they
will no longer have the ability to hide behind the charade which
suggests that lawyers practice in a magical black box that mere
mortals could never understand. In companies, legal skills are
not dominant (lawyers are a teeny, tiny percentage of the workforce), and lawyers — even if liked — are often not valued much
personally (they’re seen as a necessary evil); business, technical,
and operational skills are not only the tools of the trade but the
coin of the realm. Such is often the rule of the majority.
Maybe it’s good for us all to take the occasion to step into the
shoes of our corporate client and think about what it is that we
do that does and does not align us well with their needs. The
ops skillset might look better and better as our futures come
into focus.

Conclusion
The future critical competencies for law firms and law departments serving corporate clients (and competing with the
growing array of alternative legal service providers and legal
process outsourcers) are changing. Why? Because today’s legal
marketplace for services is one wherein what clients want to
buy is more important than what lawyers want to sell. Thus,
the old truism has renewed meaning: corporate clients don’t
have legal problems, they have business problems. For lawyers
used to focusing on solving legal problems, there’s a growing
realization that solving business problems requires something
different than what their aging business model provides. What
is required are collaborative teams, built with a mix of talents
chosen for their ability to drive better client service and great
results (rather than just lots of “billable” legal activity).
While still not the norm, you’re most likely to find teams working to build a new client service model in law departments, where
new-law general counsel will tell you with pride: “I have a terrific
team of professionals working together to deliver the results our
company needs; some of them happen to be lawyers.”
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Targeting the right change
What is important to lawyers
is often different from
what is important to clients.

Examples of Better Business Practices:
(Think like a business person who happens to be a lawyer)

ØStaffing, competencies: who should do what work (based on risk/value,

training, cost, speed, accuracy, consistency)? which skills help better align us with
our client?

ØMeasurements: metrics that demonstrate productivity and progress to

business goals, performance evaluation to underscore team/worker accountability,
real-time reporting, transparency, predictable costs, definable outcomes

ØAssign value (as defined by the client) to prioritize workflows:
eliminate, automate, re-assign, track workflows, decide how to source low
priority/routinized work. Shift focus toward better balancing business risks rather
than managing liabilities.

ØClient service: perfect intake/triage (’demand’) systems; ask for feedback, listen
(don’t judge), be flexible, define expectations, be responsive, no surprises

Examples of Be-er Business Prac4ces:
(Think like a business person who happens to be a lawyer)

ØOutsourced Rela.onships (ﬁrms and ALSPs): ma-er-based

reten4on criteria, cost containment strategies, new staﬃng for “commodity”
work, new fee structures.

ØProject and process management: iden4fying workﬂow, aligning it

with staﬀ, budget, 4melines, deliverables; driving eﬃciency; elimina4ng waste.

ØSystems / tech that drive performance and data: use tech to

automate workﬂow, and drive small data that can measure lawyer eﬃciency,
results, consistency, costs: use big data to inform decisions beyond prac4ce
management: predic4ve analy4cs can help predict and address risks and prevent
or minimize failures/liabili4es.

Competencies required in order for inhouse lawyers to demonstrate
distinguishing value to corporate clients
Finance / Budgeting
Business / executive management
Fee valuation / Cost of service
Cross border service
Metrics, Measurement, KPIs
Advanced communications
Knowledge-based service delivery
Compliance systems

Project management
Process management / lean matter mgmt.
Staffing, workflow & people management
Data and information technology
Automation / Use of technology systems
Collaboration and teaming
Risk Assessment and Management
Leadership

Does your success depend on your size?

The SunTrust
Legal Ops Journey

Our Vision ….
Our Plan

How we staff our team
How we collaborate

(inside and outside the department)

How can an ops team help:
-adopt more predictable and
high-value pricing strategies?
- improve your
outsourcing/procurement
prac;ces?
- ﬁnd more meaningful ways
to price work and
demonstrate value?

How can your ops team help
you deploy data & tech?

How can your ops team:
- implement metrics?
- create evaluation practices
that measure performance
and productivity?
- assess workflow, client
satisfaction and service?

How can your ops team:
- deploy your team to its
highest use?
- improve workﬂow?
- implement process and
project management?

Susan Hackett, CEO
Legal Executive Leadership, LLC
+1.301.785.5534
hackett@lawexecs.com
@HackettInHouse

Beth Lehman, SVP, Legal OperaKons ExecuKve
SunTrust Banks
+1.404.813.2406
Beth.Lehman@SunTrust.com
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Beth Lehman is a Senior Vice President and Legal Operations Executive for SunTrust Bank. In this role,
Beth is responsible for the legal department operations including strategic planning, budget
administration, outside counsel administration, reporting, and policy and procedures.
Beth joined SunTrust in 2005 and has had various positions both in the business and in Human
Resources. She started her career in the Commercial Associate training program and spent time as a
Commercial Portfolio Specialist and a Corporate and Investment Banking Portfolio Management Analyst
underwriting and structuring loans and monitoring a portfolio of credit clients. She moved to HR for a
Talent Acquisition role and has spent time in several Centers of Expertise including Talent Acquisition,
Learning and Development, and supported multiple leaders as a HR Business Partner. Before joining the
legal team Beth was the HR Business Partner driving human capital strategic priorities and initiatives for
Corporate and Investment Banking.
Beth earned a Bachelor of Science degree in Management from Georgia Tech. She is based in Atlanta,
GA and lives in Marietta with her husband and two boys ages six and three.

Susan Hackett | CEO
hackett@lawexecs.com | +1.301.785.5534
5425 Wisconsin Avenue | Suite 600 | Chevy Chase, MD 20815 | USA

http://www.lawexecs.com

Susan Hackett, CEO
Susan Hackett is the CEO of Legal Executive Leadership, LLC, which she
founded in 2011 after serving for 22 years as the Senior Vice President and
General Counsel of the Association of Corporate Counsel in Washington, DC.
Susan specializes in helping law departments (and the law firms and other legal
service providers who support them) re-think and re-engineer the way they work.
She helps her clients leverage business, management, change, and technology
practices to both deliver measurable results, as well as rise to collaborate with
multidisciplinary teams to advance their companies’ strategic goals.
Her practice includes: strategic planning, establishing metrics and continuous
improvement processes, benchmarking leading knowledge practices, assessing
staffing options in-house and improving outside counsel value and pricing,
evaluating technology and data options, re-engineering legal operations and
service delivery, and more. In short, she helps corporate legal teams change:
creating a bridge from the way they used to work, to establishing the practices
that will help them succeed and drive distinguishing client value in the future.
Often referred to as “the voice of the in-house bar,” Susan is known for:
• hosting ACC’s first networks for CLOs and legal operations executives,
• creating and launching (2008) the ACC Value Challenge (to re-connect
value to the cost of legal services),
• researching and documenting “leading practice” standards for law
departments – on both substantive and department management topics,
• developing the first comprehensive resource libraries, educational
curriculum, and periodicals designed for in-house practitioners,
• advocacy leadership to protect legal professional privilege, promote inhouse ethics standards, and establish multi-jurisdictional and -disciplinary
practice reforms, and
• establishing CPBO – CorporateProBono.org with the Pro Bono Institute,
and ACC’s diversity initiatives (with bars of color, and with StreetLaw).
LinkedIn Profile: http://www.linkedin.com/in/SusanHackett
Twitter: @HackettInHouse and @LawExecs.

10:45 PRO BONO MATTERS: MAKING A STRATEGIC
		 DIFFERENCE IN THE HOUSING CRISIS
		 THROUGH DONATED LEGAL SKILLS
		Moderator: A. Michelle “Shelli” Willis
		Panelists:
		 Rachel E. Spears, Pro Bono Partnership
		 of Atlanta, Atlanta
		 Scott C. Oostdyk, McGuireWoods, Richmond, VA
		 Edward J. “Jack” Hardin, Rogers & Hardin,
		Atlanta

II.

Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism

The Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism were developed by the
Commission to encourage, guide and assist individual lawyers, law firms, and bar
associations. These documents have been widely distributed among the lawyers and judges of
Georgia through CLE programs and Commission events. A number of local bar association have
used these documents as the basis for bar pledges and creeds. Several law firms have
incorporated these documents into their firm mission statements. The Commission's hope is that
members of the profession will recognize the special obligations that attach to their calling and
will also recognize their responsibility to serve others and not be limited to the pursuit of selfinterest. The Creed and Aspirational Statement cannot be imposed by edict because moral
integrity and unselfish dedication to the welfare of others cannot be legislated. Nevertheless, a
public statement of principles of ethical and professional responsibility can provide guidance for
newcomers and a reminder for experienced members of the bar about the basic ethical and
professional tenets of their profession. The Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on
Professionalism were adopted by the Commission in 1990 and by Supreme Court order made a
part of the Rules and Regulations for the Organization and Government of the State Bar of
Georgia.
The Lawyer's Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism have been adopted by the
Chief Justice's Commission on Professionalism and incorporated into the Rules and Regulations
for the Organization and Government of the State Bar of Georgia. The purpose of the Lawyer's
Creed and Aspirational Statement on Professionalism is to serve as encouragement, guidance and
assistance to individual lawyers, law firms, and bar associations as they recognize the special
obligations that attach to their calling and their responsibility to serve others.
The Creed and Aspirational Statement cannot be imposed by edict because moral integrity and
unselfish dedication to the welfare of others cannot be legislated. Nevertheless, a public
statement of principles of professionalism can provide guidance for newcomers and a reminder
for experienced members of the bar about the basic tenets of our profession.
A LAWYER'S CREED
To my clients, I offer faithfulness, competence, diligence, and good judgment. I will strive to
represent you as I would want to be represented and to be worthy of your trust.
To the opposing parties and their counsel, I offer fairness, integrity, and civility. I will seek
reconciliation and, if we fail, I will strive to make our dispute a dignified one.
To the courts, and other tribunals, and to those who assist them, I offer respect, candor, and
courtesy. I will strive to do honor to the search for justice.
To my colleagues in the practice of law, I offer concern for your welfare. I will strive to make
our association a professional friendship.
To the profession, I offer assistance. I will strive to keep our business a profession and our
profession a calling in the spirit of public service.

To the public and our systems of justice, I offer service. I will strive to improve the law and
our legal system, to make the law and our legal system available to all, and to seek the common
good through the representation of my clients.
ASPIRATIONAL STATEMENT ON PROFESSIONALISM
The Court believes there are unfortunate trends of commercialization and loss of professional
community in the current practice of law. These trends are manifested in an undue emphasis on
the financial rewards of practice, a lack of courtesy and civility among members of our
profession, a lack of respect for the judiciary and for our systems of justice, and a lack of regard
for others and for the common good. As a community of professionals, we should strive to make
the internal rewards of service, craft, and character, and not the external reward of financial gain,
the primary rewards of the practice of law. In our practices we should remember that the
primary justification for who we are and what we do is the common good we can achieve
through the faithful representation of people who desire to resolve their disputes in a peaceful
manner and to prevent future disputes. We should remember, and we should help our clients
remember, that the way in which our clients resolve their disputes defines part of the character of
our society and we should act accordingly.
As professionals, we need aspirational ideals to help bind us together in a professional
community. Accordingly, the Court issues the following Aspirational Statement setting forth
general and specific aspirational ideals of our profession. This statement is a beginning list of
the ideals of our profession. It is primarily illustrative. Our purpose is not to regulate, and
certainly not to provide a basis for discipline, but rather to assist the Bar's efforts to maintain a
professionalism that can stand against the negative trends of commercialization and loss of
community. It is the Court's hope that Georgia's lawyers, judges, and legal educators will use the
following aspirational ideals to reexamine the justifications of the practice of law in our society
and to consider the implications of those justifications for their conduct. The Court feels that
enhancement of professionalism can be best brought about by the cooperative efforts of the
organized bar, the courts, and the law schools with each group working independently, but also
jointly in that effort.
General Aspirational Ideals
As a lawyer, I will aspire:
(a)

To put fidelity to clients and, through clients, to the common good, before selfish
interests.

(b)

To model for others, and particularly for my clients, the respect due to those we call upon
to resolve our disputes and the regard due to all participants in our dispute resolution
processes.

(c)

To avoid all forms of wrongful discrimination in all of my activities including
discrimination on the basis of race, religion, sex, age, handicap, veteran status, or national
origin. The social goals of equality and fairness will be personal goals for me.

(d)

To preserve and improve the law, the legal system, and other dispute resolution processes
as instruments for the common good.

(e)

To make the law, the legal system, and other dispute resolution processes available to all.

(f)

To practice with a personal commitment to the rules governing our profession and to
encourage others to do the same.

(g)

To preserve the dignity and the integrity of our profession by my conduct. The dignity
and the integrity of our profession is an inheritance that must be maintained by each
successive generation of lawyers.

(h)

To achieve the excellence of our craft, especially those that permit me to be the moral
voice of clients to the public in advocacy while being the moral voice of the public to
clients in counseling. Good lawyering should be a moral achievement for both the
lawyer and the client.

(i)

To practice law not as a business, but as a calling in the spirit of public service.

Specific Aspirational Ideals
As to clients, I will aspire:
(a)

To expeditious and economical achievement of all client objectives.

(b)

To fully informed client decision-making. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(c)

To fair and equitable fee agreements. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(d)

Counsel clients about all forms of dispute resolution;
Counsel clients about the value of cooperation as a means towards the productive
resolution of disputes;
Maintain the sympathetic detachment that permits objective and independent
advice to clients;
Communicate promptly and clearly with clients; and,
Reach clear agreements with clients concerning the nature of the representation.

Discuss alternative methods of charging fees with all clients;
Offer fee arrangements that reflect the true value of the services rendered;
Reach agreements with clients as early in the relationship as possible;
Determine the amount of fees by consideration of many factors and not just time
spent by the attorney;
Provide written agreements as to all fee arrangements; and
Resolve all fee disputes through the arbitration methods provided by the State Bar
of Georgia.

To comply with the obligations of confidentiality and the avoidance of conflicting

loyalties in a manner designed to achieve the fidelity to clients that is the purpose of these
obligations.
As to opposing parties and their counsel, I will aspire:
(a)

To cooperate with opposing counsel in a manner consistent with the competent
representation of all parties. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)

(b)

Notify opposing counsel in a timely fashion of any cancelled appearance;
Grant reasonable requests for extensions or scheduling changes; and,
Consult with opposing counsel in the scheduling of appearances, meetings, and
depositions.

To treat opposing counsel in a manner consistent with his or her professional obligations
and consistent with the dignity of the search for justice. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Not serve motions or pleadings in such a manner or at such a time as to preclude
opportunity for a competent response;
Be courteous and civil in all communications;
Respond promptly to all requests by opposing counsel;
Avoid rudeness and other acts of disrespect in all meetings including depositions
and negotiations;
Prepare documents that accurately reflect the agreement of all parties; and
Clearly identify all changes made in documents submitted by opposing counsel
for review.

As to the courts, other tribunals, and to those who assist them, I will aspire:
(a)

To represent my clients in a manner consistent with the proper functioning of a fair,
efficient, and humane system of justice. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

(b)

Avoid non-essential litigation and non-essential pleading in litigation;
Explore the possibilities of settlement of all litigated matters;
Seek non-coerced agreement between the parties on procedural and discovery
matters;
Avoid all delays not dictated by a competent presentation of a client's claims;
Prevent misuses of court time by verifying the availability of key participants for
scheduled appearances before the court and by being punctual; and
Advise clients about the obligations of civility, courtesy, fairness, cooperation,
and other proper behavior expected of those who use our systems of justice.

To model for others the respect due to our courts. As a professional I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Act with complete honesty;
Know court rules and procedures;
Give appropriate deference to court rulings;
Avoid undue familiarity with members of the judiciary;
Avoid unfounded, unsubstantiated, or unjustified public criticism of members of

(6)
(7)
(8)

the judiciary;
Show respect by attire and demeanor;
Assist the judiciary in determining the applicable law; and,
Seek to understand the judiciary's obligations of informed and impartial decisionmaking.

As to my colleagues in the practice of law, I will aspire:
(a)

To recognize and to develop our interdependence;

(b)

To respect the needs of others, especially the need to develop as a whole person; and,

(c)

To assist my colleagues become better people in the practice of law and to accept their
assistance offered to me.

As to our profession, I will aspire:
(a)

To improve the practice of law. As a professional, I should:
(1)
(2)
(3)

(b)

Assist in continuing legal education efforts;
Assist in organized bar activities; and,
Assist law schools in the education of our future lawyers.

To protect the public from incompetent or other wrongful lawyering. As a professional, I
should:
(1)
(2)
(3)

Assist in bar admissions activities;
Report violations of ethical regulations by fellow lawyers; and,
Assist in the enforcement of the legal and ethical standards imposed upon all
lawyers.

As to the public and our systems of justice, I will aspire:
(a)

To counsel clients about the moral and social consequences of their conduct.

(b)

To consider the effect of my conduct on the image of our systems of justice including the
social effect of advertising methods. As a professional, I should ensure that any
advertisement of my services:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

(c)

is consistent with the dignity of the justice system and a learned profession;
provides a beneficial service to the public by providing accurate information
about the availability of legal services;
educates the public about the law and legal system;
provides completely honest and straightforward information about my
qualifications, fees, and costs; and
does not imply that clients' legal needs can be met only through aggressive tactics.

To provide the pro bono representation that is necessary to make our system of justice
available to all.

(d)

To support organizations that provide pro bono representation to indigent clients.

(e)

To improve our laws and legal system by, for example:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Serving as a public official;
Assisting in the education of the public concerning our laws and legal system;
Commenting publicly upon our laws; and,
Using other appropriate methods of effecting positive change in our laws and
legal system.

Scott C. Oostdyk
PARTNER - Admitted in Pennsylvania ; Admitted in Virginia

RICHMOND

T +1 804 775 4743

F +1 804 698 2133

Gateway Plaza
800 East Canal Street
Richmond, VA 23219-3916

soostdyk@mcguirewoods.com
Scott has represented businesses and corporations in contract, insurance, products and technology disputes, land use
issues and a variety of pollution problems including air, water and hazardous substance cases. He counsels clients on
litigation avoidance planning.
He has challenged federal agency rules before the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals, and defended environmental class
actions. He is one of the leading experts on loss portfolio transfers in the insurance industry, and represents policyholders
faced with no-pay, slow-pay or excess exposure claims.
He also practices general commercial litigation, having tried numerous cases to verdict, and argued numerous appeals. He
has represented local governments in general litigation matters and has extensive experience with railroad and
transportation litigation. He is a graduate of Princeton University and the University of Virginia School of Law. He served
former Virginia Governor George Allen as Virginia's deputy secretary of Health and Human Resources, where he managed
12 health, social service and environmental agencies with a combined $4 billion in budget.
Scott is an inaugural member of the Supreme Court of Virginia’s Access to Justice Commission, and serves as
McGuireWoods’ Global Partner in Charge of Pro bono. He is the past president of the Greater Richmond Bar Foundation,
and a leader in Firm’s in Service – Richmond.

The McGuireWoods website provides information of general interest to the public. The website does not offer legal advice about specific situations or problems. You should consult a McGuireWoods lawyer
if you have legal issues requiring attention. Nothing on this site creates an express or implied contract. McGuireWoods does not intend to create an attorney-client relationship by inviting you to contact us.
Unless and until we and you agree that we will represent you, we will not have any duties to you, including any duty to keep what you send us confidential or any duty to protect your interests. This
means that nothing you send us will be kept confidential, unless we mutually agree that we will keep it confidential. Past legal successes described on this website are not indicators of future results. The
outcome of particular legal matters is dependent upon the facts and lawapplicable to the matters.

Suite 2300
999 Peachtree Street, N.E.
Atlanta, Georgia 30309
(404) 407-5088
(404) 853-8806 (fax)
http://www.pbpatl.org/

Biography of Rachel Epps Spears
Rachel Epps Spears serves as Executive Director of Pro Bono Partnership of
Atlanta, an organization that provides free legal assistance to nonprofits that serve lowincome individuals and that cannot afford a lawyer. Pro Bono Partnership of Atlanta
matches eligible nonprofits with volunteer attorneys who can help address the organization’s
legal needs. Since taking on its first client in September 2005, Pro Bono Partnership of
Atlanta has matched over 850 nonprofit clients with over 3000 attorney volunteers.
Rachel is a former board member of the Atlanta Bar Association, former chair of the
State Bar of Georgia Nonprofit Law Section, and a member of the Atlanta Bar Public Interest
Executive Roundtable. She has been recognized as one of Georgia Trend Magazine’s
Legal Elite and the Daily Report’s On the Rise attorneys. She has received the “EPIC
Inspiration Award: Unsung Devotion to Those Most in Need” awarded by Emory University
School of Law and the “Rita A. Sheffey Public Interest Award” presented by the Atlanta Bar
Association. Rachel was recognized as one of Atlanta Magazine’s Women Making a Mark
in 2015.
Rachel frequently speaks on the topic of pro bono for transactional attorneys and has
participated in panels at the American Bar Association Equal Justice Conference, Georgia
State University College of Law, Emory University and the Chief Justice’s Commission on
Civil Justice. She has also spoken on legal topics of interest to nonprofits at conferences for
the Georgia Center for Nonprofits, Georgia Family Connection, the Boys & Girls Clubs and
CAPLAW.
Prior to joining the Partnership, Rachel was an associate at King & Spalding in
Atlanta, Georgia. For over seven years, Rachel worked in the public finance department,
serving as bond counsel on tax-exempt bond financings issued by governments or for the
benefit of nonprofit corporations including hospitals, secondary schools and universities.
While in private practice, Rachel first became active in pro bono work by
representing grandparents seeking to adopt the grandchildren in their care through the
Grandparent/Relative Caregiver Project of the Atlanta Legal Aid Society. She also
participated in several pro bono projects for the Atlanta Commission on Homelessness.
An Atlanta native, Rachel graduated from Davidson College in 1993 with a degree in
Political Science and received her J.D. from the University of Virginia School of Law in 1997.
Prior to attending law school, Rachel worked in the offices of U.S. Congressman John Lewis
and of then U.S. Congressman Don Johnson in Washington, D.C.

12:00 LUNCH (Included in registration fee.)
		 PUBLIC STATEMENTS IN THE AGE OF
		SOCIAL MEDIA
		Aaron Walker, Senior Vice President of Digital
		 Crisis, Edelman, Oakton, VA
		Katie Clark, Senior Vice President, Crisis and 		
		 Reputation Risk, Edelman, Atlanta

UNDERSTANDING
THE IMPACT OF DIGITAL
PLATFORMS ON
LITIGATION
COMMUNICATIONS

Aaron Walker, Sr. Vice President and Global lead for Digital Crisis
Edelman Washington, D.C.

THE IMPACT OF SOCIAL MEDIA
ON TRADITIONAL CRISES
We have seen countless instances where
something that is considered a “traditional
crises” has been hijacked by social media
- and then driven into the stratosphere
of a viral social media event.

INGREDIENTS
FOR LITIGATION
TO GO VIRAL
1.

An emotional quotient

2.

Empathy and relatable to readers

3.

Visual

4.

Easy to share

SOCIAL MEDIA
CHALLENGES FOR
LITIGATORS
• You are the protectors of truth – perhaps
more than anyone you understand that
words matter
• Grasping the realities of social media
environment can be difficult
• The PhD becomes ADD
• Truth cannot be negotiated
• “Winning” cannot be the goal
This becomes our challenge as a collective
partnership

HOW HAS THE
ENVIRONMENT
CHANGED?
• More apps with less visibility –
WhatsApp, Weibo and even Instagram
and Facebook
• Activist escalations have become far
more effective
• Organizations/companies are required to
move quicker
• Social environment – more polarizing
than ever

KEY TAKEAWAYS
• The communications effort must be a
partnership. Counsel has to be attached
to the digital team – and understand the
difference between platforms
• Approved language needs ﬂexibility
• Monitoring needs to be strategic and not
wholesale – what are you speciﬁcally
trying to understand or responsible for?
• The digital record is pervasive. You
must vet.
• Social media can be a testing ground for
trial messaging

CASE
STUDIES

UNDER ARMOUR
“I agree with the description if you remove
the ‘et.” – Steph Curry
“His words were divisive and lacking in
perspec@ves.” – Dwayne “The Rock” Johnson
"As someone who takes my responsibility as
a role model very seriously, it is important to
me that he, and UA, take public ac@on to
clearly communicate and reﬂect our
common values in order for us to eﬀec@vely
con@nue to work towards our shared goal of
trying to mo@vate ALL people to be their best
selves.” Misty Copeland
Susquehanna analyst Sam Poser downgrades
UA stock almost 50%...
Implying the cost of Plank’s comments to be
roughly $4.5 billion.

UNDER ARMOUR

UNITED AIRLINES – LEGGINGS

UNITED AIRLINES – LEGGINGS
“We could have stopped to immediately ask the right ques7ons,” said
United’s Spokesman. “We are always engaging with our customers as
quickly as possible. Now we are going back. All day we’ve been going
back since that earlier tweet. Now we’re going back and telling
people what is actually going on.”
- New York Times

New York Times March 26, 2017

Apr. 9

UNITED AIRLINES – DR. DAO

7:30 p.m. First video posted on Twitter
7:37 United social media team responds to
initial and subsequent tweets
8:21 Second video with Dr. Dao running down
aisle
10:00 Passengers land, immediately begin
Tweets, local media picks up

Apr. 10

12:05 a.m. statement to Courier Journal
“Refused to leave aircraft voluntarily”
6:00 United begins Tweeting pieces of
statement
8:00 Trolling starts
12:00 p.m. Memes start, including celebrities
12:27 Statement by CEO Oscar Munoz
“I apologize for having to re-accomodate
4:20 Parody TwiKer handle, Google Trend,
increased news coverage
7:30 United email to employees is leaked,
places blame on Dr. Dao
11:30 Jimmy Kimmel

Apr. 11

9:00 a.m. Market opens, $1B loss overnight
3:10 p.m. Updated statement
“I’m sorry. We’ll fix this.”

UNITED SOCIAL RESPONSE

UNITED DISPLAY ADS

UNITED DISPLAY ADS

UNITED ANIMATED SOCIAL MEDIA

Aaron Walker

SENIOR VICE PRESIDENT, DIGITAL CRISIS
As Senior Vice President and leader of Digital Crisis in Edelman’s Crisis and Issues practice, Aaron
Walker serves as a counselor providing guidance to leaders throughout a broad array of global
industries. Aaron’s expertise is the intersection of crisis and digital environments, creating widereaching strategies to address issues spanning from online reputational attacks to data security and
privacy (DSP) issues. In this role, Aaron has counseled some of the firms largest clients on
cybersecurity crises.
Prior to Edelman, he served as a Vice President at Dezenhall Resources, a high-stakes crisis
communications firm located in Washington, D.C., where he offered counsel on media relations, as
well as directed work in public affairs, strategy and issues management, and media training.
Before joining Dezenhall, Aaron was a Senior Manager with R3 Consulting. In his role with R3, Aaron served as the senior
communications and public affairs counselor to the Undersecretary of Management (USM) of the U.S. Department of Homeland
Security, providing communications counsel to the highest levels of DHS leadership.
Aaron worked as the Director of Public Affairs for The Summit Group, Utah's largest PR and advertising agency, before joining R3.
While there, he managed the digital public affairs and crisis activities for a number of industry leaders such as Wal-Mart, GM, and
Exxon. Aaron also organized and oversaw a large group of public affairs operatives throughout Utah, Arizona, Idaho, Wyoming and
Nevada to orchestrate grassroots campaigns for complex legislative issues.
Prior to The Summit Group, Aaron was the press secretary and national spokesman for the Federal Emergency Management Agency
(FEMA). His mandate was to assist in rehabilitating the image of FEMA post Hurricane Katrina while serving as a senior counselor to
the FEMA Administrator. In this position, he worked closely with White House press secretaries Tony Snow and Dana Perino to
communicate the Bush Administration's messaging related to disaster recovery.

KATIE CLARK

Senior Vice President, Crisis & Reputation Risk – Atlanta
For more than 20 years, Katie Clark has been helping clients protect and promote their brands in sectors
including consumer packaged goods (CPG), foodservice, retail, transportation and natural resources. She
has significant experience counseling clients on crisis preparedness, issues management, crisis response
and reputation recovery and leads the Crisis & Reputation Risk practice in Atlanta. She also serves as a
member of Edelman’s global crisis network and supports the firm’s Data Security and Privacy Group.
Katie’s crisis response and management experience is extensive. She has counseled organizations on a
number of high-profile issues and crises as well as high-risk operational incidents; and her crisis and risk
expertise spans a variety of sectors, issues, crises and special situations. She has deep experience
helping organizations and brands protect their operations and reputation.

KATIE CLARK

Her diverse background in communications gives her unique insight into a variety of issues related to
litigation, corporate malfeasance, data security & privacy (cyber incidents), corporate transactions, health
and safety, restructuring (layoffs, plant closures, openings), labor and employment, activism, regulatory
investigations, and product quality (recalls, strategic sourcing issues). She has helped businesses prepare
for and respond to a number of high-profile events and incidents including large-scale data breaches by
retail and financial services companies; public and social media backlash to a ground stop that stranded
planes and passengers at an international airport, the relocation of a North American manufacturing plant
for a leading global CPG company; several restructuring announcements and plant closures in Italy and
Germany for a global plastics manufacturer; the high profile departure of a corporate executive following
allegations of sexual harassment; a foodservice company’s global PR response to a tainted meat supply
issue in China; as well as many other difficult situations.

Senior Vice President, Crisis & Reputation Risk – Atlanta
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Where Are We?

In the Media

The New York Times
“The Silence Breakers’
Named Time’s Person of the
Years for 2017”
By Jonah Bromwich, December 6, 2017

3

#MeToo

#MeToo: Fear vs. Reality
FEARS
• Huge upswing in sexual
harassment claims
• Men will be indiscriminately fired
for accusation
• Backlash against women
• Men will limit or eliminate
situations where they are alone
with women colleagues
• Note that this is far more likely
to result in more retaliation
claims than less sexual
harassment claims

REALITY
• In 2018, EEOC charges increased
from the prior year for the first
time in 8 years.
• High profile cases often have
larger PR and media implications
then legal exposure
• Men will be more thoughtful about
the way in which they interact with
women
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#MeToo – Reputational Concerns for Employers
• Power of social media
• Accusations against high profile and/or senior
executives
• Blurring allegations of mild, isolated incidents with the
most egregious of sexual assault claims
• Closer examination of company gender statistics,
including roles of women in leadership and overall
compensation comparison among men and women
• Press releases by companies and senior leaders
implicated in allegations – They WILL be critiqued
• Examination of company’s support (or non-support) of
new legislation to address sexual harassment
6

Recent Corporate Developments – Crisis Communications
» Intel
˗

CEO terminated for consensual relationship

» Papa Johns
˗

Chairman forced to resign for inappropriate comments

» Miramax
˗

Two executives accused of sexual misconduct and harassment

˗

Company filing for bankruptcy

» Wynn Resorts
˗

Chairperson and CEO resigns over allegations of sexual misconduct

˗

Behaviors go back many years

˗

Equity value significantly impacted – share price drops nearly 17%

˗

Avalanche of negative publicity

» Nike
˗

Senior executive resigns over alleged sexual misconduct

˗

Company braced for economic impact
7

Key Distinction: Law vs. Culture
• The law is the floor, the minimum employers must do
to maintain a discrimination-free workplace
• “Title VII is not general civility code” – this remains
legally accurate
• Employers’ internal policies often go beyond the
minimal requirements under the law – these are
statements of the company culture and values
• Unless cultural values are codified in an enforceable
contract, adherence to a value system is a matter of
company, not legal, enforcement
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What Must Employers Do?
• Continue best practices of legal compliance
• Ensure policies are comprehensive, well
communicated and implemented
• Anti-harassment policy
• Reporting procedures accessible and known
• Train everyone on reporting process – everyone is a
stakeholder in making the workplace and good
environment (bystanders)
• Investigation procedures robust and appropriate
• Investigation well trained and through
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What Can Employers Do?
• Promote a respectful working environment with
leadership and accountability from the top
• Leadership: A commitment from the top down, to a
diverse, inclusive, and respectful workplace
• Accountability: Established systems in place at all
levels that hold employees accountable to this
commitment
• Train management team to recognize and address
inappropriate conduct
• Proactively audit internal complaints – whether
articulated as harassment or otherwise – and identify
areas of concern on an organizational as well as
individual level
10

Back to the Basics: What is Sexual
Harassment?

The Law: Two Types of Harassment
Hostile Work Environment harassment – Severe or
pervasive unwelcome conduct that creates a hostile or
offensive
Quid Pro Quo harassment – Where an employee’s
subjection to sexual or other unlawful or other unlawful
conduct is linked to the granting or denial of job
benefits, such as getting or retaining a job, or receiving
a favorable performance review or promotion.
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Principles of Liability
• Employer can be held strictly liable for harassment by
a supervisor
• For harassment by non-supervisor, the employer is
liable of it knows of conduct and fails to act
• Individuals engaging in harassment can be
individually liable
• Two pronged affirmative defense:
o The employer exercised reasonable care to prevent or
promptly remedy the harassing behavior; and
o The employee alleging harassment unreasonably failed
to take advantage of preventative or corrective remedies
provided by the employer
13

Examples of Improper Conduct
• Unwelcome
sexual/romantic advances
• Offensive or harassing
emails
• Repeating unwelcome
social invitations
• Offensive comments of a
sexual nature
• Insensitive or sexuallytinged jokes
• Epithets; threats
• Insults; names calling
• Negative stereotyping

• Unwelcome intentional
physical contact
• Offensive or suggestive
gestures or body
movements
• Display or showing of
sexually explicit or
derogatory pictures or
other graphic materials
• Approaching or following
a person aggressively or
blocking the way
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Where Does Sexual Harassment Occur?
•
•
•
•
•
•

The office
Client or customer sites
Traveling on business
Online – Text messages and e-mails
Social events – on or off premises
Alcohol/intoxicating substances – be vigilant!

15

It is 2018: Why Does Sexual Harassment Still
Occur?

Assessing the Environment in the Workplace
Percentage of those who
reported the sexual
harassment incident
Did
Report
28%

Did Not
Report
72%

Percentage of those who
confronted the person
responsible for harassment

Did
Confront
46%

Did Not
Confront
54%

This survey was conducted online within the U.S. by The Harris Poll on behalf of CareerBuilder amount 809 employees ages 18 and over (employed full-time,
non-government) between November 28 and December 20,2017. With a pure probability sample of 809, one could say with 95 percent probability that the
overall results have a sampling error of +/- 3.45 percentage points
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Why Employees Have Not Historically Reported
Sexual Harassment

Other
20%
Fear of Being
Labeled a
Troublemaker
40%

Fear of Losing
Job
18%
My Word
Against My
Harasser's
22%

This survey was conducted online within the U.S. by The Harris Poll on behalf of CareerBuilder amount 809 employees ages 18 and over (employed full-time,
non-government) between November 28 and December 20,2017. With a pure probability sample of 809, one could say with 95 percent probability that the
overall results have a sampling error of +/- 3.45 percentage points
18

The Realities
• Embedded and shifting cultural norms – Companies
are microcosms of the larger society
• Microaggressions: Offensive verbal and non-verbal
conduct where most often the speaker/doer is
unaware of the offense or why it is offensive
• Using male pronouns as a default, particularly when
describing leaders and decision makers
• Conversely, using female pronouns as a default to
describe roles traditionally inhabited by women such
as secretarial tasks or caretaking

19

The Realities
• Failure to foster a respectful work environment at all
levels from senior leadership through middle
management down to entry level workers
• Harassment is about power – not necessarily sex
• As often as not, harassing conduct is borne out if
the harasser’s failure o recognize the power
dynamics that transform his/her otherwise banal
conduct into coercive and abusive conduct
• Consensual workplace romances – they tend to create
drama and conflict, but rarely litigation

20

Fostering a Safe and Respectful Workplace
• Establish workplace civility training focused on promoting
respect in the workplace
o Communicate expected workplace norms, not merely
focusing on what to avoid but also outlining the type of
workplace behavior that reflects the company's culture
and values
o Focus on developing employee skills to foster such
behavior, including interpersonal skills training, conflict
resolution training, and training on effective supervisory
techniques
• Focus on employees at all levels
• Conduct regular trainings as an integrated part of an
employee's ongoing overall development at the company
(not merely a one-time, check-off-the-box)
21

What Should Employers Do About Sexual
Harassment Claims?

22

Overcorrection Legal Risks
• Failure to investigate promptly, thoroughly and completely
does not solve the problem
• Employers would/should never immediately dismiss a
complaint of harassment without a proper investigation;
the same wisdom applies in the opposite direction
• U.S. Supreme Court requires employers to investigate
promptly and take appropriate remedial action
• Potential actions by the accused:
• Wrongful termination
• Defamation/false light
• Discrimination claims
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Review Your Anti-Harassment Policy
• Simple and clear language
• Clear explanation of prohibited conduct, including
examples
• Outline 24/7 complaint process
• Protection against retaliation for employees who make
complaints or participate in the investigation
• Avoid a "zero tolerance" policy as this may communicate a
one-size-fits-all approach instead of recognizing that there
are varying levels of harassment (i.e., sexual assault vs.
telling a sexist joke)
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Address Problems Whether They Implicate Liability or Not
• Keep the distinction between legal harassment and other
kinds of workplace conflict clear
• Regardless of legal liability, workplace conflict between
employees lowers productivity, stability, profitability, and
can itself increase the risk of future litigation if situations
recur or escalate
• Anti-discrimination laws are the government's attempt to
make workplaces better – employers are told to "weed out“
discrimination, not merely try to fend off claims
• Focus on the "remedial" aspect of anti-discrimination laws
– the goal is make the workplace better, not punish people,
unless the punishment itself effectuates a positive change
in the culture
25

Train All Employees On The Policy And Complaint Process
• All employees, at every level, need training to ensure they
know the company's complaint procedure and that there
will be no repercussions for using it
• Supervisory employees need separate training to
understand their role in reporting conduct as well as
receiving complaints
• Encourage bystander reporting by all employees – recall
the reasons that keep many victims of harassment from
coming forward
• Encourage discussions about how to handle workplace
conflict especially when there is no active conflict – the
stakes are lower and people are less resistant

26

The Internal Investigation – Initial Thoughts
» Companies have legal obligations to investigate
alleged misconduct
˗ Several laws impose investigation or disclosure
requirements
» Officers and directors also have duties of loyalty and
reasonable care in overseeing operations
» Compliance department, human resources, inside
counsel, or outside counsel
» Separation of business and legal roles
» Anticipate problems early and often

27

Defining the Scope of the Internal Investigation
» “One size does not fit all:” The initial assessment regarding
the scope of the investigation is always case-by-case
» Factors to consider in defining the scope:
˗ How did problem surface and who was involved in reporting?
˗ Broad enough to determine whether misconduct occurred?
˗ Broad enough to uncover evidence that might help the
company in responding to government investigators?
˗ Broad enough to permit remedial action?
˗ If results might be disclosed, broad enough to satisfy
government investigators?
˗ Expense and disruption caused by investigation
˗ Need for speed
˗ Need to maintain confidentiality
28

Defining the Scope of the Internal Investigation
» Develop an Action Plan after defining the scope
˗ Clear charter outlining the mandate of the investigation
˗ Draft broadly enough to cover all conceivable litigation
˗ Clearly define the client
˗ Describe documents to be gathered
˗ Identify witnesses to be interviewed
» Action Plan will often evolve during the investigation
» Scope of the investigation should be constantly reevaluated
as information is gathered and analyzed
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Preservation of Evidence and Document Holds
» Control the document gathering process
− Have a written plan in place before the
subpoena/lawsuit/investigation
− Instructions should be issued from a single source
− Counsel controls the process
˗ Advantages of in-house vs. outside counsel
− Suspend normal document retention policies
− Preliminary inquiry - Key players and sources of
information
− Document steps taken in responding
− Define the scope of the investigation
30

First Steps
» Review/analyze internal complaint:
˗ When and how was report received?
˗ What are the issues?
» Determine areas of potential risk and statutory or regulatory
obligations
» Determine who should conduct the investigation and logistics for
conducting the investigation
» Develop “cast of characters”
˗ Organization chart
˗ “Chain of command” and internal reporting responsibilities
» Following issuance of document preservation hold: collect and
organize documents; preliminary determination of privilege
issues
» Review of applicable internal policies and procedures
31

Witness and Employee Interviews
•

Employee Warnings
− Minimize the risk of misunderstandings by warning employees
− Counsel represents the company and not the individual
˗ Attorney-client privilege extends to employees necessarily
consulted
− The corporation may chose to waive the privilege
˗ Corporate counsel does not represent officers, directors,
employees
˗ Attorney-client relationship may develop with employees
˗ Conflicts of interest may arise if multiple attorney-client
relationships develop
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Witness and Employee Interviews
» Employees should be advised of the right to seek separate counsel
» Corporate Miranda Warnings – “Upjohn warnings”
˗ The Company retains the right to waive the privilege. Assuming
the proper "Upjohn" warnings are in place, there is no attorneyclient relationship between you and the individual employees.
˗ Potential consequences of creating an attorney-client
relationship with the employees – disqualification of the law firm
and, possibly, the entire legal department of the company.
˗ Clear and unambiguous
˗ Record made of the disclosure
» Attorney work product
˗ Attorney impressions are protected
˗ Content of witness statements may not be protected
33

Attorney-Client Privilege vs. Work Product Protection
Attorney/Client Privilege is . . .
» Broader than work product in the sense that it covers
communications, not just documents and tangible things
» More narrow than work product in that it applies only to
communications between an attorney and a client, and
does not extend to memoranda prepared by counsel or
consultants (except to the extent that those materials
describe privileged communications)
» Stronger than work product because no there is no
exception for substantial need and undue hardship of the
other party
» Waived when disclosures are made to third parties outside
the representation, where as that is not necessarily true for
work product (depending on whether the receiving party is
adverse to the disclosing party)
34

What to do With the Investigation Results
Memorialize the findings
˗ The company may choose to disclose the results
˗ Consider separate witness statements and impressions
˗ Obligation to report certain criminal activity
» Reporting the results
˗ Attorney-client privilege extends to necessary personnel
»Whether to make voluntary disclosure to regulators?

35

Appropriate Remedial Action
Goals:
• Discipline the accused
where warranted with an
emphasis on proportionality
• Assure future compliance
• Inform the complainant of
the results of the
investigation
• Make things right for
complainant where
necessary

Range of possibilities alone or
in combination:
• Counseling
• Written warning
• Training
• Disciplinary suspension
• Termination
• No retaliation

36

Current Legal Developments and Trends
Stemming From #MeToo

37

The Weinstein Rule and Weinstein Clauses
» Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the "Act")
˗

SEC. 13307. DENIAL OF DEDUCTION FOR SETTLEMENTS SUBJECT TO
NONDISCLOSURE AGREEMENTS PAID IN CONNECTION WITH SEXUAL
HARASSMENT OR SEXUAL ABUSE.

˗

(a) DENIAL OF DEDUCTION.-Section 162 is amended by redesignating
subsection (q) as subsection (r) and by inserting after subsection (p) the
following new subsection:
•

(q) PAYMENTS RELATED TO SEXUAL HARASSMENT AND SEXUAL
ABUSE.-No deduction shall be allowed under this chapter for§ (1) any settlement or payment related to sexual harassment or sexual
abuse if such settlement or payment is subject to a nondisclosure
agreement, or
§ (2) attorney's fees related to such a settlement or payment.

» Contract provisions to protect buyers from past scandals involving senior
executives at acquisition targets
» Right to claw back portion of purchase price in acquisition if past scandal harms
company’s reputation

38

Arbitration and Confidentiality Limitations?
• New York, California, Maryland, Arizona, Vermont, and
Washington have enacted legislation to limit the use of
nondisclosure provisions in employment contracts and
settlement agreements
• Such nondisclosure provisions have been introduced in
Pennsylvania and New Jersey
• New York, Maryland, Vermont, and Washington have
passed legislation to curb the use of mandatory arbitration
provisions in employment contracts and settlement
agreements (which may be preempted by the Supreme
Court’s recent Epic Systems decision)
• The attorneys general of all 50 states sent a letter to
Congressional leadership requesting legislative action to
end mandatory arbitration of sexual harassment claims
39

Board Governance & Obligations to Shareholders
• Strategic focus on the corporate culture; starts at the top
• Public companies have an obligation to disclose harassment claims
to shareholders in certain instances
• Potential direct stock price implications
• Shareholder derivative lawsuits and potential liability to shareholders
o 21st Century Fox Inc. reached a $90 million settlement of
shareholder claims against Fox officers and directors arising from
the sexual harassment scandal at its Fox News Channel. Monroe
Employees' Retirement System v. Murdoch et al., Case No. 20170833 (Del. Chane. Ct. 2017)
o Wynn Resorts board sued for failing to investigate chief executive.
Norfolk County Retirement System v. Wynn, et al., Case No. A18-769062-B (Nev. Dist. Ct. Feb. 1 2018)
• Director independence and BOD membership
• Note that various D&O and EPLI insurers may begin excluding
certain harassment-related liability from their policies
40

Discussion Hypothetical #1
» You are counsel to a company that owns and operates hotel properties.
A corporate employee reports that a hotel security guard was spying on
her through an open door in the spa locker room. There were no other
witnesses and no videotape footage to review. The allegations are
investigated and the guard reports that he was present, but he
announced himself first pursuant to hotel policy and was just shutting the
door as part of his security duties. The employee indicates that she is
going to go to the media and will post it all over her Facebook page if
something isn’t done immediately.
» In reviewing the guard’s personnel file, there is a complaint from a few
years ago involving a female guest who was drunk and forcibly removed
from the lobby. She complained that the guard grabbed her and caused
her to have a “wardrobe malfunction”. The investigation was
inconclusive. This same security guard recently complained to HR that
he felt discriminated against because of his gender. The company
decides to terminate the guard and enter into a severance agreement
that includes a release of all claims and confidentiality provision.
41

Discussion Hypothetical #1
» Does the employee’s threat of going to the media impact
your decision on how to handle the situation?
» Do these facts implicate a prohibition on entering into a
settlement agreement containing a confidentiality clause?
» What if the guard then posts negative comments about
management to his social media account that he was the
subject of discrimination? Would you try and enforce the
confidentiality provision?
» What if the guest requests information in order to bring a
claim or charge against the guard personally?
» What if the guard is an applicant at another spa hotel?

42

Questions & Answers
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#MeToo in the Law Firm: Lessons for lawyers from the post-Weinstein
reckoning
Posted February 27, 2018
By Chuck Lundberg
Since last fall, when a spate of stories about the disgraced movie producer Harvey Weinstein
spawned the #MeToo movement, countless women have come forward to tell their own,
frequently long suppressed, stories of sexual harassment in the workplace. There is every reason
to believe that the legal profession has more than its share of stories, some of which may yet be
told. This article examines the sea change in workplace values currently taking hold and offers
advice for law firms seeking to curb harassment and to deal with it when it arises.
The Reckoning began last fall, sparked by some remarkable investigative journalism: On
October 5, the New York Times published an article titled “Harvey Weinstein Paid Off Sexual
Harassment Accusers for Decades.”1 A few days later, the first New Yorker story by Ronan
Farrow appeared: “From Aggressive Overtures to Sexual Assault: Harvey Weinstein’s Accusers
Tell Their Stories.”2
Of course, we did not then know that a reckoning had begun. That is the nature of reckonings,
and of cataclysmic social uprisings generally: You never realize they are a Thing, let alone
recognize their potential scope and ramifications, until sometime later.
It escalated quickly. On October 15, actress Alyssa Milano started #MeToo on Twitter,
encouraging the use of the phrase as part of an awareness campaign: “If all the women who have
been sexually harassed or assaulted wrote ‘Me too’ as a status, we might give people a sense of
the magnitude of the problem.”
To say it went viral would be a gross understatement. Scores of entertainment celebrities
responded immediately, telling their own personal stories of harassment.3 By Twitter’s count,
more than 500,000 #MeToo tweets were published by the following afternoon.4 During the first
24 hours, the hashtag was used by more than 4.7 million people in 12 million posts on Facebook.
By early November it had become clear that something extraordinary was happening. Powerful,
famous men from all walks of life were joining Weinstein as accused sexual harassers, disgraced
in a moment and then summarily terminated with extreme prejudice from long and distinguished
careers. The list of well-known men identified as harassers seemed endless; there was someone
new almost every day.5 In Minnesota, two icons fell: Senator Al Franken and Garrison Keillor.
As one commentator put it, “The allegations against Harvey Weinstein have opened the
floodgates for women in other industries and walks of life to go public with claims of sexual
misconduct—and to be heard instead of dismissed.”6 It was, in fact, a tsunami, a cultural
watershed, “one of the highest-velocity shifts in our culture since the 1960s” in the judgment of
Time Magazine, which declared the silence-breakers behind the Reckoning to be its 2017 Person
of the Year.7

What about lawyers? One very curious aspect of the unfolding saga was noted in early
December: While accusations of harassment and sexual misconduct were cutting down powerful
men left and right in almost every business and industry in the country, the legal profession
inexplicably seemed to have been spared. No such allegations had emerged against any wellknown attorney or judge.
Then the story of Judge Alex Kozinski broke on December 8. (See sidebar, “Alex Kozinski:
Judges do it too?”) There is every reason to believe that the legal profession has more than its
share of stories, some of which may yet be told. In researching this article, I spoke with many bar
leaders, judges, present and former ethics partners and managing partners at large law firms, and
others, all on deep background. Most of the men had vivid stories to tell about a spectrum of
workplace conduct they had observed or heard about over the years, ranging from dalliances and
affairs to some pretty egregious sexual misconduct. The women I spoke to were even more
forthcoming: To a person, they were able to relate multiple instances of such behaviors—in law
firms, law schools, court chambers, and other legal workplaces.
Lessons for lawyers and law firms
The first lesson: In case you didn’t realize it, sexual harassment may subject attorneys (and
judges) to professional discipline. So the risk entails more than the off chance of civil damage
exposure; a harassing attorney’s license to practice could be on the line.
Two recent articles by Minnesota legal ethics experts outline the history and scope of attorney
discipline for sexual harassment in Minnesota. First, Bill Wernz wrote a column entitled
“Harassment, Sex, Discipline,” initially for Minnesota Lawyer, and then an expanded treatment
for his MSBA Legal Ethics Blog.8
Second, in her Professional Responsibility column in the January 2018 issue of this magazine,
Susan Humiston, director of the Office of Lawyers Professional Responsibility, addressed
“Harassment and Attorney Ethics.”9
Both pieces are well worth reading. In summary, Minnesota has a long history of disciplining
lawyers for sexual harassment. The articles detail the notorious stories of Ramsey County Judge
Alberto Miera, who was suspended from the bench and then disciplined as a lawyer for sexual
harassment of a court reporter, and law school Dean Geoffrey Peters, who was publicly
disciplined for sexually harassing law students and school employees.
Both cases arose in the late 1980s, before there was any specific ethics rule prohibiting
harassment. As Wernz and Humiston note, these cases led Minnesota to become one of the first
states in the nation to adopt an explicit disciplinary rule on harassment, in the very early 1990s.
(By the way, this is just one of several contexts in which the Minnesota disciplinary system was
decades ahead of the rest of the country. The ABA did not adopt a model rule against harassment
until 2016. Other examples of Minnesota leading the way in ethics law include the rules against
attorney sex with clients, and the rule allowing attorneys to disclose client fraud that the
attorney’s services had been used to commit, both of which were adopted in Minnesota long
before the ABA adopted similar rules.)
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The articles also detail more recent prosecutions for sexual harassment by attorneys, perhaps
most notably the law license suspension of an adjunct law professor, Clark Griffith, for
harassment—indeed, criminal misconduct—involving a student.
Today, lawyers and law firms must recognize two central facts about the Reckoning:
First, the standards have changed fundamentally, and they will be applied retroactively. The new
paradigm may be disorienting to many male lawyers of a certain age. One of the hallmarks of the
Reckoning has been how incidents from years and even decades in the past can suddenly come
back to life. Anecdotally, it has been eye-opening to see how many men are now looking over
their shoulders, remembering things they may have done years ago—things that, at the time, they
rationalized as “all in good fun,” but that in post-Reckoning retrospect feel creepy or
disgusting—and wondering if those now-regretted interactions are going to come back to haunt
them.
Second, the principal risk going forward is not necessarily monetary damage exposure, but the
abiding damage to reputation. The David Boies experience is a particularly pointed example of
how a lawyer’s reputation can be severely damaged by being associated with a notorious
harassment case, even if he is not the accused. (See sidebar, “The incredible shrinking David
Boies.”)
Law firms must reorder their priorities accordingly. Dealing with workplace harassment has now
become a matter of firm culture rather than simply claims avoidance.
Best practice for law firms
Experts agree that the essential means of avoiding workplace harassment problems, and dealing
with them when they arise, are: a strong policy against harassment; an effective complaint
process that ensures prompt and effective investigation and response to any complaint; and a
strong, firm-wide training program.10
AN APPROPRIATE, WELL-PUBLICIZED POLICY AGAINST HARASSMENT
Every law firm should have a written harassment policy. The policy must be detailed, wellpublicized, and distributed to all personnel. It should be drafted by experienced counsel and
reviewed with counsel periodically. The law in this area is evolving; it will continue to evolve;
and, given recent developments, it likely will not get more employer-friendly.
Accordingly, this is not an area for law firms to skimp on legal fees. The adage about the
cobbler’s children having no shoes—said often of law firms—should be taken as a note of
caution. Every firm should retain outside employment counsel for expert advice in this now even
more critical area. This is important. Do it right.
Experienced counsel will likely advise that the firm’s harassment policy should include:
•

A statement prohibiting harassment. Harassment by coworkers, partners, clients,
customers, vendors, agents, or any other third parties is strictly forbidden.
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•

A description of conduct that constitutes harassment, including examples that are
specific to the particular employment setting.

•

A complaint procedure that includes multiple options for reporting.

•

Mandatory reporting. Require all firm personnel to promptly report any harassing
conduct they experience, learn of, or witness.

•

Report to whom? This is complicated. Someone with an unbiased relationship with the
employees (a human resource professional) may be the best person to receive concerns.
The law requires personnel to have more than one option for avenues to raise concerns.
Immediate supervisors may be designated to receive complaints if other alternatives are
also offered and employees are not required to complain to their supervisors.

•

A statement that the firm will investigate all complaints thoroughly and promptly.
All supervisors and managers are responsible for acting on any complaints they receive.
The firm must investigate and remedy claims of harassment no matter how it learns of
them. (Or when it learns of them—experts emphasize that even very old, stale allegations
must be investigated.)

•

All partners in the firm should be considered “management” for reporting
purposes. Anything that any partner becomes aware of should be assumed to put the firm
on notice of alleged harassment. Partners must report to the firm any harassment that they
witness, or about which they are told.

•

Confidentiality? Also very complicated. Persons reporting harassment often request that
the person receiving the complaint keep it confidential. Partners and other managers are
not authorized to promise confidentiality to employees who come to them with
complaints of harassment; they must inform the employee that they will bring the claim
to the attention of the designated contact or other appropriate person within firm
management. The firm must not promise absolute confidentiality, but only confidentiality
to the extent possible. Absolute confidentiality would obviously preclude an effective
investigation. “Confidentiality to the extent possible” means limiting information to those
persons with a “need to know” of the complaint or of the investigation. This level of
confidentiality allows a firm to reveal the allegations and the investigation information as
needed to carry out the investigation, assess the allegations, and take any necessary
disciplinary or corrective action.

•

Non-retaliation statement. Retaliation against any person participating in a harassment
investigation is a separate violation of law. Any employee who has a reasonable belief
that unlawful discrimination has occurred and makes a complaint in good faith must be
protected from retaliation. If there is retaliation to a claim of harassment or other
discrimination, a firm may be held liable for it even if there was no merit to the
underlying harassment complaint.

•

A statement that offenders will be subject to corrective action, including discipline,
up to and including termination. Harassment policies should be broader than the law
4

requires. Make it clear that the firm can find a violation of the policy without admitting to
any violation of the law. It’s a firm culture thing.
•

Document distribution of the harassment policy to all personnel in several different
ways. Include it in new partner/employee orientation materials and in the employee
handbook; distribute it electronically; post it in a conspicuous place in the workplace;
redistribute it annually; distribute it as a part of performance reviews.

•

All personnel should specifically acknowledge in writing receipt and understanding
of the harassment policy, reiterating the promise to report concerns about a policy
violation. The acknowledgment should also provide that the employee or partner
promises to contact the human resources department if he or she has any questions about
the policy. Firm administration should be vigilant about collecting signed receipts from
all personnel.

INVESTIGATING AND RESPONDING TO REPORTS OF HARASSMENT
Once the firm has notice (or reasonably should be aware) of a potential violation of its
harassment policy, it must take prompt remedial action reasonably calculated to end any
harassment. This requires the firm to investigate. An employer has a duty to investigate
whenever it receives a complaint or otherwise learns (or should know) of alleged sexual
harassment in the workplace.
It may sometimes be necessary to take interim measures to avoid potential ongoing harassment
during an investigation (temporary transfer, nondisciplinary leave of absence with pay) to
prevent continued serious misconduct before concluding an investigation. Caution: Be careful
about reassignment of the complainant; that can be considered retaliatory.
A firm should choose a neutral, objective, and properly trained investigator. The investigator
should have and be perceived to have a high level of personal integrity, the backing of
employees and firm management, and enough time to conduct a thorough investigation.
From a risk management perspective, it is important that the investigator be a credible and
effective witness in the event of litigation. Thus, it may not be a good idea to use in-house
lawyers who advise firm management on employment law as investigators. (They could well
become witnesses, which could in turn endanger the attorney-client privilege between the lawyer
and firm management about the matter.)
Firms should consider using an outside investigator where appropriate—for example, where a
senior partner is the alleged wrongdoer, or where there is any other reason for concern that an
internal investigator may feel constrained to protect the accused partner. In such sensitive
situations, an independent fact-finding process may be worth its weight in gold.
Although an investigation must be tailored to the complaint, the following general considerations
are important for conducting an effective investigation:
•

Locate and preserve the firm’s harassment policy (and any acknowledgment signed by
the complainant/accused that he or she read and understood the policy).
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•

Document exactly when and to whom the first complaint was made.

•

Confirm the complainant’s version of the dates and details of the alleged harassment, and
the names of any witnesses.

•

Always refer to the investigation and the allegations in terms of potential violations of
“firm policy” and not as violations of the law.

•

Do not document a conclusion that unlawful harassment may have occurred except in the
rarest case, and only after consulting with counsel.

After an investigation, the employer must take prompt and appropriate corrective action. That
means doing whatever is necessary to end the harassment, making the victim whole by restoring
lost employment benefits or opportunities, and preventing the misconduct from recurring.
Disciplinary action against the offending supervisor or employee, ranging from reprimand to
discharge, may be necessary. The corrective action should reflect the severity of the conduct and
should be applied without favor. (It does not play well if the guy in the mailroom is discharged
for the same conduct that results in sensitivity/boundaries training for a firm partner.) And the
firm’s response to the report of harassment should in no way disadvantage the person who made
the complaint.
If the investigation is inconclusive, the firm should:
•

Reiterate to the employee who brought the complaint the firm’s sincere gratitude for
raising the concern and assure the employee that although no finding could be made, the
firm intends to protect him/her and all employees against unlawful harassment and
retaliation.

•

Advise the alleged wrongdoer that although the truth of the claim has not been
determined, all employees are expected to comply with the firm’s policies against
harassment and retaliation.

•

Consider some nondisciplinary steps, such as republication of the firm’s discrimination,
harassment, and workplace violence policies; or sensitivity training.

Above all else, once you have a policy, it must be followed scrupulously. There will be times
when it will feel more comfortable to go a different way, to handle the situation more informally,
perhaps, but that is fraught with danger. Firm management must consider itself bound by the
policy in every case. No exceptions.
TRAINING
Training should be conducted by experienced professionals. There are people who do this for a
living. Don’t try to do it yourself.
Firms should periodically train all personnel about the harassment policy, its requirements, and
the firm’s prohibition of harassment. Attendance should be mandatory for all personnel,
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including the highest-level partners, and attendance should be documented. There should be
additional separate training for partners and other managers. One newer concept is “bystander
training”: empowering co-workers and giving them the tools to intervene when they witness
harassing behavior. According to the EEOC, workplace “civility training” that does not focus on
eliminating unwelcome or offensive behavior based on characteristics protected under
employment non-discrimination laws, but rather on promoting respect and civility in the
workplace generally, may offer some new solutions to an age-old problem.
Local employment law and training expert Sheila Engelmeier adds this caveat: “Respectful
workplace training is only effective when there is a real commitment to create and maintain a
culture of accountability at all levels. Workshops on avoiding harassment and discrimination are
about leadership rolling up its sleeves to work with colleagues to ensure all employees feel
comfortable and respected. Often, underneath an employee’s ill feelings lie genuine concerns
about differential treatment based on a protected category status. And leaders must dig into what
is really going on in all work-related endeavors (including events at the local watering hole) and
model expected behavior in all circumstances.” (See Sheila Engelmeier and Sue Fischer,
“Improving Law Firm Culture.”)
Finally, it may be reasonable to expect even more sweeping changes in the wake of the
Reckoning. The common use of nondisclosure agreements as part of any settlement of a
harassment claim may soon be a thing of the past. Legislation prohibiting such agreements has
already been introduced in some states, and the change may well be retroactive. Mandatory
arbitration of harassment claims has also come under attack. And there have been very recent
reports that law firms are lawyering up to become more involved in providing advice on
harassment and litigating such claims.11 This is likely to be a growth industry in the profession
for the next several years.
ALEX KOZINSKI: JUDGES DO IT TOO?
The story of former 9th Circuit Judge Alex Kozinski is a cautionary tale on many different
levels. Kozinski was a renowned appellate jurist, widely known as a feeder judge for future U.S.
Supreme Court clerks, and—owing to his sharp intellect, libertarian leanings, and wry sense of
humor—counted among a small number of federal judges who enjoy wide name recognition
outside the legal community. On December 8, 2017, he was outed for sexual misconduct by
several of his former clerks. One clerk said Kozinski pulled up pornography on a computer in his
chambers and asked if it aroused her. One accuser spoke of him looking “her body up and down
‘in a less-than-professional way.’” Another reported about his fixation on the idea that she
should exercise naked.
Kozinski’s first public response was a shining example of how not to address allegations of
misconduct: “If this is all they are able to dredge up after 35 years, I am not too worried,” he said
in a telephone interview. As Above the Law noted, “What exactly is this comment meant to do?
It seems like an invitation for more #metoo stories about the judge.”
And more stories did follow, including a particularly scathing article by Slate legal columnist
Dahlia Lithwick, another former 9th Circuit clerk, who wrote about “the strange hypersexualized
world of transgressive talk and action that embodied his chamber.”
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Further, even more serious, allegations surfaced the next day. Several Kozinski clerks then
resigned. One former clerk reportedly had removed the reference to her Kozinski clerkship from
her curriculum vitae. Law360 unearthed this damning 1992 Kozinski quote from the introduction
to a leading text on harassment law, indicating he fully understood the power dynamics at play
even 25 years ago:
“The common thread to these [sexual harassment] stories, if there is one, is that they tend to
involve women who are young—or at least young to their professions—and men in positions of
authority who had no compunctions about using the leverage afforded them to demand or cajole
sex.”
By December 18, 10 days after the story broke, Judge Kozinski was off the bench, choosing to
retire immediately from his lifetime appointment. In January, following the Kozinski resignation
and a more general outcry from former clerks, Chief Justice John Roberts announced that the
federal judiciary’s methods for addressing sexual harassment will be re-examined this year.
There is every indication that such a re-examination is necessary. In late January, a CNN
investigation concluded that sexual misconduct by judges has historically been kept under
wraps.15 One of Kozinski’s clerk-victims said he had so vigorously stressed the idea of judicial
confidentiality — that what is discussed in chambers cannot be revealed to the outside—that she
questioned whether she could share what had happened, even with a therapist.16
On February 5, the Judicial Council of the 2nd Circuit, which had been investigating the
allegations against Kozinski, announced that it would be closing its investigation since it had no
authority to continue after he had left the bench.
THE INCREDIBLE SHRINKING DAVID BOIES
Before the Reckoning, super-lawyer extraordinaire David Boies was a nationally known and
deeply respected litigator, one of the crème de la crème of the profession, commanding fees
north of $1,000 an hour.
After Ronan Farrow published his second New Yorker piece, “Harvey Weinstein’s Army of
Spies,”12 in early November, Boies was ravaged by allegations of ethical misconduct in
representing Weinstein—his longtime friend, client, and business associate. Among other things,
he was accused of helping abet a sprawling and costly conspiracy to cover up Weinstein’s
misdeeds, and violating the rules by engaging a company of former Israeli spies whose
undercover conduct included impersonation and possible fraud.
Boies suddenly found himself being referred to in the press as “a once-highly respected lawyer.”
The Atlantic observed, “The first rule of crisis management, one might imagine, is to avoid
becoming embroiled in the crisis yourself. That’s a rule that the attorney David Boies, the
chairman of the law firm Boies Schiller Flexner, broke this week.”13
Several nationally known experts in legal ethics publicly opined that Boies had engaged in
serious ethical misconduct. (Google <Boies ethics> to see how broadly this story was played
when it came to light in early November.) In addition to being charged with breaching ethical
rules by improperly attempting to shield Weinstein, Boies was accused of having a serious
8

conflict of interest with another firm client, The New York Times, which discharged him and
publicly accused him of “a grave betrayal of trust.”
A couple of weeks later, Boies was widely castigated for “slut-shaming” in another sex-related
case.14
OFFICE ROMANCES
One particularly problematic and recurring situation that must be dealt with is office romances.
At the outset, of course, everything seems wonderful. After all, it by definition isn’t harassment
if the attention is not unwelcome. Consider the ramifications of this hypothetical:
Peter Partner (31, single, and looking) finds himself very attracted to Linda Legal Assistant (24,
single, and looking), who has been with the firm about a year now. After hanging out at the local
watering hole with Linda and others from the firm several times after work lately, he asked if
she’d like to hang out together sometime. She readily agreed. The date went very well and was
quickly followed by two more. Now Peter thinks he may be falling in love. No other attorneys in
the firm know they are an item (although, unbeknownst to Peter, rumors are already circulating
among the other support staff).
If things do not work out well between Peter and Linda, this could end up as a sexual harassment
claim, especially if the firm has not taken steps at the outset to ensure that Linda is comfortable
with the situation. Claims could be made by other staff as well. The firm must ensure Linda is
not favored by Peter or his partner pals, compared to other staff Peter is not dating. (This
situation might not be such a problem if there is no power differential–—if the romance is
between two associates, say, or two paralegals. But the firm may need to be aware of the
situation nonetheless.)
CHUCK LUNDBERG is recognized nationally as a leader in the areas of legal ethics and
malpractice. A former chair of the Minnesota Lawyers Board, he retired in 2015 after 35 years of
practice with Bassford Remele. He now teaches at the University of Minnesota Law School and
consults with and advises attorneys and law firms on the law of lawyering through Lundberg
Legal Ethics (www.lundberglegalethics.com).
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BUSINESSES MAY SOON FEEL
FINANCIAL IMPACTS OF #METOO
IN STAFFING AND REVENUE
In a comprehensive online survey administered over the summer of 2018, FTI Consulting and Mine
The Gap polled 4,764 professional women, with an additional sample of 1,030 professional men,
in the industries of technology, finance, legal, energy and healthcare to test a number of key
gender issues impacting workplaces today.

~1/2 of all women surveyed are less likely to apply for a job, buy products or buy
stock from a company with public #MeToo allegations

49%

55%

of professional women are
less likely to buy products or
stock from a company with a
public #MeToo allegation

of professional women are
less likely to apply for a job
at a company with a public
#MeToo allegation

Senior leaders are concerned about impending sexual misconduct
or harassment allegations at their organization

22%

20%

OF SENIOR-LEVEL WOMEN

OF SENIOR-LEVEL MEN

are concerned there could be an impending #MeToo incident at their organization

are concerned there could be an impending #MeToo incident at their organization

Most concerned among senior women:

Most concerned among senior men:

Technology
33%

Energy
31%

Healthcare
19%

Technology
29%

Sexual harassment, sexual misconduct and unwanted physical contact in
the workplace is still happening in substantial numbers
Over the past 5 years:

IN THE LAST YEAR:

of professional women
have experienced or
witnessed sexual
harassment or misconduct
in the workplace

38%

28%
of professional women have
experienced or witnessed unwanted
physical contact in the workplace
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58%

45%

of senior-level women of color have experienced
or witnessed sexual harassment or sexual
misconduct in the last five years

of senior-level white/Caucasian
women report the same
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Of those women who have experienced or witnessed sexual harassment or sexual
misconduct in the workplace in the last five years, more than 4 in 10 did not report it
Of the professional men surveyed who
reported experiencing or witnessing it:

Of the professional women surveyed who reported
experiencing or witnessing sexual harassment:

57%
REPORTED IT

12%

69%
REPORTED IT

GENDER GAP

Did Not Report

Did Not Report

Top reasons for both professional women and men for not reporting are concern for negative
career impact, of being viewed as “difficult” and fear of retribution

#MeToo is not just a women’s issue

Nearly 1 in 5 professional men have personally experienced sexual
harassment or misconduct in the workplace in the last five years

Professional men personally experiencing it most:

23% in finance

23% in technology

~1/3 of professional women and men believe the #MeToo movement
has negatively impacted their career advancement

29%

&

36%

believe that workplace changes due to the #MeToo movement
have negatively impacted their career advancement

A culture of accountability is “extremely important” to professional women

46%

of professional women say it is “extremely
important” to have an office culture that does
not tolerate inappropriate language,
establishes protocols for accountability and
provides mandatory sexual harassment training

To download the #MeToo at Work research, please visit gender.fticommunications.com
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Attorneys and Law Firms
KeyCite Yellow Flag - Negative Treatment
Disagreed With by Rodriguez v. California Dept. of Justice, Cal.App. 3
Dist., January 31, 2012

63 Cal.App.4th 1128
Court of Appeal, First District, Division 1, California.
Rena WEEKS, Plaintiff and Respondent,
v.
BAKER & MCKENZIE et al.,
Defendants and Appellants.
No. A068499.
|
May 4, 1998.
|
As Modified on Denial of Rehearing June 2, 1998.
|
Review Denied August 26, 1998.
Synopsis
Secretary brought sexual harassment action against
law firm and one of its partners. Following jury
trial, the Superior Court, San Francisco County, No.
943043, John Munter, J., entered judgment awarding
secretary $50,000 in compensatory damages from both
firm and partner, $225,000 in punitive damages from
partner, $3.5 million in punitive damages from firm, and
$1,847,437.86 in attorney fees and expenses. Firm and
partner appealed. The Court of Appeal, Stein, J., held
that: (1) evidence supported finding that partner sexually
harassed secretary; (2) evidence supported finding that
firm consciously disregarded rights and safety of others, so
as to warrant punitive damages award against firm; (3) law
firm's stipulation that it would be liable for compensatory
damages if jury found that partner had sexually harassed
secretary did not render evidence of partner's earlier
conduct toward other employees inadmissible; (4) partner
was not unfairly prejudiced by introduction of evidence
of his prior conduct with other female employees of firm;
(5) law firm was not deprived of fair trial by juror's failure
to disclose information about his wife's involvement in a
prior sexual discrimination suit; and (6) enhancement of
lodestar attorney fee amount by multiplying it by a factor
of 1.7 was improper.
Judgment affirmed.

**514 *1136 Robert M. Vantress, Silicon Valley Law
Group, for Martin R. Greenstein.
Jerome B. Falk, Jr., Bernard A. Burk, Simon J. Frankel,
Howard, Rice, Nemerovski, Canady, Falk & Rabkin,
John J. Bartko, Robert H. Bunzel, *1137 Bartko,
Zankel, Tarrant & Miller, San Francisco, for Baker &
McKenzie.
Philip E. Kay, Sanford Jay Rosen, Lawrence A. Organ,
Rosen, Bien & Asaro, Alan B. Exelrod, Rudy, Exelrod,
Zieff & True, San Francisco, for Respondent.
Opinion
STEIN, Associate Justice.
A jury found that Martin R. Greenstein, a partner in
the law firm of Baker & McKenzie, sexually harassed
his secretary, plaintiff Rena Weeks and awarded her
$50,000 in compensatory damages from both Greenstein
and Baker & McKenzie. The jury further awarded Weeks
$225,000 punitive damages from Greenstein and $6.9
million punitive damages from Baker & McKenzie. The
latter award was reduced to $3.5 million by the trial
court. The court awarded Weeks $1,847,437.86 in attorney
fees and expenses. This figure was calculated, in part, by
fixing reasonable hourly fees for each legal professional
representing Weeks, multiplying those figures by the
number of hours reasonably devoted by the respective
professional to the case, and multiplying that amount by
a factor of 1.7.
We will affirm the judgment both as to the award of
compensatory damages and as to the award of punitive
damages. In so doing, we find, in part, that subdivision
(a) of California's punitive damages statute, Civil Code
section 3294, states the general rule that punitive damages
may be awarded only upon a showing that the defendant
was guilty of oppression, fraud or malice. Subdivision
(b), **515 however, governs awards of punitive damages
against employers, and permits an award for the conduct
described there without an additional finding that the
employer engaged in oppression, fraud or malice. We
reject Baker & McKenzie's contention that subdivision (b)
establishes a kind of vicarious liability for employers such
that the award of punitive damages against an employer
cannot exceed the award of punitive damages assessed
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against the employee. We also find that California's
Private Attorney General Statute, Civil Code section
1021.5, does not authorize an award of attorney fees in
an action such as this, brought by a single individual to
redress her own economic injury. Finally, we find that
although attorney fees were properly awarded under the
Fair Employment and Housing Act (FEHA), Civil Code
section 12900 et seq., the trial court's enhancement of
those fees was not supported by the factors it cited as
justifying the use of a multiplier of 1.7.

FACTS
[1] We recite the facts, resolving, as we must, all
conflicts in the evidence and all legitimate and reasonable
inferences that may arise therefrom in favor of *1138
the jury's findings and the verdict. (Nestle v. City of
Santa Monica (1972) 6 Cal.3d 920, 925–926, 101 Cal.Rptr.
568, 496 P.2d 480; J.R. Norton Co. v. General Teamsters,
Warehousemen & Helpers Union, (1989) 208 Cal.App.3d
430, 444, 256 Cal.Rptr. 246.)
Greenstein joined the Chicago office of Baker &
McKenzie in 1971, becoming an income partner in 1978
and a capital partner in 1982. In spring 1987, a secretary
in the Chicago office told Linda Johnson, the director
of administration, that Greenstein had committed acts of
sexual harassment against her. The secretary apparently
threatened legal action. As manager of the non-legal staff,
Johnson lacked authority over Greenstein, but she told
him that his conduct had been inappropriate. She also
reported the matter to Robert Cunningham, the chairman
of the Chicago Office Committee, telling Cunningham
that she had just prevented a sexual harassment charge
from being filed by the secretary. Neither Cunningham
nor any other person with authority over Greenstein took
action as a result of Johnson's report.
In fall or winter 1987, Johnson told Cunningham she
would resign from the firm if approval was given for a
salary increase sought by Greenstein for someone on his
staff. Johnson told Cunningham that the increase was
to prevent someone from filing a sexual harassment suit
against the firm. Johnson stated that if such a suit were
filed, she would be the first or second person to testify
against Greenstein. The salary increase was approved,
and Johnson did indeed resign. Cunningham and John
Coleman, another partner on the office committee, met

with Greenstein about Johnson's allegations. Greenstein
denied having engaged in any improper acts. Cunningham
and Coleman took no action other than to tell Greenstein
to stay away from Johnson during her remaining days
with the firm and to be ultrasensitive in his future actions.
Although Cunningham wrote a memorandum about the
circumstances, he did not place the memorandum in
Greenstein's personnel file or otherwise establish a record
of the accusations made against Greenstein. Cunningham
simply kept the memorandum in his own office.
In early summer or late spring of 1988, Greenstein began
to bother Melinda Faier, a young associate attorney.
He sent her a vulgar note. He brushed up against her.
Once, when she was wearing shorts and a tank top
while working over the weekend, Greenstein leaned over
her, telling her that he was turned on by what she was
wearing. On one or two occasions he threw a pencil
at her breasts. On another occasion, when Faier was
working late in the library and had kicked off her shoes,
Greenstein crawled underneath the table to tickle her feet.
Faier told one of Baker & McKenzie's partners, Leslie
Bertagnolli, about the incidents. Bertagnolli reported
Faier's statements to the head of the department, who
reported them to Coleman, *1139 who reported them
to Cunningham. Cunningham and Coleman again met
with Greenstein, who again denied having engaged in
inappropriate behavior. Cunningham and Coleman told
Greenstein that he should never put himself in a position
**516 where any employee was made uncomfortable
by his acts, and that if it were to happen again, they
would take steps to bring it to the attention of the firm
after which they would take action against Greenstein
as directed by the firm. Coleman told Greenstein that
if Greenstein ever put himself into a situation where
the same kind of comment or allegation might be made
against him, Coleman would “kick his ass to China.”
The administrative committee later heard that Faier was
making statements to other associates about Greenstein's
sexual harassment of her, that she felt that she was
being “set up” and unfairly treated by the firm and that
she would make her claims of harassment public if her
concerns were not addressed. Faier was called in and
asked about these statements. She denied making them. A
memorandum of the reports and Faier's denial was written
and placed in her personnel file. No other investigation
was made of Faier's claims. No documentation was
made of them or of the action taken in response to
them. No documentation about the claims was placed
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in Greenstein's personnel file. Faier left the firm in the
summer of 1989, to take a clerkship with the Federal Court
of Appeals. She contacted Baker & McKenzie after the
clerkship ended, but was not invited to return to the firm.
By late 1988, Greenstein was developing an intellectual
property practice in Palo Alto, California, where he
relocated in 1990. Cunningham and Coleman spoke
about Greenstein to Virginia Gibson, a San Francisco
partner acting as liaison for Greenstein's relocation to
California. They told Gibson that Greenstein was very
bright and talented, but that he tended to engage in
juvenile conduct and they had received a complaint
about him from one of the associates. Gibson relayed
the information to the administrative partner, Jonathan
Kitchen, and to Ed Burmeister, who later succeeded
Gibson as administrative partner. When Burmeister was
succeeded by Bill Atkin, Gibson told Atkin about her
conversation with Cunningham and Coleman. None of
these persons told individuals who might be working with
Greenstein, including the personnel manager in the Palo
Alto office, that Greenstein could cause problems. Gibson
testified, however, that she did warn Greenstein that
conduct such as had been reported would be unacceptable
in Palo Alto. Greenstein denied that he had engaged in the
conduct.
Notwithstanding Gibson's warning, Greenstein's
offensive conduct continued. In 1989, Greenstein met
Donna Blow, a secretary in Baker & McKenzie's San
Francisco office. By July 1989 Blow became concerned
about Greenstein's conversations with her. Although
Greenstein was married at the time, he would ask Blow
out to dinner or over to his motel to join him *1140
in a hot tub. He commented on her appearance. He
made her extremely uncomfortable. Blow attempted to
evade Greenstein's invitations, but he persisted. Finally,
after Greenstein sent a proposition over a “current
machine” (an early form of electronic mail), Blow sent
back a message that she didn't date married people, but
even if she did, she would not be inclined to date a
married man because she was gay. The telephone rang
about a minute later. Greenstein was on the line, breathing
heavily. He said that she shouldn't send messages like
that. He then asked her if she really was gay, and when
she confirmed that she was, said, “Do you think you
and one of your friends, one of your girlfriends could
come down and we could have a three-way?” Blow hung
up. She was very upset and found herself unable to

work. She went to the personnel manager, Nancy Muller,
telling her about Greenstein's conduct. Muller called Mary
Contreras, the office manager of the Palo Alto office,
who had responsibility for the non-legal staff. Contreras
responded: “Oh, gosh, I am going to have to talk to Bill
[Atkin] about this. None of the secretaries in the Palo Alto
office will work with Marty at night anymore.” It does not,
however, appear that any action was taken as a result of
Muller's report.
A 1989 incident involved Elyce Zahn, a secretary in the
Palo Alto office. Zahn was in the office kitchen, unloading
the dishwasher. Greenstein came up behind her, pulled
the strap of her brassiere out of her sweater, and said,
“Are you wearing a black bra?” Another attorney walked
into the kitchen, and Greenstein turned away from Zahn.
**517 Zahn, telling herself she “didn't need this crap,”
walked out of Baker & McKenzie's offices, threw her key
to the office into a dumpster, and never went back. A few
months later Zahn told a co-worker, Myles Walker, about
Greenstein's conduct. Walker told Contreras that Zahn
would not be back because she did not like working for
Greenstein. There is no evidence that anyone from Baker
& McKenzie spoke further with Zahn about the incident
or her reasons for walking away from her job.
In December 1989, Julie Haydock–Davis was working
for Baker & McKenzie as a temporary receptionist.
Greenstein started telling her off-color jokes, making her
uncomfortable. By the third day of Haydock–Davis's
employment, Greenstein was discussing his hot tub,
suggesting that she might like to join him in it. He
started to rub her arm gently, stating he would show
her how to do massage and one never knows where
that might lead. Haydock–Davis was so uncomfortable
that she called her father, who told her to “get the hell
out of there now.” Haydock–Davis called the temporary
agency, saying she would not be going back to Baker
& McKenzie. She made a formal statement, explaining
her reasons. Haydock–Davis's complaint was reported
to Contreras. Contreras told persons on the firm's
*1141 administrative committee, including Burmeister,
about the report. No one told Contreras to investigate
the matter further. No one told her that there had
been other complaints about Greenstein or that the
committee intended to take any further action about
the matter. The committee, however, decided that
John McKenzie, another partner, should speak with
Greenstein. No one informed McKenzie of the prior
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complaints against Greenstein. McKenzie did speak with
Greenstein, who denied any knowledge of the incident.
McKenzie cautioned Greenstein that he needed to be more
sensitive to the way others might perceive his words or
actions.
McKenzie's meeting with Greenstein was no more
effective than any of the earlier meetings with him.
From January through April 1990, Vicki Gardner worked
as a secretary in Greenstein's department, working
primarily for Greenstein's brother Neil and for Myles
Walker, Greenstein's paralegal. Greenstein made her
uncomfortable. He told her he liked to get together in a
hot tub with three or four people. He looked her over,
telling her that he liked the high collar blouse she was
wearing. It reminded him of his first wife. He stated that
he also really liked “low collared.” He asked her if she
had a boyfriend. When she said she did not, he asked how
long it had been since she had a boyfriend. Once when she
was working late, he came up behind her, put his hand
on her shoulder in what she perceived to be a suggestive
way, and said, “Oh, are you putting in an all-nighter?” If
he was nearby when she entered or exited the department,
he stroked his hands across her shoulder as she went by.
He would touch her, look her up and down, stand very
close or back her into a wall. Gardner complained about
Greenstein's behavior to Walker and to Twila Carlsen,
who also worked in the department.
In September 1990, Greenstein came up behind Gardner
as she leaned over her desk, put his hands on her hips
and pressed his body into hers. Later the same week,
he put his hands on her hips as they passed in the hall.
Gardner became afraid to go to her desk. The next time
she was called into Contreras's office, she blurted out
that she would return to her desk only “if Marty would
keep his hands to himself.” Gardner told Contreras about
Greenstein's conduct. Contreras called Atkin, then the
administrative partner in San Francisco. A meeting was
set up between Gardner, Atkin and Contreras. Gardner
described her problems with Greenstein. Atkin appeared
to be surprised about Gardner's report, but told Gardner
that he took her word for it and was willing to act on
her complaints. Gardner stated that she wished to be
physically removed from Greenstein's department, that
she wanted to make no written complaint, wanted her
name kept out of the process and wanted Greenstein to
get counseling. Gardner also suggested that they speak
with Walker, and later, after receiving Twila Carlsen's

*1142 permission, that they speak with Carlsen. Atkin
suggested that Gardner tell Neil Greenstein her reasons
for transferring, and seek his permission to move.
**518 Atkin later told Gardner that he and three other
partners had met with Greenstein. He suggested that
Gardner speak with a counselor personally. Gardner was
in favor of the idea, although she hoped she could speak
anonymously. She asked that other secretaries also be
allowed to speak anonymously to the counselor. At some
point Gardner asked that the firm distribute information
as to how to handle complaints such as hers. Gardner
was transferred, temporarily, away from Greenstein. She
was told to work for Mary Rossman. Gardner did not
want to work for Rossman because it would mean that
she would be stationed close to Greenstein, and because
she was of the opinion that Rossman was being pushed
out of the firm. Gardner was concerned that she was being
set up to be fired. She called the California Department
of Fair Employment and Housing (DFEH), making
an appointment for late November. In late October,
Gardner was called to a meeting with Contreras and
Neil Greenstein. She was told that she had to work for
Rossman and that if she refused she would be considered
to be insubordinate. She refused, and walked out.
Gardner called Atkin, telling him that she was
disappointed with the response to her complaints, that she
had an appointment with the DFEH, and that she believed
she was being set up to be fired. She asked him what was
being done to make the environment safe for secretaries.
She testified that no information on filing complaints had
been distributed, but a joke or cartoon had been placed
on the wall that seemed to treat harassment as a joke.
Gardner was not comforted by Atkin's reply. He told
her that “I had made an allegation. Marty had made a
denial. He said as regards my access to a counselor, he
said counseling input by the victim is discretionary, so he
wouldn't give me the name of the counselor. He said we
are not a judge and a jury. You'd have to go to court for
that. He said, we'll not be dictated to by secretaries as to
their assignments.”
Gardner testified that she continued to work for Neil
Greenstein, but her work load changed. She was
assigned more work, but her support was decreased. Neil
Greenstein began to ridicule her as a person and to ridicule
her work. Gardner was told that there were no other
options available to her in Palo Alto. She ultimately
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requested transfer to an opening in word processing.
Contreras told her that the new position would have less
desirable hours and would involve working for anyone
at the Palo Alto branch of Baker & McKenzie. Gardner
stated that those conditions were fine. Contreras told her
that the new position would involve a reduction in pay.
Gardner *1143 said that would not be fine. She wanted
to treat the word processing job as a transitional position
where she would stay only until a more permanent
position became available. Contreras later told Gardner
that she could keep her present salary but “that it would
not be transitional and there would be a termination date
of February 28, 1991, that there was no place for [Gardner]
at Baker McKenzie.” Gardner left the firm at the end of
February.
In the meantime, as Gardner had suggested, Contreras
spoke to Twila Carlsen. Carlsen told her that Greenstein
made her uncomfortable. He made “dumb blonde” jokes
around her, suggesting that she was a dumb blonde. He
asked her if she had a social disease. He put his face
uncomfortably close to hers. On one occasion Carlsen
was sitting at her desk when she felt something poke into
her back. Greenstein was behind her. When she asked
him what was in her back, he said, “Just happy to see
you.” Carlsen stated that she did not want to work for
Greenstein. Contreras later told Carlsen that Baker &
McKenzie's management was aware of problems between
Greenstein and women employees, but they could not
compel him to go into counseling. Atkin recalled that
no counseling occurred because Contreras was unable to
find a counselor willing to work with Greenstein unless
Gardner was willing to give up her anonymity.
During this time period another employee, Stephanie
Brookins, told Contreras that she wanted to speak to
her about Greenstein. The subject of Brookins's planned
discussion had nothing to do with sexual harassment, but
before she began to speak, Contreras asked her, “Is this
about sexual harassment?”
**519 Weeks began to work as Greenstein's secretary
on July 23, 1991. She had little to do with Greenstein at
first as she was attending training classes to learn about
a new computer system. On August 8, the Thursday of
her third week at the firm, Weeks had lunch with several
persons, including Greenstein, at a local restaurant. As
they left the restaurant, Greenstein gave her some M &
M candies, which she put into the breast pocket of her

blouse. A short time later, as they walked to Greenstein's
car, Greenstein pulled Weeks back, put his arm over her
shoulder, put his hand in her breast pocket and dropped
more candies into the pocket. He then put his knee in her
lower back, pulled her shoulders back, and said, “Let's
see which breast is bigger.” Weeks was shocked, and
found it hard to concentrate on her work for the rest of
the day. The following day she spoke with Greenstein's
other secretary, Sandra Tischler–Bass, who told her that
it sounded like something Greenstein would do and to
let Tischler–Bass take care of it. The following week
Greenstein was highly critical of Weeks's work. On August
14, Weeks ran into Greenstein as he was carrying a box.
He put the box down, lunging *1144 towards her with
his hands cupped. When she moved back, crossing her
hands over her chest, he asked if she was afraid that
he was going to grab her. The following day Weeks
and several others, including Greenstein, had lunch at a
local restaurant. Weeks's food arrived first, but Greenstein
grabbed it and wolfed it down. He later turned to Weeks,
asking her, “What's the wildest thing you have ever done?”
In the meantime, Greenstein continued to be critical of
Weeks's work, yelling at her and calling her an imbecile.
She was becoming petrified. A short time later, Weeks
agreed to help Tischler–Bass move some file cabinets out
of Greenstein's office into Tischler–Bass's van and then
to Greenstein's house. At one point Weeks was leaning
over the van, arranging things, when she felt someone grab
her buttocks. It was Greenstein. Tischler–Bass then pulled
her along, saying, “You are coming with me.” Weeks
testified that Greenstein's conduct left her petrified, angry
and confused.
On August 23, an employee handbook was left on Weeks's
desk. In it Weeks found a statement of the firm policy
on sexual harassment. After reading it, Weeks contacted
Contreras. She told Contreras about the problems she
was having with Greenstein, describing the behavior she
perceived to be sexual harassment. Contreras sent Weeks
home for the day. Contreras later told her that the
administrative committee felt that it was best that Weeks
transfer to another department. Contreras made notes of
her conversations with Weeks, placing them in Weeks's
file. Nothing, however, was placed in Greenstein's file. The
administrative committee gave Contreras no instructions
about investigating Weeks's claims other than to tell her to
speak with Tischler–Bass. Contreras reported back to the
committee that she believed Weeks's claims had substance.
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Weeks was assigned to work for a paralegal, Mary Boyd,
and an attorney, John Peterson. Although Greenstein
was only infrequently in that part of the office, Weeks
was nervous about him. Shortly after she returned to
work, Greenstein walked to the desk next to her and just
stared at her for perhaps a minute. No one spoke with
Weeks about her claims. Contreras, Boyd and Peter Astiz
(an attorney on the administrative committee) did meet
with Weeks in mid-September, but not about her claims
of sexual harassment. Boyd was unhappy with Weeks's
performance. Contreras told Weeks that she had not
worked out since the beginning and was still not working
up to the firm's expectations. When Weeks protested that
she had been affected by Greenstein's behavior, she was
told that had nothing to do with it. Weeks left Baker &
McKenzie at the end of September.
In the meantime, on August 30, 1991, the administrative
committee met about Greenstein. The committee
suggested that Greenstein attend sexual *1145
harassment counseling. Greenstein agreed to the
counseling. The committee asked Contreras to obtain
some referrals to counselors. The committee interviewed
a recommended counselor, Trisha Brinkman, within two
weeks of Weeks's complaint. In February, Greenstein
attended **520 two sessions with Brinkman, for which
he was charged personally. Brinkman reported that the
training was successful and that she did not see an
immediate need for additional counseling.
In December 1991, Weeks filed a claim with the federal
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).
The EEOC asked Baker & McKenzie about the existence
of any complaints of sexual harassment other than
those made by Weeks. Baker & McKenzie responded
that there may have been one other claim, but it had
been withdrawn. 1 The EEOC declined to pursue the
matter further. By this time Weeks was meeting with
a psychologist, and had determined that she needed to
take some action to keep from feeling like a victim. She
found an attorney and filed her complaint on May 20,
1992. She testified that she started to feel better after legal
proceedings were initiated and learned that other women
had had experiences with Greenstein similar to hers.
Baker & McKenzie monitored the proceedings initiated
by Weeks. The firm did not itself investigate Greenstein's
conduct or take any action against him for over a year.
As late as April 1993, Baker & McKenzie's position

was that it would take appropriate action when the
judicial process had been completed. Nonetheless, at the
end of August 1993, and before the judicial process
had been completed, Baker & McKenzie did act to
remove Greenstein from the partnership. The decision
to remove Greenstein, however, was precipitated not by
his acts of sexual harassment, but by the deposition
testimony of Greenstein's paralegal, Timothy Wollaston,
that Greenstein had been back-dating documents. Within
two days of the deposition, Baker & McKenzie initiated
an investigation into Wollaston's allegations. Greenstein
was asked to resign on August 27, and his practice put into
receivership within a few days of that request. Greenstein
was told that he would be removed in October if he
failed to leave on his own accord. Greenstein resigned on
October 11, 1993.

*1146 DISCUSSION
I.
Sexual Harassment Under the
Fair Employment and Housing Act
(Gov.Code, § 129000 et seq.; FEHA)
[2] The FEHA makes unlawful the sexual harassment
of an employee by any person. (Gov.Code, § 12940,
subd. (h)(1).) 2 Under Government Code section 12940,
subdivision (h)(1), an employer is strictly liable for acts of
sexual harassment committed by an agent or supervisor.
(Kelly–Zurian v. Wohl Shoe Co. (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th
397, 415, 27 Cal.Rptr.2d 457.) 3 In addition, Government
Code section 12940, subdivision (i) makes it unlawful
“[f]or an employer ... to fail to take all reasonable
steps necessary to prevent discrimination and harassment
from occurring.” Sexual harassment is defined as **521
including “ ‘ “[u]nwelcome sexual advances, requests for
sexual favors, and other verbal or physical conduct of a
sexual nature.” ’ ” (Fisher v. San Pedro Peninsula Hospital
(1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 590, 607, 262 Cal.Rptr. 842.) It
typically is viewed as taking one or both of two forms:
(1) quid pro quo harassment, where submission to sexual
conduct is made a condition of concrete employment
benefits, and (2) hostile work environment, defined as
conduct having the purpose or effect of unreasonably
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interfering with an individual's work performance or
creating an intimidating, hostile, or offensive working
4

environment. (Ibid.) Weeks's theory here was that she
had been subjected to a hostile working environment. She
did not claim quid pro quo harassment.

*1147 II.
Evidence of Sexual Harassment
[3] Baker & McKenzie does not attack the jury's finding
that it was liable for compensatory damages, and does
not complain that the evidence failed to support the
jury's finding that Greenstein sexually harassed Weeks.
Greenstein, however, does attack that finding as being
unsupported by the evidence. He concedes that there
was evidence that he reached into Weeks's breast pocket,
gestured as if to cup her breasts in his hands, touched
her buttocks and quizzed her about the wildest thing
she had ever done. In addition to these conceded
actions, there was evidence that Greenstein pulled Weeks's
shoulders back to “see which breast is bigger.” Greenstein
downplays the probable effect of this conduct, but Weeks
testified that Greenstein's conduct left her petrified,
angry and confused, and made it difficult for her to
concentrate on her work. The evidence thus supports the
finding that Greenstein's conduct unreasonably interfered
with Weeks's work performance and/or created an
intimidating, hostile, or offensive working environment.

III.
Employer's Liability For Punitive
Damages Under The FEHA
[4]
The FEHA does not itself authorize punitive
damages. It is, however, settled that California's punitive
damages statute, Civil Code section 3294, *1148 applies
to actions brought under the FEHA, including actions
brought for sexual harassment. (Commodore Home
Systems, Inc. v. Superior Court (1982) 32 Cal.3d 211, 185
Cal.Rptr. 270, 649 P.2d 912; Kelly–Zurian v. Wohl Shoe
Co., supra, 22 Cal.App.4th at pp. 419–420, 27 Cal.Rptr.2d
457.)
**522 Civil Code section 3294 provides in relevant part:

“(a) In an action for the breach of an obligation not arising
from contract, where it is proven by clear and convincing
evidence that the defendant has been guilty of oppression,
fraud, or malice, the plaintiff, in addition to the actual
damages, may recover damages for the sake of example
and by way of punishing the defendant.
“(b) An employer shall not be liable for damages pursuant
to subdivision (a), based upon acts of an employee of the
employer, unless the employer had advance knowledge
of the unfitness of the employee and employed him or
her with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety
of others or authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct
for which the damages are awarded or was personally
guilty of oppression, fraud or malice. With respect
to a corporate employer, the advance knowledge and
conscious disregard, authorization, ratification or act of
oppression, fraud, or malice must be on the part of an
officer, director or managing agent of the corporation.” 5
Prior to 1980, section 3294 did not expressly address
the question of employer liability for punitive damages
for the actions of an employee. Such liability, however,
was well established. As explained in the 1974 case of
Hale v. Farmers Ins. Exch. (1974) 42 Cal.App.3d 681,
117 Cal.Rptr. 146 (overruled on other grounds in Egan v.
Mutual of Omaha Ins. Co. (1979) 24 Cal.3d 809, 822, fn.
5, 169 Cal.Rptr. 691, 620 P.2d 141): “California follows
the rule laid down in Restatement of Torts, section 909,
which provides punitive damages can be properly awarded
against a principal because of an act by an agent if, but
only if ‘(a) the principal authorized the doing and the
manner of the act, or (b) the agent was unfit and the
principal was reckless in employing him, or (c) the agent
was employed in a managerial capacity and was acting in
the scope of employment, or (d) the *1149 employer or
a manager of the employer ratified or approved the act.’ ”
(Hale, supra, at p. 691, 117 Cal.Rptr. 146.)
Comment b to section 909 of the Restatement Second
of Torts states the rationale behind imposing punitive
damages liability on employers for the wrongful conduct
of employees: “The rule stated in this Section results from
the reasons for awarding punitive damages, which make
it improper ordinarily to award punitive damages against
one who himself is personally innocent and therefore liable
only vicariously. It is, however, **523 within the general
spirit of the rule to make liable an employer who has
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recklessly employed or retained a servant or employee who
was known to be vicious, if the harm resulted from that
characteristic.... Nor is it unjust that a person on whose
account another has acted should be responsible for an
outrageous act for which he otherwise would not be if,
with full knowledge of the act and the way in which it
was done, he ratifies it, or, in cases in which he would
be liable for the act but not subject to punitive damages,
he expresses approval of it.... In these cases, punitive
damages are granted primarily because of the principal's
own wrongful conduct. [¶] Although there has been no
fault on the part of a corporation or other employer, if
a person acting in a managerial capacity either does an
outrageous act or approves of the act by a subordinate,
the imposition of punitive damages upon the employer
serves as a deterrent to the employment of unfit persons
for important positions.” 6
By 1980, proponents of tort reform, concerned that
existing law could be interpreted too broadly, drafted
Senate Bill No.1989. *1150 It was felt that under existing
law employers might be found liable for punitive damages
when the employers' actions were merely negligent or
reckless. It therefore was proposed that “malice,” “fraud”
and “oppression,” in the context of employer liability for
punitive damages, be defined in a manner that would
preclude liability for reckless or negligent acts. A second
concern was that an employer might be found liable
for negligently or recklessly failing to investigate the
backgrounds of employees, and it was noted that other
laws prohibit employers from using certain information in
making hiring decisions. As a result, proponents of Senate
Bill No.1989 promoted the use of the term “conscious
disregard” in place of “reckless” as it appeared in the
Restatement of Torts. 7 Proponents also were concerned
about a recent Supreme Court decision, Egan v. Mutual
of Omaha Ins. Co., supra, 24 Cal.3d 809, 169 Cal.Rptr.
691, 620 P.2d 141. The Supreme Court determined there
that an employing insurance company might be liable
for punitive damages because of the conduct of two
employees who caused harm while acting within their
authority, but who were not classified as “managerial
employees.” The Supreme Court reasoned that employer
liability should turn not on the employees' classification,
but on the extent of the discretion conferred upon them.
“ ‘Defendant should not be allowed to insulate itself
from liability by giving an employee a nonmanagerial
title and relegating to him crucial policy decisions.’ ”
(Id. at p. 823, 169 Cal.Rptr. 691, 620 P.2d 141, quoting

from the dissenting opinion **524 in *1151 Merlo
v. Standard Life & Acc. Ins. Co. (1976) 59 Cal.App.3d
5, 25, 130 Cal.Rptr. 416.) Senator Kenneth L. Maddy,
who introduced Senate Bill No.1989, wrote to Governor
Brown that under Egan and the Restatement Second of
Torts, an employer might be liable for punitive damages
for conduct of an employee acting in a “managerial
capacity.” “In other words, the employer may be found
to have authorized his employee's outrageous acts merely
by authorizing the employee to act on his behalf.” Senator
Maddy explained: “SB 1989 repudiates this standard
altogether by dispensing with the vague term ‘managerial
capacity.’ In its place the term ‘managing agent’ is used
to describe the lowest level person within a corporation
who must be ‘personally guilty of oppression, fraud [or]
malice’ or possess the requisite ‘advance knowledge’ and
‘authorize or ratify’ the conduct at issue before punitive
damages can be assessed against the corporation. The
term ‘managing agent’ is, of course, a term of art that
refers to a function, and not a mere title. It remains for the
‘judiciary’ to flesh out a meaning for ‘managing agent’ in
the factual context of each case before it.” (September 2,
1980, letter to Governor Brown, p. 4.)
[5] Senate Bill No.1989 was adopted in 1980. As a
result, the existing provisions of Civil Code section 3294
were restated in a newly created subdivision (a), and
subdivisions (b) and (c) were added. Subdivision (b)
essentially restates prior law but, as Senator Maddy
promised, limits employer liability to actions taken by
“managing agents” and employs the phrase “conscious
disregard” to prevent liability from attaching for the
reckless or negligent employment of an injuring employee.
Subdivision (b) is not a model of clarity, but in light
of California's history of employer liability for punitive
damages and of the Legislature's reasons for enacting
subdivision (b), we have no doubt that it does no more
than codify and refine existing law. Subdivision (b) thus
authorizes the imposition of punitive damages on an
employer in three situations: (1) when an employee was
guilty of oppression, fraud or malice, and the employer
with advance knowledge of the unfitness of the employee
employed him or her with a conscious disregard of the
rights or safety of others, (2) when an employee was
guilty of oppression, fraud or malice, and the employer
authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct, or (3) when
the employer was itself guilty of the oppression, fraud or
malice.
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In addition, in proposing Senate Bill No.1989, proponents
of tort reform sought to protect defendants from being
subjected to extensive and expensive pretrial discovery
into their financial affairs until a plaintiff establishes that
he or she is likely to prevail on a punitive damages claim.
(Letter, p. 4.) The Legislature therefore enacted Civil Code
section 3295. Among other things, Civil Code section 3295
requires trial courts, at the request of a defendant, to
bifurcate the proceedings so as to preclude the admission
of evidence of a defendant's profits or *1152 financial
condition until after the trier of fact has returned a verdict
for the plaintiff awarding actual damages and finding the
defendant liable for punitive damages. 8
**525 The trial here was bifurcated in accordance with
Civil Code section 3295. At the close of the first phase of
the trial, and in order to determine whether it might hear
evidence of Baker & McKenzie's financial worth, the jury
was asked the following questions, submitted to it on a
special verdict form:
“Has plaintiff Rena Weeks proved by clear and convincing
evidence that defendant Martin Greenstein was guilty of
oppression or malice in his conduct upon which you base
your finding of sexual harassment?”
*1153 “Has plaintiff Rena Weeks proved by clear and
convincing evidence that defendant Baker & McKenzie (a)
had advance knowledge of the unfitness of defendant Martin
R. Greenstein and with a conscious disregard of the rights or
safety of others continued to employ him, or (b) ratified the
conduct of Mr. Greenstein which is found to be oppression
or malice?”
The jury answered “yes” to each question. Baker &
McKenzie nonetheless argues that the award of punitive
damages against it was improper for any of several
reasons.

A. Necessity Of Proving The Employer Itself Was Guilty
Of Malice, Oppression Or Fraud
[6] Baker & McKenzie argues that the jury could
not assess punitive damages directly against it absent
a showing that Baker & McKenzie itself was guilty
of oppression, fraud, or malice. Baker & McKenzie
complains that the jury here made no such finding, and
indeed, was not asked whether Baker & McKenzie itself
was guilty of oppression, fraud or malice. 9

[7] Baker & McKenzie thus interprets Civil Code
section 3294 as permitting an award of punitive damages
directly against an employer only upon a showing that
the employer both engaged in the conduct defined by
subdivision (b), and was itself guilty of fraud, oppression
or malice, i.e., the conduct authorizing liability for
punitive damages under subdivision (a). The history of
the statute, however, does not support that interpretation.
To the contrary, it seems that proponents of Senate
Bill No.1989 understood and accepted that employers
might be found directly liable for punitive damages in
any of the situations outlined in Civil Code section
3294, subdivision (b), without an additional explicit
finding that the employer was guilty of fraud, oppression
or malice. Senator Maddy thus urged the use of the
term “managing agent” “to describe the lowest level
person within a corporation who must be ‘personally
guilty of oppression, fraud [or] malice’ or possess the
requisite ‘advance knowledge’ and ‘authorize or ratify’
the conduct at issue before punitive damages can be
assessed against the corporation.” (Italics added.) Even
absent this expression of legislative understanding, Baker
& McKenzie's interpretation renders surplusage the third
alternative for employer liability set forth in subdivision
(b), i.e., that the employer itself have been *1154 guilty
of “oppression, **526 fraud or malice.” It is a cardinal
rule of statutory construction that a construction that
renders some words surplusage is to be avoided. (City of
Huntington Park v. Superior Court (1995) 34 Cal.App.4th
1293, 1300, 41 Cal.Rptr.2d 68; Shoemaker v. Myers (1990)
52 Cal.3d 1, 22, 276 Cal.Rptr. 303, 801 P.2d 1054.)
It is true, as Baker & McKenzie points out, that the
court in College Hospital Inc. v. Superior Court (1994) 8
Cal.4th 704 at page 721, 34 Cal.Rptr.2d 898, 882 P.2d 894
held that Civil Code section 3294, subdivision (b) imposes
“additional” requirements on plaintiffs attempting to hold
an employer liable for punitive damages based upon the
acts of an employee. College Hospital does not, however,
stand for the proposition that the plaintiff has the burden
of showing that the employer engaged in oppression,
fraud or malice over and above the conduct described
in subdivision (b). Instead, the court there recognized
that the conduct described in subdivision (b) is the
equivalent of oppression, fraud or malice. “California
has traditionally allowed punitive damages to be assessed
against an employer (or principal) for the acts of an
employee (or agent) only where the circumstances indicate
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that the employer himself was guilty of fraud, oppression
or malice. Thus, even before section 3294, subdivision
(b) was added to the Civil Code in 1980, the courts
required evidence that the employer authorized or ratified
a malicious act, personally committed such an act, or
wrongfully hired or retained an unfit employee.” (Id. at p.
723, 34 Cal.Rptr.2d 898, 882 P.2d 894.) The “additional”
burden on a plaintiff seeking punitive damages from an
employer is to show not only that an employee acted with
oppression, fraud or malice, but that the employer engaged
in conduct defined in subdivision (b).

B. Employer Liability Under Civil Code Section 3294,
Subdivision (b) As Only “Vicarious.”
[8] A second argument is that even if punitive damages
might be assessed against an employer without a showing
that the employer itself engaged in oppression, fraud or
malice, employer liability is merely vicarious. Baker &
McKenzie contends that because its liability is merely
vicarious, the award of punitive damages assessed against
it can be no greater than the award assessed against
Greenstein.
[9]
Civil Code section 3294, subdivision (b) does
not authorize an award of punitive damages against
an employer for the employee's wrongful conduct. It
authorizes an award of punitive damages against an
employer for the employer's own wrongful conduct.
Liability under subdivision (b) is vicarious only to the
extent that the employer is liable for the actions of its
officer, director or managing agent in hiring or controlling
the offending employee, *1155 in ratifying the offense
or in acting with oppression, fraud or malice. It is
not vicarious in the sense that the employer is liable
for the wrongful conduct of the offending employee.
Civil Code section 3294 contains no provision expressly
limiting the award of punitive damages assessed against
an employer to the amount assessed against the employee,
and there is not the faintest suggestion that the Legislature
intended to so limit the damages assessed against an
employer. The purpose for awarding punitive damages
is to punish wrongdoing and thereby protect the public
from future misconduct, either by the same defendant or
other potential wrongdoers. (Adams v. Murakami (1991)
54 Cal.3d 105, 110, 284 Cal.Rptr. 318, 813 P.2d 1348.)
An employer only vicariously liable for an employee's
actions should not be punished at all because the employer
is free from wrongdoing. On the other hand, where the
employer itself is guilty of wrongdoing, limiting an award

of punitive damages to the amount assessed against the
employee could have little deterrent effect. “ ‘[O]bviously,
the function of deterrence ... will not be served if the wealth
of the defendant allows him to absorb the award with
little or no discomfort....’ ” (Ibid.) It therefore is hardly
surprising that no court has adopted Baker & McKenzie's
position, and that a number of courts have affirmed
awards that are inconsistent with that position. (E.g.,
Roberts v. Ford Aerospace & Communications Corp. (1990)
224 Cal.App.3d 793, 274 Cal.Rptr. 139 [$750,000 punitive
damages assessed against employer, no punitive damages
assessed **527 against employees]; Pusateri v. E.F.
Hutton & Co. (1986) 180 Cal.App.3d 247, 225 Cal.Rptr.
526 [$160,000 punitive damages against the employer, no
punitive damages against any employee]; Greenfield v.
Spectrum Investment Corp. (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d 111,
219 Cal.Rptr. 805, overruled on other grounds in Lakin v.
Watkins Associated Industries (1993) 6 Cal.4th 644, 664, 25
Cal.Rptr.2d 109, 863 P.2d 179 [$400,000 punitive damages
against employer, $42,500 punitive damages against the
employee].)
[10] Baker & McKenzie cites language in Civil Code
section 3295 as supporting its position. It will be recalled
that section 3295 was enacted to prevent discovery
or disclosure of a defendant's financial worth until
some showing is made that punitive damages would be
awarded against that defendant. Baker & McKenzie cites
subdivision (d): “The court shall, on application of any
defendant, preclude the admission of evidence of that
defendant's profits or financial condition until after the
trier of fact returns a verdict for plaintiff awarding actual
damages and finds that a defendant is guilty of malice,
oppression or fraud.... Evidence of profit and financial
condition shall be admissible only as to the defendant or
defendants found to be liable to the plaintiff and to be
guilty of malice, oppression, or fraud.” (Emphasis added.)
Baker & McKenzie reads this provision as precluding
disclosure of an employer's financial condition unless and
until there is a finding that the *1156 employer itself
engaged in oppression, fraud or malice. The argument
is that where an employee has been found guilty of
oppression, fraud or malice under Civil Code section 3294,
subdivision (a), but employer liability is based on the
findings required by subdivision (b), only the employee's
financial condition may be disclosed and the amount of
punitive damages must be limited to those assessed against
the employee. Adoption of this argument would mean
that the Legislature intended to alter existing substantive
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law governing assessment of punitive damages by means
of a provision regulating the introduction of evidence.
“It should not be presumed that the legislative body
intends to overthrow long-established principles of law
unless such intention is made clearly to appear either by
express declaration or by necessary implication.” (People
v. Davenport (1985) 41 Cal.3d 247, 266, 221 Cal.Rptr. 794,
710 P.2d 861.) In our opinion, the language of Civil Code
section 3295, subdivision (d), simply confirms that the
Legislature views the conduct described in section 3294,
subdivision (b) as the equivalent of employer oppression,
fraud or malice.

C. Employer's Duty To Terminate Errant Employee
[11] Baker & McKenzie interprets Civil Code section
3294, subdivision (b) as requiring an employer to
terminate the employment of an “unfit” employee or
be subject to liability for punitive damages. Baker &
McKenzie therefore contends that “[t]he punitive damages
award against Baker can stand only if the information
possessed by Baker prior to July 1991 (when it first
employed Plaintiff) was sufficient to brand Greenstein
‘unfit’ so that nothing short of termination was acceptable.
Affirmation of that award would require this court to say
that, as a matter of law, Baker had no alternative but
to fire Greenstein. That conclusion would have profound
and serious consequences for California's labor force.”
Baker & McKenzie thus emphasizes the duty owed by
an employer to its employees to continue employment
unless severe wrongdoing has been proven, and even then
to take measures short of termination if such measures
may prevent the recurrence of the wrongful behavior. A
related argument is that whether termination is justified
should be a question of law for the court to resolve and
that it therefore was error to submit the question here to
a jury. 10
**528 [12] [13] *1157 Baker & McKenzie's argument
falls short if Civil Code section 3294, subdivision (b) is
read not as imposing a duty on an employer to terminate
a harassing employee, but as imposing a duty on the
employer to take reasonable measures to prevent a known
harasser from committing future acts of harassment. As
Baker & McKenzie correctly asserts, there are methods
of forestalling harassment that fall short of outright
termination, and it is unreasonable and probably violative
of public policy to require an employer to terminate
any and every employee that might be expected to act

inappropriately towards his or her fellow workers. 11
Nothing in the language of Civil Code section 3294 itself
mandates that it be interpreted to require termination of
abusive employees. It is true that the phrase “employed
him or her with a conscious disregard of the rights or
safety of others” is susceptible to the interpretation that
an employer must terminate employees that are likely
to abuse other employees. That language, however, is
equally susceptible to the interpretation that the employer
may not employ the abusive employee without taking
reasonable steps to prevent him or her from being or
continuing to be abusive. We interpret the letter of the
law, if possible, to conform to the spirit of the act.
(Whitman v. Superior Court (1991) 54 Cal.3d 1063, 1072,
2 Cal.Rptr.2d 160, 820 P.2d 262.) Statutes should be
given “a reasonable and commonsense interpretation
consistent with the apparent purpose and intention of
the Legislature, practical rather than technical in nature,
and which, when applied, will result in wise policy rather
than mischief or absurdity. [Citations.]” (Beaty v. Imperial
Irrigation Dist. (1986) 186 Cal.App.3d 897, 902, 231
Cal.Rptr. 128.) A reasonable attempt to curb or prevent
the abusive behavior of employees does not demonstrate
the conscious disregard of the rights or safety of third
persons that would permit an award of punitive damages
under Civil Code section 3294. The public policy at
issue is not to fire errant employees, but to protect
employees from abusive or hostile work environments
and/or from abusive and hostile co-workers. The question,
therefore, is not whether the employee's misconduct
was such that termination was the only option, but
whether the employer took reasonable steps to prevent the
misconduct. The better approach to the phrase “employed
him with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety
of others,” therefore, is to interpret it as meaning that
the employer may not employ or continue to employ the
errant employee *1158 without taking action reasonably
designed to protect the rights or safety of others. 12
Baker & McKenzie warns that construing Civil Code
section 3294, subdivision (b) as authorizing punitive
damages for the failure to take reasonable steps to
prevent abuse exposes employers to punitive damages
for conduct no more egregious than that which **529
permits an award of compensatory damages under
Government Code section 12940, subdivision (i) (i.e., for
failing “to take all reasonable steps to protect employees
from harassment”). As Baker & McKenzie itself points
out in a later portion of its opening brief, however,
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liability under Civil Code section 3294, subdivision (b)
requires actual knowledge by an employer, while liability
under Government Code section 12940 does not. 13
Liability attaches under section 12940, subdivision (i)
for an “employer's” failings. “Employer” is defined as
including “agents or supervisors.” Under Civil Code
section 3294, subdivision (b), liability attaches only if the
employer or an “officer, director or managing agent”
fails to act. Liability under Government Code section
12940, subdivision (i) may be predicated on negligent
conduct. Liability under Civil Code section 3294 requires
“conscious disregard,” a phrase specifically included in
the statute to prevent liability from attaching from the
reckless or negligent employment of an injuring employee.
Finally, liability under Government Code section 12940,
subdivision (i) authorizes an award of compensatory
damages for the failure to take “all” reasonable steps.
Because an award of punitive damages under Civil Code
section 3294, subdivision (b) may be had only where
the employer's acts or omissions demonstrate “conscious
disregard,” an employer need only take such steps as
demonstrate that it is making a good faith attempt to
protect the rights or safety of others.
[14]
*1159 Under our interpretation of Civil Code
section 3294, subdivision (b), there is no real question
but that the evidence supports the finding that Baker &
McKenzie or a managing agent of Baker & McKenzie had
advance knowledge that Greenstein was likely to sexually
harass employees such as Weeks, and that it exhibited
conscious disregard for the rights and safety of others by
failing to take reasonable steps to prevent Greenstein's
misconduct. There was evidence that by spring 1987,
Greenstein's propensity to engage in harassing conduct
had come to the attention of managing agents of the firm.
Baker & McKenzie, however, failed to take any formal
action to prevent further misconduct until after Weeks's
complaints. Notwithstanding Baker & McKenzie's failure
to take corporate responsibility for Greenstein's behavior,
informal reports of Greenstein's conduct followed him.
Indeed, it can be inferred from the evidence that
it was common knowledge that Greenstein harassed
female employees. Greenstein was occasionally warned
or chastised about the misconduct, but the misconduct
continued. The ineffectiveness of the warnings given
Greenstein may have resulted from Baker & McKenzie's
failure to make any useful documentation of Greenstein's
misconduct, or may have resulted from a corporate
desire to avoid alienating a productive partner despite

the injury he could be expected to cause to employees.
Whatever the cause of Baker & McKenzie's inaction,
it certainly tended to communicate both to Greenstein
and to those who worked around him that Baker &
McKenzie did not take his misconduct seriously. There is
evidence that persons who complained about Greenstein's
actions were transferred or were themselves terminated
as employees with the firm. There is evidence that Bill
Atkin, the head of the administrative committee both
before and after Weeks was employed, knew that a
number of allegations had been made against Greenstein,
and indeed believed that Greenstein had engaged in
serious misconduct. There is evidence that one of the
earlier claimants (Vicki Gardner) pressed Atkin to see
to it that Greenstein received counseling. She also asked
that information about sexual harassment be distributed
to Baker & McKenzie employees. There is evidence
that Atkin took no steps to protect Gardner or other
employee from Greenstein, except that he held yet another
ineffectual meeting with Greenstein, even after Gardner
complained that someone later had posted an offensive
**530 cartoon near her work station. Gardner, like
the other lower level employees who complained about
Greenstein, was transferred and ultimately told to leave
the firm. In sum, there is evidence that although the
firm kept records on complaints made about lower level
employees, and took action against those employees as a
result of complaints, it turned a blind eye to complaints
made about Greenstein. There is evidence that the firm's
attitude towards complaints by a lower level employee
was to ignore it or dismiss it on the grounds that it was
just that employee's word against Greenstein's, even if the
employee's word in fact was supported by other evidence.
*1160 In all events, there is substantial evidence that at
the time Weeks was hired, Baker & McKenzie and its
relevant managing agents were well aware that Greenstein
was likely to create a hostile work environment for
women, and that Baker & McKenzie consistently failed
to take measures reasonably designed to protect women
from Greenstein's abuse. The failure to place reports of
Greenstein's misconduct in his own personnel file so as
to warn future supervisors of that conduct in and of
itself demonstrates a conscious disregard for the rights
and safety of other employees. No formal action was
taken by the firm to prevent Greenstein from creating a
hostile work environment. No effective informal action
was taken to prevent Greenstein's wrongful conduct,
notwithstanding specific requests and suggestions by at
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least one person injured by that conduct. The evidence
suggests that Weeks was a highly foreseeable target of
Greenstein's misconduct, but that no steps were taken to
prevent that misconduct, to warn her that it might occur or
to inform her of her rights and options if it did occur. The
evidence thus supports the jury's conclusion that Baker &
McKenzie itself engaged in conduct justifying an award of
punitive damages against the firm. 14

IV.
Admission of Evidence of Greenstein's
Conduct Towards Other Employees
[15]
Baker & McKenzie complains that the jury
was permitted to hear evidence of Greenstein's
conduct towards employees occurring prior to Weeks's
employment, that Weeks's counsel was permitted to cite
that evidence to the jury during argument and that the
jury was asked, by means of a special verdict form, if
Baker & McKenzie had failed to take all reasonable steps
to prevent the sexual harassment of Weeks. Baker &
McKenzie contends that such evidence was relevant only
to the theory that it was liable for compensatory damages
under Government Code section 12940, subdivision (i)
(making it unlawful for an employer “to fail to take
all reasonable steps necessary to prevent discrimination
or harassment from occurring”). Baker & McKenzie
contends that the evidence was improperly admitted
because this theory became moot when it stipulated
it would be liable for compensatory damages under
Government Code section 12940, subdivision (h)(1) if the
jury found that Greenstein had sexually harassed Weeks.
We accept without analysis Baker & McKenzie's
contention that by stipulating to liability for
compensatory damages resulting from Greenstein's acts
of sexual harassment, Baker & McKenzie established
grounds for *1161 objecting to evidence introduced to
support the theory that it was liable for failing to take
all reasonable steps necessary to prevent discrimination
or harassment from occurring. 15 It does not follow,
however, that evidence of Greenstein's earlier conduct
became inadmissible. The majority of the evidence at
issue was relevant not only to the question of Baker
& McKenzie's liability for compensatory damages under
**531 Government Code section 12940, subdivision (i),

but also to the question of its liability for punitive damages
under Civil Code section 3294, subdivision (b). (See Bihun
v. AT & T Information Systems, Inc. (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th
976, 990–991, 16 Cal.Rptr.2d 787, overruled on other
grounds in Lakin v. Watkins Associated Industries, supra,
6 Cal.4th at p. 664, 25 Cal.Rptr.2d 109, 863 P.2d 179.) The
evidence therefore was admissible whether or not Baker
& McKenzie's stipulation rendered moot Weeks's theory
that Baker & McKenzie should be liable for failing to
protect her from sexual harassment.
We reject the argument that error occurred because the
only evidence relevant to Baker & McKenzie's liability
for punitive damages was evidence that Greenstein's
misconduct had been reported to a managing agent.
The evidence was that most of the conduct at issue was
reported to a managing agent or at least had come to the
attention of a managing agent before Weeks was hired,
and we cannot find unfair prejudice to Baker & McKenzie
in the admission of evidence of the few remaining acts
of misconduct. 16 In short, there was significant evidence
that the firm's managing agents had actual knowledge that
Greenstein posed a danger to other employees and was
likely to harass Weeks, but that the firm, with conscious
disregard for Weeks's rights and safety, failed to take
any reasonable action to prevent that harassment. This
evidence was believed by the jury. After reviewing the
complete record, we find no likelihood that the jury
would have reached a different conclusion had the court
excluded evidence relating only to Weeks's Government
Code section 12940, subdivision (i) claims.
[16]
[17] In a related argument, Baker & McKenzie
contends that the jury must have become confused when
both Weeks's *1162 Government Code section 12940,
subdivision (i) claim, and her claim for punitive damages,
were submitted to it. In Baker & McKenzie's opinion, the
jury must have confused the elements of each claim and
further confused Weeks's burden of proof as to each. The
court correctly instructed the jury as to the elements of
each claim and as to the burden of proof. The special
verdict form submitted to the jury echoed the court's
instructions. There is no reason to suppose that the jury
was confused, or that it applied the incorrect burden of
proof to either claim. Baker & McKenzie cites authority
recognizing that instructing the jury on principles not
pertinent to issues in the case tends to confuse and
mislead the jury. (E.g., People v. Jackson (1954) 42 Cal.2d
540, 546–547, 268 P.2d 6; People v. Schultz (1987) 192
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Cal.App.3d 535, 539, 237 Cal.Rptr. 513.) The instructions
given the jury here, however, were pertinent to an issue
in the case—Weeks's Government Code section 12940,
subdivision (i) claim. Although Baker & McKenzie is of
the opinion that the claim should not have been submitted
to the jury, the simple fact is that it was submitted to
the jury. The instructions given therefore were in fact
pertinent to an issue in the case, and the potential for
confusion recognized by the cited authorities did not
exist. Finally, Baker & McKenzie, which not only failed
to request clarifying instructions but stipulated to those
given, is in no position to claim that the instructions failed
adequately to distinguish between the evidence necessary
to support each of Weeks's claims. “[I]f the court gives an
instruction correct in law, but the party complains that it is
too general, lacks clarity, or is incomplete, he must request
the additional or qualifying instruction in order to have the
error reviewed.” (Dorsic v. Kurtin (1971) 19 Cal.App.3d
226, 239, 96 Cal.Rptr. 528; and see Finn v. G.D. Searle &
Co. (1984) 35 Cal.3d 691, 701–702, 200 Cal.Rptr. 870, 677
P.2d 1147.)
**532 [18] Greenstein also complains that evidence
of his conduct with other female employees should not
have been introduced, contending that this evidence could
not be admitted to prove his conduct in relation to
Weeks. (See Evid.Code, § 1101, subd. (a).) The evidence
of Greenstein's prior conduct, however, was not admitted
for that purpose. It was admitted, in part, to establish
Baker & McKenzie's liability for punitive damages. It
also was admissible to establish Greenstein's liability for
punitive damages, i.e., that he acted with oppression or
malice. (Civ.Code, § 3294, subd. (a).) Evidence of past
actions may be admitted to prove some fact such as
motive, intent, plan, knowledge or absence of mistake
or accident. (Evid.Code, § 1101, subd. (b).) Civil Code
section 3294 defines “malice” for purposes of punitive
damages liability as “conduct which is intended by the
defendant to cause injury to the plaintiff or despicable
conduct which is carried on by the defendant with a
willful and conscious disregard of the rights or safety of
others.” (Civ.Code, § 3294, subd. (c)(1).) “Oppression” is
defined as “despicable conduct that subjects a person to
cruel and unjust hardship in *1163 conscious disregard
of that person's rights.” (Civ.Code, § 3294, subd. (c)
(2).) Evidence of Greenstein's past conduct, and that he
had been warned or reprimanded as a result of that
conduct, tended to prove that he was fully aware that
similar conduct would cause injury, and acted either

with the intent to cause injury or with a willful and
conscious disregard of Weeks's rights. In addition, the
court consistently instructed the jury throughout the trial
that evidence of Greenstein's prior conduct should not be
considered by them in deciding Greenstein's liability. The
court further instructed the jury at the close of trial that
any evidence admitted for a limited purpose could not be
considered by them as to any other purpose. We presume
the jury followed the court's instructions. For all of the
above reasons we find no likelihood that Greenstein was
unfairly prejudiced by the evidence.
[19] [20] Finally, we do not consider if Greenstein was
unfairly prejudiced by the argument of Weeks's counsel
that the jury could consider evidence of Greenstein's
prior conduct to determine if Greenstein acted as Weeks
claimed. Greenstein did not object to counsel's comment.
“ ‘Generally a claim of misconduct is entitled to no
consideration on appeal unless the record shows a timely
and proper objection and a request that the jury be
admonished. ... In the absence of a timely objection the
offended party is deemed to have waived the claim of
error through his participation in the atmosphere which
produced the claim of prejudice.’ ” (Whitfield v. Roth
(1974) 10 Cal.3d 874, 891–892, 112 Cal.Rptr. 540, 519 P.2d
588, quoting from Horn v. Atchison T. & S.F. Ry. Co.
(1964) 61 Cal.2d 602, 610, 39 Cal.Rptr. 721, 394 P.2d 561,
italics added.)

V.
Other Evidence
[21] Greenstein complains that the jury heard evidence
of conduct directed by him towards Weeks that,
while offensive, cannot in his opinion be deemed
sexually offensive. For example, there was evidence that
Greenstein looked in Weeks's mouth to see her teeth, ate
off her plate, disparaged the quality of her work and
questioned her intelligence. This conduct, although not
overtly sexual in nature, is colored by Greenstein's other
clearly sexual conduct and, so colored, itself takes on an
appearance of sexually offensive conduct. In all events the
jury properly was instructed on the definition of sexual
harassment, and we find no likelihood that the jury would
have reached a different verdict had this evidence been
excluded.
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Greenstein also argues prejudice in that the jury was
permitted to hear that he had engaged in “serious
professional misconduct.” This phrase arose in *1164
connection with Baker & McKenzie's attempt to show that
it had not ratified Greenstein's actions. Baker & McKenzie
sought to show that the firm forced Greenstein to resign
after it became convinced that he lacked credibility and
probably was not telling the truth when he denied having
committed acts of sexual harassment. Baker & McKenzie
therefore wished to show that it severed its relationship
with Greenstein after learning that he had backdated legal
documents. Greenstein sought to exclude any evidence of
backdating on the **533 grounds that it was collateral
to any issue at trial, had no tendency to prove that he
had committed the acts of sexual harassment and would
unfairly prejudice him in the eyes of the jury. Greenstein
further pointed out that any witnesses questioned about
the backdating could be expected to respond by asserting
the Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination.
Greenstein suggested that if the court determined that
the reasons for his resignation should be admitted, the
parties should enter into a stipulated statement about
those reasons and avoid the introduction of evidence
irrelevant to any issue not validly before the jury. The trial
court ruled that evidence of the reasons for Greenstein's
resignation might be admitted for the limited purpose of
proving the state of mind of Baker & McKenzie when
it parted ways with Greenstein. The court agreed with
Greenstein that the jury need not hear that he had been
accused of backdating documents, but because of the
importance of the issue to Baker & McKenzie, permitted
the parties to refer to Greenstein's “serious professional
misconduct” as a factor in his resignation.
Greenstein complains that evidence of the reasons for his
resignation was not admissible to attack his credibility,
and that reference to “serious professional misconduct”
was more damaging to him than would have been
reference to backdating. The short answer to the first
complaint is that the evidence was not introduced to
attack Greenstein's credibility. It was introduced in
support of Baker & McKenzie's claim that it did not ratify
Greenstein's conduct. As to the second complaint, the
phrase “serious professional misconduct” was introduced
as an accommodation to Greenstein, which he certainly
could have forgone had he preferred the jury to hear
evidence that he had backdated documents.

VI.
Instruction On Clear And Convincing Evidence
[22] In connection with the issue of punitive damages,
the court instructed the jury with BAJI No. 2.62, that
“[c]lear and convincing evidence means evidence of such
convincing force that it demonstrates, in contrast to
the opposing evidence, a high probability of the truth
*1165 of the facts for which it is offered as proof. Such
evidence requires a higher standard of proof than proof
by a preponderance of the evidence.” Baker & McKenzie
contends that the court erred in denying its request to
modify the instruction to include language that “the
evidence must be so clear as to leave no substantial doubt.
It must be sufficiently strong to command the unhesitating
assent of every reasonable mind.” The language proposed
by Baker & McKenzie appears in In re Angelia P. (1981)
28 Cal.3d 908, 919, 171 Cal.Rptr. 637, 623 P.2d 198: “
‘Clear and convincing’ evidence requires a finding of high
probability. This standard is not new. We described such
a test, 80 years ago, as requiring that the evidence be ‘ “so
clear as to leave no substantial doubt”; “sufficiently strong
to command the unhesitating assent of every reasonable
mind.” ’ (Sheehan v. Sullivan (1899) 126 Cal. 189, 193
[58 P. 543].) It retains validity today.” BAJI No. 262 has
been criticized as an over-abbreviation of this language.
The Second District, in In re Marriage of Weaver (1990)
224 Cal.App.3d 478, 487, 273 Cal.Rptr. 696, stated at
footnote 8: “[BAJI No. 262] appears to be an editing of
the accepted full definition of the ‘clear and convincing’
standard and is both misleading and unnecessarily limited.
Indeed, it seems to suggest an evidentiary test which is
significantly less rigorous than the one which the Supreme
Court has repeatedly characterized as requiring evidence
which is ‘clear, explicit, and unequivocal,’ ‘so clear as to
leave no substantial doubt’ and ‘ “ ‘sufficiently strong
to command the unhesitating assent of every reasonable
mind.’ ” ' [Citations.]” (See also Mock v. Michigan Millers
Mutual Ins. Co. (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 306, 332–333, fn.
29, 5 Cal.Rptr.2d 594; DuBarry Internat., Inc. v. Southwest
Forest Industries, Inc. (1991) 231 Cal.App.3d 552, 566,
fn. 19, 282 Cal.Rptr. 181 — both also decided by the
Second District.) No case, however, has found that the
use of BAJI No. 2.62 is so misleading as to require
reversal. Indeed, the Second District recently revisited
the point as part of a thoughtful discussion in **534
Mattco Forge, Inc. v. Arthur Young & Co. (1997) 52
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Cal.App.4th 820, 60 Cal.Rptr.2d 780. It concluded that
cases such as In re Angelia P., supra, do not require the
proposed modification, and that absent some additional
mandate from the Supreme Court or the Legislature, BAJI
No. 2.62 remains a correct instruction. (Mattco Forge,
Inc. v. Arthur Young & Co., supra, 52 Cal.App.4th at
pp. 847–850, 60 Cal.Rptr.2d 780; and see also Roberts
v. Ford Aerospace & Communications Corp., supra, 224
Cal.App.3d at p. 804, 274 Cal.Rptr. 139.) We agree.

VII.
Punitive Damages
[23] The jury assessed punitive damages of $6.9 million
against Baker & McKenzie. The court later denied Baker
& McKenzie's motion for a new *1166 trial after Weeks
agreed to a reduction in that amount to $3.5 million. Baker
& McKenzie contends the award against it was excessive
even after it was reduced.

absorb the award with little or no discomfort. [Citations.]
By the same token, of course, the function of punitive
damages is not served by an award which, in light of the
defendant's wealth and the gravity of the particular act,
exceeds the level necessary to properly punish and deter.”
(Neal v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, supra, 21 Cal.3d at p. 928,
148 Cal.Rptr. 389, 582 P.2d 980.)
[27] Applying the relevant criteria here, we cannot
conclude that the award of punitive damages was
excessive. To be sure, the amount awarded was 70 times
greater than the compensatory damages award. In Neal
v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, however, the court upheld a
punitive damages award that was 74 times greater than
the amount of compensatory damages awarded ($740,000
punitive damages and $10,000 compensatory damages).
It has been recognized that punitive damages awards
generally are not permitted to exceed 10 percent of the
defendant's net worth. (Storage Services v. Oosterbaan

(1989) 214 Cal.App.3d 498, 515, 262 Cal.Rptr. 689.) 17
Three and one-half million dollars was 5 percent of
Baker & McKenzie's net worth. It also is true, as Baker
& McKenzie asserts, that the trial court found Baker
[24]
[25]
[26] Under settled principles, “our review
& McKenzie's culpability to have been mitigated by
of punitive damage awards rendered at the trial level is
*1167 a number of factors such as Greenstein's insistence
guided by the ‘historically honored standard of reversing
when questioned that he had not committed the conduct
as excessive only those judgments which the entire
charged against him and the firm's insistence that he
record, when viewed most favorably to the judgment,
undergo sensitivity counseling after his harassment of
indicates were rendered as the result of passion and
Weeks. These factors certainly supported the trial court's
prejudice....’ [Citation].” (Neal v. Farmers Ins. Exchange
decision to reduce the award from 10 to 5 **535 percent
(1978) 21 Cal.3d 910, 927, 148 Cal.Rptr. 389, 582 P.2d
of Baker & McKenzie's net worth, but we do not see
980.) As we noted earlier, the purpose and function of
that they mandated a further reduction. Finally, we are
punitive damages is to punish wrongdoing and thereby
not persuaded that the award should have been reduced
protect the public from future misconduct, either by the
because of the evidence that Baker & McKenzie has
same defendant or by other potential wrongdoers. (Adams
“learned its lesson,” and thus will be deterred from like
v. Murakami, supra, 54 Cal.3d at p. 110, 284 Cal.Rptr.
conduct in the future. Limiting an award because of a
318, 813 P.2d 1348; Neal v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, supra,
defendant's contrition certainly encourages contrition. It
21 Cal.3d at p. 928, fn. 13, 148 Cal.Rptr. 389, 582 P.2d
also, however, reduces the risk that serious consequences
980.) In determining whether an award is excessive the
will result from failing to prevent the wrongful conduct in
courts apply three criteria grounded in that purpose and
the first place. Limiting an award because of a defendant's
function: (1) the particular nature of the defendant's acts in
contrition therefore undermines the purpose of punitive
light of the whole record, (2) the amount of compensatory
damages.
damages awarded, and (3) the wealth of the defendant.
(Neal v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, supra, 21 Cal.3d at p.
[28] [29] We also reject Baker & McKenzie's argument
928, 148 Cal.Rptr. 389, 582 P.2d 980.) The key question
that the award of punitive damages violates due process.
is whether the amount of damages awarded exceeds the
The ultimate question under the federal due process clause
level necessary to properly punish and deter. (Adams v.
is one of reasonableness, a question that turns on “(1) the
Murakami, supra, 54 Cal.3d at p. 110, 284 Cal.Rptr. 318,
harm inflicted on the plaintiff; (2) the reprehensibility of
813 P.2d 1348.) Thus, “the function of deterrence ... will
the defendant's conduct; (3) the likely potential harm to
not be served if the wealth of the defendant allows him to
© 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

16

Weeks v. Baker & McKenzie, 63 Cal.App.4th 1128 (1998)
74 Cal.Rptr.2d 510, 76 Fair Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 1219, 98 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 3373...

others arising from the complained of conduct; and (4) the
wealth of the defendant.” (Pulla v. Amoco Oil Co. (1995)
72 F.3d 648, 658–659.) The balance struck here, based on
similar factors, was reasonable and well within accepted
parameters.
[30]
For all of the above reasons we also reject
Greenstein's contention that the award of $225,000 in
punitive damages against him was excessive. That amount
was less than five times the amount of the compensatory
damages award. Greenstein's actions were reprehensible.
Finally, although $225,000 slightly exceeds 10 percent of
Greenstein's net worth (stipulated to be $2 million), there
is no evidence that payment of that sum will bankrupt
him or cause him such undue hardship as to render his
punishment unreasonably disproportionate to his ability
to pay. (See Adams v. Murakami, supra, 54 Cal.3d at pp.
111–112, 284 Cal.Rptr. 318, 813 P.2d 1348.)

VIII.
Juror Misconduct
[31] Baker & McKenzie moved for a new trial on
the grounds of juror misconduct. In support of this
argument, Baker & McKenzie submitted evidence that
one juror's wife had been a plaintiff in a consolidated
class action brought against Bechtel Corporation for sex
discrimination and, in *1168 fact, had received $7,340.14
in settlement of her claim. One of Weeks's attorneys, Alan
Exelrod, had represented the class in that action. This
juror, however, had not responded when, during voir dire,
the prospective jurors were asked if anyone close to any
of them ever had been sexually harassed or subjected to
any type of discrimination in the workplace, or if any
of them or anyone close to any of them had made any
type of claim for damages. The juror also did not inform
the court that he or his wife had had any prior contact
with Attorney Exelrod. The trial court denied Baker &
McKenzie any relief for juror misconduct, finding that
the juror's nondisclosures had not deprived Baker &
McKenzie of a fair trial.

may be rebutted by proof that no prejudice actually
resulted.” ’ [Citation.] ‘ “A denial of a motion for new
trial grounded on jury misconduct implies a determination
by the trial judge that the misconduct did not result
in prejudice.” ’ [Citation.] ‘ “In reviewing the denial of
a motion for new trial based on jury misconduct, the
appellate court ‘has a constitutional obligation [citation]
to review the entire record, including the evidence, and to
determine independently whether the act of misconduct, if
it occurred, prevented the complaining party from having
a fair trial.’...” ' [Citation.] We ‘must examine the record
to determine whether there is a reasonable probability
of actual harm to the complaining party resulting from
the misconduct. Some of the factors to be considered
in this connection are “the strength of the evidence that
misconduct occurred, the nature and seriousness of the
misconduct, and the probability that actual prejudice may
have ensued.” ’ [Citation.]” (And see also **536 Hasson
v. Ford Motor Co. (1982) 32 Cal.3d 388, 417, 185 Cal.Rptr.
654, 650 P.2d 1171.)
The evidence here is that the juror's wife had been one of
some 400 class plaintiffs in a 1981 action. She was not a
named plaintiff in that case, and there is no evidence that
she was in any way an active participant in it. The action
was for employment discrimination in hiring, promotion
and pay. Sexual harassment was not an issue. The juror
submitted an affidavit in which he declared that he did
not respond to the voir dire questions because his wife
had not made any claim for sexual harassment and he did
not hear or understand that information relating to sexual
discrimination claims had been solicited. He believed that
his wife had been awarded back pay, which he did not
understand to be “damages.” He was not aware that
Attorney Exelrod had been involved in his wife's case.
Other jurors submitted affidavits that the juror never
mentioned his wife's case during deliberations.
This evidence does not disclose juror misconduct. We,
like the trial court, find that although a presumption of
juror misconduct may have been raised *1169 by Baker
& McKenzie's evidence, the evidence offered by Weeks,
excluding evidence inadmissible under Evidence Code

section 1150, subdivision (a), 18 revealed that there was
no resulting prejudice. The record reflects that the juror
[32]
[33]
[34]
[35] The applicable legal principles
simply was unaware of Attorney Exelrod's connection to
of review were summarized in English v. Lin (1994) 26
his wife's case, and that he did not understand that the voir
Cal.App.4th 1358, 1364, 31 Cal.Rptr.2d 906: “ ‘ “It
dire questions required a response from him. The record
is well settled that a presumption of prejudice arises
further provides no basis for assuming that the juror's
from any juror misconduct.... However, the presumption
© 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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experience with his wife's case for discrimination in hiring,
promotion or pay had any effect on his view of the present
case for sexual harassment.

IX.
Attorney Fees

[36] The trial court ruled that Weeks was entitled to
attorney fees under both California's “private attorney
general” statute, Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5,
and Government Code section 12965, subdivision (b). In
calculating the amount of fees the court first established
a reasonable hourly fee per legal professional. The court
multiplied that fee by the number of hours reasonably
expended by each legal professional in prosecuting the
action, as follows:

Phillip Kay

2,252.5 hours x $250

=

$563,125

Alan Exelrod

1,104.1 hours x $300

=

$331,230

272.1 hours x $100

=

$
27,210

Robin Peluso

19

$921,565

The court enhanced this sum by multiplying it by a
factor of 1.7, to reach $1,566,660.50. The court added
$166,510.50 as the amount of fees expended in obtaining
the fee award and $114,266.86 incurred as expenses. The
full amount awarded, therefore, was $1,847,437.86.
Neither Baker & McKenzie nor Greenstein argues that
the court erred in determining that fees were available.
Neither contests the number of *1170 hours found by
the court to have been reasonably expended by Weeks's
legal team nor the lodestar amounts for each member of
the team. Each contends, however, that the court erred in
enhancing the fees awarded by means of the 1.7 multiplier.
We recently determined that Code of Civil Procedure
section 1021.5 20 does not authorize **537 an award of
fees in cases such as this. In Flannery v. California Highway
Patrol (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 629, 71 Cal.Rptr.2d 632 the
plaintiff brought an action against the California Highway
Patrol for harassment and wrongful termination. As here,
the trial court awarded the plaintiff attorney fees under
both Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5 and the
FEHA. We held that section 1021.5 does not authorize
an award of fees when the record indicates that the
primary effect of a lawsuit was to advance or vindicate
the plaintiff's personal economic interest. “ ‘Section 1021.5
was not designed as a method for rewarding litigants
motivated by their own pecuniary interests who only
coincidentally protect the public interest.’ (Beach Colony
II v. California Coastal Com. (1985) 166 Cal.App.3d
106, 114 [212 Cal.Rptr. 485].) ‘Instead, its purpose is

to provide some incentive for the plaintiff who acts as
a true private attorney general, prosecuting a lawsuit
that enforces an important public right and confers
a significant benefit, despite the fact that his or her
own financial stake in the outcome would not by itself
constitute an adequate incentive to litigate.’ (Satrap v.
Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1996) 42 Cal.App.4th 72, 80
[49 Cal.Rptr.2d 348].)” (Flannery v. California Highway
Patrol, supra, 61 Cal.App.4th at p. 635, 71 Cal.Rptr.2d
632.) In so holding, we rejected the argument that a private
action brought by a plaintiff for her own pecuniary benefit
conferred a significant benefit on the public because
it “sent a message to the CHP and other government
agencies that sexual discrimination, sexual harassment,
and retaliation in violation of the FEHA will not be
tolerated.” (Id. at p. 636, 71 Cal.Rptr.2d 632.) The same
rationale applies here. The notoriety of this case may have
brought the issue of sexual harassment in employment
into the public eye, and the verdict may have sent the
message that sexual harassment in the workplace will not
be tolerated; however, this action was brought not to
*1171 benefit the public, but as a means of vindicating
Weeks's own personal rights and economic interest.
[37] [38] Although fees are not available under Code of
Civil Procedure section 1021.5, they are available under
FEHA. Government Code section 12965, subdivision
(b) thus provides, in part, that in actions brought by
a claimant for an unlawful employment practice, “the
court, in its discretion may award to the prevailing party
reasonable attorney fees and costs except where such
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action is filed by a public agency or a public official, acting
in an official capacity.” The trial court accordingly had
discretion to award Weeks attorney fees. In Flannery, we
held that the same factors which led the court to award
fees may not also be used as justification for enhancing
the fee award. The trial court here, unlike the court
in Flannery, used different factors; however, the mere
existence of the enumerated factors does not in and of
itself justify enhancing an award that already grants the
legal professionals a reasonable hourly rate for every hour
reasonably devoted to the litigation of the case. Rather,
the factors must be analyzed not only in light of the
policies they seek to advance, but also in light of the
policies against litigation of claims for some purpose other
than the worthiness of the cause or the need to redress the
injury at issue.
Fee enhancements by means of multipliers or otherwise
are well recognized in California. (E.g., Serrano v. Priest
(1977) 20 Cal.3d 25, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315, 569 P.2d 1303
(Serrano III ); Beasley v. Wells Fargo Bank (1991) 235
Cal.App.3d 1407, 1 Cal.Rptr.2d 459; City of Oakland v.
Oakland Raiders (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 78, 249 Cal.Rptr.
606; Kern River Public Access Com. v. City of Bakersfield
(1985) 170 Cal.App.3d 1205, 217 Cal.Rptr. 125.) Under
California law, the trial court begins by fixing a “lodestar”
or “touchstone” reflecting a compilation of the time spent
and reasonable hourly compensation of each attorney
or legal professional involved in the presentation of the
case. The court then adjusts this figure in light of a
number of factors that militate in favor of augmentation
or diminution. **538 (Serrano III, 20 Cal.3d at pp. 48–
21

49, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315, 569 P.2d 1303)
The purpose
of a fee enhancement is not to reward attorneys for
litigating certain kinds of cases, *1172 but to fix a
reasonable fee in a particular action. Government Code
section 12965, subdivision (b) thus authorizes an award
of reasonable attorney fees, not an award of reasonable
fees plus an enhancement. Nonetheless, it is recognized
that some form of fee enhancement may be appropriate
and necessary to attract competent representation of cases
meriting legal assistance. In Press v. Lucky Stores, Inc.
(1983) 34 Cal.3d 311, 322, 193 Cal.Rptr. 900, 667 P.2d
704, California's Supreme Court implicitly found that it
would be appropriate to enhance an award by means
of a multiplier “ ‘to reflect the broad public impact
of the results obtained and to compensate for the high
quality of work performed and the contingencies involved
in undertaking this litigation.’ ” This does not mean,

however, that the trial courts should enhance the lodestar
figure in every case of uncertain outcome or where the
work performed was of high quality. The challenge to
the trial courts is to make an award that provides fair
compensation to the attorneys involved in the litigation
at hand and encourages litigation of claims that in the
public interest merit litigation, without encouraging the
unnecessary litigation of claims of little public value.
One approach might be to use the lodestar method of
fee calculation only in cases that meet the criteria for
an award of fees under Code of Civil Procedure section
1021.5, and thus necessarily enforce an important right
affecting the public interest. This approach, however, has
not been followed. The lodestar method for calculating
fee awards thus has been adopted not only in section
1021.5 cases, but in inverse condemnation cases (e.g., City
of Oakland v. Oakland Raiders, supra, 203 Cal.App.3d
at p. 83, 249 Cal.Rptr. 606; Salton Bay Marina, Inc. v.
Imperial Irrigation Dist. (1985) 172 Cal.App.3d 914, 952–
958, 218 Cal.Rptr. 839), in at least one case awarding fees
in a contract action pursuant to Civil Code section 1717
(Sternwest Corp. v. Ash (1986) 183 Cal.App.3d 74, 227
Cal.Rptr. 804) and in a case brought under the Political
Reform Act of 1974 (Gov.Code, § 81000 et. seq.) (Downey
Cares v. Downey Community Development Com. (1987)
196 Cal.App.3d 983, 993–996, 242 Cal.Rptr. 272). The
lodestar method has been applied in an action brought
under the FEHA (Crommie v. State of Cal., Public Utilities
Com'n. (N.D.Cal.1994) 840 F.Supp. 719, 724, affd. in
Mangold v. California Public Utilities Com'n (9th Cir.1995)
67 F.3d 1470). 22
A second approach, adopted by federal law, is to enhance
the lodestar figure only in exceptional cases. The United
States Supreme Court thus has *1173 identified a strong
presumption that the product of reasonable hours times
a reasonable rate represents a reasonable fee, and has
held that in most cases this rate should not be enhanced:
“[Fee-shifting] statutes were not designed as a form of
economic relief to improve the financial lot of attorneys,
nor were they intended to replicate exactly the fee an
attorney could earn through a private fee arrangement
with his client. Instead, the aim **539 of such statutes
was to enable private parties to obtain legal help in
seeking redress for injuries resulting from the actual or
threatened violation of specific federal laws. Hence, if
plaintiffs ... find it possible to engage a lawyer based on
the statutory assurance that he will be paid a ‘reasonable
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fee,’ the purpose behind the fee-shifting statute has been
satisfied. [¶] Moreover, when an attorney first accepts a
case and agrees to represent the client, he obligates himself
to perform to the best of his ability and to produce the
best possible results commensurate with his skill and his
client's interests. Calculating the fee award in a manner
that accounts for these factors, either in determining the
reasonable number of hours expended on the litigation
or in setting the reasonable hourly rate, thus adequately
compensates the attorney, and leaves very little room
for enhancing the award based on his post-engagement
performance. In short, the lodestar figure includes most, if
not all, of the relevant factors constituting a ‘reasonable’
attorney's fee, and it is unnecessary to enhance the fee ... in
order to serve the statutory purpose of enabling plaintiffs
to secure legal assistance.” (Pennsylvania v. Del. Valley
Citizens' Council (1986) 478 U.S. 546, 565–566, 106 S.Ct.
3088, 3098, 92 L.Ed.2d 439.)

to provide an equitable distribution of state funds between
all public schools. The litigation resulted in no fund
of money from which attorney fees might be paid, nor
did it result in any monetary recovery by the plaintiffs.
The plaintiffs were under no obligation to pay their
attorneys for their efforts. It appears that the attorneys
did, however, receive some funding from charities or
public sources for the purposes of prosecuting cases of
the character involved in that action—a factor the court
found to be relevant in determining the size of an award
of fees. (Serrano III, supra, 20 Cal.3d at p. 49, fn. 24,
141 Cal.Rptr. 315, 569 P.2d 1303.) Finally, an award of
fees was uncertain not only because of the complexity
and difficulty of the legal issues involved, but because
there was no clear statutory authority for shifting attorney
fees to the defendant. In contrast, the present case is
in essence a personal injury action, brought by a single
plaintiff to recover her own economic damages. Weeks
and her attorneys had a fee agreement by which her

As we discussed in Flannery v. California Highway Patrol,
supra, 61 Cal.App.4th 629, 71 Cal.Rptr.2d 632, California
does not follow the approach to fee awards adopted by the
federal courts. Therefore, although there is appeal in the
high court's finding that many of the factors commonly
used to enhance a lodestar figure more properly are
considered in determining the lodestar figure at the
outset, under present California law the relevant factors
are considered only after the lodestar figure has been
determined, and are used to augment or diminish it. (Id.
at 644, 71 Cal.Rptr.2d 632.) As a result, an upward or
downward adjustment from the lodestar figure will be far
more common under California law than under federal
law. Nonetheless, the ultimate goal in California, as under
federal law, still is to determine a “reasonable” attorney
fee, and not to encourage unnecessary litigation of claims
that serve no public purpose either because they have
no broad public impact or because they are factually or
legally weak.

attorneys were assured of a portion of any recovery. 23 In
addition, because of the availability **540 of attorney
fees under FEHA, the attorneys had reason to assume
that the amount of Weeks's recovery would not limit the
amount of fees they ultimately received. Thus, the risk
that Weeks's attorneys would not be compensated for
their work was no greater than the risk of loss inherent
in any contingency fee case; however, because of the
availability of statutory fees the possibility of receiving full
compensation for litigating the case was greater than that
inherent in most contingency fee actions.

The classic situation justifying an upward adjustment of
the lodestar figure was seen in the Serrano cases (Serrano
v. Priest (I) (1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 96 Cal.Rptr. 601,
487 P.2d 1241, Serrano v. *1174 Priest (II) (1976) 18
Cal.3d 728, 135 Cal.Rptr. 345, 557 P.2d 929 and Serrano
v. Priest (III), supra, 20 Cal.3d 25, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315,
569 P.2d 1303). The litigation there revolved around
California's system for financing public schools. The
plaintiffs succeeded in overturning the existing system,
obtaining an order that it be replaced by a system designed

In enhancing the lodestar figure the trial court applied a
number of the factors discussed by the court in Serrano
III. The trial court thus found an upward adjustment
to be warranted by the contingent nature of the award,
the difficulty of the litigation, the skill displayed in
conducting it, the amounts involved and the results
obtained, the fact that Weeks's attorneys had turned down
other cases in order to represent Weeks and the delay
in receiving payment. The application of these factors
must be analyzed in light of the underlying purpose of
fee awards—to encourage litigation of certain kinds of
claims—but also in light of the danger of encouraging
litigation of *1175 claims of dubious merit from either
an individual or a public policy point of view.
Looking first to the contingent nature of the award, as
has already been discussed, the situation here is unlike
that in the Serrano cases, where it was uncertain that the

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

20

Weeks v. Baker & McKenzie, 63 Cal.App.4th 1128 (1998)
74 Cal.Rptr.2d 510, 76 Fair Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 1219, 98 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 3373...

attorneys would be entitled to an award of fees even if they
prevailed. Government Code section 12965, subdivision
(b) created a reasonable expectation that attorney fees
would not be limited by the extent of Weeks's recovery and
that Weeks's attorneys would receive full compensation
for their efforts. The contingent nature of the litigation,
therefore, was the risk that Weeks would not prevail.
Such a risk is inherent in any contingency fee case and
is managed by the decision of the attorney to take the
case and the steps taken in pursuing it. When the public
value of the case is great and the risk of loss results
from the complexity of the litigation or the uncertainty
of the state of the law, fee enhancement may be proper.
Fee enhancement, however, should not be a tool that
encourages litigation of claims where the actual injury to
the plaintiff was slight. It should not compel a defendant
to settle frivolous claims under threat that the weaker
the claim the more likely it is that any fees awarded
will be enhanced should the plaintiff manage to prevail.
We do not intend to imply that Weeks's claim lacked
factual or legal merit, although we do note that the
jury concluded that her damages were not overwhelming.
We do, however, mean to urge caution in awarding
enhanced fees, particularly in private actions, that will
then encourage future litigation of questionable claims.
As to the factor of novelty or difficulty of litigation,
the trial court found that litigation was difficult not
because of the novelty or complexity of the issues, 24
but because of the inherent difficulty of proving sexual
harassment. “Witnesses to harassing conduct are rare,
issues of credibility abound, victims are often reluctant to
testify, damages are difficult to quantify, and settlements
frequently are difficult to obtain.” This statement is, of
course, correct. As the court also noted, however, the
same will be true for many sexual harassment actions.
Indeed, it often will be true for other claims of harassment
or discrimination in the workplace. Other factors cited
by the court, such as delay in payment or turning
down other cases in order to litigate this action, also
are factors common to many cases. There is at least
partial compensation for these problems, however, in
the availability of statutory attorney fees. In addition,
because Government Code section 12965 permits the
court to award reasonable fees, and does not limit fees
to a percentage of the plaintiff's recovery, the attorney
who takes such a case can *1176 anticipate receiving
full compensation for every **541 hour spent litigating a
claim against even the most polemical opponent.

As to the skill of the attorneys in litigating the case,
that factor necessarily is reflected in the lodestar figure.
The more skillful and experienced the attorney the higher
his or her hourly charges will be. It follows that the
skill of an attorney will justify enhancing the lodestar
figure only if the skills exhibited are beyond those that
might be expected of attorneys of comparable expertise
or experience. This case, as litigated in the trial court, did
not involve novel or complex legal issues. The attorneys
were not required to demonstrate skills above and beyond
those that would be expected of persons of their stature
and experience.
[39] [40] As the trial court found, the factor of amounts
involved and results obtained militate against enhancing
the fee award. The amount of compensatory damages
actually awarded was relatively modest. The amount
obtained was extraordinary because of the substantial
award of punitive damages. Such damages have been
characterized as a “windfall” (Adams v. Murakami,
supra, 54 Cal.3d at p. 120, 284 Cal.Rptr. 318, 813
P.2d 1348; Rosener v. Sears, Roebuck & Co. (1980) 110
Cal.App.3d 740, 750, 168 Cal.Rptr. 237), and do not
justify enhancement of attorney fees. The purpose of
a fee award is not to punish the defendant, but to
ensure that the plaintiff will be fully compensated and
will not have to bear the expense of litigation. (See
Washburn v. City of Berkeley (1987) 195 Cal.App.3d
578, 587, 240 Cal.Rptr. 784.) When the plaintiff receives
a substantial punitive damages award, that purpose is
fulfilled. Enhancement may be appropriate when an
attorney who obtained a significant result otherwise
would receive but meager compensation. Where the
attorney will be fully compensated for his or her efforts,
however, the fact that the client receives a windfall in
the form of punitive damages neither justifies paying the
attorney an increased amount nor exacting an increased
amount from the defendant. The fact that Weeks obtained
a substantial award of punitive damages, therefore, does
not support enhancement of the fee award.
[41] Although we find that the award of fees in the first
instance was proper, we cannot find sufficient public or
private reason in the factors cited by the trial court for the
use of a multiplier of 1.7 in this case. Since it is well settled
that “[t]he ‘experienced trial judge is the best judge of the
value of professional services rendered in his court, and
while his judgment is of course subject to review, it will
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not be disturbed unless the appellate court is convinced
that it is clearly wrong.’ [Citations.],” (Serrano III, supra,
20 Cal.3d at p. 49, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315, 569 P.2d 1303), the
order awarding attorney fees is reversed and remanded to
the trial court for reconsideration in accordance with the
principles discussed in our opinion.
*1177 The judgment is affirmed. Weeks is awarded her
costs on appeal and is entitled to attorney fees incurred in
responding to the appeal.

STRANKMAN, P.J., and DOSSEE, J., concur.
All Citations
63 Cal.App.4th 1128, 74 Cal.Rptr.2d 510, 76 Fair
Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 1219, 98 Cal. Daily Op. Serv.
3373, 98 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 4193, 98 Daily Journal
D.A.R. 4634

Footnotes
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2

3
4

5

Baker & McKenzie replied, “There may have been one earlier issue with regard to appropriate behavior in the office. The
person in question, at the time, made a specific request that no action be taken and that no records be kept. That request
was honored. It is the current recollection that the inquiry related to certain discussions between and among lawyers
that were found not to be objectionable by any of the other secretaries or staff members who were in regular day-to-day
contact with the environment. After discussion with the person making the inquiry, the claim was withdrawn and there
were no further issues or questions raised.”
Government Code section 12940 provides: “It shall be an unlawful employment practice ...
“............................................................................................................................................................................................
“(h)(1) For an employer, labor organization, employment agency, apprenticeship training program or any training program
leading to employment, or any other person, because of race, religious creed, color, national origin, ancestry, physical
disability, mental disability, medical condition, marital status, sex, or age, to harass an employee or applicant. Harassment
of an employee or applicant by an employee other than an agent or supervisor shall be unlawful if the entity, or its agents
or supervisors, knows or should have known of this conduct and fails to take immediate and appropriate corrective action.
An entity shall take all reasonable steps to prevent harassment from occurring. Loss of tangible job benefits shall not be
necessary in order to establish harassment.”
Baker & McKenzie stipulated that it would be liable for compensatory damages under Government Code section 12940,
subdivision (h) if the jury found that Greenstein had sexually harassed Weeks.
Section 7287.6 of the California Code of Regulations supplements the FEHA. Subdivision (b)(1) of section 7287.6 defines
sexual harassment as including:
“(A) Verbal harassment, e.g., epithets, derogatory comments or slurs on a basis enumerated in the Act;
“(B) Physical harassment, e.g., assault, impending or blocking movement, or any physical interference with normal work
or movement, when directed at an individual on a basis enumerated in the Act;
“(C) Visual forms of harassment, e.g., derogatory posters, cartoons, or drawings on a basis enumerated in the Act; or
“(D) Sexual favors, e.g., unwanted sexual advances which condition an employment benefit upon an exchange of sexual
favors.
“(E) In applying this subsection, the rights of free speech and association shall be accommodated consistently with the
intent of this subsection.
“(2) Harassment of an applicant or employee by an employer or other covered entity, its agents or supervisors is unlawful.
“(3) Harassment of an applicant or employee by an employee other than those listed in subsection (b)(2) above is unlawful
if the employer or other covered entity, its agents or supervisors knows of such conduct and fails to take immediate
and appropriate corrective action. Proof of such knowledge may be direct or circumstantial. If the employer or other
covered entity, its agents or supervisors did not know but should have known of the harassment, knowledge shall be
imputed unless the employer or other covered entity can establish that it took reasonable steps to prevent harassment
from occurring. Such steps may include affirmatively raising the subject of harassment, expressing strong disapproval,
developing appropriate sanctions, informing employees of their right to raise and how to raise the issue of harassment
under California law, and developing methods to sensitize all concerned.
“(4) an employee who has been harassed on the job by a co-employee should inform the employer or other covered
entity of the aggrievement; however, an employee's failure to give such notice is not an affirmative defense.”
Civil Code section 3294 provides in full:
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7

8

“(a) In an action for the breach of an obligation not arising from contract, where it is proven by clear and convincing
evidence that the defendant has been guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice, the plaintiff, in addition to the actual damages,
may recover damages for the sake of example and by way of punishing the defendant.
“(b) An employer shall not be liable for damages pursuant to subdivision (a), based upon acts of an employee of the
employer, unless the employer had advance knowledge of the unfitness of the employee and employed him or her with a
conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others or authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct for which the damages
are awarded or was personally guilty of oppression, fraud, or malice. With respect to a corporate employer, the advance
knowledge and conscious disregard, authorization, ratification or act of oppression, fraud, or malice must be on the part
of an officer, director, or managing agent of the corporation.
“(c) As used in this section, the following definitions shall apply:
“(1) ʻMaliceʼ means conduct which is intended by the defendant to cause injury to the plaintiff or despicable conduct which
is carried on by the defendant with a willful and conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others.
“(2) ʻOppressionʼ means despicable conduct that subjects a person to cruel and unjust hardship in conscious disregard
of that person's rights.
“(3) ʻFraudʼ means an intentional misrepresentation, deceit, or concealment of a material fact known to the defendant with
the intention on the part of the defendant of thereby depriving a person of property or legal rights or otherwise causing
injury.
“(d) Damages may be recovered pursuant to this section in an action pursuant to Chapter 4 (commencing with Section
377.10) of Title 3 of Part 2 of the Code of Civil Procedure based upon a death which resulted from a homicide for which the
defendant has been convicted of a felony, whether or not the decedent died instantly or survived the fatal injury for some
period of time. The procedures for joinder and consolidation contained in Section 377.62 of the Code of Civil Procedure
shall apply to prevent multiple recoveries of punitive or exemplary damages based upon the same wrongful act.
“(e) The amendments to this section made by Chapter 1498 of the Statutes of 1987 apply to all actions in which the initial
trial has not commenced prior to January 1, 1988.”
See also section 213 of the Restatement Second of Agency, including comment d.
In a letter to Governor Edmund G. Brown, Jr., Fred J. Hiestand, counsel for the Association for California Tort Reform,
wrote in favor of Civil Code section 3294:
“SB 1989 provides the first statutory guidance for the imposition of punitive damages against an
employer based upon the acts of an employee. Without this law, California courts seem to have
adopted the Restatement of Torts 2d, §909, to determine when an employer can be held liable in
punitives for an employee's acts. Yet the Restatement 2d is riddled with problems for every employer.
One such problem is the provision in the Restatement which permits a punitive award against an
employer for mere negligence (e.g., ʻrecklessness') in employing an ʻunfitʼ agent. This places every
employer in the position of making a Hobson's choice between incurring liability in punitive damages
for the conduct of employees ʻrecklesslyʼ hired, or incurring liability for not hiring employees on
grounds that violate other laws. For example, courts have held that an employer's use of arrest or
conviction records without sufficient job-related justification violates Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of
1964 and adversely impacts on minorities. See, e.g., Gregory v. Litton Systems, Inc., 472 F.2d 631
(9th Cir.1972). Yet arrest and conviction records are certainly relevant in determining an employee's
fitness or ʻunfitness' for a job. Query whether it is not, therefore, ʻreckless' under the Restatement
2d for an employer to fail to search out or inquire about an employee's arrest and conviction record?
SB 1989 seeks to resolve this dilemma for the employer by requiring that, before an employer can
be held liable in punitive damages he must have, inter alia, ʻadvance knowledge of the unfitness of
the employee and employed him with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others ... or
authorized or ratified the wrongful conduct....ʼ This means the employer cannot be found liable for
punitive damages merely because he negligently hired or retained an ʻunfitʼ employee, or one with
a criminal arrest or conviction record; instead, he must have hired or retained the employee with
knowledge of his or her actual unfitness.”
Civil Code section 3295 provides:
“(a) The court may, for good cause, grant any defendant a protective order requiring the plaintiff to produce evidence of
a prima facie case of liability for damages pursuant to Section 3294, prior to the introduction of evidence of:
“(1) The profits the defendant has gained by virtue of the wrongful course of conduct of the nature and type shown by
the evidence.
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“(2) The financial condition of the defendant.
“(b) Nothing in this section shall prohibit the introduction of prima facie evidence to establish a case for damages pursuant
to Section 3294.
“(c) No pretrial discovery by the plaintiff shall be permitted with respect to the evidence referred to in paragraphs (1) and
(2) of subdivision (a) unless the court enters an order permitting such discovery pursuant to this subdivision. However,
the plaintiff may subpoena documents or witnesses to be available at the trial for the purpose of establishing the profits
or financial condition referred to in subdivision (a), and the defendant may be required to identify documents in the
defendant's possession which are relevant and admissible for that purpose and the witnesses employed by or related to
the defendant who would be most competent to testify to those facts. Upon motion by the plaintiff supported by appropriate
affidavits and after a hearing, if the court deems a hearing to be necessary, the court may at any time enter an order
permitting the discovery otherwise prohibited by this subdivision if the court finds, on the basis of the supporting and
opposing affidavits presented, that the plaintiff has established that there is a substantial probability that the plaintiff will
prevail on the claim pursuant to Section 3294. Such order shall not be considered to be a determination on the merits of
the claim or any defense thereto and shall not be given in evidence or referred to at the trial.
“(d) The court shall, on application of any defendant, preclude the admission of evidence of that defendant's profits
or financial condition until after the trier of fact returns a verdict for plaintiff awarding actual damages and finds that
a defendant is guilty of malice, oppression, or fraud in accordance with Section 3294. Evidence of profit and financial
condition shall be admissible only as to the defendant or defendants found to be liable to the plaintiff and to be guilty of
malice, oppression, or fraud. Evidence of profit and financial condition shall be presented to the same trier of fact that
found for the plaintiff and found one or more defendants guilty of malice, oppression, or fraud.
“(e) No claim for exemplary damages shall state an amount or amounts.
“(f) The amendments to this section made by Senate Bill No. 241 of the 1987–88 Regular Session apply to all actions in
which the initial trial has not commenced prior to January 1, 1988.”
As we conclude that a specific finding of employer oppression, fraud or malice is not a pre-requisite for an award of
punitive damages directly against the employer, we need not and do not decide whether Baker & McKenzie waived
the right to make a contrary argument by stipulating to a special verdict form that did not ask the jury to make that
determination. (Compare Myers Building Industries, Ltd. v. Interface Technology, Inc. (1993) 13 Cal.App.4th 949, 959–
961, 17 Cal.Rptr.2d 242 with Mesecher v. County of San Diego (1992) 9 Cal.App.4th 1677, 1685–1687, 12 Cal.Rptr.2d
279.)
Baker & McKenzie emphasizes the danger to employers of terminating employees who later may be able to show that
they did not engage in misconduct, and insists that the question of whether termination was required is a question for the
court. In light of this argument we take note of the recent case of Cotran v. Rollins Hudig Hall Internat., Inc. (1998) 17
Cal.4th 93, 69 Cal.Rptr.2d 900, 948 P.2d 412, although we also find that the case has little direct bearing on the issues
before us. The Supreme Court in that case held that an employer may not be found liable for wrongful termination of a forcause employee if the employer acted in good faith and upon a reasonable belief that good cause for termination exists.
(Id. at p. 103, 69 Cal.Rptr.2d 900, 948 P.2d 412.) The court also found that the question of whether the employer acted
in good faith is a jury question. (Ibid.) Here, the question of whether Baker & McKenzie engaged in behavior justifying
the imposition of punitive damages similarly was a question for the jury.
The Alcohol and Drug Rehabilitation Act, Labor Code sections 1025–1028 requires private employers to make reasonable
accommodation not amounting to undue hardship for employees who voluntarily take part in alcohol or drug rehabilitation
programs. There is, however, no law requiring an employer to provide counseling to a violent or abusive employee.
Nonetheless, as the act indicates, the trend appears to be toward requiring employers to accommodate employees as
opposed to simply terminating them.
Our conclusion makes it unnecessary for us to decide whether the decision in Fitch v. Commission on Judicial
Performance (1995) 9 Cal.4th 552, 37 Cal.Rptr.2d 581, 887 P.2d 937 requires a finding that Baker & McKenzie could have
satisfied the duty it owed to its employees by some action short of terminating Greenstein. In Fitch, a superior court judge
challenged the recommendation of the Commission on Judicial Performance that he be publicly censured for misconduct
not unlike Greenstein's misconduct here. The Supreme Court found that the Commission's findings were supported by
clear and convincing evidence, and that the judge's conduct justified public censure. Baker & McKenzie contends that the
opinion stands for the proposition that an employer should not be required to fire a harassing employee in order to avoid
liability under Civil Code section 3294. We question whether Fitch stands for that proposition, but because we essentially
agree with it, we need not pursue the matter further.

© 2018 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.

24

Weeks v. Baker & McKenzie, 63 Cal.App.4th 1128 (1998)
74 Cal.Rptr.2d 510, 76 Fair Empl.Prac.Cas. (BNA) 1219, 98 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 3373...

13

14
15

16

17
18

Indeed, the language of Government Code section 12940, subdivision (i) would permit an award of compensatory
damages whether or not the employer has reason to believe that harassment is or might be occurring. For example, an
employer might be held liable if, having no special reason to believe that harassment might actually occur, it fails to post
anti-harassment information or develop procedures for dealing with harassment. (But see Doe v. Capital Cities (1996)
50 Cal.App.4th 1038, 1053–1054, 58 Cal.Rptr.2d 122.)
In so concluding, we find it unnecessary to determine whether the evidence supports the further, alternative finding that
Baker & McKenzie ratified Greenstein's conduct.
Authority for this contention exists in Armenta v. Churchill (1954) 42 Cal.2d 448, 457–458, 267 P.2d 303, where it was
held that the trial court properly sustained the defendant's objection to evidence tending to show negligence in hiring a
driver after the defendant stipulated that the driver was her agent. By so stipulating the defendant removed from the case
the issue of her legal liability for the tort.
Baker & McKenzie cites the evidence of Greenstein's conduct towards Elyce Zahn, Donna Blow and Julie Haydock–
Davis. Greenstein's conduct towards Zahn was reported to Mary Contreras, but there was no evidence that Contreras
reported it to anyone else. Greenstein's conduct towards Blow also was reported to Contreras who stated that she would
speak to the administrative partner, Bill Atkin, about it. The evidence thus includes the inference that Bill Atkin did in fact
learn of the conduct. Similarly, Contreras reported Greenstein's conduct towards Haydock–Davis to various persons on
Baker & McKenzie's Administrative Committee, which, in turn, asked John McKenzie to speak about it to Greenstein.
See the appendix to Devlin v. Kearny Mesa AMC/Jeep/Renault, Inc. (1984) 155 Cal.App.3d 381, 393–396, 202 Cal.Rptr.
204, for a sampling of California punitive damages awards confirming that the award here is well within the norm as to
the relationship between the award of compensatory damages and the net worth of the defendant.
Evidence Code section 1150, subdivision (a) provides:
“Upon an inquiry as to the validity of a verdict, any otherwise admissible evidence may be received as
to statements made, or conduct, conditions, or events occurring, either within or without the jury room,
of such a character as is likely to have influenced the verdict improperly. No evidence is admissible to
show the effect of such statement, conduct, condition or event upon a juror either in influencing him to
assent to or dissent from the verdict or concerning the mental processes by which it was determined.”
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Ms. Peluso's rate was based on her status as a paralegal.
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The Supreme Court in Serrano III found that the trial court had not abused its discretion in increasing the fees awarded in
that case from the lodestar figure of $571,172.50, to $800,000, noting that the court had taken into consideration “various
relevant factors, of which some militated in favor of augmentation and some in favor of diminution. Among these factors
were: (1) the novelty and difficulty of the questions involved, and the skill displayed in presenting them; (2) the extent
to which the nature of the litigation precluded other employment by the attorneys; (3) the contingent nature of the fee
award, both from the point of view of eventual victory on the merits and the point of view of establishing eligibility for an
award; (4) the fact that an award against the state would ultimately fall upon the taxpayers; (5) the fact that the attorneys
in question received public and charitable funding for the purpose of bringing lawsuits of the character here involved; (6)
the fact that the monies awarded would inure not to the individual benefit of the attorneys involved but the organizations
by which they are employed; and (7) the fact that in the court's view the two law firms involved had approximately an
equal share in the success of the litigation.” (Serrano III, supra, 20 Cal.3d at p. 49, 141 Cal.Rptr. 315, 569 P.2d 1303.)
The district court in Crommie determined that fees were available under both Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5 and
the FEHA, and without analysis held that California would calculate a fee award by application of the Serrano III standards.

22

Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5 provides in relevant part:
“Upon motion, a court may award attorneys' fees to a successful party against one or more opposing
parties in any action which has resulted in the enforcement of an important right affecting the public
interest if: (a) a significant benefit, whether pecuniary or nonpecuniary, has been conferred on
the general public or a large class of persons, (b) the necessity and financial burden of private
enforcement, or of enforcement by one public entity against another public entity, are such as to
make the award appropriate, and (c) such fees should not in the interest of justice be paid out of the
recovery, if any. With respect to actions involving public entities, this section applies to allowances
against, but not in favor of, public entities, and no claim shall be required to be filed therefor, unless
one or more successful parties and one or more opposing parties are public entities, in which case
no claim shall be required to be filed therefor under Part 3 (commencing with Section 900) of Division
3.6 of Title 1 of the Government Code.”
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Weeks's attorneys accepted the case under a contingency fee agreement that provides “attorney may either retain
or claim forty percent (40%) of any and all moneys or other compensation that may be paid or become due through
settlement, arbitration, judgment, or otherwise; which includes attorney's fees awarded in the above referenced matter.
“............................................................................................................................................................................................
“Attorney is under no obligation to take or handle an appeal from any judgment or order obtained in the case. If attorney
should decide to take or handle an appeal from any judgment or order, the attorney's fee is increased to fifty percent
(50%).”
It requires mention that the issues raised by the parties on appeal are not identical with those litigated in the trial court
and that the length of this opinion does not reflect the time devoted in the trial court to issues such as the interpretation
of Civil Code section 3294.
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The Aon Employment Practices Liability
Claims Experience
By Mark A. Webster, Vice President and Director

I.

Introduction

Law firms have been the targets of employment practices
liability (“EPL”) claims for years. Law firms’ EPL exposure
came into focus in the 1990s, when a California court
affirmed a $3.5 million punitive damage award against
a law firm in a sexual harassment case brought by a legal
administrative assistant. Weeks v. Baker & McKenzie, 74 Cal.
Rptr. 2d 510, 535, 541 (Ct. App. 1998). More recently, law
firms have been regular defendants in lawsuits brought
under federal and state anti-discrimination laws and, in
some cases, have paid significant settlements to resolve
discrimination and harassment allegations. Now, highprofile EPL claims and allegations dominate the legal
media, with new accusations of misconduct by senior
lawyers and alleged institutional failures by law firms
appearing almost daily. Plaintiffs’ complaints often contain
sordid details about their firms and make embarrassing
allegations. As a result, employment-related liability has
become a front-burner issue for law firms of any size, if they
weren’t already.
Law firms are vulnerable to EPL claims for a variety of
reasons, including the power disparity between partners
and associates and between lawyers and staff; partner
termination, demotion, and change-in-status decisions;
workplace diversity issues; mergers and downsizing
that result in reductions in force and other employment
adjustments; long hours spent with colleagues; the
presence of alcohol at firm events; compensation disparities
that pose gender equity concerns; faded institutional
loyalty on the part of lawyers and staff; lawyers’ and staff
members’ unwillingness to put up with the unlawful or
improper treatment that their predecessors endured; the
attractiveness of deep-pocketed law firms to the plaintiffs’
bar; and jurors’ perception that lawyers should know the
law and “should know better.”

2
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Employment practices liability is costly in a number
of respects. EPL claims can lead to expensive, timeconsuming investigations and litigation, substantial
settlements and adverse verdicts, lowered workplace
morale and productivity, damage to recruiting efforts,
bruised professional reputations, the loss of goodwill, and
negative publicity.
Recognizing the potential value to be gained by studying
the EPL claims experience of our law firm clients, we
undertook a detailed study of every EPL claim made
against our clients in the last 13 years. Our methodology
was similar to the approach we took in our 2015
study of lawyers’ professional liability (“LPL”) claims.
See Douglas R. Richmond et al., The Aon Claims Experience,
Quality Assur. Rev., Summer 2015 (hereinafter, the
“LPL claims study”). On the whole, both our LPL and EPL
clients are typically classified as large law firms, though we
also serve numerous midsized and boutique firms. Much
like the LPL claims study, we reviewed the claims and
circumstances described in clients’ annual submissions to
insurers and supplemented our review with bordereaus
prepared by monitoring counsel, claims reports, and other
claims information provided by our clients and insurers.
For each individual charge of misconduct, we calculated
the defense costs, settlements, and judgments paid
“ground up,” meaning that the amounts reported include
sums paid by firms out of their self-insured retentions
and funds paid by insurers.
Despite the similarities between the LPL and EPL claims
studies, it is important to note key differences. First,
the number of firms which purchased EPL insurance
policies through Aon during the relevant time period
(approximately 120), while still substantial, is smaller than
the number which procured LPL insurance (on average
275), thereby reducing the number of firms examined in
this EPL study. Second, EPL claims on the whole proved

to be significantly more difficult to categorize than LPL
claims. While it was a relatively straightforward exercise to
assign each LPL claim to both the relevant practice area
(e.g., litigation, real estate, corporate, etc.) and the relevant
cause of loss (e.g., mistakes, conflicts of interest, dishonest
clients, etc.), EPL claim information is not always so clearcut. Plaintiffs asserting employment-related claims often
allege conduct and combine theories of recovery in ways
that defy easy categorization. To use a common example,
gender discrimination claims and sexual harassment claims
often blend together both in pleading and as a matter
of evidence. Accordingly, we were forced to divide the
information into two categories: (1) the written claim
notifications, which often contained multiple “charges”
of misconduct; and (2) the individual charges of wrongful
conduct contained in each notification.
Our analysis will likely confirm many existing assumptions
regarding the current employment practices climate and
the EPL risks facing law firms. For example, the profiles
of offenders and claimants generally correspond to the
demographic makeup of U.S. law firms, and the types of
claims reported by law firms are in many cases substantially
similar to those reported by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) for all other U.S.
employers. We found it valuable, however, to support
such initial presuppositions with concrete statistics in
the law firm setting. While perhaps imperfect, we believe
our EPL claims study is the best and most comprehensive
set of data currently available on law firm employment
practices liability. If nothing else, we hope the results
of this study will provide law firms with a better picture of
their employment-related risk.
This Article takes an in-depth look at our EPL claims
study. Section II provides an overview of the notifications
received and ground up payments made during the
entirety of our 13-year study period. Section III breaks
down the individual charge types and total ground up
payments for EPL claims reported by our firms and offers a
longitudinal view of the number of notifications and
total ground up payments per policy year, as well as the
percentage of notices that result in ground up payment.
Section IV examines the profile of the offenders and
claimants by position, gender, and race. Section V focuses
on the number of notifications resulting in lawsuits, the
frequency with which each type of conduct leads to a

charge or claim, and the total ground up payments based
on both charge category and claimants’ gender. Section VI
explores representative claims scenarios for various types
of misconduct contained in the claims study. Section VII
summarizes our EPL claims analysis and offers suggestions
for managing EPL exposure and risk in the law firm setting.
Finally, Section VIII closes with parting thoughts regarding
the EPL landscape.

II. Notifications and Payments – An Overview
Our study, which begins with the 2005 policy year and
continues through the 2017 policy year, examines all
of the EPL claims of the law firms which procured EPL
insurance through Aon during that period. We examined
765 separate notifications from our firms, which include
both claims and circumstances. These notifications
contained a total of 1,315 individual charges of wrongful
conduct.
From these 1,315 charges, firms and their insurers paid
a cumulative total of $91,101,673 in judgments and
settlements. The total cost of resolving employmentrelated allegations of misconduct is undoubtedly higher.
For example, firms negotiate severance packages with
aggrieved employees in exchange for releases from
potential liability that they never report to their insurers.
In addition, firms and their insurers paid a cumulative
total of $44,585,223 in defense costs. This figure is likely
underreported. Firms often describe the resolution of
claims in their renewal submission without reporting
related defense costs. A significant number of cases are
also self-defended, and in such instances, firms rarely
report defense costs.
Even without adding such unreported settlement and
defense figures, the total ground up payments attributable
to EPL claims are considerable. While the number of sevenfigure payments is low when compared to those contained
in our LPL study, notifications often result in five- and sixfigure payments, and the resultant reputational and other
non-monetary costs can be substantial.

Aon Risk Solutions | Specialty | Professional Services

3

III. A Deeper Look at Charge Types and Ground Up Payments
Figure 1 below provides an overview of the individual charge types and total ground up payments for EPL claims reported
by our firms over the past 13 years. Charges of discrimination, which are collectively the most frequently-alleged form of
misconduct, are divided into 11 specific categories. Of those 11 categories, age, disability, gender, and race discrimination
lead the way in terms of charge frequency. Retaliation and wrongful termination are also frequent charges. The proverbial
“Other” category listed in Figure 1 captures rarer forms of alleged misconduct, such as tortious interference with contract,
breach of fiduciary duty, and negligent supervision.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Figure 1
Frequency of Charges
Charge Type

Breach of Employment Contract
Defamation

Total

Average
Per Policy Year

Median
Per Policy Year

31

2.4

2

Average
Per Policy Year

Median
Per Policy Year

$6,936,865

$223,770

$186,545

Total

18

1.4

1

$2,767,332

$153,741

$205,742

Discrimination - Age

126

9.7

10

$15,039,516

$119,361

$85,425

Discrimination - Disability

142

10.9

12

$15,316,960

$107,866

$65,000

Discrimination - Gender

138

10.6

12

$45,840,161

$332,175

$115,000

8

0.6

0

$1,109,223

$138,653

$313,222

Discrimination - National Origin

31

2.4

3

$2,621,307

$84,558

$58,649

Discrimination - Not Specified

39

3.0

3

$3,996,357

$102,471

$53,100

Discrimination - Marital Status

Discrimination - Pregnancy

22

1.7

2

$2,457,633

$111,711

$89,667

118

9.1

8

$28,104,228

$238,171

$75,275

Discrimination - Religion

18

1.4

1

$1,805,294

$100,294

$150,237

Discrimination - Sexual Orientation

22

1.7

2

$20,352,026

$925,092

$352,798

1

0.1

0

$0

$0

$0

29

2.2

2

$4,400,575

$151,744

$133,782

Discrimination - Race

Discrimination - Workers Comp
Emotional Distress
Harassment

53

4.1

3

$3,772,252

$71,175

$50,550

Hostile Work Environment

62

4.8

4

$10,393,568

$167,638

$142,844

9

0.7

1

$2,732,101

$303,567

$65,933

166

12.8

13

$49,492,041

$298,145

$98,052

78

6.0

6

$21,434,769

$274,805

$180,000

Other
Retaliation
Sexual Harassment
Wage/Bonus Claim
Wrongful Termination

43

3.3

3

$2,361,144

$54,910

$60,000

161

12.4

10

$32,892,262

$204,300

$87,804

Figure 2 provides a longitudinal view of the number of
notifications and total ground up payments by policy year.
The light blue bars in Figure 2 reflect the number of EPL
notifications per policy year. The dark blue line represents
the number of open claims as of year-end 2017. For LPL
claims, we typically see a 5–7 year “tail” from the date of a
claimant’s notification to the date of settlement or payment.
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EPL claims are typically resolved more quickly, with an
average tail of only 12–13 months. This is at least in part
due to firms’ willingness to settle matters to avoid related
distractions and unfavorable attention. Like LPL claims,
EPL claims typically do not age well. Accordingly, older
claims which remain open may well suggest some degree
of severity.

The red line in Figure 2 illustrates the total ground up payments attributable to each policy year made through year-end
2017. We allocated payments to the policy year in which the claim was reported, regardless of when the claim was settled or
went to judgment. For example, if a law firm reported a claim in 2011 and the claim settled in 2014, the settlement payment is
reflected in the 2011 policy year total.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Ground Up Payments by Policy Year
Figure 2
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11
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While it is tempting to find some correlation between claim
frequency and broad external factors (such as the U.S.
economic downturn), it is more likely that total ground up
payments made on a year-to-year basis are case-specific.
For instance, the data show significant spikes in ground
up payments in both 2007 and 2016. These negative
years in terms of payments are caused, in large part, by a
few substantial settlements and judgments in particularly
challenging cases. We will have to wait for the results
from open claims in 2017 and coming years to determine
whether the spike in 2016 is merely an anomaly or in fact
the beginning of a trend.

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

Notices

On the whole, the claims activity in more recent policy
years is not fully-developed, so the total ground up
payments attributable to these years could (and likely will)
increase over time. Similarly, the relatively low number
of notices in 2017 is attributable to the lack of available
data for that year at the time the study was conducted.
Accordingly, we anticipate that the numbers for 2017 will
increase beyond what is shown in Figure 2.
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Figure 3 reveals the frequency with which notifications
result in any level of payment – whether defense or
indemnity – to claimants. The rates of payment for all
categories of alleged conduct are considerable, with more
than half of all EPL notices resulting in some form of ground
up payment. Sexual harassment claims lead the way, with
nearly three out of four claims resulting in payment.

Figure 4 breaks down discrimination into 11 separate
categories. Notifications containing a charge of sexual
orientation misconduct most often result in some form of
payout, with nearly three-fourths resulting in a ground up
payment. Indeed, all charges of discrimination have high
incidences of payment, as all but two categories result in
a ground up payment at least half the time.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Percentage of Notices Resulting in Ground Up Payment
Claims by Category
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51.85%

Harassment

National Origin

Religion

Breach of Emp Contract

45.16%

Marital Status

Wage/Bonus Claim

44.19%

Pregnancy

55.56%

Other
0%

58.45%

44.44%

72.73%

50.00%

54.55%

Workers Comp | 0.00%

53.23%

Hostile Work Environment

64.52%

Sexual Orientation

55.17%

Emotional Distress

51.69%

Disability

66.67%

Defamation

53.97%

Race

62.65%

Retaliation
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When compared against our LPL claim data, these results are striking. The payment percentages for EPL claims significantly
outpace the results found in our 2015 LPL claims study, in which between 25% and 30% of all LPL notifications resulted in some
form of ground up payment. This difference does not necessarily speak to the merits of EPL claims versus LPL claims; rather,
it likely reflects firms’ greater ability to reach quick and cost-effective settlements in EPL matters, as well as their willingness
to do so in any case with the potential for negative publicity.
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IV. Breakdown of Claimant and Offender Demographics
The next eight figures analyze the profile of claimants and offenders by position, gender, and race. Generally speaking, this data
tracks overall law firm demographics, and likely comports with most lawyers’ intuitive sense of employment-related risk.

A. Claimants
Figures 5 and 6 depict the position and gender of all EPL claimants included in our study. Figure 5 indicates that 62% of all
claimants come from the staff ranks, and that more than seven out of every ten claimants – whether lawyers or staff – are female.
Figure 6, which isolates the data to show only those claims made by lawyers, shows that the majority of lawyer claimants are
female. Women constitute a significant majority of law firm staff claimants, with more than three out of every four staff claims
brought by female employees.

Claimant’s Position & Gender | Breakdown

Claimant’s Position & Gender | Further Breakdown

Figure 5

Figure 6
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38%
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43%
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28%
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By Gender

By Law
Firm Staff
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Figures 7 and 8 illustrate the racial breakdown of EPL claimants. The data shows that nearly 60% of EPL claimants are
Caucasian, while close to one in four claimants are African American. When the data is analyzed by both race and position,
Caucasians bring a majority of all lawyer claims. This generally tracks with the current demographic makeup of U.S. law firms.

The latest report from the National Association
for Law Placement (NALP) indicates that in 2017,
Caucasians made up a significant majority of
lawyers in U.S. law firms, while minority lawyers
constituted 15.18% of all U.S. law firm lawyers
and 8.42% of law firm partners. Nat’l Ass’n for Law
Placement, Inc., 2017 Report on Diversity in U.S. Law
Firms 9 (Dec. 2017).

Claimant’s Race | Breakdown

On the other hand, Figure 8 shows no numerical
racial majority among law firm staff claimants, with
a more balanced split among African American,
Caucasian, Hispanic or Latino, and Asian/Pacific
Islander staff members. These two figures speak
perhaps to the racial makeup of lawyer and staff
populations in law firms, rather than the targeting of
any particular subset of staff.

African
American

Figure 7
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Claimant’s Race | Further Breakdown
Figure 8
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2%

Hispanic
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18%

B. Offenders
The following four figures examine the position and gender of the alleged offenders in our study. Figure 9 indicates that
nearly three out of every four offenders are lawyers. This result is predictable, given that most authority within law firms is
wielded by lawyers.

Offender’s Position | Breakdown
Figure 9
Attorneys

76%

This concentration of power is further illustrated
in Figure 10, which shows that a staggering 95%
of attorney offenders are equity partners or
shareholders. Put another way, the collective
population of non-equity partners, associates, of
counsel, and staff lawyers make up a mere 5% of all
alleged offenders.
The data regarding staff offenders further confirms
that people in positions of power are the source
of most alleged EPL offenses. Per Figure 10,
administrative assistants together make up a
relatively small percentage of EPL offenders, while
the administrative and clerical staff – including
IT employees, systems administrators, financial
analysts, and human resources employees – is
responsible for the overwhelming bulk of the claims.
Ironically, our study revealed that some particularly
severe claims have been alleged against human
resources officers.

Staff

24%

Offender’s Position | Further Breakdown
Figure 10
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Figures 11 and 12 depict the gender breakdown of all EPL offenders. Perhaps unsurprisingly, 75% of all offenders are males, while
an overwhelming 93% of all lawyer offenders are males. As before, this statistic bears some relationship to the demographic
makeup of law firms.

Recently published statistics show that, in 2017,
34.54% of all lawyers in U.S. law firms were women,
while only 22.7% of law firm partners were women.
Nat’l Ass’n for Law Placement, Inc., 2017 Report on
Diversity in U.S. Law Firms 9 (Dec. 2017).
One of the few unexpected results we encountered
is depicted in Figure 12, which shows that over half
of all alleged staff offenders are female. Readers
should note that only one out of four EPL claims
comes from the staff ranks (Figure 9), which likely
skews the data to some degree. A greater balance in
gender among law firm staff (as compared against the
law firm lawyer population) may also play a role in
these statistics.

Offender’s Gender | Breakdown
Figure 11
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75%

Female

25%

Offender’s Gender | Further Breakdown
Figure 12
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V. Lawsuits, Claim Frequency, and Payments by Charge Category
In addition to the foregoing figures regarding total notifications, payments, and demographics, we also examined the number
of notifications which directly led to litigation, reviewed the frequency with which each type of misconduct appeared in an
EPL notification, and analyzed total ground up payments based on both charge category and claimants’ gender. The results
are set forth below.

A. Lawsuits Filed
Figure 13 depicts the number of lawsuits filed by EPL
claimants in each policy year. The number of lawsuits
filed per policy year generally correlates with the number
of overall notifications reported per policy year, as the
2007 to 2013 policy years experienced both the greatest
number of notifications and the greatest number of
lawsuits. While spikes in filings occurred during the U.S.
economic downturn, it is unclear whether any significant
link between the two events exists.

Clearly, the number of annual lawsuits filed, as depicted
in Figure 13, is far fewer than the number of overall claims
shown in Figure 2. The relatively low number of lawsuits
filed is likely attributable to the number of EPL claims
which are settled or otherwise resolved before suit is ever
filed, as well as law firms’ use of arbitration provisions.
Recently, some firms have decided to eliminate these
mandatory arbitration provisions for their employees and
summer associates. It will be interesting to follow the
claims data in the coming years to determine whether
a decline in mandatory arbitration leads to a rise in the
number of lawsuits against law firms.

As was noted above, the data for the 2017 policy year is
incomplete. Many existing claims have not fully developed,
and the number of suits reported for more recent policy
years will likely increase.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Lawsuits Filed
Figure 13
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B. Charge Frequency by Conduct Causing the Claim
Figure 14, below, depicts the frequency of each type of
charge as a percentage of all charges levied. In the last
13 years, 1,315 individual charges of EPL misconduct
have been levied against Aon law firms. Of those charges,
more than 50% are based on some form of discrimination.
Retaliation and wrongful termination were the second and
third most frequent claims, respectively, followed by sexual
harassment and hostile work environment charges.
Figure 14 further breaks down discrimination claims
into 11 separate categories. The four major categories
of discrimination by frequency are disability, gender,
age, and race (in that order), with each garnering

between nine and eleven percent of all charges. Gender
discrimination outpaces all categories if we focus on data
from 2014–2017 only.
Two categories of charges are worthy of particular
attention. Discrimination based on sexual orientation
accounts for less than two percent of all charges, and
claims of sexual harassment make up only six percent of
all charges. The total ground up payments attributable
to these two categories, however, far outweighs their
relative frequency. This is discussed in further detail in
Section V(c), below.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Charge Frequency
Figure 14
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Interestingly, law firms experience relatively few retaliation claims as compared to employers in other industries as reported
by the EEOC. This result was unexpected, since the subjective nature of promotions, work distribution, and performance
evaluation found in law firms would seemingly expose firms to retaliation charges at a level consistent with other professions or
industries. Are lawyers, who frequently counsel clients on employment-related liability issues, accordingly better at recognizing
and avoiding retaliation-based actions than most other employers? We should hope so, but then again, legal training ought
to substantially reduce all forms of unlawful employment practices.
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C. Analysis of Ground Up Payments
Figure 15 outlines the total ground up payments of all
EPL claims based on charge category and breaks down
the ground up payments for discrimination charges into
the previously-described 11 sub-categories.

nearly identical frequency, the total ground up payments
made for retaliation significantly outpace those made for
wrongful termination.
Perhaps most notable are the numbers regarding sexual
harassment and discrimination based on sexual orientation,
which occur with relatively low frequency, but which carry
with them a relatively high severity. Sexual harassment –
which only accounts for six percent of all charges filed –
accounts for more than $21 million in ground up payments.
Similarly, discrimination based on sexual orientation – which
accounts for only 1.7% of all charges filed – accounts for
over $20 million in ground up payments.

As one might expect based on the charge frequency
set out in Figure 14, charges of discrimination, wrongful
termination, and retaliation lead the way in total ground
up payments. Among claims of discrimination, charges
of gender, age, race, and disability are among the
highest total generators of ground up payments, as is
to be expected based on charge frequency. A few of
the results, however, are particularly noteworthy. While
wrongful termination and retaliation charges occur at a

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Total Ground Up Payments by Charge Category
Figure 15
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Figure 16 details the average ground up payment by charge category and further breaks down the average ground up
payments for discrimination into the previously-delineated 11 categories. As was previously noted, average payouts for
retaliation and sexual harassment are among the highest in the dataset. Among discrimination claims, we again witness
significant payouts for gender and sexual orientation discrimination, with average payments for claims related to sexual
orientation more than tripling those of the next closest category.
A few outlying claims can skew the dataset to some degree, particularly given the relatively low frequency of charges based
on gender and sexual orientation discrimination. This distortion is more readily apparent upon viewing Figure 17, which
examines the median ground up payment by charge category. Many of the median payments more closely align with each
other across charge categories, at least when compared against average payouts. Even so, the severity exhibited by the
median payments in a few charge categories stands out.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Average Ground Up Payments by Charge Category
Figure 16
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Figure 17 shows that, while the median ground up payment for gender discrimination claims experiences a sharp drop
(when compared against the average payment), the median claim for sexual orientation discrimination remains very high.
Interestingly, the median payout for marital status discrimination nearly reaches the level of payout for sexual orientation
discrimination. While this is due in large part to the low frequency of marital status discrimination claims, the payouts are
significant, and may necessitate close scrutiny by risk managers.
The elevated median figure for defamation claims depicted in Figure 17 is also worth mentioning. Some lawyers have an
unfortunate tendency to disparage departed colleagues, whether based on a perceived need to justify a termination (both
within the firm and to firm clients), or a desire to deflect any perceived weakness or decline in the firm’s stature, whether
financial or otherwise. Whatever the reason, the consequences for speaking ill of recently-terminated colleagues are certainly
not worth any related amount of fleeting personal satisfaction.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Median Ground Up Payments by Charge Category
Figure 17
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D. Ground Up Payments by Claimant’s Gender
Figure 18, which analyzes all payments made for EPL claims based on the claimant’s gender, is of particular interest. In the left
column of Figure 18, the bar charts reveal that the sum total of ground up payments is significantly greater for female claimants.
This is not unexpected, inasmuch as 72% of all EPL claims in our study are made by women (Figure 5). What is surprising is that
the average payments are nearly identical for both male and female claimants, with a difference of less than two percent.
Numerous factors certainly play into this, including the much lower number of claims made by men. Even so, it is apparent that
claim severity pivots on the misconduct alleged and the surrounding circumstances rather than the claimant’s gender.

2005-2017 Employment Practices Liability Claims Summary
Analysis of Payments by Claimant’s Gender
Figure 18
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E.

Most Severe Claims

Claim severity matters to law firms and insurers alike. To
analyze the most severe claims, we used a cutoff of $1 million
in total ground up payments (defense and indemnity).
From 2005-2017, there were 28 claims which surpassed the
$1 million mark.
Of these 28 claims, 24 featured lawyers as claimants. This
lawyer-heavy claimant pool is largely due to the higher
compensation of lawyers relative to staff members,
thereby increasing potential damages based on both front
and back pay. Among these 24 lawyer claimants, 15 were
women. These 24 claimants were fairly evenly divided by
rank, with 10 claims coming from associates, eight from
partners and shareholders, and six from of counsel. Eleven
of the 28 severe claims contained charges of gender
discrimination, while seven contained charges of sexual
orientation discrimination. The remaining claims included
five charges of disability discrimination, five charges of
sexual harassment, four charges of race discrimination,
and three charges of age discrimination. Of the 28 claims
which surpassed the $1 million mark, 13 reached the formal
litigation stage.
The good news for law firms — such that it is — is that only
28 of the 765 notifications resulted in at least $1 million in
total ground up payments. The bad news is that $1 million
is a relatively arbitrary cutoff, and payments of less than
$1 million can still qualify as “severe,” both from a financial
and reputational standpoint.

VI. Representative Claim Scenarios
As it can be instructive to review examples of the types
of improper conduct alleged in various EPL claims, below
are a number of representative claim scenarios which
detail the various types of misconduct contained in EPL
notifications. All names and identifying information have
been removed from these descriptions.

A. Gender Discrimination
Gender discrimination claims are both relatively frequent
and relatively severe. Claimants often allege that law firms
treat women lawyers as second class citizens by denying

them access to important clients, questioning their
commitment if they work from home, and labeling them
as dramatic or difficult in response to disagreements. Other
claimants have asserted that firms fabricate performance
issues to push them out based on their gender, or based
on complaints of sexual harassment. One claimant alleged
that she was terminated based on both her gender and as
a form of retaliation, and she used this written complaint
as a vehicle to allege numerous instances of discrimination
and harassment against other female associates and staff
members at the firm. This description of a pervasive culture
of discrimination and harassment added value to the claim.
These types of “tell-all” complaints – which are not limited
to claims of gender discrimination – are a matter of concern
for firms and their insurers.

B. Workplace Romance
Workplace romance claims are common, which is
predictable, considering the frequency with which
employees in all lines of work meet their spouses and
significant others in the workplace.
In one of the claims we reviewed, a female non-equity
partner had an intimate relationship with a married male
equity partner with whom she sometimes worked on
client matters. She alleged that after the relationship
ended, she rejected the equity partner’s unwanted sexual
advances, and that he subsequently destroyed her career
at the firm. Other lawyers have similarly claimed they were
denied partnership for declining to continue to engage
in an intimate relationship with a partner. Another lawyer
claimed that she was harassed by a partner via email
after a relationship ended, which caused her to resign from
the firm.
Another fairly common scenario is one of “paramour
favoritism.” In one instance, a law firm associate brought
a hostile work environment claim based on an intimate
relationship between her supervising partner and another
female associate. She alleged that the relationship poisoned
the work environment because the partner granted the
associate with whom he was romantically involved perks
that other associates did not receive. Following a heated
argument between the two associates, the associate
purportedly voiced her concerns to firm management and
was advised to leave the firm soon thereafter.
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C. Pregnancy Discrimination
Pregnancy discrimination has long been a source of EPL
liability. While legal safeguards related to pregnancy and
maternity leave have improved in recent years, pregnancy
discrimination claims are unfortunately still relatively
pervasive.
By way of example, one associate became pregnant within
her first two years at her firm, and pregnant a second
time within a year of delivering her first child. She alleged
that the firm thereafter subjected her to a campaign of
discrimination and harassment designed to force her to
resign. She contended that she was ostracized from firm
life, denied meaningful work assignments, routinely given
an unmanageable workload, and denied vacation requests
— all while male associates returned from paternity leave
and resumed their careers unimpeded.
Other associates have claimed that supervisors treated
them unfairly upon learning of their pregnancy and
variously undercut or ruined their careers. In one instance,
a lawyer alleged that she was denied her bonus and fired
while on maternity leave, even though such leave was
consistent with the firm’s policy.

D. Sexual Orientation Discrimination
Sexual orientation claims only make up 1.7% of all notices,
but they account for a considerable portion of ground up
payments.
For instance, one senior associate claimed that she
performed at the level of a rainmaker (on the same level as
her male counterparts who also performed as rainmakers),
but received only a fraction of the pay of her male
counterparts. She further alleged a general lack of support
from the firm, due in large part to her LGBT advocacy
and related marketing efforts in the LGBT community.
Several male associates alleged that they were harassed
in various demeaning ways by male partners based on
their sexual orientation, and that their complaints of
harassment went unheeded or that they were mocked
when they complained.
A related issue is the pressure to succumb to client
demands regarding the staffing of certain matters. For
instance, one non-equity partner who participated in
pro bono activities related to LGBT rights alleged that
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the firm removed her from working on a high profile client’s
matters because the client was bothered by her sexual
orientation.
Law firms anxious to maintain good client relationships
may feel pressured to honor clients’ staffing preferences,
but law firms should not allow client staffing preferences to
govern their conduct where the reason for the requested
action is unlawful. For example, a client’s request that
an associate be discharged or taken off of a particular file
should be carefully considered for potential violations
of employment laws. See, e.g., Plessinger v. Castleman &
Haskell, 838 F. Supp. 448, 451 (N.D. Cal. 1993) (finding
that a client may not prohibit a law firm from assigning its
matters to attorneys which are part of any protected class).
In short, the fact that a law firm was responding to a client’s
unlawful staffing request rather than acting out of its own
animus will not insulate the firm against liability.

E.

Disability Discrimination

In the disability discrimination claims we reviewed, the
accused firms typically tried to reasonably accommodate
the claimant, either by remediating the harmful issue,
moving the lawyer or staff member to another office or
to another location in the same office, or mitigating the
situation in some other way. Despite these efforts, disability
claims persist, as accommodations are not always possible,
or the claimant contends that the accommodations
are not sufficient. Accordingly, it has been difficult for
our firms to dispense with these claims at the summary
judgment stage.
The disability claims we reviewed were relatively varied
and far-reaching. Firm employees have claimed that their
firms have failed to accommodate conditions such as sleep
disorders, anxiety, and time to recover from surgery. In
one instance, a law firm associate allegedly experienced
anxiety from working on high floors of buildings and
claustrophobia from riding in elevators. The associate
worked from home after her initial request for transfer
to another office was purportedly denied for lack of an
opening. The law firm allegedly denied her a second
request to transfer to another area office.
In many cases, law firms’ efforts to accommodate an
employee were not sufficient to prevent EPL claims. In
one such case, a law firm permitted a staff member who
suffered severe and chronic back and neck pain due to a

back surgery to frequently work from home. When the
firm asked the employee to increase her attendance at the
office, the employee objected and then sued. In another
case, a firm administrator with a nervous system disorder
claimed that the law firm discharged him without first
making reasonable accommodations that would have
allowed him to perform his job. The firm asserted that it
had made numerous accommodations, including providing
a flexible work schedule, allowing him to rest or go home
when tired, hiring a consultant that he requested to assist
him, and allowing him to delegate duties to subordinates.

F.

Race Discrimination

Race discrimination claims encompass charges of
discriminatory hiring practices, failure to promote, layoffs,
and a variety of alleged unfair treatment.
Examples of race discrimination claims are numerous. One
lawyer claimed that supervisors in his firm targeted him
with racial slurs, and that his complaints fell on deaf ears.
In another instance, a document specialist claimed that she
was fired on account of her race. In her claim, she alleged
that African-American workers were subjected to additional
background checks, given less desirable tasks, and rarely
offered overtime.

G. Wrongful Termination
Wrongful termination claims arise out of a myriad of
different circumstances. Retaliatory discharges allegedly
based on employee complaints are a frequent source of
claims. For instance, one associate alleged that the firm
fired him in violation of public policy after he wrote a
performance evaluation criticizing another associate
and partner. Another associate claimed that she was
constructively discharged for raising concerns about legal
and ethical violations by her law firm and its client in a case
she worked on. Still another associate asserted that the
law firm wrongfully discharged him for making an internal
complaint about two partners’ alleged false statements
on behalf of a client. Other scenarios include a claim that
a law firm discharged a staff member for standing up for a
co-worker in the co-worker’s complaint for sexual
harassment, as well as a staff member’s claim that he was
allegedly wrongfully terminated for speaking Spanish to a
co-worker.

H. Hostile Work Environment
Hostile work environment claims include various types
of bullying, intimidation, and unwelcome, demeaning
behavior, other than that which is sexual in nature. All
members of law firms are at risk of experiencing a hostile
work environment, particularly those from the staff and
associate ranks.
Some of the claims we reviewed allege a general culture of
hostility at law firms. For instance, one firm administrator
asserted a hostile work environment claim based on
his supervisor’s alleged aggressive management style,
unreasonable demands, and frequent outbursts.
Other claims concern hostile behaviors which target only
the individual claimant. For example, a staff member
at one firm sued based on his supervisor’s berating
comments, disparaging racial remarks made by other
employees, written warnings for petty offenses, and an
increased workload designed to affect his performance
level in retaliation for complaints he made about racial
discrimination. Another staff member alleged that the law
firm’s office manager singled her out for unfair treatment
based on her knowledge that a senior partner had
sexually harassed other employees at the firm. According
to the claimant, the office manager repeatedly berated
and screamed at her in front of other staff, searched her
personal items and email without permission, severely
reprimanded her for minor incidents, and demanded that
she provide medical documentation for taking two days
of sick leave when other employees were not required
to do so.

I.

Age Discrimination

Age discrimination claims present another significant
concern for law firms and insurers. Most jurors can identify
with an age discrimination claimant; after all, getting
older is a reality all of us must face. Claimants often allege
that firm management made verbal or written comments
about their age. For instance, one law firm staff member
claimed that the firm terminated his employment because
he was 60 years old, citing a manager’s purported
comments about his age and unexplained changes in his
performance reviews.
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A number of claims focus on firms allegedly forcing older
lawyers out of practice. For example, a senior partner
claimed that the law firm undermined her practice
by regularly passing off her clients and assigning her
responsibilities to younger partners. The law firm allegedly
fired her in a meeting to discuss the firm’s internal
investigation of her complaint. Similarly, a senior partner
of a law firm alleged that he was forced to transfer work to
more junior partners against his wishes and to step down
from his position as a full equity partner.
These claims can also apply to instances that occur before
an individual is hired. In one such claim, a law firm did not
hire an individual over the age of 50 who applied for an
administrative assistant position. The applicant claimed
that the law firm informed her that the firm preferred a
younger candidate, and that she believed the firm had a
bias against older employees because it had recently
discharged several employees above the age of 40.

VII. Recommendations for Managing
EPL Exposure
While there is no foolproof method for avoiding EPL
claims, firms can take a number of steps to manage risk
and limit their potential EPL exposure. The criteria and
recommendations for managing risk set forth below are
not especially novel, but they provide some baseline
guidance for law firms as they attempt to navigate the
EPL risks associated with operating a sophisticated
practice. We recognize that many firms have already taken
these steps.

A. Train Early and Often
First, firms should conduct employment practices training
on a periodic basis. Firms have increasingly requested
our assistance in developing training programs in recent
years, in no small part due to the abundance of EPL cases
circulating in the news. Even some fine law firms go years
without providing new training on employment practices,
leaving them vulnerable to allegations that the firm does not
take workplace misconduct seriously. Effective training can
not only help minimize liability exposure, but it also signals
to EPL insurers that the firm is truly focused on preventing
misconduct.
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Effective training occurs at a number of levels. New hire
orientation provides a particularly important training
opportunity, as it can provide all new members of the
firm with a foundation of firm policies and principles.
All managers and supervisors (including partners and
shareholders) should be regularly trained regarding basic
human resources management and their obligations under
employment laws. For instance, such training may outline
what constitutes discrimination, or how to properly respond
to employee complaints.

B. Review Employment Policies and Procedures
Firms should also regularly review and refine their
employment policies and procedures. While full-length
prototype firm policies are beyond the scope of this
Article, there are a few policy guidelines that all law firms
should endeavor to follow.
First, firms should generally adopt policies which prohibit
all forms of employment discrimination and harassment.
This may sound like common sense, but reducing such
prohibitions to writing may help demonstrate a firm’s
commitment to an open, accommodating, and respectful
work environment.
Second, firm policies should establish procedures which
allow employees to file a complaint to someone outside
of their immediate chain of command. Such procedures
should expressly prohibit retaliation against complaining
lawyers and staff.
Third,
firms
should
obtain
each
employee’s
acknowledgement in writing that he or she received and
reviewed the firm’s employee handbook. This is certainly
not a foolproof defense to EPL claims, but it does provide
some level of protection in the event of an EPL claim
which is specifically covered by an existing firm employee
policy, as it prevents parties from professing ignorance of
those policies.
Fourth, firms should consider adopting policies pertaining
to romantic relationships at work. Relationships between
senior lawyers and junior colleagues in their practice area
and between supervisory staff members and employees
who report to them are fraught with peril.

Finally, firms should review personnel policies to identify
any which might adversely impact disabled applicants or
employees. Law firms would be wise to conduct a thorough
analysis of workspaces and public areas to identify any
structural, architectural, or communication barriers that
may prevent access by disabled employees or clients.

Firms should afford employees an opportunity to review
their evaluations. It is also prudent to require employees to
sign all evaluations or otherwise acknowledge their receipt
to foreclose claims of surprise or misrepresentation.

C. Establish an Effective Formal
Evaluation Process

Firms must be particularly sensitive in handling the
termination process. In our experience, people who
feel that their termination was handled callously or
unprofessionally are more likely to allege that they
were terminated unlawfully.

It is important for law firms to have an effective, accurate
formal evaluation process. Ineffective or inaccurate
evaluations can make EPL claims difficult to defend, and
law firms and their insurers are placed in challenging
situations when employee evaluations do not match reality.
For example, many evaluators have a tendency to inflate
employee assessments, or to reflexively give high marks
across the board. When a highly-evaluated associate is
terminated and the reasoning used for such termination
is not reflected on formal evaluations, it becomes difficult
for firms and their insurers to defend actions alleging
wrongful termination or discrimination. There are
numerous claims in which the plaintiff was disciplined
or fired for under-performing, yet her performance
evaluations indicate that she was meeting expectations
or was performing at even a higher level. Lawyers and
supervisors who are responsible for evaluating employees
must avoid sugar-coating employees’ performance in an
effort to reduce short-term tension or avoid uncomfortable
interactions. In addition to complicating the defense of
EPL claims, inflated performance evaluations help no one
in the long run.
A few basic principles should guide a law firm’s formal
evaluation process. Formal evaluations should be fair and
candid, should be in writing, and should occur on a set
schedule. Evaluations should also be professional, and
should include proper grammar and spelling. Indeed,
it can be awkward to defend a decision to terminate an
employee based on poor work product if the evaluations
used in support of such termination are themselves
sloppy or poorly-worded. Evaluators should use objective,
numeric, or grade-based measures to assess performance
whenever possible, and should point out performance
issues in ways that do not arguably demean, degrade, or
stereotype the person being evaluated.

D. Exercise Care in Termination

To alleviate this risk, law firms should consider adhering
to a few basic guidelines regarding termination. First,
lawyers should always comply with their firm’s policies
and procedures when making and carrying out decisions
regarding termination. While this is likely a matter of
common sense, a surprising number of firms fail to
strictly adhere to their own standards in various high-risk
scenarios. This is particularly the case when a single
individual makes a key employment decision on behalf
of the firm, often without first reviewing the firm’s stated
policies and procedures.
Second, it is typically best to avoid terminating employees
based on the word or judgment of one person. Firms
should consider involving multiple people in the
decision-making process to increase the perception and
likelihood of objectivity in termination, particularly for
difficult decisions.
Third, when a decision is made to terminate someone,
any conversation to deliver that decision should include
two participants from the firm’s side. This reduces the
likelihood of a subsequent dispute about what was said in
the meeting.
Fourth, where possible, provide employees with warnings
in advance of termination. As was noted above, regular
evaluations and performance reviews are essential.
Firms should also avoid offering contrived explanations
for dismissal; for instance, firms should not hesitate to
acknowledge that a discharge is based purely on economic
circumstances.
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Finally, and as noted at the outset of this section, firms
should always discharge lawyers and staff with as much
compassion and dignity as the situation realistically permits.
Following such measures should improve relationships
with a departing employee and could lessen the chances
of an EPL claim. Professionalism in these difficult situations
may also enhance the firm’s relationship with remaining
employees.

E.

Address Gender Equity and Wage Gap Issues

Gender equity claims are an emerging area of concern.
Insurers are particularly attuned to gender equity issues,
in large part because the related statistics are unfavorable.
In 2016, a Major, Lindsey & Africa survey revealed that,
on average, male partners in large law firms are paid
44 percent more than female partners. Jeffrey A. Lowe,
2016 Partner Compensation Survey, Major, Lindsey & Africa
(2016). While there are certainly a number of case-specific
factors which explain the gulf in salary – including business
generation, hours worked, practice groups, and clients
served – firms faced with gender equity claims may have
to refute difficult empirical evidence.
EPL insurers have traditionally priced policies to address
single-plaintiff claims of wrongful conduct, but within the
past two years, prominent law firms have become targets
of class action lawsuits alleging discrimination against
female partners or shareholders in the form of pay below
that of male peers and various reduced professional
opportunities. The possibility of continued significant class
action liability by high-earning lawyers has EPL insurers on
high alert, and firms would be well-served to demonstrate a
commitment to addressing relevant gender and wage gap
issues in reasonable fashion.
In 2013, the ABA issued a number of suggestions for
achieving gender pay equity in law firm compensation.
Lauren Stiller Rikleen, ABA, Closing the Gap: A Road Map
for Achieving Gender Pay Equity in Law Firm Compensation
(2013). Some of the suggested methods include building
transparency into the compensation process; involving
a critical mass of diverse members on the compensation
committee; incorporating diversity in pitch teams and
related business-development efforts to ensure that
diverse lawyers become a part of the client team when
successful; rewarding behaviors that promote institutional
sustainability; adopting formal client succession protocols;
and establishing systems to ensure equitable compensation

22

Quality Assurance Review | Summer 2018

for partners on a reduced-hours schedule. While these
methods are certainly not foolproof, following one or
more of them may assist in addressing persistent wage
gap issues.

F.

Implement Protective Procedures

There are a few “catch-all” procedures that firms can also
implement to lessen the risk of EPL claims.
First, firms should appropriately document all EPL-related
matters to build an accurate record for the defense of any
claim. This includes documenting firm programs relating
to lawful employment practices; instances when a lawyer
or staff member is reprimanded or disciplined for specific
incidents of misconduct; descriptions of employees’
performance problems; and investigations into alleged
harassment, retaliation, or discriminatory conduct.
Second, firms should seek experienced, objective counsel
both inside and outside the firm to advise on difficult or
contentious employment law issues, particularly before
taking significant adverse employment action.
Third, firms should weigh the perceived benefits and
disadvantages of mandating arbitration as the sole means
of resolving work-related disputes with lawyers and staff.
Fourth, firms should focus not only on termination
decisions, but on “hidden” firm employment actions
that may expose the firm to liability. For example, the
interview process can be an area of risk and potential
liability. Background checks carry their own risks, as credit
reports and other related investigations generally require
employee notice and consent. Promotion decisions are
also frequent sources of consternation and carry high risk
potential. Accordingly, firms should ensure that associates
are aware of the firm’s standards for promotion to partner,
are assigned tasks which give them the opportunity for
promotion, and, at the risk of sounding like a broken
record, receive accurate annual performance evaluations.
Additionally, work assignments can be a source of
exposure, particularly where certain employees feel that
their career is significantly affected by such assignments,
or lack thereof. Firms should periodically review work
assignments to confirm appropriate distribution of work
among associates; ensure that associates are reasonably
afforded equal opportunities for professional growth;

appropriately and objectively review associates’ work
product; and remind partners or shareholders to avoid
making assignment decisions based on an individual’s
protected class.
Fifth, firms should strive for consistency and fairness in all
areas. A substantial percentage of EPL claims are at least
partially attributable to the inconsistency in the ways that
shareholders, partners, and other members of the firm treat
other lawyers and staff. Law firms should take care to avoid
making decisions in the heat of the moment; objectivity
often increases upon reflection.
Finally, firms should not speak ill of the departed. A
terminated employee’s performance issues are water
under the bridge.

VIII. Conclusion
It is safe to say that no one in the legal profession or
insurance industry views EPL as a diminishing risk for
law firms. The costs of EPL claims are material, and the
alleged theories of liability seem to be ever-expanding.
That said, law firms do have the ability to manage their
EPL exposure by conducting practical and effective
training, reviewing and updating firm guidelines,
exercising care in evaluations and terminations, and,
most fundamentally, understanding the nature of the EPL
threats they potentially face. We hope that our survey
reported here helps to illuminate the final point.
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Founded in 1978 by a group of activist women lawyers, the Women’s Bar
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Overview

In the wake of the #MeToo movement and the enormous focus on workplace behaviors that profoundly
impact careers, the Women’s Bar Association of Massachusetts (“WBA”), in partnership with the Rikleen
Institute for Strategic Leadership (“Rikleen Institute”),
developed and distributed a detailed survey to: provide
a more nuanced understanding of behaviors that take
place in the law ﬁrm environment; identify steps that
have been taken to address behaviors of concern; and
offer recommendations to help law ﬁrms provide a safe,
respectful and inclusive workplace for all employees.
This survey comes at an important moment, following
a deluge of media coverage reporting allegations of
workplace sexual harassment. This media coverage,
however, should drive every organization to look both at
and beyond sexual harassment, and to analyze its own
workplace culture with the goal of providing a safe and
respectful environment for employees every day.
Understanding whether incidents of sexual harassment
occur is one component of that goal. It is also critical
to know whether other behaviors that negatively impact
workplace culture are prevalent. Every organization
should provide a workplace free of fear, intimidation,
and any behaviors that diminish or disparage individuals or groups, even where such instances may not meet
a legal deﬁnition of harassment.
The WBA is proud to be addressing these issues in
the legal profession – a high stress environment for
everyone. People go to work each day, committed to
doing their best work on behalf of their ﬁrm’s clients,
often against a backdrop of long hours, crushing
deadlines, complex legal issues, and a host of other
considerations, including an ego and emotional investment in the outcome.
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This engagement can come at a price. People manifest their stress responses in a variety of ways that can
deeply impact those around them. Left unchecked,
these behaviors can further facilitate a cycle of negativity that imbues the entire workplace, resulting in a
culture that inhibits high performance and employee
engagement.
The goal of this survey is to develop a better understanding of whether behaviors exist in the law ﬁrm environment that negatively impact lawyers, paralegals, ﬁrm
administrators, support staff, interns, and law students.
In addition, the survey provides speciﬁc recommendations for positive change that can be of beneﬁt in any
workplace environment.
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Methodology and Limitations

Survey questions were developed to provide insight into
the possible existence of a range of behaviors that are
unwelcome, inappropriate, offensive, or otherwise contribute to an environment that negatively impacts one’s
workplace experiences. It is important to emphasize
that the questions purposefully did not focus solely on
behaviors that would meet a legal deﬁnition of harassment or that were otherwise legally actionable.
Rather, the WBA was seeking to understand the day-today experiences that people may have in the law ﬁrm
environment and determine whether there are patterns
of behaviors that negatively impact an individual’s performance and sense of well-being.
The survey was open between February 5, 2018 and
April 2, 2018. Responses were sought from individuals who work or had worked in a law ofﬁce in Massachusetts, whether or not the ﬁrm had ofﬁces in other
locations outside of the Commonwealth.
The survey was distributed in a variety of ways to ensure
widespread distribution within the Massachusetts legal
community:
1. The WBA posted a description of and link to the
study on its website.
2. The WBA distributed 6 email blasts to its 1,500
members, as well as included the survey link in
its weekly e-newsletter throughout the time the
survey was live. In each communication, the WBA
highlighted the importance of and provided a link
to the survey.
3. The WBA sent 5 separate emails to the managing
Partners of the top 100 law ﬁrms in Massachusetts, reaching ﬁrms ranging in size from approximately 20 lawyers to more than 500 lawyers,
requesting their support distributing the survey link
within their ﬁrm.

4. Massachusetts Lawyers Weekly, as a sponsoring
partner of this research project, ran a story in
advance of the survey and then promoted it extensively over several weeks via print, web and email.
5. The Massachusetts Bar Association posted a link to
the survey on its website.
6. The WBA and Women’s Bar Foundation Board
members distributed links to the survey to their
own networks, as did many others who knew of the
survey and offered to help reach a wide audience.
7. The WBA reached out to many afﬁnity bar
associations in the state to enlist their assistance
in distributing the survey link to their respective
membership.
8. Several allied organizations also distributed the
survey link to their members.
Each time the survey was distributed, the link was preceded by language stating that all responses would be
conﬁdential and no individuals or ﬁrms would be identiﬁed. The survey was open to both men and women.
In total, 1,243 individuals responded to the survey.
As is normal with surveys of this nature, not all respondents answered every question.
At the outset, the WBA anticipated that law ﬁrms –
either through ﬁrm management or via women’s afﬁnity
groups – would be willing to distribute the survey
internally, particularly in light of the fact that no ﬁrms
or individuals would be identiﬁed. Based on anecdotal responses, ﬁrm-wide distribution appears to have
occurred only on a limited basis. Although a number
of ﬁrms made survey links internally available, there
were also ﬁrms that responded to the WBA’s request by
stating they were not willing to distribute the survey,
notwithstanding the commitment of conﬁdentiality. As
a result, that avenue of outreach was less available than
had been expected. This proved to be a similar con-
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straint with respect to the WBA’s hope that there would
be wider distribution through other bar association
networks or website access.
The WBA is pleased that, notwithstanding these constraints, the results showed widespread interest and a
desire by many to share their stories. The constraints,
however, also indicate the sensitivity of the topic and
the reluctance that some feel about directly addressing
these issues in a survey of this nature.
Numerous respondents gave examples of behaviors
responsive to each question. The anecdotes that are
included give voice to the experiences described. Only
quotes that ensure the protection of the respondent’s
conﬁdentiality were selected (and in a few instances,
potentially identifying details that the respondent may
have included has been omitted for that same reason).
Moreover, quotes that are included are representative of
other quotes detailing similar experiences. Quotes that
describe unique experiences are also not included for
reasons of conﬁdentiality.
Of the respondents who answered the demographic
question regarding gender, approximately 80% were
women and approximately 17% were male; most of the
remaining 3% chose not to specify.
Respondents were also asked to identify their age range
to provide insights into which generations were responding to the survey. The distribution was relatively even
among the three major generations in the workplace. Of
those who answered this question: 36% were Millennials; 30% were in Gen X; and 33% were Boomers. Only
2% were born in the generation prior to the Boomers
(Traditionalists).
For each question, respondents were asked if there had
been a woman on the ﬁrm’s highest governing committee at the time of the incident(s); however, because only
a very small number responded to this subpart in each
of the questions, there is insufﬁcient information to
report this data.
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Respondents were asked to identify approximately
when the behaviors identiﬁed in this survey occurred.
The purpose was to determine whether the preponderance of the behaviors happened in past decades, as
compared to more recent years, to see whether such
behaviors were diminishing over time. The time periods
that respondents could select were by decade, beginning with 1980-1989.
For each question, a signiﬁcant percentage of the
respondents stated that the incidents occurred between
2010 and 2018. This makes clear that these behaviors are not relics of a past era, but are contemporary
concerns.
The highest percentage of afﬁrmative responses in that
2010-2018 time-frame was for question 11, regarding whether others in the ﬁrm had spoken with the
respondent about workplace behaviors that made them
uncomfortable. This response is interesting on two
levels. First, it is another indication that negative workplace behaviors remain a challenge. Second, it may also
demonstrate that people are more willing to identify and
discuss – at least among themselves – concerns about
behaviors that, decades ago, were buried in silence.
There are inherent limitations in any method of inquiry.
Accordingly, these survey results should not be viewed
as offering deﬁnitive conclusions about the legal profession overall. Rather, the results offer a snapshot in time
that provides a more nuanced understanding of the
experiences of individuals in law ﬁrms.
As noted above, this survey was not designed to deﬁne
sexual harassment or otherwise focus only on behaviors
that might be considered to fall within a legally actionable deﬁnition. It is intended to seek information about
the possible presence of a broad range of behaviors
that can inhibit employee engagement and diminish
an individual’s self-worth or ability to perform at work
without fear or discomfort, notwithstanding whether
such behaviors are technically legal.
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The responses to this survey suggest that much work
needs to be done to ensure that law ﬁrms are providing
a workplace culture where negative behaviors are not
tolerated and where people can work without fear. The
analysis and recommendations that follow are in the
spirit of facilitating conversations that can help the
legal profession serve as a model for self-reﬂection and,
ultimately, the implementation of practices that allow
all personnel to thrive in a safe, respectful, and inclusive environment.
The WBA and the Rikleen Institute for Strategic Leadership are deeply grateful to the women and men who
took the time to respond to this important survey. We
are conﬁdent that their efforts have made a positive
contribution to improving the workplace.
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Executive Summary

It is critical to highlight at the outset that, although
many of the details provided by the respondents are
disturbing, they are examples of behaviors that occur in
other workplace settings across the country. One need
only follow the numerous and comprehensive media
accounts covering multiple industries to recognize that
too many people face seriously ﬂawed workplace cultures that impact workers on a frequent basis. The legal
profession is not alone in facing these challenges.
Lawyers have an opportunity to serve as leaders by
addressing these issues in their individual workplace
and putting in place mechanisms across the profession
that ensure the highest standards are met. Lawyers are
the gatekeepers to our justice system; accordingly, they
have a unique opportunity to serve as role models to
other professions and businesses, to our clients, and to
our employees.
Unchecked power imbalance serves as the foundation
for and perpetuation of negative and inappropriate
behaviors in the workplace. This is a clear theme that
emerged from the responses to each question. In the
vast majority of responses, the incidents described happened to individuals in the age range of associates, or
to others in the ﬁrm who were young or were otherwise
in a subordinate role.
Power imbalances also emerged in the ways in which
negative behaviors were or were not addressed. For
example, many of the experiences described by the
respondents were perpetrated by partners and, frequently, important rainmakers or senior leaders in the
ﬁrm. Because of their status, respondents did not report
the behaviors, often because they feared retribution or
because the people they would report to were involved
in the incidents described. Respondents pointed to
examples where ﬁrms ignored negative behaviors of
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key partners, or where retribution was taken against
those who did report. This was particularly the case
where ﬁrms did not seem to have a process in place to
protect those who reported or felt victimized by alleged
negative behaviors.
A number of respondents stated that they discussed
the offending incidents with a female partner. In most
such cases, the respondent also noted that there was
no follow up and that no action was taken. There was
generally no indication that the women who were told
had a position of authority within the ﬁrm or otherwise
had any power to follow up without repercussions. Yet
we know from the extensive body of research regarding
women in the profession that women are under-represented in law ﬁrm leadership roles, particularly at the
management or executive committee level. It is possible
that some of the senior women may themselves have
felt vulnerable and without power to act on inappropriate situations brought to their attention. In ﬁrms
with relatively few, if any, women equity partners and
where women may not be serving in key ﬁrm management roles, it is difﬁcult to place the expectations for
addressing these behaviors on a woman partner, if that
partner does not have the authority to take the necessary steps to follow up.
Reporting is also inhibited by the pressure to “go along
with” or otherwise accept inappropriate comments as
“just a joke”. Respondents reported numerous incidents
of ofﬁce conversations that were racist, sexist, homophobic, xenophobic, and offensive to individuals and groups.
Too often, however, there was clear pressure in the
workplace to avoid being viewed as humorless or as not a
team player.
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Analysis

1) Have you ever been the recipient of or copied on
unwelcome emails, texts, or instant messages of a
personal or sexual nature at work?
Nearly 38% of the respondents to this question stated
that they had been the recipient of or copied on an
unwelcome email, text, or instant message of a personal
or sexual nature at work. Nearly half stated that the
incident occurred between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 1

Percentage

Yes

37.50%

No

62.50%

t

t

More than two-thirds of those responding to this question were Associates at the time of the incident, 10%
were Partners, and approximately 18% were in Administrative, Paralegal, and Support Personnel roles.
t
Approximately three-quarters of the respondents who
provided information about the size of their ﬁrm at the
time of the incident were in ofﬁces with fewer than 50
lawyers.
More than 66% of those responding to this question
stated that they did not report the incident.

t

t
t

Reported

Percentage

No

66.67%

Yes

33.33%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 1
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Numerous examples of sharing images of sexually
explicit photos (some photo-shopped to look as
though it were a colleague). Many described the
distribution of graphic images such as adult porn

t

or links to videos that respondents described as
“vulgar” and “inappropriate”. In some examples,
images seemed meant to ridicule same-sex
relationships.
Numerous examples of emails that included
offensive jokes of a sexual nature, or included
inappropriate and demeaning remarks about race
and gender. Some described emails that ridiculed
others or that made the recipients uncomfortable,
such as negatively commenting on maternity leaves
and commentary defending individuals in the news
accused of sexual harassment.
Partners and senior colleagues (some married
or engaged) sending cards or emails expressing
romantic interest in younger colleagues. Some
respondents described persistent communications
that felt as though the senior colleague was exerting pressure.
Partners, senior colleagues, and clients sending
comments of a sexual nature either via email or
text.
Inappropriate text messages from lawyers in supervisory roles, commenting on the physical appearance of young female lawyers.
Sexually-charged telephone calls, or instant messages, including from inebriated colleagues.
Senior colleagues sharing details of marital
problems.
Senior colleagues expressing anger in emails
through graphic descriptions.

Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
The respondents provided detailed insights into their
reasons for not reporting behaviors to others in the ﬁrm.
In many instances, the offending behavior came from
someone in a position of direct authority or power over
the victim. As a respondent in a small ﬁrm who felt
there was nowhere to turn described:
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… As far as I know nothing was said or done
because it was the owning attorney who made the
comment who was known to be offensive to women
and all kinds of different subcultures. It was an
employee-at-will ofﬁce and he was known to dismiss/
ﬁre/lay people off on a whim. It was a terrible ofﬁce to
work for.
Many stated that they based their decision not to report
on the experiences of others who reported in the past.
One respondent best summarized this line of comments:
People who had been subjected to their advances
and reported the issues were no longer employed
there and these men were. Is there anything more to
be said?
Some respondents tolerated frequent advances received
via both email and directly because they feared even
more negative repercussions from reporting. For example, a lawyer described why she did not report recurrent
romantic overtures from a married partner:
I was young and naïve, hoping that it had been a onetime indiscretion on his part and that this was not a
pattern of activity. I didn’t want to ruin his career and
family … but he certainly derailed mine for a period
of time.
Another stated:
Would have impacted my review and ability to remain
on partner track. Would not have been viewed as a
team player.
Similarly, a respondent who was the recipient of vulgar
and inappropriate emails noted:
It’s my boss, an equity partner, and our HR dept. is
useless. It would only jeopardize my job.

Some who did share their concerns with others in a
more senior role stated that the behaviors were dismissed as in keeping with the offender’s personality.
For example, a respondent described the inappropriate
texts and uninvited touching she’d experienced from
others, including a partner, and noted:
Told multiple supervisors … and was told the comments I was receiving were typical from the individual
so don’t worry about it. I told one female supervisor
when it got to be unbearable and she did report it.
I told a male supervisor (of another instance) and
it was immediately reported. However, once it was
reported, I was told this individual is notoriously inappropriate so … just move on.
A respondent describing sexual comments received
from partners similarly stated:
It was ﬁrm culture. When discussed, it was dismissed.
Numerous respondents described negative consequences that followed from discussing their concerns internally. For example, a respondent described the retaliation
she experienced after reporting emails that denigrated
women:
[One of the partners who wrote the emails] retaliated
with a false, critical performance review.
A respondent who was the recipient of many unsolicited
romantic emails from a senior lawyer stated:
Spoke to female coworker and friend. No follow up
actions took place. Eventually I was asked to leave
the ﬁrm.

Still another did not report suggestive texts and inappropriate touching because of:

In some instances, respondents noted that, although no
steps were taken within the ﬁrm to ofﬁcially address the
behaviors, they did receive an apology. Another stated
that after an attorney inadvertently sent an inappropriate email to the entire ﬁrm:

Concern for repercussions in ability to get billable
work.

HR followed up within the ﬁrm with some mandatory
training.
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2) Have you ever been the recipient of or witnessed
unwelcome physical contact at work?
More than 21% of the respondents to this question
stated that they had been the recipient of or witnessed
unwelcome physical contact at work. Of these, 36%
stated that the incident occurred between 2010 and
2018.
QUESTION 2

Percentage

Yes

21.56%

No

78.44%

Nearly 51% of the respondents to this question were
Associates at the time of the incident, 9% were Partners, and the Administrative, Paralegal, and Support
Personnel categories exceeded 33%.
Approximately 47% of the respondents who provided
information about the size of their ﬁrm at the time of
the incident were in ofﬁces with fewer than 50 lawyers;
40% were in ofﬁces of 100 lawyers or greater.
More than two-thirds of those responding to this question stated that they did not report the incident.
Reported

Percentage

No

68.02%

Yes

31.97%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 2
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Nearly all of the respondents who provided anecdotes reported examples of unwanted and unsolicited hugging, back-rubbing, groping, shoulder rubs,
kissing, and lewd comments.
t Numerous respondents described inappropriate
groping and other forms of unwanted physical
contact during holiday parties and at other social
gatherings where there was alcohol.
t Many respondents reported witnessing inappropriate behavior by male colleagues towards younger
female associates or staff members.

t

t

Several respondents identiﬁed examples of men
leering, staring at various parts of a female’s
anatomy, and standing or walking or “brushing by”
inappropriately close.
Several respondents described incidents early in
their career where their boss would proposition
them or offer suggestions for ways to dress that
would appeal to clients, or otherwise ﬂirt with them.

One respondent, describing numerous examples of
“virtually on a daily basis” being propositioned, then
bullied when those advances were resisted, stated:
It created emotional, ﬁnancial and professional
turmoil in my life which continues … I hope that
this survey demonstrates how much even lawyers
feel hopeless and incapable of standing up to sexual
harassment in a law ﬁrm.
Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
In so many responses to this question, respondents
were more likely to stay silent than report offensive
or unwanted contact. Most of the respondents who
provided anecdotes of unwelcome physical contact
focused on the power imbalance as the reason for not
reporting concerns about more senior and often powerful colleagues. In particular, they frequently expressed
concern about damaging their career opportunities, for
example:
I was an intern, I wanted a job or good recommendations for future jobs.
A respondent described a married partner’s persistent
physical contact when they would be working together.
She explained her reason for remaining silent:
I was an associate close to partnership. He would
vote on my partnership.
A respondent described inappropriate touching by a
colleague and stated her concern about the possible
repercussion to her young career:
I believed that reporting my male colleague would
result in my termination.
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Another respondent who described an incident of
inappropriate touching stated:
Partner who did this was very popular/made lots of
money for the ﬁrm and if one of us had to go it would
have been me.
One respondent in a small ﬁrm noted:
Firm had culture of demanding compliance with inappropriate behavior to “belong,” the ﬁrm’s small size
meant that the management committee was overly
concerned with protecting partners at all costs ….
Others observed that no actions had been taken with
respect to past allegations, so there was no reason to
expect a different result in the future. For example, a
respondent stated:
Prior complaints about male partner behavior were
not heeded. Firm prioritized workplace experience
of partners over associates. Size of ﬁrm and power
dynamic … rendered associates without power and
required compliant behavior to keep employment.
Another respondent who also described multiple incidents of inappropriate contact and comments by both a
male partner and a senior associate stated:
I spoke to friends and peers. [G]iven the treatment
of senior people who committed far more egregious
acts, what would be the point in raising the issue?
Another described incidents of partners trying to date
associates and noted:
The ﬁrm was aware of the behavior already and did
nothing. Firms care about rainmaking more than
associates.
A number of respondents informally shared information
with lawyers in their ﬁrms who were more senior, but
were told to treat the remarks or behaviors as a joke.
This type of response was recurrent. A respondent who
reported unsolicited touching stated:
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It was treated as a joke and we just had to put up
with it.
A respondent described being inappropriately touched
with regularity and stated:
Told senior partners and it became a joke. Not taken
seriously.
Similarly, a respondent described a senior partner who
frequently engaged in unwelcome physical contact,
noting:
The senior partner was enormously powerful and
popular, and furthermore his conduct was well-known
and done in front of other partners and the senior
managing partner – and the employment partner – on
a regular basis. People who complained about this
and other forms of harassment were told they had no
sense of humor…. What’s the point?
In other instances, people shared a warning system to
alert others:
This man’s behavior was so well-known that a male
partner once asked me to warn a new female … associate about him.
Another described her efforts to warn:
That individual had a reputation for hitting on young
women, whether paralegals, summer clerks or associates and I did my best to warn those coming in to the
ﬁrm to stay clear of him.
Others shared examples of where efforts to inform
others more senior in the ﬁrm were unheeded. One
respondent noted:
I told multiple people including partners. I did not
want to make a formal report. No follow up actions
took place.
Another respondent described multiple incidents of
unwanted physical contact, stating:
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Told head of HR … but asked that it be off the
record. Also told male colleagues, venting. Nothing
ever happened to my knowledge.
In many of the responses provided, fears of retaliation appeared warranted. Respondents who did report
told of circumstances in which they were the target of
retaliation. For example, one respondent described her
response to a partner’s groping and other unwanted
physical contact:
I was nervous about mentioning it to HR, so I ﬁrst
told co-workers and some of the younger attorneys.
They were … unsure of the repercussions of reporting
an equity partner of the ﬁrm. [Described process by
which another equity partner assisted with follow up.]
The situation was handled but some of the long-term
attorneys blamed me ….
Respondents described a variety of retaliatory actions,
but all had career impacts. Stated one:
Ultimately I was given less and less work after that
until I left the ﬁrm.
Some respondents told of providing information conﬁdentially to a more senior lawyer, to help others identify
patterns in the future, for example:
[I] told a female senior partner, said I didn’t want
to make a formal complaint but wanted someone to
know in case things escalated.
Several respondents noted speciﬁc examples where
bystander intervention – usually by male colleagues –
immediately halted the improper behavior. For example,
an attorney who witnessed offensive comments being
made by a partner to an associate at a social event
where people were drinking stated:
Spoke directly [with the] female associate informing
her that I saw the offense as very serious and would
address it [with] my partners. Notiﬁed [person who
handles employment issues within the ﬁrm]. Notiﬁed
all partners. The offending partner was spoken to.

No direct punishment but I think damage to his
reputation.
In another instance where a male was inappropriately
touching and making suggestive comments to female
law clerks, bystander intervention helped when male
coworkers collectively told the offending lawyer his
behavior was unacceptable.
Several noted that they cut off contact with the individual involved by moving to a different location in the ﬁrm
or changing practice groups.
3) Have you ever felt that someone was trying to
engage you in unwelcome discussions (including
through comments or actions) of a sexual nature?
More than 25% of the respondents to this question
stated they felt someone had tried to engage them in
unwelcome discussions of a sexual nature. Of these,
approximately 35% stated that the incident occurred
between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 3

Percentage

Yes

25.38%

No

74.62%

Of those who responded to this question, nearly 70%
were Associates at the time of the incident, slightly
more than 6% were Partners, and the Administrative,
Paralegal, and Support Personnel categories comprised
21%.
Nearly 56% of the respondents who provided information about the size of their ﬁrm at the time of the
incident were in ofﬁces with fewer than 50 lawyers,
21% were in ofﬁces with between 50 and 99 lawyers,
and 23% were in ofﬁces of 100 lawyers or more.
Nearly 75% of those who responded to this question
did not report the behavior.
Reported

Percentage

No

73.91%

Yes

26.08%
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Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 3
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Male lawyers demeaning young women in front
of male colleagues or clients through sexual
references.
t Discussions of extra-marital affairs, sexual escapades, or sexual fantasies.
t Senior male colleagues moving conversations from
the professional to personal issues.
t Frequent vulgar or sexualized jokes and remarks
that objectify women.
t Prying into the personal and sex lives of women in
the ﬁrm.
t Direct sexualized and objectifying comments to
women about their physical appearance or the
physical appearance of others.
t Sexualized comments, innuendos, or propositions
made at or after ﬁrm social events at which alcohol
was served.
t Leering and comments directed at summer associates by partners and senior associates.
t Inappropriate comments, unsolicited touching, and
prying questions to LGBT lawyers, prying into their
sexual life.
Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Many respondents expressed an unwillingness to report
these behaviors. Reasons centered on the lack of a
clear avenue for reporting, the involvement of senior
leaders in the behaviors, and concerns about negative
repercussions. For example, one respondent observed:
I didn’t have a supervisor. There was no person or
process for reporting. [I]f I had tried to make an issue
of it I would have lost my job.
A respondent who did not report a partner’s highly
sexualized comments noted:
It’s my boss, an equity partner, and our HR is useless.
It would only negatively impact my job.
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Another respondent discussing a culture of vulgar or
sexualized jokes stated:
I was a young associate in a virtually all-male
department and afraid I would be perceived as not
“ﬁtting in.”
Similarly, a respondent observed:
It was expected and accepted behavior by other
partners and staff.
Long-term career impacts loomed large in the calculation many respondents made in deciding whether they
had any place to turn within the ﬁrm. A respondent
who was the recipient of frequent lewd comments and
behaviors stated:
Fear of retribution, fear of rocking the boat as a brand
new attorney with no status in the ﬁrm yet, desire to
be seen as a “chill”, non-dramatic team member….
My career was directly in these partners hands, since
even ﬁrst year associates were beholden to partners
for feeding them work in a vassal/feudal sort of
structure the ﬁrm insisted on maintaining.
Another respondent who endured frequent comments
about her body and sexual innuendos noted she did
nothing because the behaviors were:
Part of the … culture; the comments came from
senior partners; and there was no one to report to
whom I considered to be sympathetic to the issues.
Also, fear of retaliation.
A respondent described explicit overtures that were
made and stated:
The transgressor was the managing partner and there
was no one else to go to.
Many respondents described sharing their stories with
others, but not reporting to anyone with authority within
the ﬁrm. A respondent who was the frequent recipient
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of improper comments explained why she spoke only to
friends and peers:
No sense in reporting. These individuals had had
indiscretions and improper conduct with subordinates
that had been reported and known and they were still
with the employer and the women were not.
Some respondents noted that they shared information
with a woman partner, for example:
I reported [the behaviors] to a female partner. No
follow up.
A respondent who did not report an uncomfortable
proposition from a married partner while she was an intern also revealed how continued silence fuels ongoing
inappropriate behaviors:
Later on, I did [speak] with a female partner and I did
tell her, and she said she was not surprised to hear
the story.
A respondent who did not report a partner’s frequent
sexualized comments and demeaning remarks noted a
satisfactory result when the behavior was ﬁnally reported:
At the time, I just ignored it. Eventually someone else
reported it and this person was asked to leave the
ﬁrm due to other inappropriate behavior.
Several respondents reported that they handled the
situations by confronting the offending lawyer directly,
sometimes with positive results:
I dealt with it myself. I also think the person who
engaged in the conduct would not do it again to me
or anyone else at work.
Similarly, another respondent reported a successful
result when direct action was ﬁnally taken:
It ﬁnally stopped when I confronted the people
involved about it and explained why I thought their
actions were a problem. It took me a couple of years

to do that.
4) Have you ever witnessed materials or items of a
sexual or disparaging nature, including sexual
images, displayed in your workplace?
Slightly more than 10% of those who responded to
this question stated that they had witnessed materials
or items of a sexual or disparaging nature displayed in
the workplace. Of these, 36% stated that the incident
occurred between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 4

Percentage

Yes

10.22%

No

89.78%

Nearly 54% of those responding were Associates at the
time of the incident, almost 17% were Partners, and
the combined categories of Administrative, Paralegal,
and Support Personnel comprised approximately 22%.
Approximately 75% of the respondents who provided
information about the size of their ﬁrm at the time of
the incident were in ofﬁces of fewer than 50 lawyers.
More than 72% of those responding did not report the
incident.
Reported

Percentage

No

72.83%

Yes

27.16%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 4
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Content displayed on a computer, including inappropriate screen-saver images as well as watching
porn.
t Sexual posters or other images in rest rooms and
ofﬁce areas.
t Attorneys sending or sharing pornographic emails or
images.
Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Respondents generally did not report these behaviors,
stating that, in most instances, it was already known
Survey of Workplace Conduct and Behaviors in Law Firms
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and, in other instances, they did not want to risk
retaliation. For example, one respondent said:
[P]erhaps cowardice; but more likely a strong desire
to remain employed and meaningfully engaged within
my practice, without imaginable retaliation.
Another described her reluctance to report attorneys
who shared sexual images:

More than a third of those responding to this question
stated that they had witnessed incidents of disparagement of others at work in a way that made them feel
uncomfortable. Of these, more than 50% stated that
the incident occurred between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 5

Percentage

Yes

35.31%

No

64.69%

I feared that I would be ostracized/retaliated against.
Several respondents stated that their supervisors were
involved in the offending conduct, rendering reporting
futile. Others stated that they just ignored the images or
put it out of their mind.
Some respondents reported instances of pornography
with mixed results. One respondent noted that inappropriate graphic imagery was reported to two partners,
including the Managing Partner:
I expected that the individual who was engaged in the
action I reported would be spoken to but I learned
that did not take place.
One respondent took an effective route by reporting
pornography on another lawyer’s computer to the IT
department:
Notiﬁed our IT department and personnel to make
sure the computer was purged and blocked.
A respondent who did not report a co-worker’s excessive
watching of porn stated that, after the behavior was reported by someone else, the individual was terminated.
5) Have you ever witnessed any incidents of
disparagement of other people or groups in the
workplace that made you feel uncomfortable?

Approximately 69% of those responding to this
question were Associates, 10% were Partners, and the
combined categories of Administrative, Paralegals, and
Support Personnel comprised more than 17%.
More than 60% of the respondents were in ofﬁces of
fewer than 50 lawyers and nearly 25% were in ofﬁces
of 100 lawyers or more.
Nearly 75% did not report the incident to a co-worker
or supervisor.
Reported

Percentage

No

74.24%

Yes

25.75%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 5
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Slurs and demeaning comments about race, gender,
religion, and sexual orientation.
t Disparaging or inappropriate comments about pregnancy, maternity leaves, or status as a mother.
t Negative behaviors towards minorities, women, and
older workers.
t Women partners dismissive of experiences of
younger female lawyers with respect to work-life
choices.
t Anti-immigrant comments.
t Ageist comments.
One respondent commented on her three decades in
the profession, including multiple workplaces:
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Many, many, many, many, many (seems like countless)
derogatory remarks about people of color, people of
different ethnicity, gay bashing, transgender bashing
from all levels (clients, coworkers, management) in
every single position, every single ﬁrm I have held/
worked for throughout my 30 year career. I wish I
could say I was exaggerating but, alas, I am not….
Believe me when I say all kinds of ‘isms in
Massachusetts are alive, well and thriving throughout
all different kinds of law ﬁrms, throughout all
different levels.
Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Respondents who did not report disparaging comments
that they witnessed or that were made directly to them
offered reasons similar to the responses in prior questions for remaining silent: no expectation that anything
would be done; the engagement of senior leadership
in the behaviors; and the belief that, by reporting, the
respondent would be labeled as humorless.
One respondent described the frustration of seeing
behaviors continue unchecked across the span of the
respondent’s career, which included multiple law ﬁrms:
Many comments were made by management which
does not encourage one to report anything. The
comments that were made by co-workers I tried to
address myself to no avail. The few times I have
mentioned things to management they were swept
under the rug as a non-issue. When this happens
more times than not, you just stop reporting the
micro-aggressions and learn how to live/deal with it to
the best of your ability.
Many respondents noted the power imbalance that
enabled lawyers to act with impunity. One such respondent noted:
He was one of the controlling rainmakers in the ﬁrm.
No one said no to him or could control him.
Another respondent commented on the power
imbalance that prevented a response to a culture of
“demeaning racial/ethnic jokes”:

I was a young associate in a predominately male
department afraid of being perceived as not ﬁtting in.
A respondent who did not report what she saw as
anti-immigrant and misogynistic comments observed:
They mostly knew and did nothing about it, so the
expectation was that even if they were told of something new they would still not do anything about it.
Another respondent described a culture of
“innumerable sexist, homophobic, racist, anti-Semitic
comments,” noting:
[I] did not feel empowered to do so as associate who
needed job to pay student loans and support young
family etc.
One respondent did not report frequent observations of
disparaging treatment of support staff by partners:
Because I had no power. Instead, I looked for a new
job.
An LGBT attorney described a culture of frequent
disparaging jokes against multiple targets and that such
comments were “ … never aggressively offensive, but
deniable in the just-joking-around context.” The respondent stated why reporting did not feel like an option:
Culturally accepted in the ﬁrm. Had no faith in ability
to change the culture.
A young lawyer who did not report shared the pain
experienced from hearing disparaging comments about
immigrants:
I was a diverse scholarship winner at the time and I
didn’t know how to even begin to explain how hurtful
it was to hear people in the ﬁrm make jokes about
immigrants and other minorities. I had higher expectations for the ﬁrm ….
Respondents frequently described a culture where the
comments were expected to be viewed as humorous. As
one respondent stated:
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There was no point – such remarks and commentary were routinely tolerated and brushed aside as
“jokes”. Reporting would only jeopardize my position.
I would be viewed as someone who “can’t take a
joke”. Reporting would not have brought about a
positive change.
Another, describing ongoing crude commentary, noted
that a:
… toxic culture of inappropriate behavior was tolerated and laughed off. There was a feeling that there
was no point in reporting.
Numerous respondents stated that there was no one to
report to, as those in charge were part of the problem,
for example:

I informed the managing partner. To my knowledge,
no steps were taken to resolve the issue.
In other instances, respondents who tried to report
were told to ﬁgure out how to avoid the individual or
improve the relationship. For example, one respondent
described her effort to report a female partner’s disparagement of her pregnancy and status as a mother (a
situation described by several respondents):
I told an equity partner.… He told me that if I wanted
to become a partner, I had to get this female partner
to like me more.
Some stated they tried to shut down the conversation
when offensive stereotyped comments were made, as
this respondent indicated:
Most of the time, I just told them to stop.

The comments were made by or to the person to
whom I would have reported.

A partner in a leadership role described responding to a
lawyer who openly expressed bigoted views:

Similarly, another noted:
Everyone I would report the conduct to is always in
the room when it happens.

I … immediately addressed this issue with the person
and it never happened again and nobody ever told
me that they had heard any derogatory remarks or
discriminatory remarks from him after this.

A few respondents gave examples of an HR structure
that declined to get involved. For example, one respondent who reached out to HR with concerns about
discriminatory behaviors against women stated:

A few respondents described a reporting process that
worked. One respondent noted:

I informed the HR manager, who said the Partners
were “out of touch” and told me to ignore them.

In fact, we have reporting systems in place at my
current ofﬁce. I know of incidents witnessed by
co-workers that have been reported and are being
addressed by HR/management.

Another stated:
HR was present when senior partner made disparaging comments and did nothing.
In some cases, reports of disparaging comments were
made, but no follow up feedback was provided. For
example, a respondent described a senior attorney’s
disparaging treatment of support staff and noted:
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One respondent described the eventual termination of
an equity partner who continued to make disparaging
comments, notwithstanding after efforts to coach and
monitor his behavior:
I told our local managing partner and the ﬁrm’s managing partner.… After attempting coaching, sensitivity training, and months of supervising his behavior,
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the ﬁrm eventually ﬁred him.
A respondent described responses to several incidents
of disparaging comments and behavior, including at a
social event and another in the ofﬁce:
As to the misbehavior [at the social event], it was
widely reported, and the ﬁrm disciplined the partners
involved and held trainings throughout the ﬁrm. As
to the other one, the … department investigated and
reprimanded the person.
6) Have you been present when comments or jokes
were made that were sexual in nature or
disparaging of other people or groups?
This question garnered the highest percentage of
afﬁrmative responses, with 40% of those responding to
this question stating that they had been present when
comments or jokes were made that were sexual in
nature or disparaging of other people or groups. Of
these, approximately 40% stated that the incident
occurred between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 6

Percentage

Yes

40.23%

No

59.77%

More than 65% of those who responded to this question
were Associates at the time of the incident, 11% were
Partners, and the combined categories of Administrative, Paralegal, and Support Personnel comprised 21%.
Approximately 58% of those responding to this question were working in ofﬁces of fewer than 50 lawyers
and approximately 28% were in ofﬁces with 100
lawyers or more.
Nearly 87% stated that they did not report the information to a co-worker or someone in a supervisory role, the
question with the highest percentage of non-reporting
respondents in the survey.
Reported

Percentage

No

86.66%

Yes

13.33%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 6
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Frequent gender-based jokes and efforts at
humorous commentary focusing on women’s
bodies, speciﬁcally relating to breasts, sexuality,
weight, and maternal status.
t Frequent jokes and commentary by men referencing their sexual fantasies or joking about sexual
exploits.
t Frequent jokes that involve race, religion, sexual
orientation, and gender.
t Inappropriate jokes told at events where alcohol
was served; sometimes the jokes were told publicly,
as part of a lawyer’s ofﬁcial remarks, and sometimes privately within social groups.
Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Many respondents to this question described off-color
or disparaging humor as “pervasive” or “too many incidents to describe.” Most did not report the incidents.
Consistent with the reasons provided in other questions,
many felt fearful of retaliation or that there was no one
to report to, particularly because of the status of the
offending individual. In many instances, these types of
remarks felt like part of the ﬁrm culture.
Several respondents described the conﬂict between the
danger of appearing humorless compared to the sense
of being worn down by the continued stream of insulting
remarks. A respondent commented on her reaction to
frequent disparaging jokes about women:
This kind of commentary was tolerated and accepted
as part of the culture. Reporting would not bring
about a change and would only negatively impact
my career. Additionally, a single comment can easily
be brushed aside as a joke – one almost feels silly/
doesn’t want to be viewed as being too serious about
any one offhand comment.
Similarly, a respondent observed:
It seemed like it was expected and “normal,” and I
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was too junior to complain.
Another noted that jokes about females were “pervasive”:

In a few instances, respondents spoke of off-color jokes
as “locker room talk” or “banter” that was not harmful,
so they did not feel a need to report the remarks.

People in highest positions do it. It’s a “joke.”
Again, the status of the individuals making the
comments seemed to serve as an inoculation against a
negative response, for example:
Such behavior and statements are typical of this
senior partner, and after repeated instances of such,
there is an understanding that there are no repercussions for this person, so there is no reason or person
to report this to.
Another respondent stated why she did not report
graphic joking from a partner:
The ﬁrm had a history of ousting women who reported issues. He was a practice group co-leader at the
point. We were junior associates. We preferred to stay
employed.
A respondent further highlighted this point:
I reported this to a female partner. She agreed this
was despicable but nothing was ever done because
the partner who made the comments was a big
rainmaker.
One respondent observed how the power imbalance can
shift over time, depending on one’s status within the ﬁrm:
On most occasions, I was in a position to tell them to
stop. When I wasn’t a partner, I felt my job would be
in jeopardy.
Several respondents described sexually charged jokes at
ﬁrm social events. One noted:
Those were the guys in power. No good would have
come from reporting these incidents. I would have
been ostracized.
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One respondent highlighted senior partner support
that stands as an example of a useful intervention.
Describing graphic stories being told to a group during
a break in a meeting, the senior partner left the room
with the associate and further made it clear that the
associate should never feel pressured to remain in such
a situation.
In another positive example, a respondent described
disparaging jokes made by a more senior lawyer and
then noted the follow up:
I spoke with a[n] … attorney, who brought me to a
very senior female attorney.… She talked with me
about options for what could be done, and let me
choose. She did what I asked (which was for her to
speak with this guy). She spoke with him, and he
apologized (it seemed sincere).
A respondent who very directly “let offenders know
this was verboten” noted her valid reason for doing so
without worry about retribution:
I am the boss.
7) Have you ever been asked personal questions or
questions of a sexual nature that made you feel
uncomfortable?
Nearly 16% of those responding to this question noted
that they had been asked personal questions or questions of a sexual nature that made them uncomfortable.
Of these, approximately 41% stated that the incident
occurred between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 7

Percentage

Yes

15.80%

No

84.20%
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Sixty-seven percent of those who responded afﬁrmatively were Associates at the time of the incident and
less than 5% were Partners. The combined categories
of Administrative, Paralegal, and Support Personnel
exceeded 22%.
Nearly two-thirds of the respondents were in ofﬁces of
fewer than 50 lawyers; more than 28% reported being
in ofﬁces of 100 lawyers or more.
More than 78% said they did not report the incidents to
a co-worker or supervisor.
Reported

Percentage

No

78.57%

Yes

21.42%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 7
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Male lawyers asking pregnant women detailed
questions about their physical condition, including
questions about their breasts.
t New mothers being asked detailed questions about
breastfeeding.
t Women asked questions about their age and their
personal life such as whether they were married or
engaged, and when they planned to have children.
t Men commenting on speciﬁc physical aspects of a
woman (as distinct from a generic compliment).
t People being asked about their sexual orientation.
t People being asked questions about their sexual
relationships.
t Clients asking questions of a sexual nature.

you worry what reporting would do to your own career.
It wasn’t worth the risk.
A number of respondents stated that they did not report
because they feared a diminished reputation in the
ﬁrm. For example, a respondent who was asked highly
inappropriate questions on multiple occasions noted:
[The concerns were] uncomfortable to talk about, not
the only one who has experienced this and nothing is
done about it. If something was done it would likely
hurt my professional relationship with the attorney(s)
involved as well as others at the ﬁrm.
Similarly, another respondent who described her personal discomfort with sexualized questions stated:
Who wants to be known as the person who complained about something, rather than known for my
skills?
In many of the examples provided, and similar to the
responses in other questions, respondents stated that
they did not report the behaviors because the person
to whom they would report was the person making the
comments, for example:
The supervisor was the perpetrator. [I]t was either my
career or report the comment(s). I was not going to
let his actions hinder my career.
Another respondent who described uncomfortable
comments made to her about her sexual orientation
succinctly stated why she did not report:
He was one of the managing attorneys.

Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Fear of retribution and concern about one’s internal
reputation again emerged as primary reasons for not
reporting. Both of these concerns were highlighted in
a respondent’s explanation of why she did not report a
male lawyer’s prying comments:

A respondent who described being asked inappropriate
personal questions noted:

This person was notorious for his treatment of
females – it was already known from the top down.
Reporting would not have made a difference. Also

The comments/questions came from the managing

Perpetrator protected by management.
Other respondents offered similar reasons:
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partner.
Some respondents indicated they found solace by
commiserating with others in the ﬁrm. For example, a
respondent stated that female associates who found
themselves the object of inappropriate questions and
prying by another lawyer formed their own support
network:
We both decided to be a support system for each
other, and we discussed ways to avoid being alone
with that attorney.
Respondents also described informally sharing information with those more senior. One respondent gave
examples of behaviors from someone she described as
known to be a “serial harasser” and noted:
I reported him several times to a female partner.
In a number of instances, respondents were the recipient of inappropriate questions and comments from
clients. In those examples, the respondents generally
spoke with a more senior person in the ﬁrm but often
speciﬁcally asked that nothing further be done.

More than 56% were in ofﬁces of fewer than 50
lawyers; approximately 30% worked in ofﬁces of 100
lawyers or more.
For this question, the percentage of those who reported the behavior was higher than the other questions
(although the number of respondents overall was much
smaller): more than 57% reported the behavior to
someone else.
Reported

Percentage

No

42.86%

Yes

57.14%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 8
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Lawyers describing sexualized behaviors and
implying that such behaviors can help career
advancement.
t Proposing to have “mentoring conversations” in a
non-professional atmosphere such as a bar or hotel.
t Inappropriate advances towards summer associates.

8) Have you ever been made to feel that you needed
to engage in sexual behavior or develop a personal
relationship with someone at work to advance?

Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Respondents who provided information for this question
generally did not feel they had any place to turn. Most
simply expressed their frustration, for example:

This question had the smallest number of respondents.
Of those who did respond, more than 28% answered
afﬁrmatively. Of these, nearly 35% stated that the
incident occurred between 2010 and 2018.

It was clear that the only way to assure a good salary
and a promotion was to sleep with the boss. He had
the power and he made the decisions. The … only
action we could take was to leave.

QUESTION 8

Percentage

Yes

28.57%

No

71.43%

Approximately 60% of those who responded to this
question were Associates at the time of the incident,
8% were Partners, and the combined categories of
Administrative, Paralegal, and Support Personnel
comprised 16%.
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Another, observing that ﬁrm partners revealed clear
preferences for how they expected females to behave,
noted:
I was unwilling to ﬂirt or act like this, and felt I was
ignored and even berated by certain male partners.
The offending male partners were too powerful….
Plus, I don’t even think they were consciously aware
of their bias.
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Some respondents said they felt unable to advance
because they refused to be part of a culture where
success seemed linked to social expectations. One
respondent described how social interactions served as
a gatekeeper to success:
Advancement within the ﬁrm/access to more
sophisticated work was largely driven by personal
relationships.… Despite … disparaging comments
about the quality of a colleague’s work, such colleague
was given more opportunities because he played the
game of drinking/going out/wing-manning with/for the
young-ish partners.
Another respondent described how reporting uncomfortable and inappropriate experiences as a summer
associate backﬁred:
Reported it to [the] male … in charge of summer
associate program and some hiring. It ended up
becoming a mess because I was pressured to let him
tell partners and ultimately the person who I reported
found out I had done so and basically it made the
work environment hostile.
9) Have you ever felt you were the recipient of or have
witnessed bullying behavior in the workplace?
Nearly 40% of those responding to this question stated
that they had been the recipient of or had witnessed
bullying behavior in the workplace. Of these, approximately 44% stated that the incident occurred between
2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 9

Percentage

Yes

39.45%

No

60.55%

More than 69% of those who responded afﬁrmatively
to this question were Associates at the time of the
incident, nearly 10% were Partners, and the categories
of Administrative, Paralegal, and Support Personnel
comprised nearly 16%.
Approximately 56% were in ofﬁces of fewer than 50
lawyers; nearly 27% were in ofﬁces with 100 lawyers or
greater.

As with all questions, the majority of the respondents
did not report the behaviors, although the percentage of
those who did not report the behaviors was less than in
most other questions.
Reported

Percentage

No

54.05%

Yes

45.94%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 9
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Partners screaming at or otherwise humiliating
others (at all levels) in the ﬁrm.
t Bullying that escalated to physical abuse or throwing of objects.
t Feigning deadlines or other hazing behaviors.
t Feeling punished by more senior women.
Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Respondents described a range of behaviors, including those that induced physical stress reactions in
both the victims of bullying and the witnesses – who
reasonably may have been fearful as to whether they
were next. One respondent described negative physical
consequences experienced by others in the ﬁrm, then
explained why no action was taken:
[S]enior partner and head of the … department would
routinely humiliate anyone who crossed him.… This
would include his fellow partners as well as outside
counsel. For example … he would make … snide
personal comments … about [people’s] height,
weight, or looks. In general, he did this when he was
about to be challenged on an issue.… This was a
senior partner and decision maker. Raising the issue
would just result in more humiliation.
Another described bullying tactics she endured and
offered similar reasons for not reporting:
My boss was a jerk, unnecessarily. His teaching style
was to make me feel like I had done something egregiously wrong when it was a minor issue. He seemed
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purposefully to start a discussion by suggesting I had
really screwed up when I hadn’t. Every time I saw a
note from him to see him, or I got a call from him,
I would get very nervous. It was very stressful.… I
did not report it for several reasons. First, he was the
managing partner. Second, everyone knew that was
just the way this partner operated. Indeed, it tends to
be a revolving door of associates who work with this
partner …
Many respondents who speciﬁcally described bullying
of associates that took place also reinforced, similar to
responses in other questions, that the apparent common knowledge of the perpetrators’ behaviors rendered
reporting not an option, for example:
Some senior partners and associates would use
demeaning language and actions directed at younger
associates as part of their management style. It was
common knowledge at the ﬁrm.
Similarly, some respondents described extreme behaviors that went beyond verbal abuse and explained that
the behaviors were not reported because the perpetrators were powerful partners:
Certain partners, mostly male, were extremely
bullying and nasty to the staff and associates. [More
than one] of them threw objects around the ofﬁce.
[Anecdote described an incident where someone
was physically targeted.] No need to report it. Other
partners were aware but powerless to reign in the
powerful male partners, who also happened to be
rainmakers.
A number of respondents gave examples of escalating
behaviors, with a similar reason for not reporting:
Partners regularly bullied associates by calling them
out publicly on assignments, yelling and screaming at
them, throwing ﬁles, dumping ﬁles, and if the partners knew associates had vacation coming, assigning
new and/or additional cases so that the associate
could not go on his or her trip. This was to ensure
that associates knew who was in charge. This was

24 Survey of Workplace Conduct and Behaviors in Law Firms

the ﬁrm culture. It was well known that it would get
worse if you started to complain to HR about it.
Another respondent noted an atmosphere of intimidation with no recourse because of the status of the
perpetrator:
Files … being thrown across room, staff being yelled
at, staff members being pitted against one another,
staff being belittled …
Similarly, a respondent described intimidating behaviors that also included the throwing of objects:
Objects thrown around ofﬁce. Screaming. Yelling.
Slamming doors. Verbal threats.
In many cases, the respondents highlighted behaviors
that they said felt more like hazing than being part of
a legal team. In such circumstances, the general view
was that there was no point in reporting. One respondent typiﬁed many of the comments:
Insecure men bully to make themselves feel better.
For example making associates pull all nighters in the
ofﬁce to haze them, knowing it was not necessary to
meet client needs. Yelling. Screaming. Culture was to
toughen up and take whatever a partner dishes out.
Partner is always right.
Another respondent observed the hazing aspect with no
opportunity for redress:
Senior partners frequently bullied associates as an
intimidation and motivation technique – this was part
of one’s initiation in the world of large law ﬁrms. The
persons conducting the bullying were senior members
of the ﬁrm. They were the supervisors and everyone
was aware this type of conduct was expected.
Similarly, a respondent noted:
Requests aren’t made in civil tones, but in harsh
tones, coupled with negative comments re: quality of
associate’s work or associate’s commitment –
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especially if associate has family obligations. Felt like
putting up with this conduct was a job requirement.
A few respondents described bullying behaviors from
women, for example:
Women constantly knocked women.… The women in
power did not have children, and seemed to not be
able to relate to me or like me. I was a threat and was
punished. What was the point – I needed to advance.
Another respondent similarly described bullying by
female partners and the failure of the ﬁrm to follow up
after reporting the behaviors:
My two supervisors, both of whom were women, were
horrible bullies. One in particular never took personal
responsibility for anything and always laid blame at
the feet of others. It was truly a toxic environment. I
told HR … , the CFO … , and the managing partner.… The entire ﬁrm was aware of the behavior,
which was a pattern, and … no one has done anything about it because [they] bring in money.… The
ﬁrm simply does not care.
On the other hand, many respondents described women
as receiving the brunt of verbally abusive tactics, yet
few saw any hope for change. Noted one respondent:
Bullying and intimidation of women when older men
felt threatened by their greater competence and social abilities. Fear of reprisal and negative impact on
career [are reasons for not reporting].
One respondent described the negative results following
efforts to intervene:
I worked with a senior partner who bullied everyone
around him.… He would make derogatory remarks as
a matter of course to everyone. Because he was the
principal rainmaker at the ﬁrm. When I did ﬁnally
cross this individual in an attempt to protect a more
junior attorney, I ultimately lost his good opinion, and
left the ﬁrm.

Several respondents who described an abusive culture
noted that efforts to report proved futile, for example:
Been through countless meetings and encounters –
senior partner(s) scream and yell and throw things
because they are unable to properly express their
frustrations. This is the hardest part of my work environment. I have developed a fear response, which is
ridiculous. [Reporting has usually been done to] HR
or close male colleagues. Nothing is ever done.
In another example, a respondent described the lack of
follow through after behavior was reported:
At my ﬁrm, I am aware of two partners who have
bullied subordinate attorneys and staff. In relation
to the local partner … who engaged in bullying, I
talked with the Partner in charge of our ofﬁce … and
the Practice group leader.… Further management
training for the offending partner was discussed, but
has not yet been implemented.
One respondent noted that an internal process may
have been triggered, yet no speciﬁc information about
follow up was available:
I witnessed numerous incidents of male partners
screaming at and bullying younger associates –
mostly female but some male. It was already under
investigation.
Based on some of the comments, it appeared that there
was greater follow up when an associate engaged in
wrongful behavior, rather than a partner. One respondent described being frequently bullied by an associate
and how it was ultimately handled:
I spoke with [particular person within the ﬁrm who
raised the issue] and it was nipped in the bud. They
spoke with him and it was done in an appropriate way
and the behavior changed.
A respondent provided an example of a ﬁrm taking
action against a partner when it learned of the extent
of that partner’s behaviors, including physical intimida-
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tion and sexual harassment of female associates. The
respondent spoke with the managing partner and other
partners, and subsequently the offending partner was
forced out of the ﬁrm.
Other respondents also provided positive examples of
reporting that led to a satisfactory result. For example,
one respondent told another lawyer of a partner’s verbally abusive behavior and later received a phone call in
which the partner apologized.
In another instance, a respondent described an atmosphere of rudeness and disrespect by the managing
partners. When a female partner addressed this directly,
one of the managing partners called the respondent to
apologize, and his behavior improved.
Another respondent reported on a successful self-help
measure:
I was berated and yelled at by senior attorneys for
reasons that had nothing to do with my work.… The
whole experience was absolutely horrible. I have
since changed jobs and currently work for an absolutely incredible, very supportive ﬁrm where I truly
feel that I have the tools that I need to succeed.
10) Have you ever felt threatened, embarrassed or
humiliated, or witnessed someone being
threatened, embarrassed or humiliated, by
someone in the workplace?
Nearly a third of those who responded to this question
reported feeling, or witnessed someone being, threatened, embarrassed, or humiliated by someone in the
workplace. Of these, 44% stated that the incident
occurred between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 10

Percentage

Yes

31.69%

No

68.31%
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Nearly three-quarters of those responding were Associates at the time of the incident, approximately 12%
were Partners, and the combined categories of Administrative, Paralegal, and Support Staff comprised nearly
15%.
Approximately half of the respondents worked in ofﬁces
of fewer than 50 lawyers and nearly 40% were in ofﬁces of 100 lawyers or more.
Sixty percent of those responding afﬁrmatively to this
question did not report the behaviors.
Reported

Percentage

No

60.18%

Yes

39.81%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 10
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Partners expressing anger by openly berating
lawyers, yelling in public, or otherwise demeaning a
younger colleague.
t Being directly asked to engage in sexual activity.
t Criticisms and insults designed to diminish the
conﬁdence of associates.
t Criticizing people in public for personal behaviors
relating to what they eat, whether they exercise,
their weight, etc.
t Sexualized behaviors and comments.
t Demeaning the skills of female lawyers by saying
they were only being included (e.g. in a meeting,
or assigned to a particular matter) because of their
looks or because they needed to add a woman to
the team.
Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Many of the anecdotes described in response to question 10 were similar to the types of behaviors reported
in question 9. Respondents described situations in
which they felt intimidated and humiliated, with no
recourse available.

THE WOMEN’S BAR ASSOCIATION OF MASSACHUSETTS

A few respondents who were more senior in their career
described earlier experiences where they endured
humiliating behaviors from other lawyers. For example,
one stated:
I have found in my career many lawyers with large
egos who have taken upon themselves to humiliate
me and others in order to make them feel large.
There has been so many incidents that it would take
a volume of pages to write them all. If you had reported any humiliating incidents, especially when it was
in response to lawyers, you were seen as a trouble
maker and run the risk of a bad annual review and
possible termination.
Some respondents described behaviors that combined
humiliation and actual physical assault:
One … partner would swear, berate and humiliate
associates in public areas…. He also threw … desk
items at associates. The incidents didn’t happen to
me, and it was already common knowledge to
management.
A respondent who witnessed partners screaming at and
insulting more junior lawyers did not see reporting as a
productive option:
Did not want to hurt partner’s reputation or damage
my professional relationship with the partner or other
professionals at the ﬁrm.
Another respondent noted a lawyer’s humiliating tactics
that were not reported:
A senior associate consistently humiliated me in front
of co-workers and opposing counsel. I did not report
it because I did not believe it would change the senior associate’s behavior. I also thought that it would
have negative consequences on my career.
As noted in responses to other questions, being a
rainmaker served to inoculate many partners from being
held accountable. One respondent, describing a senior

partner who frequently yelled at and belittled others in
the ﬁrm, stated why the behaviors were not reported:
Because everyone tolerated him because his book of
business was really big and he was a good … lawyer.
Another respondent stated:
As a rule, many of the attorneys I worked for or with
did not have good leadership or training skills and
would make associates or others miserable while
trying to train them. Just accepted that was the way
it was.
Some respondents described senior partners who
seemed to use the humiliation of others as a tactic,
observing that even where managing partners spoke to
the offending lawyers, nothing changed.
Several female respondents noted incidents of sexualized behaviors. One respondent described having to
continually ignore a partner’s “intense” behaviors:
Partner was basically a good person who looked at my
chest, not my eyes, a little too often.
In another example of a male partner treating women
in a demeaning way, the respondent described reaching
out to a member of the large ﬁrm’s leadership and its
HR Department. The ﬁrm leader dismissed the concerns and the HR Department did not follow up.
Humiliating behaviors sometimes took the form of publicly undermining the skills or capabilities of another
attorney. For a number of female survey respondents,
this happened when they were told that they were
only being included in a meeting or assigned to a case
because of their looks or because they needed a woman
on the team. In one example, such a statement was
overheard by a male partner who then reported the incident to the managing partner. The ﬁrm followed up with
a clear reprimand that included the actions that would
be taken if such an incident happened again.
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Not all of the offending behaviors came from men.
Some respondents described incidents where women
partners humiliated others in the ﬁrm. In one such
incident, the recipient of the berating behaviors was assigned to other partners; in another instance, efforts to
speak to the partner failed to result in changed behaviors.
Another respondent reported a successful resolution to
a female partner’s efforts to humiliate others:
I had a supervising attorney who would humiliate the
other female attorneys; in retrospect she saw other
females as threats. I confronted her about it, and she
stopped.
It is interesting to note that a few respondents challenged the notion that there might be something wrong
with using humiliation as a tactic to address someone’s
mistakes. For example, one respondent stated:
It is not uncommon to be humiliated in the practice
of law when things go wrong, and you have made a
mistake on the part of a client. We should be humiliated when we screw up.
Another observed:
Isn’t the culture of a law ﬁrm to be highly critical and
demanding? It’s the culture – sink or swim.
A few others seemed resigned to the idea that being a
lawyer meant being part of a harsh culture. One respondent stated:
One of the senior partners would yell at me and at
others as part of his “management style.” It was not
necessary to report it because it was widely witnessed
and experienced by many people in the ﬁrm.
11) Has anyone ever spoken with you about their
concerns regarding workplace behavior that made
them feel uncomfortable?
Of those who responded to this question, nearly a
third said others had spoken to them about workplace
behaviors that made them feel uncomfortable. Of these,
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approximately 62% stated that these conversations
occurred between 2010 and 2018.
QUESTION 11

Percentage

Yes

31.37%

No

68.63%

As with most other questions, the highest percentage
of the respondents were Associates (approximately
44%). It is interesting to note that 20% of the Partners
responded afﬁrmatively – more than in any other question. This suggests that people in the workplace who
share their stories may be seeking support from more
senior level individuals.
Nearly 38% of the respondents who provided information about the size of their ﬁrm at the time of
the incident were in ﬁrms of fewer than 50 lawyers.
Approximately half were in ﬁrms of 100 lawyers or
more, somewhat higher than the percentage reported in
response to other questions.
Among those responding to this question, the percentage of respondents who reported was similar to the
percentage of respondents who did not.
Reported

Percentage

No

50.44%

Yes

49.56%

Examples of Behaviors Included in Survey Responses
to Question 11
Examples of behaviors described in the responses
included:
t Colleagues sharing examples of being sexually
harassed, sexually assaulted, or propositioned by
partners in the ﬁrm (including incidents involving
partners and summer associates).
t Colleagues sharing examples of experiencing homophobia.
t Colleagues sharing negative comments made about
women becoming pregnant and having children.
t Colleagues sharing stories among each other about
which partners to avoid.
t Summer associates sharing examples of inappropriate behaviors they experienced.
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Respondents’ Perspectives on Reporting Behaviors
Generally, respondents stated that they did not further
report information shared by colleagues. For example,
a respondent noted that a colleague had been the frequent target of sexual harassment by a partner, but the
respondent did not report the behavior:
I feared being retaliated against, and I thought the
colleague would also be retaliated against.
A respondent stated that female colleagues shared their
discomfort with having to thwart explicit advances from
senior colleagues, then noted why the respondent did
not further report these incidents:
It was not my story to tell.
Several stated that anecdotes were shared in conﬁdence. For example, a respondent honored the request
of a colleague to not report that person’s uncomfortable experiences with homophobic comments in the
workplace:
My colleague asked me not to report it for personal
reasons.
The sharing of information among colleagues, in many
instances, seemed to be part of the workaround, as this
response exempliﬁed:
Associates talked among ourselves; “whisper network” regarding speciﬁc partners to avoid or be
careful around. Was culture of large law ﬁrm life.
Another reported:
Associates would talk amongst themselves about
which partners were the ones that were desirable to
work for and which ones you wanted to avoid working
for because of the poor treatment you would receive.
It was known behavior in the ﬁrm from everyone else
that had advanced through the partnership.
A respondent commented on the many stories shared
by colleagues about their uncomfortable situations:

I mainly played a listening role as my colleagues just
wanted someone to talk to because they feared retaliation if they reported anything.
When attorneys exhibited patterns of negative behavior,
it frequently became common knowledge within the
ﬁrm. Yet respondents often noted that no steps were
taken to address the concerns, for example:
Other associates were afraid of working with the same
person who had bullied me. Everyone already knew
this person was a problem and ﬁrm had chosen not to
do anything about it.
Another respondent described the importance of shared
behaviors in an atmosphere where reporting was not an
option:
All of the women in the ofﬁce knew that certain
departments were a mineﬁeld and we all tried to work
around it.… When does the ﬁrm become responsible
for its persistent problems in not properly addressing
the behavior?
In some instances, respondent stated that friends at
work discussed being bullied or propositioned, but did
not report the behaviors:
The incidents weren’t disturbing enough to report.
A respondent commented on involvement in an investigation of a senior partner who made sexual overtures to
young women:
There was a formal investigation. Senior partner –
man – had clearly engaged in alleged behavior. The
ﬁrm did more to keep young women away from him
but there was no loss of stature for this person.
One respondent offered a glimpse into the behaviors
that colleagues endure and the varied responses:
Stressed, overworked, and/or unhappy partners demeaning others, not privately. I console and counsel
them, sometimes report to HR, sometimes confront
perpetrator.
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Another respondent followed up after young women
expressed annoyance with the leering behaviors of male
partners:
I spoke with a female partner on the ﬁrm’s management committee. Not sure if anything happened but
tend to doubt it.
Some respondents intervened and described positive
results. One explained the follow up after a female
associate shared comments made to her by a partner
about her appearance:
I went to the senior partner, who was the offender,
and told him that his behavior and comments were
inappropriate and offensive, that he was not to make
any further comments of that nature, and that he was
to apologize to the associate.
A respondent was told by an intern of a partner’s sexual
comments. The respondent spoke with the managing
partner who took immediate action against the partner.
Another sought and received permission to report a
colleague’s experiences of being bullied.
One respondent offered an example of a reporting
process that worked in response to a partner’s inappropriate joking:
As a member of the ﬁrm’s Management Committee I
responded to the associate’s complaint, reached out
to the Partner in charge … and conﬁrmed that the
ﬁrm’s sexual harassment committee would address
the complaint. I received conﬁrmation that the associate was satisﬁed with the committee’s response and
did not want to further pursue the complaint.
In another example, a respondent stated that a colleague expressed concern about someone in the ofﬁce
making a racially discriminatory comment. The respondent noted:
I reported this to HR … and to a member of the
ﬁrm’s Diversity Committee. HR and the member of
the Diversity Committee had follow-up conversations
with the [person who raised the concerns].
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One respondent described supporting a colleague who
reported inappropriate comments made by men in the
ﬁrm:
She reported it, I supported her, and we addressed
this generally in anti-harassment training at the ﬁrm.
A respondent highlighted a number of ways of responding to concerns:
Our ﬁrm has a code of conduct – mostly unwritten
originally, but more formal now. We have also mentors
for attorneys and supervisors for staff, as well as
currently formal HR procedures. On an irregular
basis, associates, partners, paralegals, and support
staff speak to me about concerns. I counsel them on
how to deal with the concerns. Sometimes I intercede. Sometimes I initiate involvement by our HR
folks. In egregious situations, or repeated situations,
I go to HR.… In some situations, I raise the issue
during evaluations. In some situations, I discuss the
situation with another colleague. In some situations,
I have a one-on-one meeting with the individual who
caused the situation.
12) At the time of any incident(s) described above,
did the ﬁrm have a process for reporting behaviors
of concern?
The respondents provided a range of responses that
lend greater insight to the challenges that ﬁrms face
in addressing the issues identiﬁed in this survey. Only
slightly more than one-third of the respondents to this
question said that, at the time of incidents described in
other responses to this survey, their ﬁrm had a process
for reporting behaviors; approximately 20% said their
ﬁrms did not. Of particular interest, close to half did not
know whether the ﬁrm did or did not have a reporting
process at the time.
QUESTION 12

Percentage

Yes

35.14%

No

19.2%

Don’t Know

45.65%
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Many respondents reported that they had a sexual
harassment policy made available to all, but did not further describe a process for resolving complaints. Others,
as noted below, highlighted a variety of initial reporting
mechanisms, but did not provide a description of the
subsequent steps that would be taken after the report
is made. It is, however, understandable that respondents to a survey would only provide minimal detail in
response to an open-ended question.
For example, many said the ﬁrm had a committee to
which complaints about inappropriate workplace conduct can be reported. Others stated that the ﬁrm had
in place a rapid response team for such matters, and a
few said the ﬁrm had an ombudsman to whom any type
of matter could be reported.
Several said that complaints were to be directed to
speciﬁc named supervisors or to the Human Resources
Department. Some respondents noted that they had
designated partners to address complaints. Others
required reports to be made to practice group leaders
or to the managing partner. A few respondents said that
reports could be made to anyone in the ﬁrm with whom
the complainant felt comfortable.
Some respondents indicated that the ﬁrm offered a
number of different avenues for bringing concerns
forward, for example:
We have always had a process for reporting violations
of ﬁrm policy, including anti-discrimination and antiharassment policies, which provided multiple routes
for reporting. Also there has always been a strict
anti-retaliation policy.
Another respondent created an alternative where the
ﬁrm’s process did not provide a point of contact that
felt comfortable:
The process was to speak to the Managing Partner
or another designated partner at the time. I was new
to the ﬁrm and did not feel comfortable with either
partner, so I went to a partner who I felt more comfortable with.

One respondent observed a discrepancy between ﬁrm
policy and practice that should be cautionary to others:
It’s on paper, but in reality … we know what the reality was. Partners would go for “sensitivity training.”
After they came back, they were deemed “cleaned
up” until they did it again. It created a laissez faire
top down culture.
13) If you are currently working in a law ﬁrm, does the
ﬁrm have an internal process for reporting
behaviors of concern?
As with responses to question 12, a signiﬁcant number
of respondents did not know if their ﬁrm has an internal
process for reporting.
QUESTION 13

Percentage

Yes

47.62%

No

13.16%

Don’t Know

39.20%

The responses to question 13 were similar to the
responses to question 12. Respondents described
a variety of reporting avenues within the ﬁrm that
included one or a combination of: managing partners,
management committees, standing committees or other
designated groups for addressing complaints, HR departments, practice group leaders, ﬁrm administrators,
speciﬁc partners, and ofﬁce managers. In a few instances, respondents stated that a reporting mechanism was
through partner mentors or other trusted partners.
Few respondents provided information about what
happens after a complaint is made. In one instance,
the respondent expressed concern about the designated
individual:
The process involves speaking to the head of the
non-attorney staff. However, I am not aware that she
ever did anything to address any of the … behaviors,
and her judgment is suspect.
In a couple of other examples, however, the respondent expressed a more positive view of the process, for
example:
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The behavior would be reported to HR who would
then handle the situation. We have a zero tolerance
policy so presumably, that person would be ﬁred if
found true.
Another stated:
There is a standing committee with a variety of
individuals (different genders, sexual orientations,
positions in ﬁrm, etc.) who you can report any incident to. A discussion is held as to consequences. Any
concerns are raised to the executive committee. Then
actions are considered based on the victims’ wishes
and the ﬁrm’s policies.
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Recommendations

Consistent with what is reported in the media about
other workplace settings, inappropriate behaviors
remain an ongoing challenge in law ﬁrms as well. The
survey results further demonstrate that these behaviors
are a particular challenge for young women entering the
work force. Moreover, unchecked power imbalances can
leave those who serve in subordinate roles vulnerable to
a range of negative behaviors.

Leaders have an obligation to understand all aspects of their workplace culture. In particular, they
need to learn whether there are negative behaviors
to address. Failure to do so can be costly to the
organization – resulting in low morale, perpetuating
a climate of fear, accelerating turnover, negatively
impacting the ﬁrm’s reputation, and potentially
risking litigation.

We cannot know how many careers have been thwarted
by workplaces that allow – through tacit acceptance,
willful ignorance, or simply neglect – negative behaviors
to continue unrestrained. We do know, however, that the
results can be devastating to careers and economically
harmful to those organizations that leave themselves
vulnerable to disengaged and distracted employees,
rampant turnover, and possible lawsuits.

2. Implement measures to hold all ﬁrm leaders accountable for the behaviors of those they supervise
or manage.
Meaningful change requires accountability. Organizations use metrics to track that which is important. Just as ﬁrms track billable hours, originations,
and collections, they should also track reports of
negative behaviors, attrition rates by department
and ofﬁce location, and other indicia of ways in
which workplace culture impacts morale, engagement, and productivity.

Every law ﬁrm has an obligation to provide a culture in
which people can do their jobs in a safe and respectful
environment. The following recommendations offer a
road map towards achieving that result.
1. Engage leadership in creating a positive ﬁrm culture that treats all with civility and respect.
Cultural change in an organization is impossible
without direct leadership engagement. Even when
leaders are, or profess to be, unaware of negative
behaviors, employees generally assume they have
full knowledge. Survey respondents frequently
described circumstances in which employees
warned each other of those who should be avoided,
or grumbled quietly about the latest transgressions.
Their frustration was compounded by a belief that
the behaviors were known to those in leadership,
just as they were known to others in the organization; otherwise, they assumed, victimizers would
have been stopped.

3. Undertake an internal self-assessment to determine
areas of particular challenge.
The survey demonstrated that many workplaces
have areas of vulnerability, for example, employees (including Partners) who may pose particular
challenges in how they treat others, practice groups
where incivility – or worse – is tolerated, star performers who engage in bullying tactics, or Partners
who may be exerting control in ways that demean
others. Some workplaces fail to address a culture
where fear and stress are taking an emotional and
ﬁnancial toll. The challenges differ from ﬁrm to
ﬁrm; an internal assessment designed to produce
honest feedback can help identify measures that
can be implemented to improve culture.
Toward that goal, ﬁrms should engage in a process
to solicit conﬁdential feedback from employees and
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Partners. An assessment can be conducted in a
variety of ways, including as a survey or a series of
conﬁdential conversations. To ensure interviewees
and/or survey respondents can provide information
openly and conﬁdentially, the ﬁrm could engage a
neutral, independent party to conduct the assessment. Based on the ﬁndings, the ﬁrm can develop
both short-term and long-term goals for improving
culture and strengthening relationships among
colleagues.
4. Develop a comprehensive policy that does not hide
behind strict deﬁnitions.
The questions asked in this survey purposefully
reached beyond a legal deﬁnition of sexual harassment. The intent was to more fully identify a variety
of behaviors that could have an impact on ﬁrm
culture and employee engagement.
There is a high cost paid by those who are subjected to the behaviors of fellow workers who demean,
disparage, or insult others, whether that treatment
is against individuals or particular groups. In
several of the anecdotal responses provided, the
respondents who did report such behaviors were
told that the words or actions did not violate policy
or meet a speciﬁc legal deﬁnition of, for example,
sexual harassment.
Firms should not erect barriers that require a legal
deﬁnition to be met before they can respond to
behaviors that undermine a culture of civility and
respect. Law ﬁrms should set boundaries around
behaviors that are deemed unacceptable, regardless of whether they are legally actionable.
5. Consider an independent process for reporting.
It is clear from this survey, as well as countless
media stories, that a safe reporting process, free
of retribution or other negative consequences, is
absolutely essential. Many ﬁrms offer avenues of
reporting to senior leaders, an HR department, or
other designated individuals or groups. As many
respondents demonstrated, however, these mechanisms do not always work. Moreover, based on
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the responses to this survey, a reporting process
that is directed solely to a ﬁrm’s Human Resources
Department is insufﬁcient. HR Departments, no
matter how well-meaning, may have conﬂicting
loyalties when individuals come forward with information that may have negative consequences for
the organization itself.
Firms should consider adding to their internal
reporting processes an opportunity to report to an
independent person who is separate from the ﬁrm’s
existing hierarchy.
6. Be clear about lines of authority and extent of
responsibilities.
Many of the survey respondents wrote that they had
spoken with their Human Resources Department
about incidents of concern, but nothing happened.
In some cases, they may not have been informed
of any follow up. In many instances, however,
they were told to either ignore the person, or the
behaviors, or that nothing could be done. Sometimes, the HR response was to be protective of the
organization.
It is reasonable for younger employees in particular to expect that HR departments will address
workplace behaviors. Leaders should be clear as to
the limitations on the HR Department to become
involved in or otherwise follow up on reports about,
in particular, the behaviors of partners or other
senior leaders.
7. Make sure everyone is informed about the existence of a ﬁrm’s policy and reporting process.
The fact that nearly half of the respondents did
not even know whether their ﬁrm had a policy for
reporting suggests ample room for improving a
law ﬁrm’s communications about its policies and
procedures for addressing complaints about workplace behaviors. Law ﬁrms should distribute regular
reminders about their policies and the related
process for reporting and follow up.
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8. Develop a process to encourage reporting and then
provide ongoing support and information to those
who do so.
Respondents frequently wrote that they spoke with
their HR Department about negative behaviors, but
then asked that their conversation remain off-therecord and conﬁdential. This reﬂects the fear and
discomfort felt by the individual, yet can leave the
ﬁrm powerless to respond appropriately without the
complainant’s willingness to participate further in
an investigatory process.
Supporting those who have been the victims of
inappropriate behaviors is a critical part of the
process. It is not enough to have a process in place
to conduct an investigation or otherwise respond
to reports without a parallel process for supporting
those who come forward.
9. Look for patterns of behavior.
Too often, both victims of negative behaviors and
others in the ﬁrm try to ﬁnd consolation in the
notion that the witnessed behavior is not part of a
pattern. But it is incumbent on the ﬁrm to investigate each incident and to look for patterns as part
of that investigation.
A striking aspect of the survey responses is how
infrequently formal reports were made within the
reporting hierarchy of the ﬁrm (to the extent one
existed), even as information was shared with colleagues, including partners. It is important to ask,
however, whether that informal sharing of information served as an unsatisfactory alternative to the
preferred result of an institutional response. Such a
result can be greatly facilitated by the collection of
information that helps identify individuals who engage in patterns of improper behaviors. At least in
that way, shared information can assist in identifying offenders who have impacted multiple people.
Accordingly, workplaces need to develop a system
for collecting information about behaviors that are
detrimental to the ﬁrm and that are not in keeping
with the values and ethical constructs of the legal
profession.

10. Do not force face-to-face interactions between a
person who reports and the person being reported.
To properly provide support throughout an internal
process, it is important to avoid steps that emphasize the imbalance of power generally existing
between those who report behaviors of concern and
those who are the subject of such a report. Several
respondents noted that, subsequent to reporting,
they were required to meet directly with the alleged
perpetrator to discuss the accusations. None of
these meetings had support mechanisms in place
for the reporting individual including, for example,
a neutral party who could facilitate a positive conversation. In fact, some described the atmosphere
of these meetings as punitive and a reinforcement
of the power imbalance.
It is hard enough for someone to take the step of
reporting. What follows within the organization
should be a process in which the individual feels
safe in the workplace and supported through each
phase of the investigation. A forced meeting in
which the only other attendees are part of the ﬁrm’s
power structure is a setting designed to intimidate
someone already feeling victimized. The result is to
further discourage reporting.
11. Commiseration is not a strategy.
As noted, a large number of respondents to this
survey felt they could not formally report the offending behaviors but, instead, spoke with supportive colleagues. While it is important to be able to
have trusted colleagues at work to whom one can
speak conﬁdentially about sensitive topics, this
approach generally will not help the individual’s circumstances, and will certainly not bring about any
positive change.
People share negative stories in the workplace for
several reasons, including afﬁrmation that they
did not deserve what they experienced, comfort for
what they are feeling and, importantly, ﬁnding hope
that somehow the behavior will change. Those who
hear stories of improper behaviors in the workplace
should have an opportunity to respond in a way
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that is not simply comforting to the victim’s feelings, but can result in corrective measures being
taken.
Many respondents who were reluctant to report
provided ample reasons for being fearful. Certainly there are some situations where the behaviors
are so untenable, and the likelihood of a positive
resolution so remote, that leaving is an appropriate
response. But in every circumstance, it is important to ask whether there can be a process beyond
sharing stories with trusted colleagues, if only to
help pave the way for future employees to avoid the
same pain.
12. Avoidance is also not a strategy.
When partners are engaging in inappropriate behaviors, the response should not be to propose that
the perpetrator and the person aggrieved by the
behaviors simply be separated physically. Several
respondents reported being moved away from a harasser or bullying partner, without the ﬁrm addressing the root cause of the problem. Not only do such
measures fail to change ﬁrm dynamics overall, they
also may impact the types of future work assignments given to the victim and can impede other
career opportunities through loss of proximity to a
practice group and to supportive peers, as well as
possible decreased visibility to key partners.
In many cases, avoidance as a strategy is not
even possible because of the underlying working relationship. For example, are young lawyers
supposed to steer clear of partners who may have
been abusive or have otherwise engaged in inappropriate behavior, but who are an important source of
work? What would prevent further negative career
impacts? And why should the responsibility fall on
the victim to make the required adjustments?
Firms need a variety of appropriate responses to
address the range of behaviors that were identiﬁed
in this survey. Those responses, however, cannot
include actions that only impact the person feeling
victimized.
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13. Vigilantly prevent retaliatory behaviors.
Retaliation can be blatant or more subtle. The
blatant forms are easily observable, for example,
whether a complainant is ﬁred or partners stop assigning work to someone who raises concerns. But
there are many more subtle ways in which a person’s career can be damaged through less obvious
retaliatory behaviors. For example, a person can be
socially ostracized, excluded from client opportunities, or not given high value work, just to name a
few ways. Firms should include in their process a
way to monitor subsequent behaviors towards those
who ﬁle reports to prevent any form of retaliation.
14. Beware of “Death By A Thousand Cuts.”
Many of the anecdotes reported demonstrated the
pernicious way in which humor is used as a sword
and a shield. Such remarks inﬂict damage over
time through frequent cuts to those who are victimized by the comments, while offering the protective
shield of “It’s just a joke” to the perpetrators – who
then accuse complainants of lacking a sense of
humor.
Humor that denigrates others is not funny. Individuals should be free to go to work without facing
offensive comments justiﬁed as jokes, and then
made to feel badly for not laughing.
15. Develop training techniques for and encourage
implementation of bystander intervention.
Bystanders who observe inappropriate behaviors
have an important opportunity to give voice to
someone who may feel voiceless, or to amplify a
rebuke to what is transpiring. One respondent who
has been in the workplace for several decades noted that she now plays an active role in helping to
stop conversations that are veering into a negative
direction by simply stating “That’s inappropriate”
or “None of your business.”
There are many forms of bystander intervention
that can help make a difference, and ﬁrms can
offer training to teach employees constructive strategies for such intervention.
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16. Resist backlash attempts against the #MeToo
Movement.
A number of respondents told of remarks made by
partners that denigrated or complained about the
#MeToo Movement, even including comments that
they can no longer “get away with” what they could
previously. These remarks mirror the undercurrent
of resistance that has been identiﬁed in other
workplace settings, manifesting in objections to
the symbolic importance of #MeToo as providing a
voice to those who have previously felt voiceless.

17. Consider Curbs on Social Drinking at
Firm-Sanctioned Social Gatherings.
So many respondents provided anecdotes in which
inappropriate behaviors occurred at a holiday or
other social gathering in which the perpetrators
were clearly inebriated. Law ﬁrms should consider
ways to curb excessive drinking at ﬁrm-sponsored
social events.

One concern that appears with increasing frequency is whether the #MeToo movement will inhibit
regular interactions between men and women,
including mentoring. As the anecdotes offered by
the survey respondents make clear, however, such
comments are a decoy, directing attention away
from the real and compelling need to bring workplace behaviors to light.
None of the survey respondents complained that
someone may have complimented their outﬁt. They
did raise many concerns about leering remarks and
comments speciﬁcally directed to their chest or
other personal parts of their body.
Nor did female respondents complain about positive relationships they have developed with their
male colleagues. Rather, they focused on men
who sought mentoring meetings in bars or in hotel
rooms while on work trips.
People being kind to and complimenting one
another is not unacceptable behavior. Remarks,
however, that are clearly sexual in nature or that,
at their core, reinforce the power imbalance in the
workplace should not be tolerated.
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Conclusion

The survey yielded several striking ﬁndings. First – and
no surprise when the survey is viewed in comparison
to other organizations, corporations, and industries – is
that the majority of the negative behaviors described
arose from those in authority who misused their power.
Nearly all of the anecdotes reported described events
that happened to younger people, where the perpetrator was more senior and, frequently, among the more
powerful persons in the ﬁrm.
In such circumstances where the source of the negative
conduct was a senior partner or ﬁrm leader, there was
no place for the victim to turn for support or remedial
measures. Fear of retaliation and concern about loss
of status and opportunity to advance within the ﬁrm
loomed large.
As noted previously, a few respondents seemed resigned
to a profession where humiliation was acceptable and a
sink or swim culture an appropriate way to train lawyers.
Those comments demonstrate how behaviors in the
workplace are learned, and how culture is perpetuated.
It would be difﬁcult to ﬁnd a book for organization leaders that extols humiliation and bullying as a technique
for success in the workplace.
Law ﬁrm partners are often placed in leadership roles as
a result of their client development and lawyering skills.
Talent development and management of people are
not necessarily part of that same skill set. Accordingly,
ﬁrms may choose to consider management courses for
all of its leaders, to facilitate skill sets that bring out the
best from those who come to work each day, wanting
only to serve the ﬁrm’s clients and live the best values
of the legal profession.
We hope that lawyers see in this survey a way to help
facilitate a culture of civility, respect, and inclusion.
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Abuse of Power: Time to Act
The sexual misconduct claims that have brought down powerful business, media and government leaders are a clear warning:
RUJDQL]DWLRQVFDQQRWGHIHQGRUHYHQVHWWOHQDVW\FODLPVZLWKRXWPDMRUULVN/DZÀUPVLQXQGDWHGZLWKFOLHQWZRUNRQWKHVH
issues, must also look inside their own houses. The common thread in the sexual misconduct claims is abuse of power.
Powerful people have taken advantage of their power to abuse and then silence subordinates, co-workers, and applicants.
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YL Board: This Is What Sexual Harassment in
the Legal Industry Looks Like
We call for the industry to avoid silence when witnessing harassment and hold perpetrators—no matter how big a bo
of business—accountable.
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Editor’s note: This is the first monthly editorial from The American Lawyer’s new
Young Lawyer editorial board.
Law students are trained to understand the dynamics of power and influence as
they exist within government organizations and corporations. Early experiences in
courtrooms, client meetings and negotiations further instruct new lawyers on these
dynamics. But young lawyers are not necessarily prepared for the power structures
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that exist within the law firms and legal departments whose halls they walk, or the
abuses of power that exist within our profession—including sexual misconduct that
sidelines critical talent at a time when the industry aspires for greater gender
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diversity in its senior ranks.
As lawyers, we serve as authorities on the law; our occupation enables our justice
system to function. Despite that privilege—or perhaps because of it—some law firms
and their membership (whether knowingly or unknowingly) diminish reports of
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misconduct, condone a hostile work environment, and penalize those who speak out
about these wrongs. In effect, lawyers can become the antithesis of advocates when
it comes to supporting and protecting the victims among them.
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This board encourages the legal industry—in all its enterprises, public and
private—to take a hard look at itself in the wake of the #MeToo movement, a
sweeping social media initiative that provided a platform for thousands of people to
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share their experiences of sexual harassment and assault. We believe it is imperative
that victims of sexual misconduct in our profession are no longer dismissed or

4

belittled, and that perpetrators of such misconduct are held accountable irrespective
of their professional stature or book of business. Law firms often misjudge the costs
of sexual misconduct on their workforce and longevity plans. It is not lost on us how
the related loss of talent—mostly female—contributes to disparities between
women and men in our profession.

This Is What Sexual Misconduct in Law Firms Looks Like
For those unfamiliar with sexual misconduct in a law firm, and the unfortunate
responses to such behavior, we offer the following real-world examples:
• A summer associate joins colleagues for an after-party at a bar following a firm
event. As she sits next to a partner, he touches the jewelry on her wrist and
states, “I’d like to see you in just this.” When she reports the incident, the firm
responds by banning the partner from future interaction with summer
associates.
• A partner initiates an affair with an associate on his team and promises to leave
his spouse for her. When the partner reconsiders, the team leader asks the
associate, who is one year shy of partnership, to move to another office location
so that the partner can reconcile his marriage. Ultimately the associate leaves
the firm so that she does not have to relocate. The partner is not reprimanded
and is permitted extensive time out of the office for counseling.
• A female partner engages in sexual relations with a male summer associate.
• A partner tells an associate that she will not be promoted to partner unless she
agrees to have an affair with him.
• A firm’s hiring partner is known for taking male and female summer associates
to strip clubs and to his house for “after parties” following firm events—which
often involve associates making sexual advances toward recruiting staff who are
also present. The partner is not reprimanded and is instead seen as a recruiting
superstar for showing the summer associates a good time.
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Some may view comments related to sexuality as workplace gossip or harmless
flirting. But young lawyers who are vigilant about career advancement and rightly
concerned about personal safety, scrutinize and react to this unprofessional
behavior through their career choices, which are often detrimental to the victim and
to the firm. The following examples demonstrate how perceived favoritism based on
sex, and a firm’s reaction to sexual innuendo, can result in drastic career decisions
by young lawyers.
• A young lawyer known for high-quality work increasingly receives work from a
male equity partner who is uncharacteristically kind to her, in contrast with his
reputation for being difficult. Another partner remarks that the equity partner
has a “crush” on the associate. The associate questions whether she receives
work based on her own merit. She eventually decides to leave the firm due to
her discomfort with this situation.
• Partners openly comment that an attractive junior associate is asked to present
to clients because of her looks. Other associates assume that the junior
associate will be favored for this superficial reason and seek work in other
practice areas instead.
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• A senior associate meets with a partner to share the experience of a junior
associate who confided in her about sexual innuendo from another partner.
The partner dismisses it, stating that the junior associate is being “dramatic.”
• Several prominent male partners in a practice group are known for only taking
male associates to lunch. As a result, female associates are not able to discuss
their career development or possible work assignments with these partners and
their teams are virtually all male. Most female associates end up leaving the
practice group.

Recommendations for Young Lawyers
The nature of legal work requires long hours at the office, resulting in isolation from
family, friends and community. Other scenarios, such as trial preparation, may
create situations where colleagues are unusually dependent upon one another for
professional and emotional support over an extended period of time.
Notwithstanding these factors, try not to allow your perspective on professional and
personal boundaries to become skewed. If you feel that you have been mistreated
or that a colleague has crossed the line, seek advice from a trusted peer or mentor
and, importantly, also seek guidance from someone outside the legal profession as
well. A layperson can offer an objective point of view as you consider next steps.
Additionally, many firms offer employee assistance programs with confidential
counseling.
If you are the victim of sexual harassment, familiarize yourself with your employer’s
sexual harassment policy. Report the incident to your human resources department,
and if none, to the office managing partner. Consider that some partners may not
respond with the firm’s official stance on misconduct; therefore, it may be wise to
confide in a partner who is in a leadership role outside of your practice group to
seek unbiased treatment. If you are the victim of a crime, report the incident as soon
as possible to law enforcement.
A safe, productive workplace free of sexual harassment is in everyone’s best interest.
Ideally, young lawyers who believe they have been subjected to sexual misconduct
will be heard, respected and treated fairly by their employers. If you are concerned
that you may be treated unfairly, or penalized by reporting the incident, seek
assistance. Colleagues and mentors can help you navigate the situation and
potentially lend support to your efforts. You can also consider contacting your
network and a legal recruiter to gauge the legal market in your city and your job
options. While leaving your employment is not ideal, it may be the only option in
some circumstances. For example, if you report an incident and your employer’s
resolution is not one that protects you and others from being further victimized,
seek safe and supportive employment elsewhere.
If you witness sexual misconduct, offer support to the victim. Ask the victim if she or
he would like for you to speak up on their behalf by either contacting firm
management or human resources.

A Call to Law Firms
As the leaders of the Time’s Up movement write, harassment “too often persists
because perpetrators and employers never face any consequences.” Lawyers are
empowered citizens, but still vulnerable to the hierarchical structures of legal
employment where advancement and promotion often rests in the hands and
discretion of powerful—and still primarily male—equity partners and management
committees. Firm leaders and human resources are too reluctant to challenge this
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power structure. Consequently, practice groups and offices can become tainted by
misbehavior, resulting in talented lawyers lost and new business unrealized, in
addition to the social costs involved.
Time is up for the status quo. Firms with short-sighted responses to sexual
misconduct complaints will lose young lawyers, especially women, in law firm ranks,
exacerbating the gender disparity in the senior ranks of our profession. Firms must
establish zero tolerance policies for sexual misconduct, without regard to title,
revenue generation or equity status, and a transparent and accessible venue for
complaints. Likewise employers must ensure that allegations of misconduct are
thoroughly and promptly investigated through an impartial, fair process, which
affords due process while also protecting victims from retaliation.
It is not the aim of this board to encourage firms to limit interactions among their
professionals; rather, we call on those in leadership positions who value respectful
and productive professional relationships to leverage their power to protect our
profession from damaging misconduct and a culture that permits abuse. Firms must
encourage male attorneys not to be afraid of mentoring female associates or inviting
them to professional development or networking events, even those with a social
component. Firms must insist that their attorneys have nothing to fear if they do not
abuse their position. Firms can provide coaching on appropriate conduct and
training on gender-neutral mentoring. If a client harasses one of your lawyers, stand
by your colleague at all costs.
Too many young lawyers have lost their dignity at work, and in some cases, their
careers, because their employers have sidelined victims or failed to take remedial
action. We encourage all of you to stand with us and pledge to not be silent when we
experience, or learn of, sexual misconduct in our law firms or legal departments, and
to insist that the perpetrators are held accountable.
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MAJOR, LINDSEY & AFRICA | MARCH 01, 2018

Law Offices of Mark E. Salomo
2 OLIVER ST #608
BOSTON, MA 02109
857-444-6468www.marksalomone.com

Gary Martin Hays & Associate
235 PEACHTREE ST NE #400
ATLANTA, GA 30303
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(https://www.law.com/americanlawyer/2018/02/28/qacourtney-capute-on-the-power-of(/2018/02/28/qa-courtneycapute-on-the-power-ofrespect/)

(877) 777-1529www.smithandhassler.

Presented by BigVo

respect/)

MAJOR, LINDSEY & AFRICA | FEBRUARY 28, 2018
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#MeToo Workplace Study

About Our Survey
To understand why sexual harassment persists as
a workplace issue — and what solutions can be
used to address and mitigate the negative impact
— the Working Mother Research Institute
developed the #MeToo survey in partnership with
the American Bar Association Law Journal.
We collected 2,938 responses, a mix of women
and men, business people and those in the legal
industry (the majority of respondents).

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

Methodology
Bonnier Custom Insights (BCI) conducted the
#MeToo Workplace study online via email invitations
containing survey links and a sweepstakes offer of a
$100 donation to the charity of choice of 5 randomly
selected participants.
The study began on Feb. 2, 2018 and ended on
March 4, 2018.

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

Respondent Demographics

Female 65%
White 80%
Black 5%
Hispanic 4%
Asian 3%
Native Hawaiian/
Pacific Islander 0%
Native American/
Alaska Native 1%

Male 32%

Two or More Races 3%
NA 4%

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

Other/NA 3%

MAJOR FINDINGS

Sexual Harassment Is A …
Women

Men

88%

Power Issue

77%
84%

Organizational
Culture Issue

82%
79%

Legal,
Compliance Issue

80%
65%

Diversity &
Inclusion Issue

64%
55%

Productivity
Issue

54%
(Top Responses)

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

MAJOR FINDINGS

Have You Experienced Sexual
Harassment in the Workplace?
Women

Men

68%

19%

Did someone else witness the
incident(s) - % who said yes
53%

Did you or anyone report the incident(s)?
I did
30%

55%
Women

Men

22%
Someone else did
5%

10%

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

MAJOR FINDINGS

Organizational Response
Was your/the claim taken seriously by the organization
% WHO SAID YES

Women

Men

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

27%

42%

MAJOR FINDINGS

Top 3 Reasons Claims by Women
Weren’t Reported
Women

Men

52%

Would negatively
impact my job

27%

47%

Behavior tolerated in
organization

No confidence
leadership would
address

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

30%

45%

24%

MAJOR FINDINGS

Which Groups Perceived as Most at Risk
For Sexual Harassment
Women

Men

20%
People of Color

10%
23%

LGBTQ

23%
10%

People With Disabilities
6%

None, Face Same Risk

43%
42%

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

MAJOR FINDINGS

Who Holds the Power?
In my organization, men hold disproportionate share of power
Women

Men

28%

Disagree
46%

61%

Agree
37%

(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

MAJOR FINDINGS

Men As Allies
In my organization, women and men are allies in reaching
gender equality
Women

Men

39%

Disagree
12%

31%

Agree
54%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)
Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

MAJOR FINDINGS

Defining Workplace Conduct
Conduct and behaviors that constitute sexual harassment
are well defined and understood in my organization
Women

Men

38%

Disagree
24%

34%

Agree
46%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Reporting Incidents
Requirements for reporting sexual-harassment incidents
are well understood in my organization
Women

Men

41%

Disagree
25%

36%

Agree
47%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Accountability
Employees are held accountable for upholding policies
prohibiting sexual harassment
Women

Men

30%

Disagree
14%

38%

Agree
56%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Senior Leaders’ Actions
Senior leadership calls out unacceptable behavior and
enforces penalties
Women

Men

36%

Disagree
14%

25%

Agree
45%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Senior Leaders’ Behavior
Senior leadership models acceptable behavior
in words and deeds
Women

Men

27%

Disagree
11%

47%

Agree
64%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Do Senior Leaders Give
Anyone A Pass?
Senior leadership provides powerful and
talented offenders a pass
Women

Men

29%

Disagree
56%

32%

Agree
16%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Managers’ Actions
My immediate manager calls out unacceptable behavior
and enforces penalties
Women

Men

24%

Disagree
10%

25%

Agree
32%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Do Managers Give Anyone a Pass?
My immediate manager provides powerful and talented
offenders a pass
Women

Men

35%

Disagree
40%

20%

Agree
9%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Office Socialization
It is acceptable behavior to invite a co-worker to dinner
and/or drinks
Women

Men

7%

Disagree
10%

70%

Agree
64%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Office Relationships
It is acceptable behavior to pursue a romantic relationship
with a co-worker
Women

Men

27%

Disagree
28%

39%

Agree
42%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

One-on-One Meetings
People in power/leadership roles need to be wary about
meeting with employees one-on-one
Women

Men

64%

Disagree
47%

18%

Agree
37%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)

MAJOR FINDINGS

Mentoring and
Sponsorship Relationships
Mentoring and sponsorship relationships requiring
one-on-one interaction run the risk of a heightened
perception of unacceptable behavior
Women

Men

41%

Disagree
22%

35%

Agree
56%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)
Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

MAJOR FINDINGS

Implications of #Metoo
There is no negative impact as a result of the
widespread focus on #Metoo sexual harassment
issues.
Women

Men

62%

Disagree
61%

14%

Agree
16%
(does not include respondents who neither agree nor disagree)
Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

MAJOR FINDINGS

Top 3 Interventions Recommended
Women

Men

66%

Leadership
commitment &
role modeling

53%

61%

Ensuring culture
of inclusion and
respect

Enforcing
penalties

Working Mother Research Institute #MeToo survey

55%

46%
29%

Comments From Respondents
“We need frank and open discussions—do this
frequently.”
“Employers should be aware of how workplace
bullying is related.”
“Power dynamic implications can occur with all
sexes, orientations, races, ethnicities, etc.”

“Stop demonizing all men. Creating more risk and
distrust in every workplace cannot be productive.”
“Collaborate with men on a common vision of what
it is and when it’s appropriate to call out.”

SOLUTIONS

Our Recommendations and Ideas
From Business Leaders
What Your Organization Can Do
Assess situation
• Conduct climate surveys to gauge employee perception of how
harassment is treated in your organization
• Verify and re-iterate the process for handling claims

Take action
• Communicate them throughout organization
• Have zero-tolerance policy
• Take swift action when incidents occur
• Have senior leadership express support for policies
• Use D&I and ERGs to foster culture of mutual respect

• Guard against retaliation

SOLUTIONS

Our Recommendations and Ideas
From Business Leaders
What You Can Do
Trust yourself and become someone others can trust
•

Communicate – and listen

•

Have empathy

•

Learn to be vulnerable

•

Always act with integrity
Leverage social media

• Be your organization’s brand ambassador
• Be a force for good
Women can reverse mentor male colleagues

About Diversity Best Practices
 Diversity Best Practices, a division of Working Mother
Media, is the preeminent organization for mid to large
size organizational diversity thought leaders to share
best practices and develop innovative solutions for
culture change.

▪

.

Working Mother Research Institute is a division of Working
Mother Media, the repository of a research database of
benchmarking data points from thousands of companies’
applications for our Working Mother 100 Best Companies, Best
Companies for Multicultural Women, NAFE Top Companies for
Executive Women, Best Law Firms for Women, and the DBP
Inclusion Index.

About Diversity Best Practices
WORKING MOTHER MEDIA
Senior Vice President and Managing Director • Subha V. Barry
Publisher • Joan Sheridan Labarge
WORKING MOTHER RESEARCH INSTITUTE
Director of Research • Suzanne Richards
Executive Editor • Barbara Frankel
Custom Insights Analyst • Aviva Rosner
Research Initiatives Coordinator • Melody Ortega
DIVERSITY BEST PRACTICES
Executive Director • Deborah Tsai-Munster
Content Director • Jennifer London
Sr. Director, Global Member Engagement • Carol Watson
Research Director • Karen Dahms
Member Research Analyst • Donnice Peterson
MARKETING AND SALES
Executive Sales Directors • Laquanda Murray • Jennifer Smyth
Senior Account Directors • Peggy Beane • Katrina Crawford • Gale Hollingsworth • Alisa Nadler
Group Director, Marketing and Brand Integration • Jessica Goldman
Senior Marketing Manager • Amanda Gottlieb
Marketing Manager • Casey Russo
Creative Services Director • Helena You
Associate Business Manager • Lauren Macri
BONNIER CUSTOM INSIGHTS
Director, Bonnier Custom Insights – Michle Siegel
Associate Director, Custom Insights • Paule Anne Kaziewicz
CONTRIBUTORS
Research • Maria S. Ferris
Designer • Michael Moran
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All
Women
53%
16%
20%
33%
10%
6%
17%
14%

Total More Likely
Total Less Likely
Much More Likely
Somewhat More Likely
Somewhat Less Likely
Much Less Likely
It Will Make No Difference
Don't Know

All
Men
50%
17%
16%
34%
10%
7%
22%
12%

Tech
Women
58%
19%
25%
33%
11%
8%
14%
10%

Finance
Women
53%
15%
20%
33%
9%
6%
18%
14%

Legal
Women
56%
15%
20%
35%
9%
6%
16%
14%

Energy
Women
52%
14%
19%
33%
8%
6%
19%
14%

Healthcare
Women
48%
16%
16%
32%
10%
6%
18%
18%

Total
More Likley

Total
Less Likely

Much More
Likely

Somewhat
More Likely

Somewhat
Less Likely

Much Less
Likely

It Will
Make No
Difference

I Don't Know

15%
19%
27%
14%
10%
13%
11%

55%
43%
53%
53%
59%
56%
54%

7%
10%
15%
7%
4%
6%
5%

8%
10%
11%
6%
7%
7%
6%

16%
18%
15%
16%
16%
18%
15%

39%
24%
38%
37%
43%
37%
39%

17%
27%
12%
19%
19%
18%
18%

13%
11%
8%
14%
12%
13%
16%

Purchase the company's products
All Women
All Men
Tech Women
Finance Women
Legal Women
Energy Women
Healthcare Women

14%
20%
26%
12%
9%
13%
11%

49%
39%
47%
47%
54%
50%
48%

7%
10%
13%
6%
4%
6%
5%

7%
11%
12%
6%
5%
7%
7%

21%
18%
19%
22%
23%
24%
21%

28%
20%
28%
25%
31%
26%
27%

23%
31%
17%
26%
24%
24%
23%

14%
10%
10%
15%
14%
14%
18%

Purchase the company's stock
All Women
All Men
Tech Women
Finance Women
Legal Women
Energy Women
Healthcare Women

13%
19%
24%
13%
9%
12%
10%

49%
43%
49%
47%
51%
48%
50%

6%
9%
11%
6%
3%
5%
4%

7%
10%
12%
6%
5%
7%
5%

14%
16%
14%
13%
13%
14%
13%

36%
27%
35%
34%
38%
34%
37%

23%
28%
17%
24%
25%
25%
22%

15%
10%
10%
16%
15%
15%
18%

Apply for a job at the company
All Women
All Men
Tech Women
Finance Women
Legal Women
Energy Women
Healthcare Women

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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Total
Personally
Experienced/
Witnessed^
Receiving unwanted physical contact
All Women
28%
All Men
23%
Tech Women
34%
Finance Women
25%
Legal Women
27%
Energy Women
29%
Healthcare Women
26%

I Have Personally
Experienced This

I Have Witnessed
A Colleague
Experience It

I Have Never
Experienced This, But
Think It Is A Problem
That Should Be Fixed
[Exclusive Answer]

19%
12%
21%
16%
20%
22%
19%

12%
13%
18%
11%
10%
11%
10%

25%
25%
27%
25%
25%
26%
22%

I Have Never
Experienced This
And Believe It Is
Not Commonly
Happening at Work
[Exclusive Answer]

I Don't Know
[Exclusive
Answer]

41%
44%
33%
45%
43%
39%
45%

6%
8%
6%
5%
5%
6%
7%

^The total percentage may not add up using the individual answer choices because each respondent is counted once regardless of their multiple selections.

All
Women
27%
71%
14%

All
Men
19%
79%
13%

Tech
Women
34%
64%
22%

Finance
Women
23%
76%
12%

Legal
Women
26%
72%
11%

Energy
Women
31%
68%
16%

Healthcare
Women
22%
76%
11%

13%

6%

12%

11%

15%

15%

11%

NO – but I have witnessed it happening to others and
reported it

8%

9%

10%

5%

7%

9%

8%

NO - but I have witnessed it happening to others and did not
report it

4%

4%

4%

3%

4%

6%

4%

60%

66%

50%

67%

61%

53%

64%

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

2%

38%

31%

48%

31%

37%

45%

34%

57%
43%

69%
31%

66%
34%

56%
44%

50%
50%

55%
45%

57%
43%

Total Yes
Total No
YES - and I reported it
YES - and I did not report it

NO - I have not been impacted by this
DON'T KNOW
TOTAL PERSONALLY EXPERIENCED OR WITNESSED
(Combined answer choices: Yes – and I reported it; Yes – and I
did not report it; No – but I have witnessed it happening to
others and reported it; and, No – but I have witnessed it
happening to others and did not report it. Due to rounding,
totals may not add up using the individual answer choices)
Among those who personally experienced or witnessed:
Reported It
Did Not Report It

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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Asked to those who have personally experienced or witnessed workplace sexual harassment or sexual misconduct in last five years and DID NOT report it.
All
Women
N=780
44%

All
Men
N=100
30%

Tech
Women
N=161
43%

Finance
Women
N=139
46%

Legal
Women
N=184
46%

Energy
Women
N=139
45%

Healthcare
Women
N=157
39%

I did not want to be viewed as a difficult employee

38%

21%

45%

40%

38%

35%

33%

Fear of retribution

37%

30%

42%

35%

38%

28%

40%

My reporting would not be kept confidential

28%

20%

30%

27%

28%

28%

29%

I was too embarrassed to deal with it publicly

22%

17%

24%

19%

23%

20%

21%

I thought I would not be believed

21%

15%

17%

22%

22%

18%

24%

I did not want to negatively affect the career of the
harasser or aggressor

17%

20%

21%

16%

17%

15%

18%

There was no third-party reporting mechanism available to
me

15%

17%

11%

14%

20%

14%

15%

I was not aware of a way to report it

11%

10%

9%

10%

11%

10%

13%

I was not aware of who to report the situation to

11%

10%

7%

11%

13%

10%

11%

Something else

9%

6%

7%

9%

13%

8%

8%

Prefer to not answer [exclusive answer]

3%

4%

2%

6%

1%

6%

2%

I did not want it to negatively impact my career

Asked to those who have personally experienced or witnessed workplace sexual harassment or sexual misconduct in last five years and DID report IT.
All
Women
N=1,048
36%

All
Men
N=223
30%

Tech
Women
N=317
29%

Finance
Women
N=174
30%

Legal
Women
N=182
38%

Energy
Women
N=169
35%

Healthcare
Women
N=206
49%

Human resources manager

25%

28%

30%

29%

21%

24%

20%

A regional head or someone above my immediate
supervisor

13%

9%

12%

14%

14%

13%

12%

Mentor, sponsor, or someone with influence in the
company that is not a direct supervisor

10%

13%

11%

9%

12%

12%

6%

A third-party mechanism such as a confidential hotline or
website

8%

9%

10%

10%

5%

7%

5%

Colleague

6%

9%

7%

6%

8%

7%

6%

Don't know

2%

1%

1%

3%

2%

2%

2%

Immediate supervisor

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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Asked to those who have personally experienced or witnessed workplace sexual harassment or sexual misconduct in last five years and DID report IT.

Total Yes
YES - I spoke with a lawyer and decided to take legal
action
YES - I spoke with a lawyer, but decided against taking
legal action
No
Don't Know

All
Women
N=1,048
43%
28%

All
Men
N=223
48%
35%

Tech
Women
N=317
55%
38%

Finance
Women
N=174
47%
28%

Legal
Women
N=182
41%
25%

Energy
Women
N=169
38%
28%

Healthcare
Women
N=206
26%
16%

15%

13%

17%

19%

15%

10%

10%

55%
2%

50%
1%

44%
1%

51%
2%

58%
1%

60%
2%

70%
4%

Asked to those who have personally experienced or witnessed workplace sexual harassment or sexual misconduct in last five years and DID report IT.
All
Women
N=1,048
24%

All
Men
N=223
28%

Tech
Women
N=317
27%

Finance
Women
N=174
19%

Legal
Women
N=182
22%

Energy
Women
N=169
21%

Healthcare
Women
N=206
27%

There was no change to the situation

21%

21%

20%

19%

20%

24%

23%

Dismissal of harasser or aggressor for a reason other than
the inappropriate behavior

18%

17%

16%

21%

20%

17%

15%

You deciding to leave the company, separate from
dismissal

15%

15%

17%

16%

16%

11%

16%

Movement of you to a different part of the company

14%

14%

18%

16%

15%

10%

8%

Financial settlement

11%

19%

14%

16%

14%

8%

4%

It's still in process

10%

15%

13%

13%

10%

6%

8%

Your dismissal

7%

10%

9%

6%

5%

6%

6%

A different outcome than items listed above [exclusive
answer]

5%

3%

2%

5%

7%

9%

4%

Don't know [exclusive answer]

5%

6%

4%

6%

5%

3%

7%

Dismissal of harasser or aggressor

All
Women
63%

All
Men
66%

Tech
Women
68%

Finance
Women
72%

Legal
Women
50%

Energy
Women
65%

Healthcare
Women
61%

11%

13%

13%

7%

14%

11%

12%

Another sanctioned person that is not in human resources
or the executive office

9%

6%

7%

7%

9%

9%

11%

Third-party

3%

3%

4%

3%

2%

4%

3%

We don't have one

8%

6%

4%

5%

17%

6%

6%

I don't know

7%

6%

5%

6%

9%

5%

7%

Human resources
Executive office

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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All
Women
52%

All
Men
49%

Tech
Women
56%

Finance
Women
53%

Legal
Women
55%

Energy
Women
48%

Healthcare
Women
48%

The similar stories across various industries have resulted
in more women and men feeling empowered to share their
experiences to prevent further harassment.

45%

38%

51%

44%

48%

43%

40%

Employers are actively setting up safe accountability
mechanisms through training human resources
professionals or establishing third party, confidential
reporting hotlines.

36%

39%

44%

37%

35%

33%

32%

I don't know what the #MeToo movement is.
[exclusive answer]

10%

9%

7%

11%

8%

9%

14%

I do not believe the #MeToo movement is beneficial.
[exclusive answer]

8%

13%

6%

9%

8%

11%

8%

Don't know [exclusive answer]

5%

6%

4%

5%

5%

4%

8%

More companies are aware of the problem of sexual
harassment in the workplace and are being proactive
toward preventing inappropriate situations.

Workplace changes around the #MeToo movement and other workplace initiatives designed to protect or promote women have negatively impacted my ability to
advance.

Total Agree
Total Disagree
Strongly agree
Somewhat agree
Somewhat disagree
Strongly disagree
Don't know

All
Women
29%
53%
14%
15%
14%
39%
18%

All
Men
36%
50%
17%
19%
16%
35%
14%

Yes
No
I'm not sure

All
Women
17%
70%
13%

All
Men
21%
68%
11%

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

Tech
Women
42%
47%
22%
19%
13%
34%
11%

Tech
Women
30%
60%
11%

Finance
Women
27%
53%
13%
14%
14%
40%
20%

Finance
Women
13%
72%
15%

Legal
Women
23%
59%
9%
14%
13%
46%
18%

Legal
Women
13%
76%
11%

Energy
Women
28%
54%
12%
16%
18%
37%
18%

Energy
Women
19%
70%
12%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.

Healthcare
Women
27%
52%
12%
14%
14%
38%
21%

Healthcare
Women
13%
73%
15%

5

Asked to men who believe the #MeToo movement has impacted their behavior in the workplace

I have changed my behavior to protect myself going forward, to prevent becoming victim to this sweeping movement or of being wrongly accused

All
Men
N=221
31%

I feel like I have received the guidance I need to address #MeToo and feel comfortable working with my colleagues of the opposite gender

29%

I have changed my behavior because I am more sensitive to what women go through and have their interests in mind

28%

I have begun to or changed policies in my office to prevent sexual harassment and misconduct

19%

I am not sure what I should do and feel like I need to be overly careful or need clarity on what's appropriate

18%

I am worried about my past because I am unclear if I have offended or committed sexual harassment unknowingly

17%

I am worried about my past because I did something and hope it won't come out now

12%

I haven't changed my behavior because I am comfortable with my actions [exclusive answer]

13%

None of the above [exclusive answer]

1%

Asked to senior-level women and men

Yes
No
Don't know

All
Women
N=1,255
22%
67%
10%

All
Men
N=342
20%
74%
6%

Tech
Women
N=367
33%
55%
11%

Finance
Women
N=216
23%
67%
10%

Legal
Women
N=267
13%
78%
8%

Energy
Women
N=137
31%
64%
5%

Healthcare
Women
N=268
12%
76%
12%

Asked to senior-level women and men who are concerned there could be an impending “#MeToo moment” at their organization
All
Women
N=282
39%

All
Men
N=67
28%

Tech
Women
N=122
39%

Finance
Women
N=50
46%

Legal
Women
N=36
44%

Energy
Women
N=43
35%

Healthcare
Women
N=31
26%

Conduct sexual harassment training proactively

38%

37%

39%

38%

50%

23%

42%

Retain outside experts to advise on employee
communications, i.e. communicating existing or new policies

28%

15%

29%

30%

36%

19%

23%

Develop a crisis communications plan

27%

19%

34%

14%

36%

12%

32%

Troubleshoot some potential scenarios with senior staff

26%

25%

28%

28%

28%

19%

23%

Retain outside experts to advise on best practices to handle
allegations of workplace harassment

24%

22%

20%

30%

31%

16%

32%

Retain outside experts to advise on workplace culture changes

23%

27%

28%

24%

25%

14%

13%

Retain outside experts to advise on crisis communications

20%

21%

18%

24%

25%

16%

23%

Wait and see what happens and deal with the fall-out
[exclusive answer]

6%

15%

7%

6%

8%

9%

0%

Don't know [exclusive answer]

2%

0%

2%

2%

0%

2%

6%

Review existing sexual harassment policy and consider
revamping

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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Total
Important
(6-10)

Total Not
Important
(0-4)

10 Extremely
Important

9

8

7

6 5 - Neutral

4

3

2

1

0–
Not at All
Important

Don’t
Know

Create a culture that does not tolerate inappropriate or offensive language that makes employees feel uncomfortable and establish formal accountability
protocols for those who break policies
All Women
82%
8%
46% 12% 11%
8%
5%
6% 2% 1% 1% 1%
2%
3%
All Men
80%
12%
34% 15% 13% 10%
7%
5% 3% 2% 2% 1%
5%
4%
Tech Women
87%
6%
46% 15% 13%
8%
5%
6% 2% 1% 1% 1%
1%
2%
Finance Women
84%
8%
47% 13% 11%
9%
4%
5% 2% 1% 1% 0%
2%
4%
Legal Women
80%
10%
47% 11% 11%
8%
5%
6% 2% 1% 2% 1%
4%
4%
Energy Women
79%
11%
43% 10% 13%
8%
5%
7% 3% 2% 2% 2%
3%
3%
Healthcare Women
81%
8%
45% 12% 10%
8%
5%
7% 3% 2% 1% 0%
2%
4%

18-29
30-39
40-49
50+
18-24
25-29
30-34
35-39
40-44
45-49
50-54
55-59
60-64
65-69
70-99
Generation Z (Age 18-21)
Millennial Generation (Age 22-37)
Generation X (Age 38-53)
Total Baby Boomer & Silent Generations
Baby Boom Generation (Age 54-72)
Silent Generation (Age 73-90)
Greatest Generation (Age 91-100)

Mean

8.2
7.7
8.4
8.3
8.0
7.9
8.2

All
Women
27%
34%
20%
19%
9%
18%
19%
15%
11%
10%
8%
6%
3%
1%
*

All
Men
20%
35%
22%
23%
7%
13%
18%
17%
12%
10%
8%
8%
4%
2%
1%

Tech
Women
30%
37%
18%
15%
10%
20%
22%
14%
9%
9%
8%
5%
2%
*
0%

Finance
Women
26%
33%
20%
20%
10%
17%
18%
16%
12%
8%
9%
7%
4%
1%
*

Legal
Women
26%
35%
21%
19%
9%
17%
20%
14%
11%
9%
8%
5%
3%
1%
1%

Energy
Women
25%
36%
22%
17%
7%
18%
20%
17%
10%
12%
9%
5%
2%
1%
*

Healthcare
Women
25%
31%
22%
22%
7%
18%
15%
16%
11%
11%
8%
7%
5%
2%
*

3%
52%
32%
12%
12%
*
0%

3%
45%
35%
16%
16%
*
0%

4%
58%
28%
9%
9%
0%
0%

3%
52%
32%
13%
13%
*
0%

3%
52%
33%
12%
12%
*
0%

2%
52%
35%
10%
10%
*
0%

3%
48%
34%
15%
15%
0%
0%

All
Women
18%
4%
14%

All
Men
21%
4%
17%

Tech
Women
19%
5%
14%

Finance
Women
20%
5%
15%

Legal
Women
19%
4%
14%

Energy
Women
15%
3%
12%

Healthcare
Women
17%
5%
12%

Midwest Region
East North Central Division
West North Central Division

21%
14%
7%

22%
16%
6%

19%
14%
5%

24%
15%
9%

18%
13%
5%

12%
8%
4%

28%
20%
8%

South Region
South Atlantic Division
East South Central Division
West South Central Division

41%
21%
6%
14%

37%
19%
4%
14%

42%
24%
7%
11%

39%
22%
5%
12%

43%
21%
8%
14%

48%
15%
5%
28%

38%
20%
7%
11%

West Region
Mountain Division
Pacific Division

19%
6%
13%

20%
8%
12%

20%
5%
15%

17%
7%
10%

20%
5%
15%

24%
7%
17%

17%
6%
11%

Northeast Region
New England Division
Middle Atlantic Division

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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All
Women
76%

All
Men
76%

Tech
Women
77%

Finance
Women
80%

Legal
Women
76%

Energy
Women
78%

Healthcare
Women
70%

Employed Full-Time, But with Flexible Working Hours [40
Hours Per Week, But Not 9-5]

17%

19%

18%

14%

17%

17%

20%

Employed Part-Time Working 20 Hours or More A Week

7%

5%

5%

6%

7%

5%

10%

All
Women
14%
4%

All
Men
20%
8%

Tech
Women
0%
0%

Finance
Women
0%
0%

Legal
Women
0%
0%

Energy
Women
100%
31%

Healthcare
Women
0%
0%

10%

11%

0%

0%

0%

69%

0%

Technology/Information Technology/Computers/
Application or Software Development

21%

19%

100%

0%

0%

0%

0%

Total Healthcare
Doctor/Nurse/Hospital Staff/Healthcare Provider
Pharmaceuticals/Devices/Insurance/Healthcare Industry
Outside of Direct Provider Care

23%
21%
2%

21%
19%
3%

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

100%
92%
8%

Law/Legal/Litigation/Mediation/Forensic
Investigation/Contracts

21%

20%

0%

0%

100%

0%

0%

Banking/Finance/Financial Services/Accounting/
Economics

21%

20%

0%

100%

0%

0%

0%

All
Women
33%

All
Men
31%

Tech
Women
24%

Finance
Women
39%

Legal
Women
34%

Energy
Women
34%

Healthcare
Women
34%

Mid-Level, For Example: Management, Some DecisionMaking Authority, Supervising Some Direct Reports While
Still Reporting to Someone Above

41%

35%

39%

40%

40%

46%

41%

Senior or Executive-Level, For Example: Primary or Final
Decision-Making Authority, Managing Team with Little
Supervision, Or Working on Leadership Committees

26%

33%

37%

21%

27%

20%

25%

Employed Full-Time, With Primarily Set Working Hours

Total Energy
In-Field Energy/Rigs/Lines/Surveying/ Construction of
Energy Infrastructure
Not in In-Field Energy/Utilities/Oil & Gas/
Renewables/Corporate Office

Entry-Level, For Example: Minimal Decision-Making
Authority or No Direct Reports

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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All
Women
33%
3%
10%
12%
8%

All
Men
26%
3%
6%
10%
7%

Tech
Women
21%
2%
3%
8%
8%

Finance
Women
20%
1%
5%
7%
6%

Legal
Women
60%
5%
24%
22%
9%

Energy
Women
30%
2%
7%
10%
10%

Healthcare
Women
31%
3%
8%
14%
7%

Total Mid (100-2,499)
100 - 249
250 - 499
500 - 999
1,000 - 2,499

36%
8%
7%
10%
10%

44%
10%
9%
14%
11%

47%
8%
8%
15%
15%

36%
9%
7%
10%
10%

25%
8%
6%
6%
6%

40%
9%
7%
13%
11%

31%
7%
7%
8%
10%

Total Large (2,500+)
Over 2,500

27%
27%

27%
27%

29%
29%

39%
39%

11%
11%

27%
27%

30%
30%

4%

3%

2%

5%

4%

4%

7%

Male
Female
Non-Binary
Prefer Not to Say

All
Women
0%
100%
0%
0%

All
Men
100%
0%
0%
0%

Tech
Women
0%
100%
0%
0%

Finance
Women
0%
100%
0%
0%

Legal
Women
0%
100%
0%
0%

Energy
Women
0%
100%
0%
0%

Healthcare
Women
0%
100%
0%
0%

Total Protected Class^
Active Duty Military
Military Veteran
I Have A Disability

All
Women
9%
1%
4%
4%

All
Men
21%
3%
15%
6%

Tech
Women
13%
2%
6%
5%

Finance
Women
10%
1%
4%
5%

Legal
Women
7%
1%
3%
4%

Energy
Women
10%
1%
5%
4%

Healthcare
Women
7%
*
3%
4%

91%

79%

87%

90%

93%

90%

93%

Total Small (<100)
Self Employed
1-9
10 - 49
50 – 99

Don't Know

None of The Above [Exclusive Answer]

^The total percentage may not add up using the individual answer choices because each respondent is counted once regardless of their multiple selections.

White/Caucasian Women & Men
Total Women & Men of Color
African American/Black
Hispanic, Latino, Or Spanish-Speaking Descent
Asian/Asian American
Native American, Inuit Or Aleut
Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander
Multi-Racial/Two Or More Races
Foreign National
Something Else

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

All
Women
66%

All
Men
68%

Tech
Women
57%

Finance
Women
63%

Legal
Women
68%

Energy
Women
71%

Healthcare
Women
74%

34%
12%
12%
6%
1%
*
2%
*
1%

32%
8%
12%
7%
1%
*
2%
*
1%

43%
12%
16%
12%
*
*
2%
*
*

37%
16%
12%
5%
1%
*
3%
0%
1%

32%
12%
13%
4%
1%
*
2%
0%
1%

29%
9%
13%
3%
1%
*
2%
0%
*

26%
10%
9%
4%
1%
*
2%
0%
*

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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All
Women
32%
*
8%
24%

All
Men
24%
*
7%
17%

Tech
Women
22%
*
6%
15%

Finance
Women
37%
*
9%
28%

Legal
Women
25%
*
6%
19%

Energy
Women
36%
*
11%
25%

Healthcare
Women
38%
*
7%
30%

68%
45%
17%
7%

75%
44%
20%
12%

78%
50%
25%
3%

63%
48%
13%
2%

75%
38%
19%
18%

63%
46%
16%
1%

62%
45%
11%
7%

*

*

*

0%

*

1%

*

All
Women
25%
7%
19%

All
Men
17%
5%
12%

Tech
Women
17%
3%
14%

Finance
Women
25%
6%
19%

Legal
Women
25%
7%
18%

Energy
Women
26%
8%
18%

Healthcare
Women
33%
9%
24%

$50,000 to less than $100,000
$50,000 to less than $75,000
$75,000 to less than $100,000

43%
22%
21%

39%
20%
19%

45%
23%
22%

43%
24%
20%

42%
22%
20%

44%
21%
23%

40%
21%
19%

$100,000+
$100,000 to less than $150,000
$150,000 to less than $200,000
$200,000 or more

29%
17%
7%
5%

42%
24%
9%
9%

35%
21%
9%
5%

29%
18%
6%
5%

30%
17%
7%
6%

27%
14%
8%
5%

24%
15%
5%
4%

3%

2%

2%

3%

3%

4%

3%

All
Women
49%

All
Men
56%

Tech
Women
54%

Finance
Women
49%

Legal
Women
44%

Energy
Women
45%

Healthcare
Women
50%

51%
26%
12%
9%
1%
2%

44%
28%
8%
6%
2%
1%

45%
27%
10%
6%
1%
1%

51%
27%
12%
9%
1%
1%

55%
31%
12%
10%
1%
2%

53%
25%
14%
9%
3%
2%

50%
21%
13%
12%
2%
2%

1%

*

*

1%

1%

1%

1%

Less Than College
Less Than High School
High School Graduate
Some College/Vocational School
College+
College Graduate
Post Graduate
Doctorate
Prefer Not to Answer

<$50,000
less than $30,000
$30,000 to less than $50,000

Prefer Not to Answer

Married
Total Not Married
Single and never married
Not married, but living together with a partner
Divorced
Separated
Widowed
Prefer not to answer

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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Total Parent^
I have a baby or toddler [includes pre-k]
I have an elementary school-age child [grade k-5]
I have a middle school-age child [grade 6-8]
I have a high school-age child [grade 9-12]
I have an adult child
Total Not Parent
I have no children, but hope to one day [exclusive answer]
I have no children and no plans to have any [exclusive
answer]
I prefer to not answer

All
Women
62%
18%
20%
13%
16%
21%

All
Men
59%
15%
21%
15%
18%
19%

Tech
Women
62%
20%
22%
16%
16%
15%

Finance
Women
63%
19%
19%
13%
14%
23%

Legal
Women
55%
16%
18%
11%
13%
20%

Energy
Women
65%
19%
19%
14%
16%
21%

Healthcare
Women
68%
18%
21%
13%
19%
28%

36%
16%
19%

39%
18%
21%

36%
15%
21%

36%
15%
20%

43%
21%
23%

32%
14%
19%

31%
16%
14%

2%

2%

2%

1%

2%

3%

2%

^The total percentage may not add up using the individual answer choices because each respondent is counted once regardless of their multiple selections.

All
Women
26%

All
Men
35%

Tech
Women
23%

Finance
Women
27%

Legal
Women
22%

Energy
Women
33%

Healthcare
Women
26%

Democrat

37%

30%

44%

34%

41%

31%

36%

Total independent/other
Independent
Something else
Prefer not to answer

37%
24%
5%
8%

35%
28%
3%
3%

33%
23%
5%
6%

39%
23%
6%
10%

37%
25%
5%
7%

36%
23%
5%
7%

38%
24%
5%
9%

Republican

Note: Due to rounding, totals may not add to 100%

* denotes less than 0.5%

For any inquiries about the data or to request additional subgroups for reporting, please contact Kim O’Halloran at Kim.O’Halloran@FTIConsulting.com or 312-553-6733.
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DECISION FROM DISCIPLINARY REPORTS AND DECISIONS SEARCH
Filed April 17, 2014
In re Paul M. Weiss
Attorney-Respondent
Commission No. 08 CH 116
Synopsis of Hearing Board Report and Recommendation
(April 2014)
The Administrator filed a seven count complaint against Respondent. Counts I, II, III, IV and VII alleged
that Respondent engaged in misconduct with respect to five female employees of his law firm. Respondent
was charged with engaging in criminal acts that reflect adversely on his fitness as a lawyer, namely assault
and battery with respect to all five women, unlawful restraint with respect to three women, and telephone
harassment with respect to three women. In Counts V and VI, Respondent was charged with engaging in the
criminal acts of public indecency and disorderly conduct by exposing himself to a co-resident of his
apartment building and to a woman walking on a public street.
The Hearing Board determined that the legal defenses asserted by Respondent were not a bar to any of the
charges of the complaint. After assessing the credibility of the witnesses and reviewing the evidence, the
Board found that Respondent engaged in misconduct with respect to four of his employees, his neighbor and
the woman walking on a public street. The Board found that the Administrator did not prove Respondent
engaged in misconduct with respect to one of his employees.
In mitigation, the Board considered Respondent's contribution to the legal profession, his cooperation in this
matter and the testimony of the character witnesses who appeared on his behalf. Aggravating factors
included his numerous instances of misconduct, the fact he took advantage of vulnerable employees, and his
prior discipline. After considering the misconduct and the relevant case law, the Hearing Board
recommended a suspension of thirty months.
BEFORE THE HEARING BOARD
OF THE
ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION
AND
DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION
In the Matter of:
PAUL M. WEISS,
Attorney-Respondent,

Commission No. 08 CH 116

No. 6217260.
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE HEARING BOARD
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INTRODUCTION
The hearing in this matter was held on April 29 and 30, and May 1, 2, and 3, 2013 at the Chicago offices of
the Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission ("ARDC") before a hearing panel consisting of Lon
Richey, Chair, Rebecca J. McDade and William E. Gabbard. Wendy Muchman, Sharon Opryszek and Peter
L. Rotskoff represented the Administrator. Respondent Paul M. Weiss ("Respondent") appeared and was
represented by Stephanie Stewart-Page and Samuel J. Manella.
PLEADINGS
Complaint
On December 4, 2008, the Administrator filed a three-count Complaint against Respondent. Thereafter the
Administrator sought and was granted leave to file amended complaints adding additional counts. The
Fourth Amended Complaint ("the Complaint") alleged that Respondent engaged in inappropriate sexual
behavior with respect to Rachel Barker (Count I), Tanja Samardzija (Count II) Krystal White (Count III),
Stephanie Newman (Count IV), Molly Kelly (Count V), Reyna Castellanos (Count VI) and Angela Aneiros
(Count VII).
PAGE 2:
Answer
Respondent, in his initial answer and in his subsequent answers to the amended complaints, denied engaging
in any professional misconduct. His answer to the Fourth Amended Complaint asserted affirmative defenses
to all but one count of the Complaint.
ALLEGED MISCONDUCT
Each count of the Complaint charged Respondent with committing criminal acts that reflect adversely on his
honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) of the 1990 Illinois Rules of
Professional Conduct or, as to Count VII, Rule 8.4(b) of the 2010 Rules of Professional Conduct. The
alleged criminal acts are assault (Counts I-IV, VII), battery (Counts I-IV, VII), unlawful restraint (Counts I,
IV, VII), telephone harassment (Counts I, IV, VII), public indecency (Counts V and VI) and disorderly
conduct (Counts V and VI). Count VI further charged Respondent with engaging in conduct that is
prejudicial to the administration of justice in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(5).1
PRE-HEARING PROCEEDINGS
Over the course of four and one-half years, the parties submitted and vigorously briefed numerous motions
regarding the charges of the Complaint and procedures employed in bringing this matter to hearing. Those
arguments and the resulting orders are all preserved in the record. To the extent that some of the same issues
were also raised as affirmative defenses or at hearing, we will address them with respect to individual counts.
EVIDENCE
The Administrator called Rachel Barker, Tanja Samardzija, Krystel White, Stephanie Newman Baum, Molly
Kelly, Reyna Castellanos, Angela Aneiros, Caroline Bullock, Peter Meyer, Margaret Tucker, Andrew
Fitzgerald, Jeanette Sampson, James Karon, Julie Horowitz, Juan Mazariegos, Harold Weiner, Phillip Bock
and Robert Stein as witnesses, and presented a
PAGE 3:
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joint stipulation of facts with respect to Mary Pat Benz and Suzanne Kendryna. Administrator's Exhibits
1-18, 20, 22-27, 29, 31-47, 51 (pp. 1-3, 10-21), 52-53, 58-59, 61, 63, 65, 69, 71-76, 78-80, 83-84, 95-96, 100
and 102-112 were admitted into evidence.2
Respondent testified on his own behalf, called Jeffrey Leon, Renee Friedman, James Cecchi, Adam Levitt,
Georgiana Kaspuc-Tieman, Julie Miller, Richard Burke, Jamie Weiss, Jonathon Shub, Robert Pavich, John
Sliozis, Thomas Collier, Steven Yonover, Lisa Lilly, Steven Jaffe, Kevin Hoerner, Vincent Francone,
Michael Paull and Edward Hansberry as witnesses, and presented the evidence deposition of George Collins.
Respondent's exhibits 1- 37, 38 (lines 155, 156, 127), 39-41, 42 (pp. 4-13), 43, 44 (lines 1-3), 45-46, 47 (pp.
1-3), 48-55, 56 (entries at 1:34 and1:38 p.m.), 57-62, 63 (p. 1), 64-68, 70-74, 75 (p. 81), 76-77, 81, 87-88,
93A, 94-96, 106-113 were admitted into evidence.
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
In attorney disciplinary proceedings the Administrator has the burden of proving the charges of misconduct
by clear and convincing evidence. In re Ingersoll, 186 Ill. 2d 163, 710 N.E.2d 390, 393 (1999). Clear and
convincing evidence constitutes a high level of certainty, which is greater than a preponderance of the
evidence but less than proof beyond a reasonable doubt. People v. Williams, 143 Ill. 2d 477, 577 N.E.2d 762
(1991).
Background Evidence
Respondent has been married to Jamie Weiss ("Jamie") since 1997 and they have two sons, ages eleven and
eight. They have lived in Deerfield since 2000. (Tr. 1599-1600).
After graduating from law school in 1993, Respondent practiced at a large law firm in Chicago and then
worked for a personal injury attorney. In March 1994, he was found guilty of telephone harassment and
sentenced to one year of court supervision. He left Chicago in 1995 to accept a job at a firm in Seattle,
Washington and continued practicing there until 1999. During
PAGE 4:
the time he was in Seattle, he was disciplined by the Illinois Supreme Court. (Tr. 1601, 1604, 1608, 1612-13,
1807-09; Adm. Exs. 74, 76).
In 1999 Respondent returned to Chicago and joined with attorney Eric Freed to form Freed & Weiss.
Respondent's practice focused almost exclusively on plaintiff's contingent fee class action litigation, much of
which involves consumer fraud. After Freed departed in 2011, the firm's name was changed to Complex
Litigation Group, LLC. (Tr. 1605-07).
Respondent thinks of himself as a smart lawyer who is good at coming up with plans and strategies for
difficult cases. He admits he is not a "choirboy," is difficult to work with, can "talk like a sailor," and can be
tough and demanding. During the early days of the firm, Respondent described the office atmosphere as
casual, comfortable, and relaxed. (Tr. 1615-17, 1764-67).
Respondent's wife Jamie, who is also an attorney, has been an employee of Freed & Weiss since its inception
and functioned as the office manager until the firm hired Suzanna Kendryna, who was then succeeded by
Georgiana Tieman. Jamie worked in the office on a daily basis from approximately 1999 until 2001. After
2001 she worked at the office one or two days per week, except when she was on maternity leave at which
time she worked from home but kept in contact with Kendryna or Tieman. Jamie described her husband as
"tough to work with" and sometimes uncouth. (Tr. 1323, 1326-30, 1367).
In or about early 2000 Stephanie Newman began working at Freed & Weiss as a file clerk and continued at
the firm until she resigned in May 2001. In February 2001, while Newman was still at the firm, Tanja
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Samardzija was hired as an associate attorney and continued working until she was terminated in December
2002. During Samardzija's tenure, Rachel Barker was hired as a legal assistant and worked at the firm from
early 2002 until about October 2003. Barker's half-sister, Krystal White, was employed at the firm during the
summer of 2002. In March 2010,
PAGE 5:
Angela Aneiros was hired as an associate attorney and worked at the firm until December 2010. (Tr. 739,
793; Adm. Ex. 112).
COUNT I
I.

Respondent is charged with committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) by committing
battery, assault, unlawful restraint and telephone harassment.
A. Evidence Considered
Rachel Barker

Rachel Barker, a legal assistant, testified she has been employed at Latham & Watkins for the past five
years. In early 2002 she began working at Freed & Weiss at a yearly salary of $27,000. At that time she was
nineteen years old, stood five feet five or six inches tall, weighed 100 pounds, was living with her boyfriend
and then later with a male roommate, and was responsible for her own bills. Barker described the firm
environment as casual, with profane language used by Respondent and Freed. Respondent's wife, Jamie, was
rarely in the office but kept in contact by e-mail. (Tr. 809-13, 816-21, 824).
Barker testified within the first week of her employment, Respondent took her to see the firm's new office
space. When he stood close to her and told her he wanted to kiss her, she took a step back and was
uncomfortable and confused. Respondent did not kiss her. (Tr. 820, 891).
During Barker's employment, Respondent made comments to her regarding her appearance, the possibility of
kissing her or having sex with her, and his sex life. He also asked questions of a sexual nature about Barker's
relationship with her male roommate. When Barker obtained a loan from the firm to pay her cell phone bill,
Respondent told her she could pay him back "in the flesh." (Tr. 821, 882-83, 897, 950; Resp. Ex. 5).
PAGE 6:
Barker recalled that Respondent often followed her into the elevator or to the washroom and touched her in a
sexual manner by rubbing his hand over her body, including her breasts and buttocks. When she asked him
to stop, he laughed. Although she tried to avoid riding the elevator alone, she felt she had to comply with
Respondent's errand requests. Respondent's comments and the sexual touching, which occurred on more than
fifty occasions, caused Barker to feel fearful and very uncomfortable. (Tr. 886-87, 891-97).
Barker testified she attended an evening Bulls game with Respondent, Eric Freed and John Flaum. As
Respondent was driving her to the train station after the game, he stopped the car, unzipped his pants, and
"grabbed for [her] to touch him." When she pulled her hand away, he said "come on, just kiss it." Barker
refused, and exited the car. The car door was unlocked and Respondent did not try to restrain her or keep her
in the car. Barker testified she felt uncomfortable, a little shaken and afraid, but did not tell anyone about the
incident because she was afraid, ashamed, and did not want to lose her job. (Tr. 822-24, 932-33).
Barker acknowledged that Respondent raised issues regarding her work performance. In June 2002 he
complained that she was not properly maintaining files, and noted she was spending too much time on the
phone and internet. (Tr. 952; Resp. Exs. 3, 4).
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Barker arranged for her younger sister, Krystal White, to work at Freed & Weiss during the summer of 2002.
Prior to White's employment, Barker did not tell her about the incidents with Respondent because she was
not comfortable discussing it and she did not think Respondent would bother her sister. She later told White
about Respondent's conduct and, in retrospect, feels upset and disgusted that her sister took a job with the
firm. (Tr. 896, 906).
Throughout Barker's employment she received numerous telephone calls from Respondent to her cellular or
work phone. Some of the calls were work-related or requests for errands but others were sexual in nature, as
when Respondent told her he was masturbating or
PAGE 7:
thinking of her when he had sex with his wife, or asked her to "talk dirty" to him. She estimated those calls
occurred more than fifty times, and possibly more than 100 times, and lasted less than one minute. Barker
felt disgusted, violated and afraid, and always hung up on Respondent. She believed she had to answer the
phone in case the call was work-related. (Tr. 825-29, 943).
AT&T records pertaining to Barker's cellular phone show fifty-four incoming calls from Respondent's
telephone number between November 1, 2002 and July 31, 2003. Although the majority of weekday calls
occurred between 8:00 and 9:00 a.m., two calls were placed between 7:30 and 8:00 a.m., eight calls occurred
between 6:00 and 10:00 p.m., and one was at 1:17 a.m. In addition, two calls were placed on Saturdays at
7:57 a.m. and 7:18 p.m. and two on Sundays at 2:45 and 6:25 p.m. Barker had no recollection of the specific
calls, but stated Respondent had no reason to make a work-related call to her on evenings or weekends. On
cross examination she acknowledged Respondent possibly could have called her after work to determine if
she were going to be at work the next day or to ask why she had been absent. She did not recall discussing
personal issues with Respondent. (Tr. 830-34, 936, 939-40; Adm. Exs. 11, 12).
Barker did not report the calls to anyone at the firm because she was afraid she would lose her job. She
testified she asked Respondent to stop calling and stop making the comments, but her requests went
unheeded. At a deposition in 2010, she did not recall asking Respondent to stop calling her outside the
office. (Tr. 834-35, 944).
Barker was acquainted with an attorney at the firm, Tanja Samardzija. Shortly before Samardzija's departure
from the firm in late 2002, Barker told her about Respondent's telephone calls and the incident after the Bulls
game. Barker did not know what to do and did not think she could afford a lawyer at the time. At some point
she was put in touch with attorney Robert Stein and told him about the phone calls. Also around the end of
2002, someone left an envelope on
PAGE 8:
Barker's chair containing an ARDC opinion pertaining to telephone calls made by Respondent. Barker read
the opinion at that time. (Tr. 835-37, 851-52, 857).
In connection with Samardzija leaving the firm, Barker was called into Respondent's office where
Respondent and Eric Freed urged her to be a "team player" and give a statement to Respondent's attorney,
George Collins. In January 2003, Barker met with Collins at his office and answered a series of questions.
After the meeting, Barker reviewed a document entitled "Statement of Rachel Marie Barker," initialed each
page, and signed it in Respondent's office on January 7, 2003. Barker testified Respondent told her she had
to sign the document, but at her 2010 deposition she denied that anyone told her to sign it. (Tr. 837-38, 840,
863, 914-17).
Barker's written statement included the following assertions regarding Samardzija and another attorney at the
firm, Bill Bogot:
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◾

Samardzija has a deep hatred for Respondent and wanted him disbarred;

◾

every day Samardzija pursued Barker about Respondent's advances;

◾

Samardzija called Barker at home and harassed her to report Respondent to the ARDC;

◾

Samardzija made false statements to Bogot about what Barker told her;

◾

Bogot gave Barker a copy of an ARDC opinion regarding Respondent and said
Respondent would lose his license if he had another complaint;

◾

Samardzija and Bogot were "hung up" on burying Respondent;

◾

there were rumors of a relationship between Samardzija and Bogot.

Barker's statement included the following assertions regarding her relationship with Respondent:
◾

Barker was never afraid of Respondent and he never did anything in her presence that
would make her afraid;

◾

Respondent never telephoned Barker in a wrongful way;

◾

nothing wrong happened between Barker and Respondent;

PAGE 9:
◾

no sexual activity occurred after Barker and Respondent attended a Bulls game;

◾

Respondent does not call Barker at home to harass her;

◾

Barker does not believe Respondent has done anything wrong;

◾

Barker told attorney Robert Stein nothing had happened.

Barker testified that the foregoing assertions, as well as others in her statement, were false. She attributed
some of the specific phrasing to Collins, but never told him the assertions were untrue or that he should
change the statement. In her 2010 deposition she identified fewer assertions as being false. (Tr. 843-62, 91720; Adm. Ex. 14; Resp. Ex. 7).
Barker testified she did not answer Collins' questions truthfully because she was afraid of losing her job and
of Respondent's and Freed's reactions. She has been bothered by the fact she did not tell the truth, but stated
she was na?ve and did not realize she was signing a legal document. While Collins did not explain the legal
significance of the statement or tell her she could have an attorney review it, he also did not tell her she had
to sign it. (Tr. 838-42, 916).
Barker identified her signature on an affidavit dated April 7, 2003, but did not recall signing it, meeting with
an attorney named Michael Paull, or seeing the affidavit prior to a week before the hearing. The affidavit
states, among other things, that Respondent never created an intimidating, hostile or offensive work
environment, never made unwelcome sexual advances toward Barker or requested sexual favors as a
condition to her employment, and Barker was providing her statement freely and was given the opportunity
to have an attorney review and edit it. Barker acknowledged that, if she signed the affidavit, she again made
false assertions. (Tr. 864-65, 920-23, 927; Resp. Ex. 10).
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In May 2003 Barker received an e-mail from Respondent questioning time she had taken off work. In June
2003 she was criticized by Respondent for yelling at him in front of others. In
PAGE 10:
August 2003 Respondent took issue with the time Barker was arriving for work in the morning. (Tr. 953,
955, 957; Resp. Exs. 13, 18).
Barker testified that in or about the summer of 2003, she exited the washroom into a hallway where
Respondent was standing. He grabbed her and pulled her into a stairwell, pushed her up against the wall,
touched her all over her body, and tried to kiss her. He also tried to reach his hand into her pants, but only
touched her stomach under her clothes. Respondent then restrained her with his forearm on her chest,
unzipped his pants and began masturbating. Barker felt she could not get away from Respondent, but did not
call out or yell for help. After a minute or two, she pushed him away and started walking down the stairs. As
she looked back, she saw Respondent ejaculating. Barker tried to exit the stairwell at the next landing but
because the door was locked, she had to descend to the first floor. After reaching the first floor, she entered
the elevator with Respondent and they returned to the office. Barker estimated the incident in the stairwell
lasted five to ten minutes, but it felt like a long time to her. (Tr. 900-02, 933-34).
Barker testified she was upset and shaken, realized Respondent had serious issues, and was afraid his
conduct would escalate to rape. She knew she had to leave the firm because she hated Respondent, did not
want to be around him or alone with him, and her attitude toward work had changed. She did not report
Respondent's conduct to anyone at the firm or to the police because she was afraid. (Tr. 901-04).
On or about August 6, 2003 Barker read and signed a document entitled "Anti-Discrimination and
Harassment," which contained a complaint procedure pursuant to which employees were instructed to report
sexual harassment to a direct supervisor, unless the supervisor was the alleged harasser or reporting to the
supervisor was otherwise not appropriate, in which case the employee was to report the matter "to any of the
Partners, the Office Manager, Georgiana Tieman." Barker did not follow that procedure because she was
fearful of losing her
PAGE 11:
job and afraid of Respondent. She did not feel she would accomplish anything by reporting Respondent's
conduct to Jamie Weiss. Toward the end of her employment she told another employee, Sherrie Toigo, about
Respondent's conduct, and at some point she told employee Julie Horowitz. (Tr. 870-71, 895, 898, 949-51;
Adm. Ex. 15).
In September 2003 Barker received a written warning for missing too much work. She testified her work
performance and attendance from May 2003 through the end of her employment at the firm suffered because
of Respondent's inappropriate behavior. She was uncomfortable and afraid to go to work. (Tr. 957, 963;
Resp. Ex. 11).
Around the beginning of October 2003, Barker refused Respondent's request to run an errand because she
did not want to risk being in the elevator with him. Respondent became angry, they argued, Barker told him
he had problems, and then she quit her job. The day Barker quit, she called Tanja Samardzija and apologized
to her. (Tr. 865, 872, 904, 958; Adm. Ex. 112).
On October 10, 2003 Barker and Eric Freed discussed Respondent's behavior. At that time Barker was
offered a severance package and positive letter of reference in exchange for her signature on a release and
letter agreement. Barker signed the release and understood she was not to talk about anything that went on
during her employment at the firm or disparage the firm or its employees. She received a check for $3,725
which included the notation "Full release of all claims (general release)," and another check for $1,275
which included the notation "Cobra/full release of all claims (general release)." (Tr. 872-80; Adm. Ex. 16).
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After Barker departed the firm, she went back on a few occasions to pick up her mail but did not recall
seeing Respondent on those visits. On August 16, 2007 she sent an e-mail to Respondent to inform him of
her job change, provide a personal e-mail address "in case you guys over there ever need it," and inquire
about an employee who had a death in the family. (Tr. 911-13; Resp. Ex. 22).
PAGE 12:
Barker never reported Respondent's conduct to the ARDC, but she was contacted by the Commission in
2007. After receiving a subpoena in 2008, she notified a friend at Freed & Weiss and was then contacted by
George Collins, who referred her to another attorney. She recalled Collins asking if she had a copy of the
statement she had signed, but she did not recall him asking if the statement was accurate. (Tr. 866-68, 92729; Adm. Ex. 95).
Barker testified she did not want to cooperate with the ARDC because she was moving on with her life and
knew Respondent was friendly with attorneys at her office. After talking to an attorney in her office, she
appeared at the ARDC because she wanted to tell the truth. She stated she felt nervous and uncomfortable
about testifying, and has had nightmares about encountering Respondent on the street or at the train station.
(Tr. 825-26, 269, 961-62).
Robert Stein
Robert Stein, III, a California attorney, previously practiced in Illinois. On or about December 15, 2002 Stein
was contacted by Rachel Barker regarding an urgent matter. Barker had received Stein's contact information
from attorney William Bogot, who at that time was practicing at Freed & Weiss and was Stein's friend.
Barker was extremely distressed and near hysterics. Stein advised Barker she had legal rights regarding
harassment and that retaliation was illegal. Stein understood Barker was concerned about living paycheck to
paycheck, and her primary objective was to make the offensive conduct stop. (Tr. 965-66, 968, 973-74, 976,
981).
Within a few weeks of talking to Barker, Stein met Bogot for coffee in the building where the Freed & Weiss
offices were located. As they were talking, Respondent approached their table in a rage, told them he knew
what they were doing and if they continued, he would "take them out." Stein recalled Barker contacted him
again after she left Freed & Weiss in the fall of 2003. Stein wanted to help Barker and gave her the name of
an attorney who specialized in sexual harassment. (Tr. 968, 970-71, 977, 979, 981).
PAGE 13:
In January 2003, Stein received a copy of Bogot's resignation letter to Respondent in which Bogot stated he
was uncomfortable working at the firm due to recent events between Respondent and Barker, Samardzija's
discharge, and Respondent's threat to Stein at Starbucks. Thereafter Stein represented Bogot in a lawsuit
against Freed & Weiss for compensation for ten days of work. Sometime in 2003, Stein hired Bogot. (Tr.
983-84, 987, 989-90; Adm. Ex. 23).
Tanja Samardzija
Tanja Samardzija, an attorney at Freed & Weiss in 2001 and 2002, had a conversation with office
employees, including Rachel Barker and Bill Bogot, in December 2002 concerning Respondent's conduct
and sexual harassment. Samardzija thought of Barker as a friend and did not recall telephoning her at home
to urge her to go to the ARDC, pressuring her to consult a lawyer, or telling her that she wanted to bury
Respondent. She recalled discussing Respondent's prior disciplinary matter with Barker. (Tr. 484-85, 493,
498, 509; Adm. Ex. 112).
Suzanne Kendryna
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The parties stipulated that, if called to testify, Suzanne Kendryna would state she was the office manager of
Freed & Weiss from 2000 until December 2002. She obtained her job at the firm through Jamie Weiss,
whom she considered to be a work friend. Up until the last two weeks of Kendryna's employment, no one
complained to her about Respondent's conduct. She did not report what Barker told her to anyone at the firm.
(Tr. 735-36; Adm. Ex. 100).
Krystal White
Krystal White, Rachel Barker's sister, testified that Barker helped her obtain a temporary job at Freed &
Weiss in the summer of 2002. White was sixteen years old, needed the money and was told by her sister that
the people were nice. White did not learn about what happened to Barker until after she left the firm. (Tr.
793-96, 805).
PAGE 14:
Respondent
Respondent testified Rachel Barker was hired as a file clerk/legal assistant at a time when the firm was
smaller and he, Jamie and Eric Freed took a personal interest in their employees. He considered Barker to be
a friend and was aware she had a difficult family situation. (Tr. 1645, 1649, 1658, 1770).
Respondent acknowledged having many telephone conversations with Barker but denied making
inappropriate sexual comments to her or making sexual comments while he was masturbating. He often
called her in the morning at her request to ensure she was going to be on time for work, or to ask her to pick
up a muffin. He called her during the day and evening to make sure she would be in the office the following
day, and several times he called her regarding personal issues. During that time period he called people
habitually, whereas now he e-mails people at all times of the day and night. (Tr. 1649-51).
Respondent took Barker to a Bulls game after learning she had never been to a game. Following the game,
Respondent and Eric Freed gave Barker a ride to the train station in Respondent's car. Respondent denied
any sexual contact with Barker before dropping her off at the station. (Tr. 1652-53).
Respondent denied making any sexually suggestive comments to Barker during her employment. He
acknowledged he probably touched her at some point, but never inappropriately. He denied exposing himself
to her, or forcing her into a stairwell where he masturbated and ejaculated. He also denied pushing her
against the wall in his office, telling her he was thinking about her while he was having sex with his wife,
trying to kiss her or touch her breasts or vagina over her clothing, or following her to the elevator to touch
her in a sexual manner. Respondent recalled the firm loaned money to Barker for a cell phone bill, and the
loan
PAGE 15:
was then deducted from her year-end bonus. He denied telling her she could pay the loan back "in
flesh." (Tr. 1661, 1654, 1656-57, 1771).
Respondent testified Barker complained to him about a sexual harassment issue with another attorney.
E-mails between Respondent and Barker reflect that Respondent addressed the problem and it was resolved.
(Tr. 1654; Resp. Ex. 2).
In December 2002, Respondent learned that Barker was being pressured by other employees "to say certain
things." He asked attorney George Collins to look into the matter and was aware that Collins interviewed
Barker and prepared a statement for her signature. Respondent had no role in the preparation of the
document and did not see it until much later. Likewise, he had nothing to do with the preparation of Barker's
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April 2003 affidavit. Respondent believes other people were aware of his prior disciplinary proceeding and
used it to their advantage against him. (Tr. 1614, 1662-64; Resp. Ex. 7).
Respondent had issues with Barker's work performance, attitude, punctuality and attendance, and sent her
e-mails in June 2002 and in May through August 2003 regarding those issues. On October 7, 2003
Respondent sent an e-mail to Jamie and Georgiana Tieman stating Barker shouted obscenities at him, he was
sick of her bringing her outside problems to the office and a change had to be made. Barker's last day at the
firm was October 10, 2003. (Tr. 1657-58, 1666-67; Adm. Ex. 112; Resp. Exs. 3, 13-19).
Respondent recalled that after Barker left Freed & Weiss, she stopped by the office on several occasions and
spoke to him many times. In August 2007 she sent him an e-mail advising of a job change and providing her
personal e-mail address. On January 19, 2008 Respondent received an e-mail from George Collins reporting
that he had talked to Barker, she had a copy of her statement, and she did not repudiate it. (Tr. 1667-69,
1775; Resp. Exs. 21-22).
PAGE 16:
Respondent never received a complaint from the ARDC submitted by Barker, but did receive a letter from
the ARDC in April 2007 enclosing a communication from Todd Lewis regarding Respondent's conduct in
relation to Barker and others. Respondent identified Lewis as a former employee who was being sued by the
firm at that time. (Tr. 1645-46; Resp. Ex. 40).
George Collins
George Collins, an attorney, has represented Respondent since at least 1994 on various matters. On January
7, 2003 Collins, as Respondent's attorney, interviewed Rachel Barker. When Barker arrived at Collins' law
offices, they sat on either side of a desk in a small office where Collins had access to a computer and printer.
Collins recalled Barker was soft spoken, sincere, self-assured and calm. She did not seem nervous or afraid,
nor did she indicate any unwillingness to talk about Respondent's behavior towards her. Barker did not have
an attorney with her, and did not request an attorney. (Ev. Dep. 22-25, 32, 40-42, 44, 60, 63, 86).
Collins posed questions to Barker and, as she answered them, he typed her responses into his computer,
sometimes quoting her directly. He asked questions in a conversational style, and did not ask her to agree
with his understanding of events. The interview probably lasted less than one hour. (Ev. Dep. 27-28, 61-62).
When asked about specific language in Barker's statement, Collins confirmed that he had accurately recorded
what she told him. With respect to language at the end of the statement stating "Pursuant to Section 1/109 of
the Code of Civil Procedure, I declare that this statement is true," Collins recalled explaining to Barker that,
by virtue of the language used, she was agreeing that her statement was true and signing under the laws of
perjury. He believed she understood she was signing under oath. (Ev. Dep. 28-31, 34-35; Resp. Ex. 7).
When the interview was completed, Collins read the statement to Barker, made any corrections she
requested, gave her a chance to read a printed copy, and asked her to sign and
PAGE 17:
date it, which she did without any unwillingness. Barker gave no indication she was afraid she would lose
her job if she did not help Respondent. After signing the statement, Barker never stated she wanted to change
anything or that any part was untrue. (Ev. Dep. 26, 32-35).
Collins spoke to Barker again in 2008 when she received a subpoena from the ARDC and was looking for an
attorney. At that time he verified that her prior statement was true and remained true, gave her the name of
an attorney, and told her Respondent would pay for the attorney. He recalled Barker seemed annoyed, but
was not unwilling to talk and was aware that Collins was Respondent's lawyer. Collins sent an e-mail to
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Respondent reciting his conversation with Barker, including the fact that Barker had not repudiated her prior
statement. Collins did not recall any further conversations with Barker. (Ev. Dep. 36, 39, 69; Resp. Ex 22).
Michael Paull
Michael Paull, a labor and employment lawyer, represented Respondent and his firm against claims of
inappropriate sexual conduct filed by Tanja Samardzija in 2003. After receiving the charge in about
February 2003, Paull began doing preparatory work and set up meetings with every member of Respondent's
firm. (Tr. 1569-71, 1574).
In March and early April 2003, Paull spoke to Rachel Barker in person and by telephone, He felt they had
friendly and cordial conversations and that she was comfortable at all times. Based on their discussions, he
prepared an affidavit for her signature and presented it to her on April 7, 2003, at which time they read
through it together. After Paull made minor revisions requested by Barker, he sent the revised affidavit to her
by e-mail, and she returned it signed and notarized. (Tr. 1571, 1575, 1578-80, 1591; Adm. Ex. 10).
Paull drafted the anti-discrimination and harassment policy used by Freed & Weiss. Paull's firm currently
represents Respondent, but Paull is no longer involved. (Tr. 1584, 1590-91; Adm. Ex. 52).
PAGE 18:
Jamie Weiss
Jamie Weiss testified that in approximately 2003, the firm instituted a procedure for reporting sexual
harassment because they thought Respondent had a target on his back and needed protection. With respect to
the anti-discrimination and harassment policy signed by the firm's employees, Jamie was not listed by name
as a person to whom reports could be made, and was only in the office once or twice a week from 2001 to
2004. Jamie recalled people in the firm complained to her about many things and often called her at home,
but no one ever made a complaint of sexual harassment to her. She agreed that employees might feel
uncomfortable coming to her with complaints about Respondent, but noted they had many other options. (Tr.
1331-33, 1363-66; Adm. Ex. 15).
Jamie denied that Barker ever complained to her about sexual harassment, but stated Barker did complain
about other things and also talked about her family difficulties and personal issues. Jamie recalled problems
with Barker's work performance, work ethic and attendance. The problems increased toward the end of
Barker's tenure with the firm. (Tr. 1334, 1336-38).
Georgiana Kaspuc-Tieman
Georgiana Kaspuc-Tieman ("Tieman") was the part-time office manager at Freed & Weiss from July 2003 to
July 2011 and ensured that the firm's anti-discrimination and harassment policies were followed. The
employees understood when they reported conduct to her, she would then report to Jamie Weiss. No one
ever came to Tieman with a report of sexual harassment and, in her eight years at the firm, she never
witnessed Respondent sexually harassing anyone or acting inappropriately in a sexual manner toward
anyone. Other than swearing, Respondent spoke appropriately to people. (Tr. 1229-31, 1238-39, 1241-42,
1252).
Tieman identified her signature on a September 2003 disciplinary notice which stated Rachel Barker had
exceeded her allotted time off for the year by three and one-half days.
PAGE 19:
Tieman stated that typically a written warning was issued after a verbal warning had failed to correct the
conduct. (Tr. 1233-34, 1244-45; Resp. Ex. 11).
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Vincent Francone
Vincent Francone was employed at Freed & Weiss from September 2003 to January 2012 as a paralegal/
office assistant. Francone never witnessed any inappropriate sexual conduct or heard of any inappropriate
sexual comments by Respondent toward Rachel Barker, and Barker never complained to him of any
inappropriate sexual conduct by Respondent. (Tr. 1557-59).
B. Analysis and Conclusions
Before addressing the merits of Count I, we address arguments raised by Respondent which, if valid, would
defeat the Administrator's charges. In addressing the various defenses, we keep in mind that disciplinary
proceedings are sui generis based upon the Supreme Court's inherent power to regulate the practice of law.
In re Ettinger, 128 Ill. 2d 351, 365, 538 N.E.2d 1152 (1989). The primary purpose of a disciplinary
proceeding is to protect the public from unqualified or unethical practitioners. Ettinger, 128 Ill. 2d at 365
Respondent asserted an affirmative defense to this (and other Counts) based on Professional Rule 8.4(a)(9)
(B). Rule 8.4(a) states, in relevant part, that a lawyer shall not:
(9)(A) violate a Federal, State or local statute or ordinance that prohibits discrimination based
on . . . sex . . . by conduct that reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness as a lawyer . . . .
(B) no complaint of professional misconduct based on an unlawfully discriminatory act,
pursuant to (9)(A) of this rule, may be brought until a court or administrative agency of
competent jurisdiction has found that the lawyer has engaged in an unlawfully discriminatory
act, and that the determination of the court or administrative agency has become final and
enforceable . . . .
Respondent argues that the Administrator has, in effect, alleged a discriminatory act - sexual harassment which is barred pursuant to Rule 8.4(a)(9)(B) because no court or administrative
PAGE 20:
agency has found that Respondent engaged in an unlawfully discriminatory act. Indeed, Rachel Barker never
asserted a claim for discrimination in a court or before an administrative agency.
This issue was previously discussed in relation to Respondent's motion for judgment on the pleadings, and
the same reasoning is applied here. Clearly, the Administrator did not charge a violation of Rule 8.4(a)(9)
(A), which would be improper without a final court or agency determination of discriminatory conduct.
Rather, the Administrator charged Respondent with committing criminal acts, which happened to be of a
sexual nature, in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3). We view the two rules as distinct in purpose and application,
and therefore do not consider the Administrator's action in charging criminal conduct as an attempt to
circumvent the requirement that exists in Rule 8.4(a)(9). Further, we do not believe the Administrator's
ability to bring charges under 8.4(a)(3) should be dependent on whether or not purported victims chose to
pursue civil claims for discrimination or settled those claims prior to a final determination. The public would
not be properly served if that were the case.
Respondent has also argued, in a motion to dismiss and again at hearing, that a criminal conviction is a
predicate to a finding that Respondent committed a criminal act under Rule 8.4(a)(3). In this case
Respondent was neither charged with nor convicted of any crime with respect to Rachel Barker. Respondent
cites a 2012 case, In re Betts-Gaston, 08 CH 5, M.R. 25529 (Nov. 19, 2012), in which the Review Board,
relying on its previous decision in In re Smith, 07 CH 71, exceptions allowed, declined to find any violation
of Rule 8.4(a)(3) in the absence of a court rendered conviction and a determination that the attorney had
engaged in criminal conduct beyond a reasonable doubt. On exceptions by both parties, the Supreme Court
issued a summary order denying exceptions and affirming the Board's recommendation of discipline.

http://www.iardc.org/rd_database/disc_decisions_detail_print.asp?Group=11309

11/22/2018

ARDC | Rules and Decisions

Page 13 of 53

PAGE 21:
In contrast to the Review Board's opinion in Betts-Gaston, the Supreme Court has long held that an attorney
may be disciplined for criminal conduct in the absence of a conviction because it is the underlying conduct,
rather than a conviction, which provides the basis for discipline. See In re Rolley, 121 Ill. 2d 222, 233, 520
N.E.2d 302 (1988) ("[i]t is not necessary that [an attorney's] misconduct should subject him to indictment, or
that, if the misconduct charged amounted to a crime, he should be prosecuted and convicted before
disbarment"). The Court further noted that a subsequent pardon, formal acquittal or successful completion of
supervision does not bar disciplinary proceedings or preclude attorney discipline. In Ettinger, 128 Ill. 2d at
369, the Court emphasized that criminal proceedings and disciplinary proceedings have differing purposes,
as well as burdens of proof:
Evidence deemed insufficient to convict an attorney on criminal charges may be sufficient to
show a deviation from required standards of professional conduct, warranting disciplinary
action. Respondent's acquittal in the federal district court has no bearing upon the
professional misconduct alleged.
Given the language in Ettinger and Rolley, and because the Court did not address the 8.4(a)(3) issue in BettsGaston, we do not conclude that the Court's summary order in the latter case was intended to overrule the
long-standing precedent on this issue. Subsequent to the Betts-Gaston decision, the Review Board affirmed a
Hearing Board finding that an attorney committed aggravated criminal sexual abuse in violation of 8.4(a)(3)
even though the attorney had not been convicted of that offense. The Supreme Court recently approved that
report. In re Hogan, 2011PR00047, M.R. 26266 (Nov. 20, 2013).
We now consider the evidence regarding Respondent's conduct toward Rachel Barker. Barker testified to
multiple incidents of inappropriate behavior and telephone calls by Respondent. Respondent, on the other
hand, denied any improprieties toward Barker. Because
PAGE 22:
their testimony was diametrically opposed and no other individuals were present during the alleged episodes,
a determination of credibility must be the first step in our analysis.
Having closely observed and listened to Barker for several hours, we found her recitation of events to be
inherently believable. Although reserved and quiet in her demeanor, Barker testified with clarity regarding
multiple inappropriate acts by Respondent, her attempts to avoid contact with him, and her fear and
embarrassment at being subjected to his advances. We could discern no ulterior motive for her testimony and
noted her obvious discomfort at having to recall the events. Her testimony regarding phone calls was
bolstered by telephone records which reflected many calls from Respondent's phone to her cell phone after
working hours. We were left with no doubt that the events happened as Barker described them.
Our assessment of Barker was not affected by her 2003 written statements to Respondent's attorneys George
Collins and Michael Paull. (As to the affidavit prepared by Paull, Barker did not recall speaking to Paull or
signing the document, but given Paull's testimony, Barker's recognition of her signature, and her similar
statement to Collins around the same time period, we accept its authenticity). Barker testified she knowingly
provided false information because she was afraid of losing her job if she told the truth about Respondent.
We find her explanation to be thoroughly plausible as the balance of power at that time was entirely in
Respondent's favor -- he was the employer/lawyer/authority figure while she was the young employee who
was dependent upon him and fearful of him. Now distanced from that situation, her apology and remorse for
having provided the false information appeared genuine and heartfelt. See In re Teichner, 104 Ill. 2d 150,
167, 470 N.E.2d 972 (1984) (statements by an aggrieved client that she was satisfied with her attorney's
services were of questionable value where they were taken by attorney under circumstances disadvantageous
to client).
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PAGE 23:
Likewise, we do not find Barker's account to be any less credible because she did not report any of the
incidents to office personnel. We appreciate the difficulties a young staff member faces in pointing a finger
at the firm's owner and leader. Barker's fear that she would not be believed was a real concern, as were any
consequences to her employment situation. The presence of Respondent's wife in the office could only add to
the difficulty of revealing Respondent's conduct. As to the harassment policy that went into effect in 2003
and which Barker signed, we accept her testimony that the policy did nothing to alleviate her concerns.
Although Barker testified that Respondent's inappropriate behavior commenced shortly after she was hired,
several months later she recommended her younger sister, Krystal White, for temporary employment. Barker
testified she did not believe Respondent would bother her sister, who was only sixteen at the time. Further,
White's employment was intended to be short term, she needed a job, and at that point Barker had not
experienced the very worst of Respondent's advances. Under the circumstances, we do not view Barker's
assistance to her sister in securing a job as contradicting her testimony regarding her own experiences with
Respondent.
With respect to an e-mail Barker sent to Respondent several years after leaving the firm, we see nothing
unusual in someone providing contact information to a former employer or making inquiry about the wellbeing of a former co-worker. The contact information was clearly intended for anyone at the firm who
needed to reach Barker, and not as private information for Respondent.
Because we regarded Barker as a very credible witness and someone without a motive to lie, we reject
Respondent's denials of inappropriate behavior. We are aware that no witness personally observed any
improprieties between Respondent and Barker, but we would expect as much since Respondent, as the
instigator of the encounters, would naturally choose times and places that would make detection unlikely.
We were not at all persuaded by Respondent's theory
PAGE 24:
(as to this count, or any count of the Complaint) that he had a target on his back because of his prior
disciplinary record and that women were trying to use his past against him.
Having resolved the credibility and motivation issues, we turn to the question of whether Respondent
engaged in professional misconduct. He is charged with violating Rule 8.4(a)(3) by committing criminal acts
which reflect adversely upon his honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer. The criminal acts are
battery, assault, unlawful restraint, and telephone harassment.
A person commits battery if he "intentionally or knowingly without legal justification and by any means (1)
causes harm to an individual or (2) makes physical contact of an insulting or provoking nature with an
individual." 720 ILCS 5/12-3.3 The physical contact does not have to be forceful or injurious in nature.
People v. DeRosario, 397 Ill. App. 3d 332, 921 N.E.2d 753 (2d Dist. 2009) (touching victim's back and
hips). Offensive sexual touching constitutes a battery. People v. Wilkinson, 194 Ill. App. 3d 660, 551 N.E.2d
327 (1st Dist. 1990) (touching victim's breast and placing hand in her pants). We find that Respondent
committed battery on multiple occasions. Barker testified he touched her sexually more than fifty times by
rubbing his hands over her body, including her breasts and buttocks. His actions caused her to be afraid and
uncomfortable. His most offensive act occurred in a stairwell when he touched her all over her body, tried to
kiss her, and reached his hand into her clothing while masturbating. Respondent's physical contacts with
Barker were, without question, alarming and highly insulting.
Under the Illinois Criminal Code, a person "commits an assault when, without lawful authority, he engages
in conduct which places another in reasonable apprehension of receiving a battery." 720 ILCS 5/12-1. We
may infer reasonable apprehension from the facts of the case and can consider information known to the
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victim about the perpetrator. In re C.L., 180 Ill. App. 3d 173, 178, 534 N.E.2d 1330 (1st Dist. 1989). We find
Respondent placed Barker in reasonable apprehension of receiving a battery on numerous occasions,
including when he unzipped his
PAGE 25:
pants in his car, when he asked her to go on errands and then followed her into the elevator, and when he
pulled her into the stairwell.
A person commits the offense of unlawful restraint when he "knowingly without legal authority detains
another." 720 ILCS 5/10-3. The detention must be willful, against the victim's consent, and prevent
movement from one place to another. People v. Bowen, 241 Ill. App.3d 608, 609 N.E.2d 346 (4th Dist. 1993).
The duration of the restraint, however short, is inconsequential. People v. Jones, 93 Ill. App. 3d 475, 417
N.E.2d 647 (1st Dist. 1981). We find that Respondent engaged in unlawful restraint when he pulled Barker
into the stairwell and pinned her against the wall with his forearm.
During the times relevant to Barker's employment, the Illinois Criminal Code provided that "[h]arassment by
telephone is use of telephone communication for any of the following purposes:
(1) Making any comment, request, suggestion of proposal which is obscene, lewd, lascivious,
filthy or indecent with an intent to offend; or
(2) Making a telephone call, whether or not conversation ensues with intent to abuse, threaten
or harass any person at the called number; or
(3) Making repeated telephone calls, during which conversations ensue, solely to harass any
person at the called number; or
(4) Knowingly permitting any telephone under one's control to be used for any of the
purposes mentioned herein.
720 ILCS 135/1-1. The evidence showed that Respondent made repeated calls to Barker's cell phone. While
some of the calls immediately prior to or after work hours may have had a legitimate purpose, we do not
accept his explanations regarding his late night or weekend calls. According to Barker, during many of the
calls Respondent communicated his sexual thoughts and desires about her and often reported that he was
masturbating as he was speaking to her. Barker was distressed and frightened by the calls and asked
Respondent to stop making
PAGE 26:
inappropriate comments. We conclude that Respondent's calls were obscene, lewd and indecent, and that he
made them with the intent to offend Barker. We also conclude that he intended to harass her. For a call to be
made with the intent to harass, the caller must intend to produce emotional distress "akin to that of a threat,"
and "substantially greater than mere annoyance." People v. Taylor, 349 Ill. App. 3d 839, 812 N.E.2d 759 (2nd
Dist. 2004). We infer Respondent's intent to harass from the nature and timing of his calls, his persistence,
and the fact that his calls did, indeed, cause fear and anxiety.
Having found that Respondent committed the criminal acts as alleged, we further find that those acts reflect
adversely on his honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer. The fact that his conduct did not involve
clients or relate specifically to his practice does not require a contrary conclusion. Respondent exercised
incredibly poor judgment, took advantage of his position of power for his own self-interest, placed the
interests and well-being of another person in jeopardy, and disregarded the law on repeated occasions. All of
these behaviors reflect negatively on his ability to make decisions in the best interests of a client and to
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uphold the standards of the profession. See In re Fishman, 01 CH 109, M.R. 19462 (Sept. 24, 2004)
(attorney's sexual conduct toward female employee reflected adversely on his fitness as a lawyer because
"abuse of power in a law office setting reveals a serious deficiency in his character and in his ability to
interact appropriately with people who depend upon and trust him.") (Hearing Bd. Rpt. at 22); In re Clark,
07 CH 111, M.R. 17713 (2001) (interacting improperly with employees "taints the integrity of the legal
profession as much as misconduct in dealing with clients") (Hearing Bd. at 21). We find, therefore, that
Respondent violated Rule 8.4(a)(3).
PAGE 27:
COUNT II
II.

Respondent is charged with committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) by committing
battery and assault.
A. Evidence Considered
Tanja Samardzija

Tanja Samardzija graduated from law school in 2000 and began her career as an attorney in February 2001
when she was hired by Freed & Weiss. Respondent's wife, Jamie Weiss, was the office manager at the time.
(Tr. 465-67, 476).
In 2001 Samardzija met with a representative of the ARDC regarding allegations about Respondent's
conduct toward a female employee of the firm. Around that time Samardzija became aware of, and saw
documents relating to, Respondent's prior disciplinary matter. She also was interviewed by Respondent's
attorney, George Collins, but was not asked to sign anything. Samardzija acknowledged that although she
never signed a statement, she subsequently received a raise. (Tr. 467, 496-97, 499).
Samardzija recalled that in 2002 the firm environment was pleasant on some days but on other days, when
Respondent and Freed were arguing and swearing at each other, people were on edge. The dress was "pretty
casual." Samardzija acknowledged disliking Respondent at times and feeling underpaid, but recalled giving
him a birthday present in the summer of 2002. (Tr. 483-84, 494, 502-03, 513; Resp. Ex. 25).
Samardzija identified a June 2002 document entitled "Freed & Weiss Attorney Review" which shows she
received above average ratings for research and writing, legal knowledge, cooperation, and personal
conduct; average ratings for initiative, decisiveness and personal qualities; and a poor rating for billable
hours. The document also reflected that she did not work effectively under pressure. In a section for
employee comments, Samardzija noted "pleasant
PAGE 28:
working environment." On August 1, 2002 Samardzija received an e-mail from Respondent criticizing her
for consistently billing less than his minimum expectation of 40 hours per week. (Tr. 481-82, 506; Adm. Ex.
22; Resp. Ex. 26).
In the fall of 2002 Samardzija began feeling sexually harassed by Respondent. On one occasion she was in
the copying room with Respondent when he asked if she had a boyfriend and mentioned sex between
friends. When he asked if he could touch her leg, she did not respond. He then touched her calf and told her
she had become more attractive in the past year. Samardzija stated she felt paralyzed and powerless at the
time, which was unusual for her. She did not recall making any comments about Respondent's legs. (Tr. 47678, 511).
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A short time after the copying room incident, Samardzija was sitting next to Respondent as they were
reviewing her work. Respondent reached over and placed his hand on her calf for about one second.
Although Samardzija did not want Respondent to touch her and was afraid, she focused on work and said
nothing. (Tr. 478-79, 495-96, 512).
On another occasion Respondent suggested to Samardzija that she start wearing low-cut clothing because
"sex sells." Samardzija then asked "why would I want to sell it here?" After that incident, Samardzija felt she
had regained her voice. She called a meeting with Respondent and Freed to ask that the harassment stop and,
at the same time, she mentioned that her salary was too low. In response, they raised the issue of her billable
hours. No more incidents occurred after the meeting. (Tr. 479-80, 507-08).
Samardzija did not report Respondent's conduct to Jamie Weiss because Jamie was Respondent's wife, or to
the part-time office manager Suzanne Kendryna. She did not go to the police because she did not feel that a
crime had been committed. (Tr. 512, 514, 494).
On December 26, 2002 while Samardzija was vacationing in Florida, she received a voice message from
Freed informing her that her employment had been terminated because her
PAGE 29:
work performance and hours were not up to task. Samardzija had no warning and had not been concerned
that her job was in jeopardy. She received a termination letter from the firm, but had no further conversations
with Respondent or Freed. (Tr. 487-90; Adm. Exs. 25, 26).
Samardzija obtained legal counsel and filed a claim against Freed & Weiss with the City of Chicago and the
Cook County Commission on Human Rights. As a result of the suits, Samardzija received a settlement of
nearly $7,000 for back wages. Samardzija denied any intent to extort Respondent. Samardzija is a friend of
attorney Bill Bogot and is aware that he also sued Respondent. (Tr. 491-92, 509-10; Adm. Exs. 31, 32).
Samardzija never reported Respondent's conduct toward her to the ARDC and, other than appearing at the
ARDC in 2001, she did not report his conduct toward anyone else. When she was contacted by the ARDC,
she was not happy that the issues were resurfacing. Samardzija stated that because of her issues with
Respondent, she did not trust attorneys for a number of years. (Tr. 486, 493-94, 497, 513).
Respondent
Respondent testified Samardzija's work performance was lacking in some respects as reflected in her June
2002 performance review and the August 1, 2002 e-mail in which he noted she was billing less than 40 hours
per week. (Tr. 1634-37; Adm. Ex. 112; Resp. Ex. 24, 26).
In a September 23, 2002 memo to the file, Respondent recounted that Samardzija had come to his office with
two issues: first, she felt she was not being paid enough and second, she stated that Respondent had acted
inappropriately by commenting on her improved appearance, telling her she would be a lot of fun, referring
to her fooling around with a male friend, and suggesting she wear more "low-cut shit." As noted in the
memo, Respondent denied making some of the remarks, believed Samardzija had misinterpreted any
comments he did make, and
PAGE 30:
told her he would be careful to not say anything that could be taken the wrong way. Respondent thought the
issue was resolved. (Tr. 1638-40, 1670; Resp. Ex. 27).
Respondent denied making any sexual or lewd comments to Samardzija, denied asking her if she believed in
sex between friends, and denied telling her she would be a lot of fun. If he ever touched her leg during a
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meeting, it was inadvertent or to make a point, but it was not sexual. He recalled one encounter where
Samardzija commented about his skinny legs and then thrust out her own leg to show it to him. He did not
recall if he touched her leg, but stated the exchange was completely innocent. (Tr. 1643-44).
Samardzija was terminated on December 26, 2002. Respondent never received any complaint from the
ARDC submitted by Samardzija, but she did bring an action against him for pay discrimination and sexual
harassment. He made a business decision to pay her $10,000, which was less expensive than defending the
case. (Tr. 1640-42; Adm. Exs. 28, 112).
Jamie Weiss
Jamie testified that Samardzija never complained to her about sexual harassment by Respondent, but
regularly complained about work-related matters and her salary. (Tr. 1342-44).
B. Analysis and Conclusions
For the reasons stated in Count I, we conclude that the allegations of Count II are not barred by Rule 8.4(a)
(9)(B) or by the principles set forth in the Betts-Gaston decision. With respect to Rule 8.4(a)(9), we note that
Tanja Samardzija pursued an employment discrimination matter with the Department of Human Rights,
which matter was settled and dismissed. Although the settlement of her employment claim would preclude a
charge under Rule 8.4(a)(9), (as the administrative agency did not find an unlawful discriminatory act), we
see no reason why it should prevent the Administrator from charging criminal conduct under Rule 8.4(a)(3).
PAGE 31:
As to the misconduct alleged in Count II, Samardzija testified that Respondent touched her leg on two
occasions -- once in the copying room and once as they were seated next to each other. In the first instance
she recalled Respondent asking if he could touch her leg and when she did not respond, he touched her.
Although conceding that the touches were very brief, Samardzija interpreted Respondent's act as sexual in
nature, purposeful and offensive. For his part, Respondent denied asking if he could touch Samardzija's leg
or purposefully touching her leg on any occasion, but stated he may have brushed her leg inadvertently.
While we do not discredit Samardzija's testimony, we are concerned that her impressions may have been
colored by her relationship with Respondent which, while friendly at times, became more hostile as time
progressed and involved issues such as her salary and billable hours. Given Samardzija's evident animosity
toward Respondent, we cannot accept her interpretation of the events any more than Respondent's, and
therefore we do not find clear and convincing evidence of misconduct.
Even if we accepted Samardzija's interpretation that the leg touches occurred with sexual overtones, we
would find that they were not so insulting or offensive to constitute a battery, nor did Respondent's actions or
comments about her appearance or anything she may have previously heard about his behavior place her in
reasonable apprehension of receiving a battery. Although not determinative of our decision, we also note that
Samardzija herself did not view Respondent's actions as criminal in nature. Because we find no violation of
Rule 8.4(a)(3) respective to Samardzija, we recommend that Count II be dismissed.
PAGE 32:
COUNT III
III.

Respondent is charged with committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) by
committing battery and assault.
A. Evidence Considered
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Krystal White
Krystal White (now Vander Laan), was employed by Freed & Weiss during the summer of 2002. At that
time White was sixteen years old, five foot two inches tall, and weighed 108 pounds. She had a baby, was
responsible for her own living expenses, and needed a job. (Tr. 793, 805; Adm. Ex. 33).
A few weeks after White began work at the firm, she was at the office and wearing a skirt for the first time.
As she was walking down the hall to the restroom, Respondent called her name, came running up to her, told
her how good she looked, turned her to the side, and rubbed or "grazed" his hand across her buttocks and
down her thigh. White testified that Respondent's touch was sexual and scary and did not feel like an
accident. White was shocked, nervous and scared. Her stomach was upset and her heart was racing. No one
else was present at the time of the incident. (Tr. 798-800).
White proceeded to the restroom to compose herself, and then went back to the office and told her sister,
Rachel Barker, about the incident and Respondent touching her. Barker confronted Respondent in his office,
and then they both spoke to White. When Respondent told White "you know I did not touch you," White
responded "sure" in a sarcastic manner because Respondent was intimidating and she did not want to argue
with him. (Tr. 800-02, 806).
White finished her work that day and quit her job at the firm. She did not recall having a set termination date
for her employment. White did not report the incident to anyone at the firm,
PAGE 33:
other than Barker, or to the police because she was scared, did not know if anyone would believe her, and
wanted to move on. (Tr. 802-02, 806).
White did not learn of anything unusual happening to her sister at the firm, or of Respondent's prior
discipline, until after she left the firm. She is close to Barker, and they speak almost every day. When White
was contacted by the ARDC, she learned that a case was pending against Respondent. (Tr. 796, 803-04,
807).
Rachel Barker
Barker testified to an occasion when her sister, Krystal White, was very upset after returning from the
washroom and reported to Barker that Respondent made a comment to her and grabbed her buttocks. White
did not want to work at the firm any longer and did not return after that day. (Tr. 905-06, 960).
Barker never witnessed any inappropriate behavior between Respondent and her sister. She acknowledged
stating at a deposition that the only inappropriate conduct by Respondent toward White was a comment
about White's buttocks. (Tr. 945).
Respondent
In 2002 Respondent hired White, at Barker's request, to handle filing and messenger duties. Respondent
knew that White, who was sixteen, had a baby and was living with her boyfriend's parents. White failed to
perform quality work and brought her young son into the office, which caused a distraction. Respondent
expressed his concerns in a June 26, 2002 e-mail to Barker, and they agreed the situation was not working.
(Tr. 1671, 1772; Resp. Ex. 4).
Respondent denied that he ever grabbed White's buttocks or made comments to her about her buttocks. He
never received any complaint that White submitted to the ARDC and first heard about a complaint involving
White in 2007 or 2008. (Tr. 1672).
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Jamie Weiss
Jamie had no clear recollection of meeting Krystal White, but knew Respondent was not happy when White
brought her child to work. She denied that White ever complained to her about sexual harassment by
Respondent. (Tr. 1341-42).
B. Analysis and Conclusions
For the reasons stated in Count I, we conclude that the allegations of Count IV are not barred by Rule 8.4(a)
(9)(B) or by the principles set forth in the Betts-Gaston decision.
Krystal White was a credible witness and we accept her testimony that Respondent touched her leg and
buttocks on one occasion. We understood from her testimony and demonstration that the touch was light and
lasted no more than a few seconds. Despite the brevity of the incident, the placement of Respondent's hand
carried with it sexual overtones and was very disturbing to her.
We find that Respondent committed the criminal act of battery in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3). We consider
his act of caressing White's leg and buttocks to be sexual and offensive, and therefore conclude that it was a
physical contact of an insulting nature. As explained in Count I, we conclude that this type of behavior
reflects negatively on his fitness as a lawyer.
We do not find that Respondent committed the criminal act of assault. The evidence did not show that he
said anything alarming to White, nor did she testify that his turning her to the side was in any way forceful or
disturbing. Therefore we cannot conclude that she had a reasonable apprehension of receiving a battery.
PAGE 35:
COUNT IV
IV.

Respondent is charged with committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) by
committing battery, assault, unlawful restraint and telephone harassment.
A. Evidence Considered
Stephanie Newman

Stephanie Newman [now Baum] stands five feet two and one-half inches tall and weighs 104 pounds. She
worked for Respondent for between 1999 and 2001, when she was approximately 27 years old. Respondent
and Jamie Weiss, who worked at the firm but was present in the office only occasionally, were her
supervisors. Newman's primary responsibility was organizing the files but she also performed other tasks.
Newman recalled a casual office atmosphere where Respondent and his partner argued loudly. (Tr. 737-41).
After Newman began working at the firm, Respondent called her at home "more than a couple" and "maybe
five" times and asked her what she was wearing. Although Newman did not think the questions were
appropriate, she initially viewed them as a joke and brushed them off by telling Respondent "shut the fuck
up" and hanging up the phone. Newman told Respondent to stop calling, and eventually he did. (Tr. 743-45,
775).
Newman recalled Respondent made sexually suggestive comments to her at the office, including telling her
he wanted to sleep with her. Newman thought the comments were inappropriate, but they went "in one ear
and out the other" and she continued on with her day. She described herself as having a thick skin, and was

http://www.iardc.org/rd_database/disc_decisions_detail_print.asp?Group=11309

11/22/2018

ARDC | Rules and Decisions

Page 21 of 53

not distraught by his comments. On many occasions while she was sitting on the couch in Respondent's
office, he removed his casual pants and changed into dress pants in preparation for court. He always had on
boxer shorts, and
PAGE 36:
sometimes the door was open. Newman also recalled when she was in Respondent's office he would rub his
genitals, over his pants, in a sexual manner. (Tr. 745-46, 757, 775-78).
Newman recalled being reprimanded by Respondent and Jamie for having a poor attitude, and being
criticized for her work. She acknowledged she was not the best paralegal, and that she had "a bit of a
mouth." She did not recall giving Respondent a ride home or inviting him to her parents' home, but may have
sent him a balloon bouquet when he had surgery. (Tr. 747, 773, 779-80).
Toward the end of Newman's employment, she was in the firm's lunchroom with Respondent when he
placed his hand under her clothing and grabbed her breast. She pulled his hand out, screamed at him and left
the office. She was upset and nauseated by Respondent's disgusting and inappropriate conduct. At that point
she had been looking for a new job for several months, but could not afford to quit without obtaining other
employment. (Tr. 748-50).
Newman testified that her parents and boyfriend knew of Respondent's conduct. She talked to them about
filing a sexual harassment charge, but decided it was best to leave her job and move on. She did not report
Respondent's action to the police. (Tr. 748, 758, 788).
Not long after the lunchroom incident, Newman told Respondent she was quitting. She did not recall asking
Respondent to match an offer she received from another firm. During an argument about whether she should
receive pay for unused vacation time, Newman told Respondent he owed her the money and he had behaved
inappropriately. Respondent asked if she were threatening him with a lawsuit, and then told her she could
receive payment if she signed a document stating she would not sue him. (Tr. 749-52, 783).
On or about May 31, 2001, Newman received a termination agreement from Respondent which stated,
among other things, that the firm was providing a severance payment of $434.84 in exchange for her
agreement not to sue and to release the firm and its partners from any and all
PAGE 37:
claims related to her employment. Newman took the agreement to a lawyer before signing it. She had no
recollection of receiving an e-mail from Respondent telling her that, in light of her comment that she
intended to sue him if she did not receive payment for her vacation days, she should pack her belongings and
leave. (Tr. 753-55, 786; Resp. Ex. 34, 41).
Newman did not tell anyone at the office about Respondent's conduct until the day she quit her job, at which
time she spoke to attorney Phil Bock. When Bock informed her that Respondent had left Illinois at one point
because of his conduct with a girl at another law firm, Newman felt nauseous and realized Respondent had a
serious problem. (Tr. 750, 767-70, 784).
Newman did not submit a complaint to the ARDC but was contacted in the summer of 2001 regarding an
anonymous letter that had been sent to the ARDC. The letter, dated July 18, 2001, describes Respondent's
phone calls to Newman, his sexual comments and conduct toward her, and the incident when he touched her
sexually. Newman denied writing the letter but stated the assertions in the letter are true. Newman recalled
being at the ARDC offices for a meeting and was surprised to see Phil Bock and Tanja Samardzija also
present. She was informed of Respondent's past disciplinary matter at that time. (Tr. 755-57, 767-69; Resp.
Ex. 96).
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In or about 2004, Newman received another telephone call from the ARDC, but was pregnant and did not
want to be involved. A few years later she was contacted again and refused a request to meet because she
had moved past the incident and did not want to be involved. Further, Newman lives in the same community
as Respondent and did not want to be responsible for, or worried about, the outcome of the proceeding.
Eventually she was subpoenaed to appear for a deposition and for the hearing. She did not want to testify.
(Tr. 738, 760-62, 771-72).
Phillip Bock
Phillip Bock, an attorney, began work at Freed & Weiss in 1999 when the firm was in its start-up stage. He
described the firm as casual and made up of personalities different from his
PAGE 38:
own. He acknowledged having difficulties with Respondent and receiving e-mails regarding his lack of time
in the office. (Tr. 647-50, 657-61; Resp. Ex. 106-08).
Bock identified a July 18, 2001 letter he sent to the ARDC regarding Respondent's behavior toward
Stephanie Newman. Bock signed the letter "Anonymous" because he did not want to be fired and he "lacked
the spine" to put his name on it. Sometime in the summer of 2001, Bock, Newman and Tanja Samardzija
attended a meeting at the ARDC offices and Bock was present when Newman was interviewed. Bock made
no other reports to the ARDC regarding Respondent. (Tr. 651-52, 547; Adm. Ex. 96).
Bock left Freed & Weiss in the fall of 2001 at a time when he had student loan and mortgage obligations.
With respect to working out a cancellation agreement, he acknowledged he was in an adversarial position to
the firm. Bock has been involved in numerous litigation matters against Respondent and is currently
involved in litigation against him. (Tr. 647, 650, 661-61, 666; Resp. Ex. 109).
Tanja Samardzija
Tanja Samardzija recalled having a conversation with Stephanie Newman in the summer of 2001 when
Newman was upset. Samardzija spoke to Phil Bock, who set up an appointment with the ARDC, and then
Samardzija voluntarily went with Bock to the appointment. Around that time Samardzija recalled
Respondent asking her about an anonymous letter sent to the ARDC regarding Respondent's conduct toward
Newman. (Tr. 468-72, 499; Adm. Ex. 96).
Respondent
Respondent met Stephanie Newman in about 2000 when she was hired to work as a paralegal/file clerk. In
addition to maintaining the files, Newman was responsible for deliveries in the downtown area. Her desk
was initially outside Respondent's office in a small common area but later it was moved to the filing area. In
connection with hiring Newman, Respondent
PAGE 39:
sent a January 28, 2000 e-mail to all employees advising that, despite the casual atmosphere of the office,
everyone was expected to work hard, arrive on time, refrain from visiting internet pornography sites and, in
light of the new female employee, watch their language and behavior "lest it be considered harassment of
any type." (Tr. 1616-17, 1621-22; Resp. Exs. 31, 42).
Respondent and Newman were friendly and frequently talked on the phone about personal and other nonwork related matters. They also lived in the same neighborhood and when Newman had access to a car, she
gave Respondent a ride to his apartment. On one occasion she took Respondent to her parents' home to show
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him their two large dogs. Respondent stated that Jamie also had a social relationship with Newman. (Tr.
1624-26).
Respondent recalled problems regarding Newman's work performance and specifically, her lack of attention
to detail. Further, when Newman wore high heels to work or straightened her hair, she did want to go outside
or make deliveries. Respondent described Newman as having a lot of attitude and spunk and many times,
including in an e-mail of March 5, 2001, he told her he was sick of dealing with her attitude. He recalled she
became emotional and cried when he criticized her work. Respondent acknowledged giving Newman a raise
in April 2001. (Tr. 1627-29, 1772-75; Adm. Exs. 37-39; Resp. Ex. 32).
Respondent denied ever rubbing his crotch in a sexually suggestive manner when he was seated across from
Newman and denied reaching his hand down her shirt and grabbing her breast. He stated he kept a suit in his
office for trips to court and would change his pants in front of people, but he always had on boxer shorts. In
hindsight, he recognizes that conduct was not the best idea. (Tr. 1617-18, 1632-33).
On May 30, 2001, after Newman had been turned down for a raise at Freed & Weiss and accepted another
job offer, Respondent sent her an e-mail reminding her that she had to focus on work while she was still at
the firm. On June 1, 2001, after Newman threatened to sue
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Respondent and make trouble for him if she was not paid for vacation days, Respondent directed her to pack
her belongings and leave. He understood Newman had talked to other people about his prior disciplinary
issues. After speaking to a lawyer, he paid Newman for the vacation days to avoid the hassle and because the
amount was not significant. (Tr. 1630-32; Resp. Ex. 33, 34).
As a result of Newman leaving amid some allegations, Respondent felt he was an easy target for potential
claims. On the advice of a labor law firm, the firm distributed a handbook to employees which included an
anti-discrimination and harassment policy. The firm never received a sexual harassment charge regarding
Newman. (Tr. 1619, 1633).
Sometime after July 18, 2001, Respondent was contacted by the ARDC in reference to an anonymous letter
regarding his conduct toward Newman. Respondent contacted attorney George Collins who interviewed
employees of the firm on August 24, 2001. In June 2002 Respondent was advised that the ARDC file
regarding the Newman matter had been closed. He did not learn the file had been reopened until eight years
later when he was notified the matter was being referred to the Inquiry Board. (Tr. 1633-34, 1669, 1776-77;
Adm. Ex. 96; Resp. Ex. 37).
Respondent acknowledged he does not like Phil Bock and suspected for years that Bock wrote the July 18,
2001 anonymous letter to the ARDC. On August 9, 2001 Respondent sent an e-mail to Bock criticizing him
for not working hard enough. On August 30, 2001 Respondent, after giving a statement to the ARDC earlier
in the day, sent Bock another e-mail questioning his hours and work ethic. (Tr. 1750-72, 1755, 1757, Resp.
Exs. 96, 107-08).
Jamie Weiss
Jamie testified Stephanie Newman never raised a complaint of sexual harassment to her, but regularly
complained about other issues. Newman felt Respondent was very demanding, impatient and shorttempered. Both Jamie and Respondent talked to Newman about problems
PAGE 41:
with her performance at work. During the time Newman worked at the firm, she house-sat for Jamie and
Respondent on one occasion, and introduced them to her parents. (Tr. 1339-41).
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George Collins
George Collins received a letter from the ARDC in June 2002 stating that the Newman investigation was
closed, but would be reopened "[i]f future circumstances warrant." He recognized that such closures are
provisional, but had no recollection of being advised that the matter was reopened in 2008 and then closed
again. Collins understood that the matter should have been expunged three years after the closure date. (Ev.
Dep. 15, 58-61, 86, Resp. Ex. 37).
B. Analysis and Conclusions
For the reasons stated in Count I, we conclude that the allegations of Count IV are not barred by Rule 8.4(a)
(9)(B) or by the principles set forth in the Betts-Gaston decision.
Respondent asserts an additional affirmative defense to this Count based upon Supreme Court Rule 778(b),
which states:
The Administrator shall expunge the record of an investigation concluded by dismissal or
closure by the Administrator or Inquiry Board three years after the disposition of the
investigation. . . . Expungement shall consist of the Administrator's destruction of the
investigative file and other related materials maintained by the Administrator relating to the
attorney, including any computer record identifying the attorney as a subject of an
investigation.
Respondent points out that although a 2001 investigation relating to Newman was closed via written letter to
Respondent on June 3, 2002, the Administrator never expunged the matter three years later as required by
Rule 778(b). Respondent argues that the Administrator's failure to comply with Rule 778 is fatal to the
charges in Count IV. This argument was previously addressed when the Administrator was allowed to
amend the Complaint to add a count regarding Newman.
PAGE 42:
Rule 778 clearly sets forth the procedure and timing for expungement of files. That rule does not provide,
however, that conduct which was the subject of a closed investigation should forever be protected from
further examination. In In re Hoffman, 08 SH 65, M.R. 24030 (Sept. 22, 2010) the Administrator's counsel
reopened a file relating to matters previously investigated and then expunged. Upon consideration of the
attorney's due process objections, the Review Board concluded, among other things, that Rule 778(b) "is
strictly an administrative rule and is not intended to terminate the Administrator's ability to charge an
attorney." (Review Board at 11). The Supreme Court denied the attorney's petition for leave to file
exceptions.
Commission Rule 54, which sets forth circumstances and procedures for closing a file, specifically provides
that closure of a file "shall not bar the Administrator from resuming the investigation if circumstances
warrant." Indeed, the closure letter sent to Respondent in June 2002 advised him of that fact. The Supreme
Court recently examined Rule 54 in In re Thomas, 2012 IL 113035, pars. 100-111 and clearly stated that a
closure letter confers no substantive rights on an attorney, and does not prevent the Administrator from
reexamining the alleged misconduct in the future. The Court also pointed out that any number of reasons
may give rise to a decision to reopen a matter, including a new complaint of similar misconduct, or even a
complaint of different misconduct. The decision is in the "sound discretion of the Administrator." Although
the Thomas case did not involve an expungement issue, the Court's emphasis on the Administrator's ability
and discretion to reopen matters indicates to us that a failure to comply with Rule 778 should not impede that
discretion. We therefore find that the Administrator's failure to comply with Rule 778(b) does not defeat the
charges in Count IV.
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With respect to the misconduct alleged, Stephanie Newman testified to a pattern of behavior by Respondent
which included sexual comments, telephone calls, rubbing his genitals and changing his pants when she was
in his office. According to Newman, the culminating event
PAGE 43:
occurred in the lunchroom when Respondent thrust his hand under her blouse and grabbed her breast.
Respondent denied any improprieties toward Newman.
Newman impressed us as being very frank in her manner and in her own self-appraisement. She described
herself as having a thick skin, and made no attempt to magnify her sensitivities or portray herself as more
aggrieved by Respondent's behavior than she actually was. She also confessed to being a flawed employee
with a "bit of a mouth." Based on her overall demeanor, her candid acknowledgements and her
straightforward recitation of events, we conclude that she was a reliable witness who did not falsify or
exaggerate Respondent's actions. Her reluctance to appear and testify is also a factor that we consider in
assessing her credibility.
We do not accept Respondent's theory that Newman invented a story about his behavior to obtain greater
compensation or as leverage in a dispute over vacation pay. By the time of the lunchroom incident Newman
was already dissatisfied with her job and had been searching for other employment opportunities. Therefore
we fail to see how an increase in pay was an issue at that point. With respect to receiving compensation for
unused vacation, it is simply too much of a stretch to believe Newman would concoct such serious
allegations against Respondent to obtain the small amount at issue. Conversely, Respondent's conditioning of
Newman's severance payment on her agreement not to sue strikes us as unlikely if he were innocent of any
objectionable conduct.
Having determined that Newman was a credible witness and having accepted her recitation of events, we
find that Respondent engaged in criminal conduct by accosting her in the lunchroom and placing his hand on
her breast. The physical contact was insulting in nature and therefore constituted a battery. We further find
that Respondent committed an assault in that, by placing his hand under her blouse, he placed her in
reasonable apprehension of receiving a battery.
PAGE 44:
We do not find that the allegation of unlawful restraint was proved by clear and convincing evidence.
Newman did not testify, either with respect to the episode in the lunchroom or any other encounter with
Respondent, that her mobility was restricted or that she was not able to leave. Indeed, we gathered from her
testimony that when Respondent grabbed her in the lunchroom, she ran away from him immediately.
We also do not find that the Administrator proved by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent
engaged in telephone harassment. The evidence showed that Respondent called Newman on about five
occasions and asked her what she was wearing. Newman testified she treated the calls as a joke and did not
seem to be more than mildly annoyed. Based on the scant evidence of the content of the calls and Newman's
reaction, we cannot conclude that the calls were obscene, lewd and indecent, or that Respondent made them
with the intent to offend or harass Barker.
Having found that Respondent committed the criminal acts of assault and battery, we further find, for the
reasons stated in Count I, those acts reflect adversely on Respondent's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a
lawyer in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3).
COUNT V
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Respondent is charged with committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) by
committing public indecency and disorderly conduct.
A. Evidence Considered
Mary Kathleen (Molly) Kelly

In 1999 and 2000 Molly Kelly lived with Caroline Bullock on the third floor of a three-story brownstone.
Bullock was Kelly's friend from high school and one of the owners of the building, which was a standard
walkup with landings on the second and third floor. The apartments had a front and back door. Kelly parked
in front of the building. (Tr. 65-66, 84).
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When Respondent and his wife, Jamie, moved into the second floor apartment, Kelly met them and thought
they were nice. Kelly and Bullock visited Jamie and Respondent's apartment, and they invited Jamie to their
apartment. Kelly was aware that Respondent and Jamie owned several cats and a puppy. (Tr. 66, 83-85).
One morning in 2000 as Kelly was walking past Respondent's door, Respondent discreetly poked his head
out, told her he was not fully dressed, and asked her to throw the newspaper up to him. Kelly descended
some stairs, tossed the paper from about fifteen feet away, and thought nothing of it. After several similar
requests from Respondent, Kelly began to think he was naked. As Respondent caught the paper, he would
open the door a little further and "shift in and out." Kelly described his positioning and movement as very
subtle and was not sure whether he intended her to see anything. During these episodes, Respondent was
always in his apartment and Kelly was on a small landing six stairs down from his apartment with an
unobstructed view of his door. Kelly estimated the incidents occurred between three and ten times. She did
not know if Jamie was in the apartment when she threw the paper to Respondent, but knew that Jamie left for
work later than Respondent. Kelly told Bullock about her suspicions that Respondent was exposing himself.
(Tr. 68-75, 86, 91-92, 95)
Eventually Kelly saw a pattern forming and realized Respondent's conduct was intentional. She felt
uncomfortable, horrible, and "grossed out," and no longer wanted to use the front stairs. (Tr. 68, 71-72).
One day when Respondent said something to Kelly as she was descending the stairs, she told him she could
no longer tolerate the situation. He called out her name and when she turned, he opened his door and
exposed himself to her completely naked. When Kelly was asked if Respondent's penis was erect, she replied
"I don't remember. I think it was. I don't remember." On cross examination, she stated she did not know.
Kelly was certain Respondent's conduct was
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not accidental and that he knew what he was doing. She described the experience as unpleasant, but not the
worst thing that ever happened to her. Kelly acknowledged Respondent never walked out of his apartment.
(Tr. 69, 72-73, 94).
Kelly drove to work, called Bullock, and reported that Respondent had exposed himself. Kelly may have
been crying at the time. She also recalled contacting an acquaintance who was both an attorney and a
landlord, and asking for advice. The attorney then called Respondent. Kelly did not contact the police
because she wanted to move on and did not want to cause any more problems. She was not aware that
Respondent and his wife had any disputes with Bullock. (Tr. 73-74, 76, 80, 95).
Sometime later Kelly read a newspaper article about Respondent exposing himself at a Deerfield train station
and being arrested and charged with disorderly conduct. Upon reading the article, Kelly was relieved and
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"didn't feel crazy." Kelly recalled that either she or someone in her office called the Deerfield police. (Tr. 8083; Adm. Ex. 46).
Kelly never made a complaint to the ARDC but at some point learned about Respondent's prior ARDC
problem. Kelly denied inventing a story to frame Respondent, and testified she felt obligated to appear and
give testimony. (Tr. 79, 85, 95).
Carolyn Bullock
In 1999 Carolyn Bullock and her brother owned the apartment building at 3516 N. Greenview. In the spring
of 1999, Bullock leased the second floor unit to Respondent and his wife, who were returning to Chicago
after living in Seattle. In 2000 Respondent and his wife renewed the lease for another year. Bullock did not
recall receiving a lot of complaints about the apartment from Respondent or his wife, and did not recall
issues regarding heat or plumbing. The building was not air conditioned, but window units were provided.
Bullock did not recall Respondent demanding reimbursement for any damage relating to heat issues or that
he withheld
PAGE 47:
rent, and stated he was very prompt with payments. Bullock never refused a request for repairs. (Tr. 98-102,
117-19; Adm. Ex. 43, 46).
On March 2, 2000 Bullock had a telephone conversation with Respondent during which she explained that
Kelly had complained of inappropriate advances. Bullock asked that Respondent not have any
communication with Kelly, and Respondent complied with the request for quite some time. (Tr. 114, 118).
On June 9, 2000, Bullock received a telephone call from Kelly, who was very distraught. On June 17, 2000,
Bullock wrote a letter to Respondent which outlined allegations made by Kelly that Respondent had exposed
himself to her on June 9, 2000. Bullock acknowledged she had no personal knowledge of the events. In her
letter, Bullock made reference to her prior telephone conversation with Respondent, requested that
Respondent find new living arrangements and offered a mutual release of the existing lease. Bullock testified
she was not aware of any claims Respondent had against her at the time, and thought the mutual release was
a mutual agreement for him to leave the apartment. (Tr. 102-04, 119-21; Adm. Ex. 44).
Bullock denied knowing in June 2000 that Respondent and his wife were looking for a home in Deerfield.
She also denied concocting a story to remove Respondent from his apartment so she would not have to make
repairs. When Respondent and his wife moved out, Bullock withheld a portion of the security deposit for
damage caused by the cats. Bullock believes Respondent has problems and needs help. (Tr. 115, 119, 126).
Respondent
In 1999 and 2000 when Respondent and his wife lived in the apartment on Greenview, he slept in the nude
as he had been doing since college. Respondent recalled several problems with the apartment, including
inadequate air conditioning and old plumbing. The problems, which were documented in letters that have
since been destroyed, caused him to withhold rent on
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occasion. Respondent never considered signing a two-year lease extension, as he and Jamie had plans to
move to the suburbs. (Tr. 1710-14, 1719).
Respondent recalled asking Molly Kelly to toss his newspaper up from a lower landing and she did so
"dozens upon dozens" of times. He was often naked when he opened the door a foot or "a little more" to pick
up the paper. He acknowledged Kelly could have seen him naked, but he did not intend for her to do so. He
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did not recall ever opening the door wide and would not have done so intentionally, but he guessed it could
have happened. He denied ever going out of the apartment naked. (Tr. 1714-16).
Respondent recalled receiving a telephone call from Kelly's attorney who knew about Respondent's
disciplinary problems and threatened to make problems for Respondent if he did not move out. Respondent
did not want any problems and agreed to leave. He then received a letter from his landlord telling him he had
to move because he had exposed himself to Kelly, which he thought was ridiculous and baseless. Since he
and Jamie wanted to move and were looking at homes in Deerfield, he signed a mutual release. (Tr. 1718-20;
Adm. Ex. 44).
Jamie Weiss
Jamie testified that the apartment building on Greenview was old and they had issues with their electricity,
plumbing, heating, appliances and garage. Jamie recalled writing letters to the landlord detailing the
problems and threatening to terminate the lease, but she no longer has copies of those letters. At the time
they lived in the apartment, Respondent had a long-time habit of sleeping in the nude and continued to do so
until they had children. Although Jamie and Respondent both worked at Freed & Weiss, Respondent left for
work earlier. (Tr. 1349-57).
Jamie first heard about Respondent's alleged exposure when they received a letter asking them to move.
Jamie testified they executed a mutual release because they had been planning to
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move anyway and wanted to put the apartment problems behind them. (Tr. 1358-60; Adm. Ex. 4).
B. Analysis and Conclusions
For the reasons stated in Count I, we conclude that the allegations of Count V are not barred by any
principles set forth in the Betts-Gaston decision.
We find that Molly Kelly was a credible witness and we accept her conclusions and impressions with respect
to Respondent's behavior. Kelly testified she frequently tossed Respondent's newspaper to him as she was
leaving her apartment building in the morning and, after several such occasions, she came to the realization
that he was intentionally exposing himself. Respondent's pattern of requests gave Kelly ample opportunity to
observe his conduct and form a judgment regarding his behavior. Her testimony that she eventually told
Respondent to stop, at which point he opened his door all the way and fully exposed himself, was
unequivocal and convincing.
The evidence did not support Respondent's theory that Kelly lied about his actions to help her friend Carolyn
Bullock remove him from the building. Although Respondent and his wife testified to unresolved problems
with their apartment, which according to Respondent caused them to withhold rent, those problems were not
supported by documentary evidence and further, Bullock testified to the contrary. Having observed Bullock
and heard her testimony, we do not believe she would concoct accusations to remove a tenant, enlist a friend
to assist her in the scheme, and write a letter setting forth false allegations.
We note that Respondent, while denying any purposeful intent to expose himself to Kelly, admitted he was
often naked when he opened the door to pick up the paper and further admitted Kelly could have seen him
naked. We deduce, from his own admissions and the frequent nature of his requests to Kelly, that he
repeatedly made conscious decisions to wait for
PAGE 50:
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Kelly to pass his door and to stand naked rather than taking the simple step of donning a robe or other piece
of clothing. Respondent's deliberate acts, coupled with Kelly's impressions and the fact he continued to make
requests to her after being asked by Bullock to cease communication, lead us to conclude that he
intentionally exposed himself to Kelly.
At all times relevant to Respondent's conduct, a criminal statute in Illinois provided "[a]ny person of the age
of 17 years and upwards commits a public indecency when he performs the act of a lewd exposure of the
body done with the intent to arouse or satisfy the sexual desire of the person." 720 ILS 5/11-9-1. In People v.
Legel, 24 Ill. App. 3d 554, 321 N.E.2d 164 (2d Dist. 1974), the defendant engaged in public indecency by
standing at his dining room window and exposing himself to his neighbors. Although the defendant denied
any intent to arouse or satisfy his own sexual desire, the court found that his "intent was to gain sexual
gratification by causing shock and consternation in those who observed his exhibition." Legel, 24 Ill. App.
3d at 557. We conclude that Respondent, by standing in his doorway and exposing himself to Kelly, engaged
in public indecency.
At the time of Respondent's conduct, an Illinois criminal statute provided that a person commits disorderly
conduct when he knowingly "does any act in such unreasonable manner as to alarm or disturb another and to
provoke a breach of the peace." 720 ILCS 5/26-1. The offense of disorderly conduct is intended to guard
against an invasion of the right of others not to be molested or harassed, either mentally or physically,
without justification. People v. Davis, 82 Ill. 2d 534, 538, 413 N.E.2d 413 (1980). Lewd behavior has been
held to constitute disorderly conduct. See People v. Duncan, 259 Ill. App. 3d 308, 310-11, 631 N.E.2d 803
(4th Dist. 1994) (public urination); In re P.S., 147 Ill. App. 3d 707, 498 N.E.2d 325 (4th Dist. 1986) (exposing
oneself). Because Respondent's acts were unreasonable and caused Kelly to be uncomfortable and disgusted,
we find that he engaged in disorderly conduct.
PAGE 51:
We further find that Respondent's criminal conduct reflected adversely on his honesty, trustworthiness or
fitness as a lawyer in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3). His recurring lewd behavior toward Kelly, combined with
his utter indifference to her sensibilities and his blatant disregard for the law, indicate to us a lack of personal
integrity and a disrespect for the welfare of other individuals. See In re Koeneman, 09 SH 112, M.R. 23801
(May 18, 2010) (attorney violated Rule 8.4(a)(3) by engaging in disorderly conduct).
COUNT VI
VI.

Respondent is charged with committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) by
committing public indecency and disorderly conduct and engaging in conduct prejudicial to the
administration of justice in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(5).
A. Evidence Considered
Reyna Castellanos

Reyna Castellanos testified, through a Spanish translator, that she works as a housekeeper/babysitter for
James Karon and has also worked for Jeanette Sampson. On the morning of July 8, 2003, she arrived at the
train station in Deerfield and proceeded to walk to work. A man driving a green car stopped by the curb near
Castellanos and, from his car, asked her if she cleaned houses. Castellanos told him she was a babysitter, but
had a friend who cleaned houses. Castellanos was standing about one foot away from the passenger side of
the car, and the man was in the driver's seat. She did not see a dog in the car. Castellanos gave the man a note
pad, upon which he wrote "Paul" and a phone number with a Chicago area code. As Castellanos was asking
the man about the phone number, she noticed his zipper was open and his penis had been taken out of the
zipper. His penis was not erect. The man's attitude and tone of voice became aggressive and he told her to
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get in the car quickly and he would drive her to work. The man never left the car and, as he was talking, he
had one hand on the steering wheel and his
PAGE 52:
other hand on the car seat. Castellanos became nervous and had difficulty walking away because her legs felt
heavy from fear. She did not scream or call for help. (Tr. 437-43, 458-61).
When Castellanos arrived at work, she asked Karon if it was normal for a man to open his zipper and show
his penis. Karon then called the police. The following day, when Castellanos was at the Sampson home,
detective Mazariegos arrived and Castellanos made a report in Spanish. Detective Mazariegos advised her to
take a taxi from the train station to work, which she preferred to do because she felt nervous and afraid. (Tr.
445-53; Adm. Ex. 45).
Castellanos appeared in court on September 5, 2003, and an attorney appeared for Respondent. The judge
advised Castellanos she could walk from the train station because restrictions had been placed on
Respondent. Following the incident, Castellanos saw Respondent on two occasions but he left when he
noticed her. Castellanos was not present in court when the case was concluded. (Tr. 452-53).
Castellanos was contacted by the ARDC in 2010. When she appeared for a deposition in 2011, she was
represented by attorney Mary Pat Benz and was not charged a fee. (Tr. 454, 457).
Mary Pat Benz
The parties stipulated that, if called to testify, Mary Pat Benz would state she was contacted by the ARDC
with respect to representing Reyna Castellanos, she was not paid by the ARDC, and any arrangement for pay
was between herself and Castellanos. (Tr. 1884-85).
Jeanette Sampson
Jeanette Sampson testified she has employed Reyna Castellanos and trusts her completely. Sampson recalled
a day in July 2003 when Castellanos appeared for work crying, shaking, and visibly upset. Castellanos
reported that she was walking from the train station to Sampson's house when a man stopped his car and
asked if Castellanos or her friends were interested in work. When Castellanos approached the car to obtain
the man's number, she saw
PAGE 53:
that his penis "was out," at which point she became afraid and started running. Castellanos showed Sampson
a card with the man's name and cell phone number. After hearing Castellanos' account, Sampson called her
neighbor, James Karon, who contacted a police officer. Eventually, a Spanish-speaking detective spoke to
Castellanos and Sampson and thereafter, Sampson accompanied Castellanos to court on one or two
occasions. (Tr. 516-20, 522-24, 526).
James Karon
James Karon has employed Reyna Castellanos as a babysitter and housekeeper for eighteen years. In July
2003, after he was notified by Jeanette Sampson that Castellanos had an upsetting experience, he contacted
an acquaintance on the Deerfield police force for advice. When Karon saw Castellanos four days later, she
became emotional and upset when she spoke of what had happened. Karon described Castellanos as a gentle,
religious person and thought the incident was highly confusing and emotionally devastating to her. Karon
did not pressure Castellanos to file charges, and does not know Respondent. (Tr. 527-27, 531-32).
Juan Mazariegos
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Juan Mazariegos, a sergeant with the Deerfield police department and formerly an investigator, testified that
in July 2003 he was asked to assist with the investigation of a sexual exposure incident involving Reyna
Castellanos. Initially, Mazariegos was investigating a possible charge of public indecency. (Tr. 549, 554-55,
558, 600; Adm. Ex. 6).
Mazariegos called the telephone number given to Castellanos and reached Respondent, who acknowledged
speaking to a cleaning woman near the train station. When Mazariegos asked Respondent to come to the
police station, Respondent indicated he would follow up that day or the following day, but he did not do so.
(Tr. 563-65, 598).
On or about July 10, 2003, Mazariegos received a telephone call from attorney Stephen Yonover on behalf
of Respondent and on July 17, 2003, Mazariegos met with Respondent and
PAGE 54:
Yonover at the police station. At that time Mazariegos issued a non-traffic complaint charging Respondent
with the criminal offense of disorderly conduct under Section 15-2(a)(6) of the Deerfield Village Code.
Mazariegos had discretion to determine the charges and he proceeded with a charge of disorderly conduct
rather than public indecency because of Respondent's lack of criminal history and Yonover's assurance that
Respondent was seeking therapy. Mazariegos's background check of Respondent did not turn up a 1994
conviction for telephone harassment. With respect to a charge of disorderly conduct, Mazariegos explained
that a misdemeanor conviction under the state statute could result in jail time of up to 364 days, whereas the
local ordinance results in supervision or a fine. (Tr. 567, 569-70, 572-74, 576, 581, 583, 598-99; Adm. Exs.
3, 4, 45).
Respondent posted bond, and was scheduled to appear in court on September 5, 2003. On March 5, 2004,
Mazariegos was present in court when Respondent was found guilty and an order of supervision was entered.
(Tr. 582-83, 599-600; Adm. Ex. 47).
Harold Winer
Harold Winer has served as prosecutor for the Village of Deerfield for forty-nine years. With respect to how
charges are brought, Winer testified the police officer makes the initial determination but Winer can overrule
the determination if necessary, and has done so. Winer recalled that Respondent was charged with an
ordinance violation, which is quasi-criminal in nature with no jail time involved. He wondered at the time
why Respondent had not been charged with violating a state statute, but after checking Respondent's
background and finding nothing, he complied with the officer's wishes and kept the violation at the
ordinance level. A prior conviction for telephone harassment would not have caused him to increase the
penalty to a misdemeanor unless the call was sexual in nature. (Tr. 603-07, 625-30; Adm. Ex. 45).
PAGE 55:
Winer recalled speaking to Respondent's attorney regarding the disposition of the case and recommending
Respondent be seen by a counselor and submit a letter regarding any diagnosis or prognosis. When Winer
received a document stating Respondent was under treatment but with no reference to specific problems or
counseling, he felt it was insufficient and continued the case to obtain further information. (Tr. 610-11, 61416; Adm. Ex. 51).
On March 5, 2004 an Order of Court Supervision was entered in Respondent's case with a "finding of guilty"
on the charge of disorderly conduct. Although the words "plea of guilty" were lined through, Winer recalled
Respondent did plead guilty in order to obtain supervision. Respondent was ordered to pay a fine of $1,000,
refrain from any contact with Castellanos, perform 125 hours of community service, and continue with
psychiatric treatment. The period of supervision extended to September 2, 2005. In July 2005 Winer filed a
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petition to revoke supervision for Respondent's failure to submit a treatment report, but the petition was
withdrawn after Respondent submitted a letter of progress. (Tr. 617-21, 630-32; Adm. Ex. 47).
Respondent
With respect to the encounter with Castellanos, Respondent testified he was returning home from taking his
dog to a dog park at approximately 8:00 a.m. He was wearing gym shorts and a t-shirt and driving a green
convertible with the top down. At that time he was searching for someone to provide household services, and
was aware that domestic workers often rode the train to Deerfield. His route home took him past the
Deerfield train station and when he saw Castellanos walking, he pulled over to ask her if she or her friends
were looking for employment. After Castellanos said she might know someone, Respondent wrote down his
first name and telephone number and gave it to her. He offered to show her his house, but she did not have
time and declined his offer of a ride. Respondent then said good-bye. Respondent denied exposing
PAGE 56:
his penis to Castellanos, but acknowledged the possibility that it may have fallen out of his gym shorts. (Tr.
1721-28, 1803, 1821-22).
Respondent recalled being contacted by a police officer and acknowledging to the officer that he gave his
name and number to Castellanos. On or about July 17, 2003 Respondent went to the police station and
posted a bond of $50 or $75. (Tr. 1728, 1804).
Respondent recalled receiving a disorderly conduct ticket but denied he was charged with a criminal
violation. After obtaining counsel, he stipulated to what Castellanos would claim if she were called to testify,
but not to the truth of her testimony. He explained that he pled not guilty and entered into the stipulation
because it was a simple resolution to an embarrassing matter and he did not want a reportable issue. He was
told the charge would be increased to a misdemeanor if he contested it. (Tr. 1729-32, 1805).
Respondent had been seeing a therapist for years and agreed to treatment as a condition of the court ordered
supervision. He had no knowledge why psychological treatment was required because his attorney dealt with
that issue. He acknowledged he was found guilty of telephone harassment of a 17-year-old minor in 1994
and was placed on court supervision with a requirement to participate in counseling and refrain from any
contact with the victim. The statements he made in 1994 were sexual in nature. (Tr. 1805-09; Adm. Ex. 71).
Stephen Yonover
Stephen Yonover, Respondent's attorney in the disorderly conduct matter, recalled having a conversation
with investigator Mazariegos on July 11, 2003 and then accompanying Respondent to the police station on
July 17, 2003. Yonover felt that charging Respondent with a violation of the disorderly conduct ordinance
was a good and appropriate resolution of the matter. Violation of the ordinance, which Yonover believed
covered the elements of the offense
PAGE 57:
of public indecency, is not a criminal matter. Unlike a misdemeanor, the penalties associated with a local
ordinance violation do not include jail time. (Tr. 1413-16, 1443-46).
Yonover denied admitting to officer Mazariegos or anyone else that Respondent exposed himself to
Castellanos, that he had an illness, or that he was undergoing treatment. Mazariegos never inquired about
Respondent's criminal history. Since Yonover was not aware that Respondent had a 1994 conviction for
telephone harassment, he did not advise Mazariegos of that fact. (Tr. 1416-17, 1432, 1446-47).
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Yonover negotiated with the prosecutor that Respondent would plead "not guilty" and stipulate to the facts,
which meant Respondent would agree that witnesses, if called, would testify to certain facts. Prior to the
bench trial, Yonover advised the prosecutor that Respondent was under psychiatric treatment and produced a
document from a physician stating he was under treatment. With respect to the order of supervision that was
entered by the Court with a termination date of September 2, 2005, Yonover had no knowledge that
Respondent's supervision was ever revoked, and he did not file any request for early termination of the
supervision. (Tr. 1418-19, 1433, 1436-38; Adm. Ex. 47, 51).
EXPUNGEMENT OF RESPONDENT'S ARREST AND RELEASE OF POLICE RECORDS
Harold Winer
Harold Winer, the Deerfield prosecutor, testified that pursuant to Illinois statute, a petition for expungement
can be filed two years after the end of the supervision period, and the expungement has to be approved by a
judge. In Respondent's case, the earliest date for filing would have been September 2007. Winer received a
copy of Respondent's expungement petition in October 2006 and, after checking to confirm that Respondent
had no further offenses, he signed off on the expungement without objecting. He did not know why the
request was made one year early. (Tr. 621-24, 633; Adm. Ex. 9).
PAGE 58:
In June 2010 Winer received a call from an ARDC investigator. Winer advised the investigator that he no
longer had a file of Respondent's case and the court had no record of the matter. When asked if he told the
investigator that the file might have been expunged, Winer stated "Yeah, I assumed it was. I didn't know as a
fact at that time." (Tr. 634-35).
Stephen Yonover
Stephen Yonover, Respondent's attorney, acknowledged that a petition to expunge cannot be filed until two
years after the period of supervision has been completed. He filed a petition on behalf of Respondent on
October 19, 2006. After the petition was granted, the expungement was confirmed in a letter from the
Deerfield Chief of Police. In his career as a criminal defense attorney, Yonover has been involved with less
than ten expungements. (Tr. 1420-26, 1439; Adm. Ex. 9; Resp. Exs. 45, 46).
John Sliozis
John Sliozis, the Deerfield Chief of Police since 2001, testified that after the records department receives an
order of expungement and complies with it, he signs a letter indicating the expungement has been completed.
On April 3, 2007, he sent such a letter to Respondent's attorney stating that all identification records
concerning Respondent's arrest on July 17, 2003 had been destroyed or deleted from the files. When he
signed the letter, Sliozis assumed the records clerk had taken appropriate steps to comply with the order. (Tr.
1386-89; Resp. Ex. 46).
When Sliozis received a call from an ARDC attorney in the summer of 2010, he learned that records relating
to Respondent's case which were supposed to have been expunged had been released to the ARDC pursuant
to a subpoena. Sliozis was not involved with the department's response to the ARDC's March 25, 2010 or
June 3, 2010 subpoenas, and had no knowledge how the ARDC obtained the expunged case number for the
June subpoena. Upon investigation, he
PAGE 59:
believes the case number was supplied by investigator Mazariegos. He has no knowledge that records were
purposefully released to the ARDC. (Tr. 1389-93, 1397-1401; Resp. Exs. 47, 48).
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Sliozis attributed the release of Respondent's records to the fact that in 2003 or 2004 the department changed
computer systems with respect to the way reports were stored and, when the records were later being
expunged, the records clerk did not check all databases to remove the file completely. Sliozis is not aware of
any other instances where records were not expunged properly. Currently, before signing expungement
letters Sliozis has a member of his staff conduct a thorough check to ensure that the items have been
removed. (Tr. 1390, 1393-97).
Juan Mazariegos
In 2010 Juan Mazariegos was contacted by an ARDC investigator regarding his knowledge of Respondent.
Mazariegos remembered Respondent because he was the first and only attorney Mazariegos ever arrested.
Mazariegos provided information regarding Respondent's arrest, and also provided a records division
number that he obtained from the department computer system. At that time he was not aware that the record
of Respondent's disorderly conduct with respect to Castellanos had been expunged. (Tr. 586-87, 596-97).
B. Analysis and Conclusions
Respondent has asserted, as an affirmative defense, that the Administrator's knowledge of and prosecution of
Count VI flowed entirely from the release of documents by the Deerfield Police Department in 2010 in
violation of the expungement statute, 20 ILCS 2630/5, and therefore the allegations are barred by that statute
and the February 28, 2007 court order that required the Deerfield Police Department to expunge and destroy
all records relating to that matter. This argument was previously addressed and rejected in pre-trial motions.
We have determined that a criminal conviction is not necessary to establish a violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3)
because the attorney is disciplined for the underlying conduct rather than for the
PAGE 60:
conviction. For the same reason, the expungement of an arrest or conviction does not bar disciplinary
charges. In In re Hayes, 03 SH 113, exceptions allowed and sanction increased, M.R. 21046 (Sept. 21, 2006)
the attorney contended that an order expunging the record of her criminal charges was violated when the
Administrator obtained and used the court file in connection with the disciplinary proceedings. In rejecting
that argument, the Review Board stated "the fact an attorney. . . has had the records of his or her arrest
expunged does not preclude discipline based on the underlying conduct." (Review Bd. at 8). See also In re
Bilal, 05 CH 87, M.R. 22687 (Feb. 10, 2009).4 If the allegations of Count VI would not be barred by a
successful expungement of police records, we find they are not impacted by a failed attempt to expunge
records and the subsequent production of those records to the Administrator.
We are not persuaded by Respondent's argument that, but for the improper release of the records, the
Administrator would not have gained knowledge of Respondent's encounter with Castellanos or of his
subsequent court proceeding. The matter was part of a public proceeding and was known to the alleged
victim, law enforcement officials, and at least two local residents who testified before us. Another witness
(whose relationship with Respondent was the subject of a separate count) recalled that the incident was
reported by the media. As the Review Board noted in Hayes, 03 SH 113 (Review Bd. at 8), an expungement
of court records "does not eliminate the facts and circumstances leading to the arrest, nor erase the situation
from the minds of witnesses to the incident." Therefore, while the release of the records may have obviated
the need for the Administrator to pursue other avenues of investigation, we cannot conclude that other
avenues did not exist or that the Administrator would not have discovered the witnesses by other means.
We make no findings or assumptions of improper motives on the part of the Deerfield police department in
releasing the records, of the Administrator in seeking the records, or of the
PAGE 61:
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attorney who represented Respondent on the ordinance violation and filed a petition for expungement earlier
than allowed by statute.
Turning to the allegations of Count VI, Reyna Castellanos testified Respondent approached her in his car as
she was walking on a sidewalk. As she stood next to his car to answer his questions and obtain his contact
information, she saw that his penis was out of his zipper. When Respondent began speaking aggressively to
her and told her to get in his car, she walked away feeling nervous and frightened. Janette Sampson and
James Karon, both of whom saw Castellanos shortly after the incident, confirmed Castellanos' distress.
Respondent admitted he approached Castellanos in his car, initiated a conversation with her, provided his
first name and telephone number, and offered her a ride. He further admitted that his penis possibly could
have been visible out of his gym shorts, but denied that any exposure was intentional. He was charged with
an ordinance violation, stipulated to what the evidence would be, and was found guilty of disorderly conduct.
Castellanos and her employers were credible witnesses and we had no reason to doubt their testimony. We
do not believe Castellanos misinterpreted what she saw and, as a total stranger to Respondent, she had no
reason to invent any accusations. We find that Respondent exposed himself to her as she stood next to his car
and, based on her description and reaction of alarm, we conclude the exposure was purposeful. We reject
Respondent's claim that any impropriety was purely accidental.
Respondent is charged with violating Rule 8.4(a)(3). As in the previous count, the criminal acts at issue are
public indecency in violation of 720 ILCS 5/11-9-1 and disorderly conduct in violation of 720 ILCS 5/26-1.
In addition, the Administrator charges that Respondent committed disorderly conduct in violation of
Deerfield municipal code sec. 15-2(6).
PAGE 62:
We find that Respondent engaged in public indecency by knowingly performing a lewd exposure of his body
with the intent (as we infer from the circumstances) to arouse or satisfy his sexual desire. See Legel, 24 Ill.
2d at 557. We also find that he knowingly acted in an unreasonable manner which alarmed and disturbed
Castellanos and provoked a breach of the peace, and thereby engaged in disorderly conduct in violation of
720 ILCS 5/11-9-1. See P.S., 147 Ill. App. 3d at 709. With respect to the Deerfield municipal ordinance,
which is identical to the state statute, we heard conflicting opinions as to whether the offense of disorderly
conduct is criminal, quasi-criminal or civil in nature.5 It is not necessary to resolve that question since we
have already determined that Respondent engaged in criminal conduct under the state statute. Any additional
finding pursuant to the municipal code would merely be duplicative and would not affect our
recommendation in any way.
Having found that Respondent committed criminal acts, we also find, for the reasons stated in Count V, that
those acts reflect adversely on his honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer. We therefore find that he
violated Rule 8.4(a)(3).
Count VI also includes a charge that Respondent engaged in conduct prejudicial to the administration of
justice in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(5). The Supreme Court has stated that the administration of justice is
prejudiced when an attorney's action, or inaction, negatively impacts the representation of a client or the
outcome of a case. See In re Storment, 203, Ill. 2d 378, 399, 786 N.E.2d 963 (2002). In the recent case of In
re Karavidas, 2013 IL 115767 par. 97 the Court stated that the Administrator must, as a matter of due
process, plead and prove that the attorney's misconduct had a prejudicial effect on the administration of
justice. While Respondent's conduct toward Castellanos resulted in a court proceeding, the Administrator did
not allege that he failed to participate in that proceeding, made any misstatements, or engaged in other
conduct
PAGE 63:
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that interfered with justice being served. His case was heard and was resolved with an order of supervision.
We therefore find the Administrator did not prove a violation of Rule 8.4(a)(5).
COUNT VII
VII.

Respondent is charged in with committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty,
trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects in violation of Rule 8.4(b) by committing
battery, assault, unlawful restraint and telephone harassment.
A. Evidence Considered
Angela Aneiros

Angela Aneiros graduated from law school in May 2009. In March 2010, at a time when the deferment
period for her student loans was ending and she was desperately seeking work, she was hired as a contract
attorney at Freed & Weiss. At that time she signed documents entitled "Freed & Weiss LLC Office Policies"
and "Anti-discrimination and Harassment." The latter document provides a procedure for complaints which
involved asking the offender to stop and reporting the offender's conduct to a direct supervisor, a partner, or
the office manager. (Tr. 172-75, 177, 179-80, 250-51; Adm. Ex. 52; Resp. Ex. 49).
After Aneiros began working at the firm, she was advised by another attorney, Julie Miller, of a sexual
harassment complaint pending against Respondent. Everyone in the office, including Respondent and his
wife Jamie, talked about it openly, especially when something occurred in the case. Jamie remarked that
women were making up lies and ruining her life. Although Aneiros did not recall if she knew the complaint
was an ARDC matter, in a deposition she testified she was told of the ARDC complaint after she was hired.
(Tr. 180-82, 245-46).
Aneiros earned only $25/hour as a contract attorney, but was happy to have a full time job. Initially she liked
Respondent, thought he was easy going, and enjoyed the work
PAGE 64:
environment. Throughout her employment she discussed her family situation with him. (Tr. 174, 178, 185,
292).
In April 2010 Respondent began commenting that Aneiros, who is a triathlete, was in good shape. In May
2010 he told her if he was smart he would not hire her because she was too attractive. Aneiros thought the
comments were harmless, and around that time told a friend that Respondent was "fun." In a May 27, 2010
Gmail chat with another attorney, she referenced the fact that Respondent's law license could be revoked
because of complaints against him. (Tr. 188-89, 250, 276-77; Resp. Exs. 51, 52).
On June 1, 2010 Aneiros became a full-time attorney at Freed & Weiss. After June, Respondent's comments
focused more on Aneiros' appearance and his attraction to her. In July 2010, he asked if she would wear a
bathing suit to work. Anerios thought the comment was humorous and mentioned it to her boyfriend Peter
Meyer, and to her brother. On another occasion, Respondent called from outside the office, asked what she
was wearing, and wanted her to take a picture of herself and send it to him. Aneiros was dismissive in her
response and did not comply with his request. (Tr. 174, 189-92).
Aneiros acknowledged telling her boyfriend in June and July that she had a "problem with authority" and
"hated authority." In August 2010 she told a friend she was very annoyed because Respondent would not let
her work at home for two days. That same month she e-mailed another friend stating that Respondent was
great and she loved working at the firm. At some point prior to August 20, 2010, she recommended a female
friend for a firm position that involved work from a remote location. Aneiros testified she liked her work and
enjoyed the firm when Respondent was not hitting on her. She acknowledged that both Respondent and
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another partner, George Lang, criticized her work and Respondent also criticized her for spending too much
time chatting online. (Tr. 26-64, 278, 294, 310; Resp. Exs. 54-57, 58, 59).
PAGE 65:
Anerios recalled during the summer of 2010 Respondent began rubbing her shoulders or arms, and touching
the sides of her torso in an intimate, caressing manner. Each time she expressed her discomfort and told him
to stop. At times Respondent would ask if he could give her massages or touch her calves. Aneiros found the
requests to be weird and always refused, but Respondent touched her anyway. The situation, which Aneiros
described as terrible, caused her to be uncomfortable and resentful. (Tr. 192-94).
When Respondent planned to stay at a hotel in Chicago to attend a summer music festival with his family, he
asked Aneiros if she would go to the hotel with him and lie on the bed with no touching. Aneiros refused and
by that point understood that Respondent was "really weird." Respondent also made suggestions that he and
Aneiros spend a night together, to which Aneiros responded that she had a boyfriend. (Tr. 195-97).
Aneiros testified she became increasingly upset about work and sometimes would cry before going into the
office. Although Respondent was not hitting on her all the time, she was very uncomfortable when he was
making advances. In September 2010 Respondent was out with a partner and called Aneiros to invite her and
a friend to meet them for dinner and drinks. Aneiros refused because by that point she felt very
uncomfortable around Respondent and wanted to avoid him after work. She acknowledged sending an e-mail
to fellow attorney Julie Miller shortly before 5:00 on September 12, 2010 suggesting that they ask
Respondent to let them have a drink from the office bar. She also acknowledged having drinks in the office
on more than one occasion. (Tr. 185, 199-200, 211, 279-80; Resp. Ex. 63).
Aneiros testified that by September 2010 she hated Respondent and the other partners for paying her an
insufficient salary, but she acknowledged sending Respondent an e-mail on September 13, 2010, stating that
she wanted to express how much she loved her job and her work at the firm. During a September 24, 2010
Gmail chat with Peter Meyer, she told him "I get
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fucking shit money to be a fucking slave to these fuckers." At that time she was being paid approximately
$52,000, and she never received a raise or a bonus while working at the firm. (Tr. 269-70, 276, 285, 293;
Resp. Exs. 62, 64).
Aneiros recalled that during the period from September to November 2010 Respondent offered to pay her
money if she would take off her shirt, and told her if he saw her topless he would leave her alone. Although
she accused him of treating her like a stripper, the comments did not stop. On one occasion as Aneiros and
Respondent were taking a shortcut through an alley to pick up lunch, Respondent backed her into a corner,
pulled her to him and tried to kiss her. Aneiros pushed him away and kept walking. Aneiros is 5'4" and
described Respondent as over 6'2". Aneiros acknowledged she is athletic and recalled instances when she
physically lifted Respondent to crack his back. (Tr. 211-14, 280).
In October 2010 Aneiros was scheduled to accompany Respondent on a day trip to New Jersey, but the trip
was canceled when Respondent's wife objected to the two of them traveling alone. At that time she learned
Respondent's wife had made false statements about her to Respondent. Aneiros realized her problems with
Respondent were interfering with her ability to perform her work, and knew her job was probably doomed.
Around October or November 2010, she began keeping notes about Respondent's conduct. (Tr. 208-11, 242,
254; Adm. Ex. 53).
On October 18, 2010, Aneiros received an e-mail from Respondent criticizing her for using foul language
and filing a brief full of errors, and advising her he would understand if she felt more comfortable working
elsewhere. When Aneiros received the e-mail, she was upset and felt Respondent was attempting to set up a
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defense to any harassment claim she might raise. She denied ever receiving a negative written evaluation
while at the firm and noted that Respondent frequently swore and used bad language in general conversation.
Sometime in October 2010
PAGE 67:
Aneiros was advised by Respondent that people at the firm thought she was not working hard. (Tr. 263, 266,
272-73, 308, 310; Resp. Ex. 67).
On October 24, 2010 Aneiros advised Jamie Weiss that, if the firm were looking for another paralegal,
Aneiros had a friend who worked at a recruiting firm and placed legal secretaries and paralegals. In early
November 2010 Aneiros recommended one of her friends to Respondent for public relations work. (Tr. 29496; Resp. Exs. 66, 71).
On November 5, 2010, Aneiros told a lawyer in the office that Respondent "wants me gone." That same day
she received an e-mail from Respondent telling her she needed to present legal analysis in a coherent way
and criticizing her for failing to read a case. (Tr. 274; Resp. Exs. 70, 72).
On an evening just before Thanksgiving in 2010, Aneiros had her worst phone call with Respondent.
Respondent had sent her text messages regarding a case and asked her to return to the office. Because
Aneiros was unclear whether his request was work-related or if he wanted to be alone with her, she contacted
the lead partner on the case and was advised she did not need to return to the office. She then received a call
from Respondent who was "really, really angry," asked why she was playing hard to get, and told her he
would wear her down because he always got what he wanted. Aneiros testified she was worried about
returning to work the following Monday because Respondent was mean when she stood up to him and he
retaliated by making derogatory comments about her work. (Tr. 200-06).
Aneiros did not tell anyone at the firm about Respondent's comments or advances because he was the owner
of the firm and she did not believe reporting his behavior would stop him. The fact Respondent's wife was at
the firm also played a part in her decision and made the environment more hostile. Although the office
harassment policy stated that allegations could be
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brought to a supervisor or any partner, Aneiros did not feel she could talk to anyone at the firm. (Tr. 207-08,
304; Adm. Ex. 52).
On November 29, 2010 Aneiros read a newspaper article regarding the ARDC complaint pending against
Respondent. She also read the ARDC complaint at that time. (Tr. 184, 282).
On Friday, December 10, 2010 Respondent was making sexual comments to Aneiros throughout the day.
When he asked her to remove her shirt for money, she recalled telling him she would make more money as
his stripper than as his employee. Around 3:00 Respondent and some non-employee friends opened the
office bar and Aneiros made a drink for herself. By 5:30, everyone had left except for Respondent, Aneiros
and one other person. Aneiros, who had intended to stay at the office until she left to catch a 6:40 train to
Indiana, did not want to be alone with Respondent and decided to leave. Respondent followed her onto the
elevator where he pushed up against her and asked "am I scaring you?" On the walk to the train station,
Respondent made vulgar and suggestive sexual comments and asked her "would you be offended if I put my
cock in you?" As they walked through an area away from the main sidewalk, Respondent grabbed her, bent
her over backwards, and used his right hand to feel her breasts over her winter coat. Aneiros, who was
shocked by Respondent's aggression, pushed him away and told him not to touch her. Respondent then
proceeded to call her a "cunt" and a "bitch," and accused her of wearing provocative clothing to the office.
Aneiros did not run or otherwise try to get away from Respondent, and continued walking to the train
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station. When they reached the train area, Respondent suddenly became nicer and asked if she wanted to
have dinner. Aneiros refused and kept walking. (Tr. 214-19, 222-25, 284-87, 299).
After Aneiros was on the train, she attempted to contact a friend, Margaret Tucker, but could not reach her
immediately. At 8:22 she commenced a text message conversation with Tucker and sent the following
messages: "[Respondent] cornered me and I had my hands full,
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and he completely felt me up. Then called me a cunt for not giving it to him. whose fucking life am I living;"
"I'm freaking out;" "he's fucking delusional. He wldnt settle;" and "that wld be terrible for his marriage bc
then it wld be admitting he did these things." Aneiros denied wanting to sue Respondent or fabricating a
story to obtain money from him. She also sent a text message to Andrew Fitzgerald, a long-time friend and
former classmate. (Tr. 226, 230-31; Adm. Ex. 58).
When Aneiros arrived in Indiana, she was met by her boyfriend, Peter Meyer. Although she was upset, she
could not talk about the incident right away. Later that night she told Meyer some of what happened, and
then told him everything two days later. Aneiros testified she was more upset by Respondent's words and the
way he spoke to her than by the physical altercation. (Tr. 233-34, 236-37).
On December 12, 2010 Aneiros dictated, and Meyer typed, an e-mail to George Lang, Jeff Leon and
Georgiana Tieman to report Respondent's conduct in accordance with the firm's sexual harassment policy. In
the e-mail Aneiros recounted Respondent's pattern of sexual advances and comments to her, her efforts to
stop his behavior, his drunken state and sexual advances on December 10, and her reasons for no longer
being able to work at the firm. Aneiros then spoke to George Lang on the phone, and resigned effective
December 12, 2010. (Tr. 237-39; Adm. Ex. 61).
Aneiros acknowledged she never reported Respondent's conduct to anyone at the firm prior to December 12,
2010 even though he engaged in more than 100 instances of inappropriate touching and made more than 500
inappropriate comments. Five of those comments were over the telephone. Aneiros denied that anyone ever
asked her if she experienced any inappropriate behavior by Respondent. (Tr. 254-56).
Aneiros did not report Respondent's conduct to the police, but did make a report to the ARDC. She did not
learn of his prior discipline until early 2011. She filed an employment
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discrimination lawsuit against Respondent because she feels she has a good case and she wants him to stop
committing similar acts. The case, which seeks more than $100,000, is pending. Aneiros also filed a worker's
compensation claim for severe mental harassment and received a $250 settlement. (Tr. 183, 240, 287, 292,
296-299; Resp. Exs. 87, 88).
Aneiros testified that her participation in these proceedings has been very emotional and has affected her
sleep, but she believes it is the right thing to do and may help someone in the future. She feels she has
probably downplayed the events just to be able to talk about them. Aneiros believes her experience with
Respondent has had a negative impact on her career and on her self-confidence. (Tr. 176, 240-41).
Margaret Tucker
Margaret Tucker, an attorney residing in Virginia, is a close friend of Aneiros and has had almost daily
contact with her for four or five years. In September 2010 she visited Aneiros at Freed & Weiss and met
Respondent at that time. Tucker had conversations with Aneiros about the work environment at the firm, and
became concerned that Aneiros was in a bad situation. Tucker confirmed that she received text messages
from Aneiros on the evening of December 10, 2010. When Tucker telephoned Aneiros to discuss the
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incident, Aneiros was upset, angry, and completely broken whereas typically, she is a very strong person.
After listening to Aneiros, Tucker advised her to file a lawsuit against Respondent. (Tr. 312-14, 317, 326,
332-33, 335-36, 341-42; Adm. Exs. 58, 59).
Andrew Fitzgerald
Andrew Fitzgerald, an attorney and law school classmate of Aneiros, communicated with Aneiros on a
regular basis in 2010 and learned about her concerns relating to her law firm. On the evening of December
10, 2010 Fitzgerald received a text message from Aneiros stating her boss had cornered her and felt her up.
Sometime within a week, Fitzgerald discussed the
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incident with Aneiros and advised her to report Respondent's conduct and pursue an action against him.
Fitzgerald recalled that Aneiros, who is usually strong and resilient, was very disturbed. (Tr. 348-50, 353,
355; Adm. Ex. 59).
Peter Meyer
Peter Meyer, an attorney in Fort Wayne, Indiana, has been dating Aneiros since April 2010. Several weeks
after they began dating, he had discussions with her and learned of incidents that caused him concern. His
concern escalated in the fall. He advised Aneiros to look for another job, but to keep working at Freed &
Weiss while she conducted her search. Meyer was aware of a sexual harassment policy at Aneiros' firm but
did not advise her to follow the reporting procedures. (Tr. 127-29, 132, 137, 139-41, 165).
Meyer was aware that other women had made complaints against Respondent. Upon reading a newspaper
article on November 26, 2010 he learned that Respondent was the subject of an ARDC proceeding. He
realized then that Aneiros was in a dangerous situation. (Tr. 168).
On the evening of December 10, 2010 Meyer picked Aneiros up at a train station in Indiana. At that time she
was visibly shaken and distraught. On December 12, 2010 Meyer typed a letter that was sent to members of
Freed & Weiss. Neither Aneiros or Meyer ever reported Respondent's conduct to the police. (Tr. 141-43,
166-67).
On or about January 21, 2011, Meyer received a letter from Respondent's attorney requesting that Meyer
preserve evidence relating to Aneiros' allegations, Respondent, and Freed & Weiss. The letter also suggested
that Respondent and his firm may have possible claims against Meyer and Aneiros for defamation and
tortious interference with business relationships. After receiving the letter, Meyer retained an attorney and
preserved the documents as requested. (Tr. 150, 153-54; Adm. Ex. 65).
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Respondent
Respondent testified he met Aneiros through an attorney at the firm and hired her to review documents. He
learned early on that her family situation was difficult, her teenage brother lived with her, and she had large
student loans. He described Aneiros as friendly, and thought they had a nice rapport. (Tr. 1673-75, 1767-70,
1793).
In a May 25, 2010 e-mail to Eric Freed, Respondent recommended hiring Aneiros as a full time attorney
because she had become very useful on documents and briefs. In a June 14, 2010 e-mail, Respondent told
Aneiros that the firm was happy with her work/work ethic, and she was a "solid hire for the firm." After
Aneiros was given more substantive assignments, however, issues developed with respect to her work
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product. Respondent discussed the problems with her on about a dozen occasions and chastised her in front
of other people. (Tr. 1676-77, 1679, 1792-94; Adm. Exs. 102, 103).
Respondent recalled an instance when Aneiros, who was a triathlete, made a joke about wearing her
swimming apparel to the office. Respondent had previously reminded her to wear professional attire for
business meetings. (Tr. 1690-91).
Respondent typically communicated with Aneiros by e-mail but may have had a few telephone
conversations with her. Respondent denied talking "dirty" to Aneiros, telling her he wanted to see her
without her shirt, offering her money for favors, or trying to kiss her in an alley. He also denied asking her to
be with him for one day, if he could rub her calf and give her a massage, or to show him her body. He did
not recall rubbing her calf, but could not deny that he might have touched her leg when they were working.
He recalled an instance when Aneiros, of her own accord, massaged his shoulder and another time when she
wrapped her arms around him and lifted him up to crack his back. (Tr. 1688-89, 1692-95, 1697-98).
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Respondent recalled Aneiros joined him and some out-of-town lawyers for a business dinner at a restaurant
not far from the office. On another occasion, her friends came to the office for drinks before going to an
evening concert. He told Aneiros about his family staying in a hotel in the city for a music festival because
he knew Aneiros was going to the festival with her boyfriend. (Tr. 1693-94, 1689-90).
Respondent believed Aneiros enjoyed working at the firm and recalled hiring an attorney she had referred
for employment. On September 13, 2010 Respondent received an e-mail from Aneiros stating how much she
loved her job and was sorry her personal issues had affected his perception of her. (Tr. 1678, 1682; Resp. Ex.
62).
Respondent testified that due to a financial downturn, the firm was forced to cut costs. Respondent and Freed
discussed various ways to reduce costs including terminating certain employees, one of whom was Aneiros.
Beginning in September 2010, Respondent mentioned the possibility to Aneiros and suggested, in a nice
way, that she start looking for another position. (Tr. 1683-85; Resp. Ex. 73).
Respondent was scheduled to take a business trip to New Jersey with Aneiros on October 12, 2010. The trip
did not take place because the court hearing was cancelled. He acknowledged he and his wife had an issue
regarding Aneiros. (Tr. 1810-11).
Respondent had discussions with Aneiros, and sent her an e-mail on October 18, 2010, regarding her use of
foul language and deficiencies in her work product. He had no problem with her billable hours, which he
acknowledged were very respectable for an associate. (Tr. 1680-81, 1798-99; Adm. Ex. 109; Resp. Ex. 67).
Respondent was at the office on December 10, 2010 and recalled receiving a crate of wine that day. During
the afternoon, he criticized Aneiros' work. He had one alcoholic beverage, but was not drunk. Before he left
the office, Aneiros asked for a raise and commented
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that she could make more money as a stripper. Respondent told her he could not give her a raise and
probably could not keep her on as an attorney. He believes she knew changes would be made and she would
be let go. (Tr. 1686-87, 1698-1700, 1785).
Respondent recalled leaving the office at 6:00 to catch his 6:19 p.m. train. He was wearing a large jacket
because the temperature was freezing, and carrying his backpack and two bottles of wine. Aneiros left at the
same time to catch a 7:30 Amtrak train to Indiana. She was wearing a winter coat and pulling an overnight
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bag. They were alone in the elevator approximately ten seconds as it descended from the thirteenth floor.
Respondent denied engaging in any inappropriate sexual behavior. (Tr. 1700-08, 1789).
During the walk to the train station, Respondent and Aneiros discussed the financial condition of the firm
and the job market for attorneys. Respondent denied saying anything sexually ina
ppropriate to Aneiros, and denied touching her. They walked together until Respondent reached his entrance
to the train station, at which time Aneiros continued walking to another entrance. He did not offer to buy
Aneiros dinner, and would not have had time for dinner. After boarding the train, Respondent sent several
e-mails, including one to Jeff Leon and Aneiros regarding a new case. (Tr. 1686, 1703-06; Resp. Ex. 75).
On December 12, 2010, Respondent was contacted by Leon who had received an e-mail from Aneiros about
Respondent's conduct on December 10th. The firm initiated an internal investigation, with Richard Burke
from the St. Louis office and George Lang, an ex-employee, conducting interviews. They tried to contact
Aneiros through Peter Meyer, but Meyer declined an interview on her behalf. Respondent had no
involvement with the interviews. Respondent hired an outside law firm to perform an independent
investigation and an IT company to image Aneiros' computer and copy everything on her hard drive. (Tr.
1706-09, 1779, 1782-83, 1787; Adm. Ex. 108).
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Jeffrey Leon
Jeffrey Leon, an attorney since 1991, joined Freed & Weiss in 2009 and was involved in hiring Angela
Aneiros in 2010. On Aneiros' first day of work, Leon informed her of Respondent's prior discipline and the
current allegations against him, and told her he wanted to know about any improper behavior. Leon
personally liked Aneiros and described her as having a "tough chick" exterior. (Tr. 1008, 1014, 1016, 102021, 1079).
Leon dealt with Aneiros on some of her document review work and thought she demonstrated keen
observations. With respect to Aneiros' written work product and legal analysis, Leon believed it was
consistently inadequate and tried to instruct her how to improve. On several occasions Leon heard
Respondent criticize Aneiros' work and once heard her respond by telling Respondent to "fuck off." (Tr.
1022, 1029-31).
Leon described Respondent's qualities as a boss as mercurial, demanding and rough around the edges.
Employees, including Aneiros, complained that he was hypercritical and not nice. Leon never observed that
Aneiros seemed uncomfortable around Respondent and, to the contrary, on one occasion saw her approach
Respondent from behind and lift him up. Leon recalled that Respondent generally kept his door open. (Tr.
1031-33).
In 2010 the firm was experiencing financial issues and the partners were looking for ways to cut expenses.
Aneiros was among the lowest performing attorneys and was always at the top of the list in terms of possible
terminations. (Tr. 1035, 1037, 1040).
Leon was in the office on Friday, December 10, 2010. Around 4:00 p.m. attorneys Adam Levitt and Renee
Friedman arrived, which was not uncommon, and alcohol was consumed. Leon did not know how many
drinks Respondent had, but he did not appear to be drunk. Around 4:15, Leon was in Respondent's office
when Aneiros came in with case law. After Respondent learned that Aneiros had not read the case, he told
her she might be happier working in Indiana.
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When Leon left for the train station, Respondent and Aneiros were still present. (Tr. 1040-45, 1050, 1078).
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On December 12, 2010 Leon received an e-mail from Aneiros and was a little skeptical. Leon never
witnessed any inappropriate conduct or comments of a sexual nature by Respondent toward Aneiros and
prior to December 12, 2010, Aneiros never reported any inappropriate sexual conduct or comments to Leon.
Leon did hear Respondent comment that Aneiros was in good shape. (Tr. 1053, 1068-69, 1080).
Richard Burke
Richard Burke, an attorney since 1978, has been employed by Freed & Weiss since 2007 or 2008 and works
at the firm's satellite office in St. Louis. In 2010 he communicated with persons in the Chicago office by
e-mails, telephone calls and monthly visits, and assigned at least one project to Aneiros. With respect to
Aneiros' analysis, Burke recalled she provided only general comments that were not particularly helpful. (Tr.
1283, 1288-89, 1291, 1311).
Burke testified the firm was in terrible financial shape in 2010 and the partners were looking for ways to cut
expenses. Three attorneys in the Chicago office, including Aneiros, were being considered for termination.
(Tr. 1292-95).
Burke first heard of Aneiros' claim of inappropriate conduct after her December 12, 2010 e-mail. Thereafter,
he conducted an investigation pursuant to the firm's procedures in its anti-discrimination and harassment
policy. If any harassment had been verified, he would have taken actions in accordance with the firm policy.
No action was taken. Burke did not interview Aneiros, Meyer, Tucker or Fitzgerald. (Tr. 1297-1302, 1312,
1315-16, Resp. Ex. 49).
Renee Friedman
Renee Friedman, an attorney licensed in 1994, considers Respondent to be a friend and often visited his firm
to socialize. She recalled an occasion when Respondent was upset with
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Aneiros for bringing him a case she had not read and she stormed out of his office. When Friedman and
Respondent discussed long-range plans for the firm, Respondent indicated he was unhappy with Aneiros.
(Tr. 1082-85, 1093-96, 1105).
On the afternoon of December 10, 2010, Friedman arrived at Freed & Weiss to socialize. She observed
Respondent having one drink and denied that he appeared drunk. Friedman witnessed Respondent being
highly critical of Aneiros' work and Aneiros being embarrassed. Shortly after December 10, Friedman
received a call from Respondent advising her of Aneiros' claims and asking if he had been drunk on that
date. Friedman thought the allegation was outrageous and offered to confirm she had been at the firm.
Friedman never observed any inappropriate sexual conduct or comments by Respondent toward Aneiros or
anyone else. (Tr. 1085-91, 1095, 1106-10).
Adam Levitt
Adam Levitt, an attorney since 1993, met Respondent in 2008 when they were involved in a class action
lawsuit. They have a professional relationship and also are good friends. Levitt was invited to Respondent's
office on December 10, 2010 and arrived around 4:00 p.m. At one point he and Aneiros were in
Respondent's office when Respondent was reviewing Aneiros' work product. Respondent was frustrated with
the quality of the work and spoke harshly, but not unprofessionally, to Aneiros. Respondent then commented
to Levitt, in front of Aneiros, that "this is why you don't hire first year associates." Levitt observed
Respondent having one drink and stated Respondent absolutely did not appear to be drunk. Levitt has never
witnessed Respondent making any inappropriate sexual comments to anyone. (Tr. 1210-21).
Julie Miller
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Julie Miller, an attorney since 2008, began working at the Freed & Weiss firm in February 2009. She
testified Respondent has good days and bad days, and uses profanity at
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times. Miller met Aneiros in law school and contacted her when the firm was looking for attorneys for a
document review project. Around the time Aneiros began working at the firm, Miller advised her, at
Respondent's request, of Respondent's disciplinary problems and where she could find a copy of the
allegations. (Tr. 1255, 1257, 1265, 1268, 1276).
Miller worked with Aneiros on a few matters and recalled having to rewrite sections of a brief Aneiros
drafted. Miller was aware Respondent criticized Aneiros for failing to read cases and for spending time on
Google chat. On one occasion when Respondent asked Aneiros for a case, Aneiros told him "get the fuck off
my back." (Tr. 1260, 1263-65).
Miller recalled reading an article about Respondent that Anerios sent to her, and then asking Aneiros and
another female employee if they had any problems with Respondent. Both indicated they did not. Miller did
not recall hearing any inappropriate comments by Respondent, nor did Aneiros report any inappropriate
comments or conduct by Respondent. (Tr. 1270-73).
Vincent Francone
Vincent Francone was employed at Freed & Weiss until January 2012. On December 10, 2010 he observed
Respondent being critical of Aneiros' work, which caused her to be flustered. When Francone left the office
at about 5:30 p.m., Respondent, Aneiros and two other people remained. Respondent did not appear to be
drunk. Francone never witnessed any inappropriate sexual conduct or comments by Respondent to Aneiros
or anyone else, and no one ever told him about any inappropriate comments or conduct by Respondent. (Tr.
1560-64).
Edward Hannesbury
On the evening of December 10, 2010, Edward Hannesbury, a security officer, was sitting at the front desk
in the main lobby at 111 West Washington Street. He saw Respondent exit the elevator with a woman,
whom he identified from a photo as being Aneiros. Hannesbury noted nothing unusual and did not recall the
woman being upset. (Tr. 1593-96; Resp. Ex. 13).
PAGE 79:
Jamie Weiss
Jamie Weiss viewed Aneiros as intimidating and "not nice." If she had to convey information to Aneiros, she
went through Respondent because he had a good rapport with her. Jamie did not want Respondent to go on
an out-of-town trip with Aneiros because she thought Aneiros would try to frame him. She stated they had
taken great pains to avoid placing Respondent in any "he said/she said' situations. (Tr. 1345, 1368).
Georgiana Tieman
Georgiana Tieman, the former office manager of Freed & Weiss, testified that the office policy on employee
discipline required a verbal warning, a written warning and a final warning, with several opportunities for
the employee to correct the problem. Tieman never issued a written disciplinary warning to Aneiros. She
was not aware of Aneiros' complaint against Respondent until she received Aneiros' e-mail of December 12,
2010. (Tr. 1229, 1235-36; 1245, 1258-50; Adm. Ex. 52).
B. Analysis and Conclusions
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For the reasons stated in Count I, we conclude that the allegations of Count VII are not barred by Rule 8.4(j)
(the 2010 version of Rule 8.4(a)(9)), or by the principles set forth in the Betts-Gaston decision. With respect
to Rule 8.4(a)(j), Aneiros did file a complaint against Respondent with the Illinois Department of Human
Rights and, at the time of hearing, that complaint was pending. Because we have previously concluded that a
pre-determination of discrimination is not a predicate to charges brought pursuant to Rule 8.4(a)(3) (or, as to
this Count, Rule 8.4(b) of the 2010 Rules), we do not find that the Administrator had to wait for a resolution
of Aneiros' claim before bringing the current charges. Respondent cites to a case in which the Administrator
delayed filing charges against an attorney until after a final judgment of discrimination was entered in a civil
action, but in that case the Administrator chose to assert a
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violation of both Rule 8.4(a)(9) and Rule 8.4(a)(3) and therefore could not proceed without a ruling by the
court. See In re Fishman, 01 CH 109, M.R.19462 (Sept. 24, 2004). The Administrator's charging decisions,
which surely are dependent on the facts and circumstances peculiar to each case, are not a factor that
influences our analysis - we limit our consideration to the charges before us which, in this case, do not
include Rule 8.4(a)(j).
With respect to the allegations of Count VII, Aneiros claimed that Respondent began making mildly
provocative comments shortly after she started at the firm, and then progressed to frequent sexual
suggestions and touching. She testified that her repeated requests to Respondent to cease his comments and
behavior went unheeded. In addition to numerous incidents at the office, Aneiros recalled being cornered by
Respondent in an alley, being propositioned over the phone, and enduring sexual advances in the elevator
and on route to the train station on her last day of work. Respondent, for his part, denied engaging in any
inappropriate behavior.
We heard from many witnesses regarding Aneiros' work performance, Respondent's interactions with her on
the afternoon of December 10, 2010, the amount of alcohol he consumed on that date, and the investigation
that ensued after Aneiros wrote a letter describing Respondent's conduct. We also heard testimony from
acquaintances of Aneiros with whom she communicated. For the most part, we did not view that evidence as
destroying or bolstering the credibility of either of the main witnesses or making the events complained of
more or less likely to have happened. Only Respondent and Aneiros know what occurred during their private
encounters. No one else was present. Similarly, statements either of them made to other people after
December 10, 2010 would be expected to be consistent with their position. While we consider all the
testimony, in the end our determination rests primarily on our impressions of Aneiros and Respondent.
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We viewed Aneiros as being self-assured, very comfortable with the firm culture of informality and coarse
language, and capable of standing up for herself, at least as to some issues. Her relationship with Respondent
was more difficult to decipher, as the evidence was both confusing and contradictory. Certainly some
familiarity existed between them, as Aneiros would discuss her family situation with Respondent, introduced
her friends to him, and on more than one occasion wrapped her arms around him and lifted him. Aneiros and
Respondent both acknowledged that Respondent's wife had an issue with the two of them being together.
Their interactions grew more contentious as time wore on, however, with issues of inadequate compensation
and faulty work product surfacing. Despite evidence of Aneiros' increasing resentment toward Respondent,
we did not consider her to be vengeful, manipulative, or capable of inventing numerous scenarios and then
feigning offense.
Respondent pointed to Aneiros' willingness to enlist female friends to work at, or with, the firm, and her
failure to report Respondent's actions until the day she resigned, as evidence that she was not subjected to
any improper conduct. While Aneiros did recommend one friend for a contract position with the firm,
neither the timing of that suggestion nor the location of the project was readily apparent. With respect to her
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failure to report Respondent's conduct, we are mindful that, despite her willingness to stand up to
Respondent regarding work issues, she was still a subordinate employee who was dependent upon
Respondent for her job. The balance of power, while less pronounced than with respect to staff employees,
was still weighted in favor of Respondent. When Aneiros finally submitted a complaint to the firm, she did
so in conjunction with her resignation and therefore no longer had to worry about any impact on her
employment.
We attach no significance to the fact that, eleven days before Aneiros submitted her letter to the firm, she
read a news article about Respondent's ARDC proceeding and then read the ARDC complaint. The evidence
showed that she had known for some time of a pending action
PAGE 82:
against Respondent, as she had been advised of that fact by both Julie Miller and Jamie Weiss, and it was a
topic of conversation in the office.
We also draw no inference from the fact that, after Aneiros left Respondent's firm, she filed a sexual
harassment claim against him seeking monetary damages. Her pursuit of that action, in our opinion, could be
construed either way and therefore does not lessen or strengthen the validity of the testimony she gave in this
proceeding.
Aneiros was unwavering in her account of Respondent's actions and, in our opinion, was not discredited by
other evidence. The theory that she schemed to bring Respondent down because she thought she was going
to be terminated, because he might have embarrassed her in front of other people, or because she wanted to
exact monetary revenge in a civil suit, was not convincing. That she would actually forfeit her job to bolster
false allegations against Respondent is even less believable, as she appeared to value her work experience
and needed an income to support herself.
We were not persuaded by Respondent's denials of inappropriate behavior. We gather from his testimony
and from the nature of his work in complex litigation that he is astute at developing strategies and countering
attacks from the opposition. Indeed, we have no doubt that he is an expert tactician. The evidence also
showed he is demanding, impatient and lacks sensitivity to the feelings of others. From our vantage point of
having listened to both witnesses, we believe Respondent's disparaging e-mails and comments toward
Aneiros were calculated to remind her of his authority over her and to build a case of poor work performance
in the event she accused him of any improper conduct.
Having determined that Aneiros was the more credible witness and that she did not have sufficient
motivation to lie, we must now determine whether Respondent engaged in professional misconduct. He is
charged with violating Rule 8.4(b) by committing criminal acts which reflect
PAGE 83:
adversely upon his honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer. The criminal acts are battery, assault,
unlawful restraint, and telephone harassment.
We find Respondent committed the criminal acts alleged. He engaged in battery by backing Aneiros against
a wall in an alley and trying to kiss her, shoving against her in an elevator, and grabbing her and touching her
on the way to the train station. Each of those situations involved physical contact with Aneiros in a manner
that was insulting. In each instance, Respondent's conduct preceding the battery was sufficient to place
Aneiros in reasonable apprehension of receiving a battery, and therefore we also find he engaged in assault.
We find Respondent committed unlawful restraint when he accosted Aneiros in the elevator. Although he
did not force her into the confined space, he knew that once she was inside she would be trapped and could
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not escape his advances. He further restrained her when he grabbed her on the way to the train station and
bent her over backwards.
Finally, we find Respondent engaged in telephone harassment by virtue of his evening telephone call to
Aneiros in November 2010. After Respondent asked Aneiros to return to the office and she confirmed with
another partner that her presence was not required, Respondent telephoned her, became very angry, and
asked why she was playing hard to get. He also told her he would wear her down because he always got
what he wanted. The telephone call caused Aneiros to be worried and afraid that Respondent would retaliate
against her for refusing his advances. Judging from the sexual comments and the description of his tone
during the telephone call, we conclude that he made an obscene and indecent proposal with an intent to
offend, and harass Aneiros.
Having found that Respondent committed the criminal acts as alleged, we further find, based on the
reasoning stated in Count I, that the acts reflect adversely on his honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a
lawyer.
PAGE 84:
EVIDENCE OFFERED IN MITIGATION AND AGGRAVATION
Respondent
Respondent's pro bono work has included handling zoning issues for a bird sanctuary, representing a
prisoner in a medical malpractice case, representing a plaintiff in a wage and sex discrimination case and
representing his housekeeper in a tuition dispute. He and his firm also represent Hungarian Holocaust
survivors and Serbian refugees. He is active in his temple and is a co-fundraising director for the World
Mental Health Fund. (Tr. 1741-43; Adm. Exs. 94, 96).
Respondent testified that he loves being a lawyer and believes he helps people. He feels horrible about his
conduct and the whole situation, and also about how it has affected his wife and children. As a result of the
ARDC charges, he has made changes to operate his office in a more professional manner and has installed
cameras throughout the area, including in his personal office. He noted that these proceedings have caused
him a great deal of stress and embarrassment, have been reported on the internet, and have been used against
him by other lawyers. He believes he has cooperated fully with the ARDC. (Tr. 1744-45).
Respondent is not asserting any medical diagnosis or condition as a defense to, or in mitigation of, any
alleged misconduct. (Tr. 1614).
James Cecchi
James Cecchi, an attorney practicing in New Jersey, focuses his practice on plaintiff's class action work. He
has known Respondent professionally for five years and they also have developed a personal relationship.
Cecchi believes Respondent has an outstanding reputation for truth and honesty in the community in which
they practice. With respect to consumer lawsuits, Cecchi described Respondent as a top lawyer whose
greatest strength is identifying and analyzing legal issues. Respondent is also effective in the courtroom. (Tr.
1198-1207).
PAGE 85:
Thomas Collier
Thomas Collier, an attorney practicing in Washington D.C., specializes in energy and natural resources law
and the settlement of complex litigation. He met Respondent in or before 2011 when they were adversaries
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in the settlement of a large class action case. Collier views Respondent's legal ability as first-rate and trusts
his integrity and honesty when they are in contentious negotiations involving complex issues. (Tr. 1404-08).
Lisa Lilly
Lisa Lilly, an Illinois attorney who concentrates on class action defense and appeals, met Respondent in or
about 2000 in connection with a class action settlement. Since that time they have been on opposing sides in
ten to twenty other cases. In Lilly's opinion Respondent is an excellent lawyer. She also views him as a
trustworthy person and believes the class action community feels the same way. (Tr. 1532-34).
Steve Jaffe
Steve Jaffe, an attorney practicing in Florida, met Respondent six to eight years ago and they have served as
co-counsel in five or six class action cases. Jaffe regards Respondent as very truthful, and believes other
attorneys in the class action community share that opinion. If the allegations of the complaint were proved,
Jaffe's opinion would not change. (Tr. 1538-41).
Kevin Hoerner
Kevin Hoerner, an attorney practicing in Belleville, Illinois, met Respondent ten to twelve years ago when
they joined forces on class action cases. He views Respondent as an excellent lawyer who has contributed to
the plaintiff's consumer class action bar. He testified Respondent is an honest person and enjoys a high
reputation for integrity and truthfulness among other class action lawyers. (Tr. 1547-50).
PAGE 86:
Johnathon Shub
Johnathon Shub, a Pennsylvania attorney, focuses his practice on class action litigation. He met Respondent
in 1995, has worked with him on a dozen class action matters, and views him as a professional colleague and
friend. Shub stated Respondent has made an outstanding contribution to the class action bar, has been lead
counsel in some of the most important cases in the country, and has an outstanding reputation for
truthfulness in the legal community. If the allegations of the complaint were proved, Shub's opinion would
not change. (Tr. 1374-77).
Robert Pavich
Robert Pavich, an attorney in Chicago, met Respondent in 2010 when they worked together on a class action
case. Pavich has been able to rely on Respondent consistently in every circumstance of very stressful and
high profile litigation. If the allegations of the complaint were proved, Pavich's personal opinion of
Respondent's character would not be affected. He is not familiar with Respondent's reputation. (Tr. 1380-84).
Adam Levitt
Adam Levitt, a Chicago attorney, trusts Respondent and believes he is regarded as an honest and stand-up
individual in the legal and social community. (Tr. 1222-24).
Prior Discipline
On September 24, 1997, the Illinois Supreme Court approved a consent petition and suspended Respondent
for 30 days, followed by a two-year period of probation with conditions, for engaging in the criminal
conduct of telephone harassment. In re Weiss, 96 CH 607, M.R. 13855 (1997). As stated in the consent
petition, during the time period from 1993 to early 1995 Respondent made telephone calls to four women
with the intent to abuse, threaten or harass them with comments that were obscene, lewd, lascivious, filthy or
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indecent. His calls to one of the women, who was seventeen years old, led to his March 1994 conviction for
telephone
PAGE 87:
harassment, a court imposed fine of $150, and supervision for one year, with the condition that he seek
treatment and have no further contact with the victim. At the time the consent petition was approved,
Respondent had been evaluated by a psychiatrist, diagnosed with a mental condition known as telephone
scatologia, and was attending counseling sessions four times per week. The conditions of his disciplinary
probation required him to continue attending counseling sessions at least three times per week. (Adm. Exs.
74-76).
POST-HEARING PROCEEDINGS
In a post-hearing motion, Respondent requested a dismissal of the Complaint on the basis of the Supreme
Court's opinion in In re Karavidas, 2013 IL 115767, issued on November 15, 2013. In that case, which
involved charges of breach of fiduciary duty and conversion, the Court held that discipline may be imposed
only where Rules of Professional Conduct have been violated. The present case meets that requirement for
discipline, as we found violations of Rule 8.3(a)(3) and its successor rule. Respondent noted a statement in
the opinion that "discipline for conduct occurring outside the attorney-client relationship should be limited to
situations where the attorney's conduct violates the Rules by demonstrating a lack of professional or personal
honesty which render[s] him unworthy of public confidence." Because the present case does not involve
allegations of dishonesty, Respondent views the Court's statement as a bar to discipline.
In denying Respondent's motion, the Chair of this Panel declined to give the Court's statement in Karavidas
broad application when that case did not involve an interpretation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) and, in fact, involved
facts and charges far removed from the present case. Also significant was the fact that Rule 8.4(a)(3) itself is
not limited to situations involving dishonesty, as the rule states that a lawyer engages in professional
misconduct by committing a criminal act that reflects adversely on his honesty, trustworthiness, "or fitness as
a lawyer in other respects."
PAGE 88:
We hold to that view and note that the Court recently imposed discipline upon an attorney who committed
criminal conduct outside the attorney/client relationship that did not involve dishonesty. See In re Graney,
2013PR00005, M.R. 26359 (Jan. 17, 2014) (domestic battery, cyberstalking). While we do not view Graney
(which resulted in a summary order in a default situation) as dispositive, it is certainly consistent with the
Court's customary treatment of cases involving criminal conduct. For the foregoing reasons, and absent any
current indication that the Court intended its statement regarding dishonesty to apply to Rule 8.4(a)(3), we
conclude that discipline is appropriate in this case.
RECOMMENDATION
Having concluded Respondent engaged in much of the misconduct charged in the Complaint, we must
determine the appropriate discipline. In so doing, we consider that the purpose of these proceedings is not to
punish, but rather to safeguard the public, maintain the integrity of the profession and protect the
administration of justice from reproach. In re Timpone, 157 Ill. 2d 178, 623 N.E.2d 300 (1993). Attorney
discipline also has a deterrent value in that it impresses upon others the repercussions of errors such as those
committed by Respondent in the present case. In re Discipio, 163 Ill. 2d 515, 645 N.E.2d 906 (1994).
In arriving at the appropriate discipline, we consider those circumstances which may mitigate and/or
aggravate the misconduct. In re Witt, 145 Ill. 2d 380, 583 N.E.2d 526 (1991). In mitigation, Respondent
cooperated in these proceedings and presented numerous witnesses who testified to his reputation for
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honesty and truthfulness. In addition, we recognize his significant contributions and value to the class action
bar, as well as his pro bono undertakings. See In re Clayter, 78 Ill. 2d 276, 399 N.E.2d 1318 (1980).
In aggravation, Respondent's actions resulted from his selfish motive of sexual gratification, he engaged in a
pattern of misconduct (although most of the misconduct took place
PAGE 89:
more than ten years ago), and he took advantage of vulnerable employees who were young, self-supporting
and dependent on him for their livelihood. See In re Rinella, 175 Ill. 2d 504, 677 N.E.2d 909 (1996). We also
consider any harm or risk of harm that was caused by Respondent's conduct. In re Saladino, 71 Ill. 2d 263,
375 N.E.2d 102 (1978) (discipline should be "closely linked to the harm caused or the unreasonable risk
created by the [attorney's] lack of care"). Several of the women testified to the long-term effects
Respondent's actions have had on them, including their distrust of lawyers. In addition, nearly all of the
women expressed distress and discomfort at having to appear and testify at the hearing.
We also take into account Respondent's previous suspension of thirty days, followed by a two-year period of
probation, for engaging in telephone harassment of four women between 1993 and 1995. While some cases
have held that the passage of time diminishes the significance of prior misconduct as an aggravating factor,
see e.g. In re Vrdolyak, 98 CH 17, M.R. 16866 (Sept. 22, 2000), we give some weight to Respondent's
earlier suspension because, as in this case, his actions involved behavior of a lewd nature.
The Administrator has urged us to recommend disbarment or, at the least, a lengthy suspension until further
order of court. Because Respondent argued that the charges of the complaint were improperly brought and
denied engaging in any misconduct, he believes no sanction is required. In the event misconduct was found,
he urged a modest sanction.
We were presented with numerous cases from this state and other jurisdictions imposing a range of sanctions
for sexually related misconduct. With respect to the misconduct involving Barker and Newman, which we
consider to be Respondent's most egregious conduct, we look to cases involving unwanted touching. Cases
involving only sexual comments or those that do not include charges of criminal conduct may warrant a
lesser sanction than is deserved here, while cases involving sexual intercourse may require harsher sanctions.
PAGE 90:
We look first to Illinois case law and find guidance in the following cases. In In re Fishman, 01 CH 109,
M.R. 19462 (Sept. 24, 2004), the attorney was suspended for one year for committing assault and battery by
making sexual advances toward a female associate. Fishman's unwanted advances occurred over a ninemonth period and included kissing the associate, touching her breast, reaching up her skirt, masturbating as
he was trying to kiss her, appearing at her home and accosting her, and inserting his finger into her vagina.
Like Respondent in the present case, Fishman was a prominent partner who wielded considerable authority
over his victim, he denied any impropriety, and he accused the associate of fabricating her story. The nature
and degree of vulgarities inflicted by Fishman were more egregious than Respondent's conduct toward
Newman or Aneiros, but were not far beyond his conduct toward Barker, who was the most abused of the
women in the present case. Unlike Respondent, Fishman had never been disciplined.
In In re Clark, 97 CH 111, M.R. 17713 (2001) the attorney committed unlawful restraint and battery by
binding three women with a rope without their consent. Two of the women were applicants for a position
with the attorney's firm and one was a secretary. All experienced some degree of shock, panic or fear when
they were unable to free themselves. In mitigation the attorney was cooperative, remorseful and suffered
from a diagnosed mental disorder known as paraphelia. He was suspended for two years and, because the
evidence indicated a need for long term treatment, the added condition of until further order of the Court was
imposed. A more lenient sanction was imposed in In re Greenstein, 02 RC 1501, M.R. 17978 (Mar. 22,
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2002). In a reciprocal discipline action, the attorney was censured for making inappropriate comments to
subordinate female employees, including requests to engage in sexual activity, and for touching a female
employee without her consent. The nature of the touching was not revealed.
PAGE 91:
We find two other cases to be noteworthy although, unlike this case, they involved an attorney's sexual
misconduct toward one or more clients. In In re Erwin, 04 CH 114, M.R. 22401 (Sept. 16, 2008) the attorney
agreed to have a client perform a striptease dance for him in exchange for legal fees. He committed a battery
by touching the client's breasts, buttocks and vagina and inserting his finger into her vagina, all without her
consent. In addition, he made false statements to police officers, overreached the attorney/client relationship,
breached his fiduciary duty and engaged in a conflict of interest. He was suspended for fifteen months. In
Rinella, 175 Ill. 2d 504 an attorney used his commanding position of influence to pressure three female
divorce clients to engage in sexual acts and intercourse. In addition, he used client confidences for his own
advantage and committed the criminal act of perjury. He was suspended for three years and until further
order of court.
Respondent's telephone harassment of Barker and Aneiros also factors into our determination of a sanction.
In In re Sorokas, 98 CH 85, M.R. 16071 (Sept. 29, 1999), the attorney was censured, on consent, after
pleading guilty to charges of battery and telephone harassment. The attorney had not been previously
disciplined and was no longer practicing law.
With respect to Respondent's public indecency and disorderly conduct in exposing himself to Kelly and
Castellanos, we look to In re Koeneman, 09 SH 112, M.R. 23801 (May 18, 2010). In that case the attorney
was convicted of two counts of disorderly conduct for approaching three women on the street while wearing
only a tight speedo or women's panties that covered an obvious erection. He was suspended, on consent, for
two years until further order of court, but the suspension was stayed after 60 days by a three-year period of
probation during which the attorney would attend therapy for his diagnosed condition of paraphilia.
Two cases from other jurisdictions are worth noting for similarities to the present case. In People v. Lowery,
894 P. 2d 758 (Col. 1995), the Colorado Supreme Court suspended an
PAGE 92:
attorney for one year and one day for engaging in sexually abusive verbal and physical conduct with respect
to three employees of his firm, including kissing them and touching one woman's breasts and crotch. In re
Edmiston, 729 N.E.2d 97 (Ind. 2000), the Indiana Supreme Court suspended an attorney for two years after
he was convicted of three counts of public indecency for exposing his penis and masturbating in a public
office building while following female employees. In aggravation, the attorney was serving as chief deputy
prosecutor and had been previously arrested for nearly identical conduct.
As we previously indicated, our decision regarding discipline rests most heavily on Respondent's acts toward
Barker and Newman, as his conduct toward those vulnerable young women was highly aggressive and
involved intimate physical contact. In contrast, his actions toward Kelly and Castellanos, although very
offensive, did not involve any touching or use of force. As for Aneiros, we viewed her as less vulnerable
than the other employees and Respondent's actions toward her as less predatory.
After reviewing the relevant case law and the mitigating and aggravating factors, we conclude that the
sanction in this case must be significant and certainly more severe than the one year suspension imposed in
the Fishman case, which involved conduct toward only one woman. We do not believe, however, that it
should be quite as harsh as the three-year suspension imposed in Rinella, which involved coerced sexual
intercourse with clients, as well as use of a client confidence and perjury. While a degree of uniformity in the
application of attorney discipline is desirable, each case must still be determined on its own merits.
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We recommend that Respondent be suspended for thirty months. His misconduct was offensive and
pervasive (affecting his office staff, his neighbor and a citizen on a public street) and we found that it reflects
adversely on his fitness as a lawyer. A suspension of this length is
PAGE 93:
necessary, therefore, to maintain the integrity of the profession, to deter others from similar acts, and to
protect those who would come into contact with him in a law office setting.
The Administrator urges us to include the added condition of "until further order of Court" in our
recommendation, but we decline to do so. A suspension until further order was imposed in the Rinella case
because of the seriousness of the conduct but, as we noted, that case involved additional rule violations and
circumstances that were not a part of the case before us. The Clark and Koeneman cases also resulted in
suspensions until further order, but in those cases the attorneys were diagnosed with mental disorders and
needed continued treatment. Respondent in this case made no claim that he was suffering from any mental
disorder or condition that was causally related to his misconduct. We are aware from Respondent's prior
disciplinary case that he was diagnosed with and received therapy for "telephone scatologia" in the 1990s,
but that diagnosis and any opinion of the evaluating psychiatrist is not something that influences our decision
today.
The "until further order" provision is appropriate when there is no evidence that an attorney is willing or able
to adhere to professional standards in the future. In re Houdek, 113 N.E.2d 323, 326, 497 N.E.2d 1169
(1986). We heard evidence in this case that Respondent has taken steps to promote a more professional
atmosphere in his office and has installed cameras which will deter and record any inappropriate behavior.
His decision to monitor his conduct is a positive step and indicates to us that he is willing to conform his
conduct to the standards of the profession. We also note that Respondent's conduct has had a grave impact on
his personal and professional life. That impact, which will continue through his suspension and probably for
years beyond, will be a constant reminder of the need to adhere to his professional obligations. As he surely
is aware, any further transgressions will most likely result in the harshest of discipline.
PAGE 94:
In Timpone, 208 Ill. 2d at 386, the Court stressed that "after disbarment, the sanction [of a suspension until
further order] is the most severe that we can impose on an attorney." In a situation such as this, where proof
of Respondent's rehabilitation would be difficult to establish by objective means, we believe the sanction
would be tantamount to disbarment. In our opinion, the condition is not appropriate in this case.
Accordingly, we recommend that Respondent Paul Weiss be suspended from the practice of law for a period
of thirty months.
Respectfully Submitted,
Lon M. Richey
Rebecca J. McDade
William E. Gabbard
CERTIFICATION
I, Kenneth G. Jablonski, Clerk of the Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme
Court of Illinois and keeper of the records, hereby certifies that the foregoing is a true copy of the Report and
Recommendation of the Hearing Board, approved by each Panel member, entered in the above entitled cause
of record filed in my office on April 17, 2014.
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In re Paul M. Weiss
Respondent-Appellee/Cross-Appellant
Commission No. 08 CH 116
Synopsis of Review Board Report and Recommendation
(July 2015)
The Administrator filed a seven count complaint against Respondent. Counts I, II, III, IV and VII alleged
that Respondent engaged in misconduct with respect to five female employees of Respondent's law firm and
charged Respondent with engaging in criminal acts that reflect adversely on his fitness as a lawyer, namely
assault and battery with respect to all five women, unlawful restraint with respect to three women, and
telephone harassment with respect to three women. In Counts V and VI, Respondent was charged with
engaging in the criminal acts of public indecency and disorderly conduct by exposing himself to a coresident of his apartment building and to a woman walking on a public street.
The Hearing Board determined that the legal defenses asserted by Respondent were not a bar to any of the
charges against Respondent. After assessing the credibility of the witnesses and reviewing the evidence, the
Hearing Board found that Respondent engaged in misconduct with respect to four of his employees, his
neighbor and the woman walking on a public street. The Hearing Board recommended that Respondent be
suspended for thirty months.
Upon review, the Administrator asked that Respondent be disbarred. The Respondent argued the charges
against him should be dismissed because the findings were against the manifest weight of the evidence; the
requirements of 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(9)(B) were improperly circumvented; there could be no violations of 8.4(a)
(3) because Respondent was not convicted; and that the use of information that was subject to expungement
deprived him of due process.
The Review Board found Respondent's arguments to be without merit. The Review Board concluded that the
findings of the Hearing Board were not against the manifest weight of the evidence. The Review Board
affirmed the findings of misconduct of the Hearing Board. In determining a sanction recommendation, the
Review Board considered that Respondent had been previously disciplined for engaging in inappropriate
sexual misconduct. After considering the precedent, the factors in mitigation and aggravation, and the
likelihood that Respondent would reoffend, a majority of the Review Board recommended that Respondent
be suspended for thirty months and until further order of the Court. One Review Board member dissented
with respect to the sanction recommendation and recommended that Respondent be disbarred.
BEFORE THE REVIEW BOARD
OF THE
ILLINOIS ATTORNEY REGISTRATION
AND
DISCIPLINARY COMMISSION
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In the Matter of:

Commission No. 08 CH 116

PAUL M. WEISS,
Respondent-Appellee/Cross-Appellant,
No. 6217260.
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION OF THE REVIEW BOARD
SUMMARY
The Administrator charged Respondent with seven counts of criminal misconduct involving seven different
women. Six of the counts occurred from 1999 to 2003, and the seventh during 2010. The activity included
criminal acts of assault, battery, unlawful restraint, telephone harassment, public indecency, and disorderly
conduct, that would reflect adversely on the Respondent's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer.
The Hearing Board concluded Respondent engaged in most of the misconduct alleged, in violation of Rules
8.4(a)(3) (1990) and 8.4(b) (2010) and recommended suspension from the practice of law for 30 months.
The Administrator filed exceptions, asserting that Respondent should be disbarred. The Respondent asserts
the charges should have been dismissed because: the findings were against the manifest weight of the
evidence; the requirements of 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(9)(B) were circumvented by "recasting" charges of sexual
harassment as violations of the Criminal Code; there were no convictions thus there could be no violation of
8.4(a)(3); and the use of
PAGE 2:
information that was subject to expungement deprived him of due process. Respondent further maintains that
the Hearing Board's recommendation of a 30 month suspension is unduly harsh.
We find the Respondent's position to be without merit. We affirm the Hearing Board's conclusions in all
respects save one -- the appropriate sanction. We believe that Respondent is at significant risk of reoffending
given his complete and total denial of a long-standing pattern of inappropriate sexual behavior, including
similar prior discipline for lewd behavior, his seeming inability to control his behavior, and his penchant for
vilifying his victims. The majority would impose a 30 month suspension and until further order of the Court.
The dissent would disbar Respondent.
I. THE HEARING BOARD'S FACTUAL FINDINGS ARE NOT
AGAINST THE MANIFEST WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.
"A factual finding is against the weight of the evidence where the opposite conclusion is clearly evident or
where the finding appears to be unreasonable, arbitrary or not based on the evidence." In re Fishman,
01CH109 (Review Bd., March 31, 2004), Administrators petition for leave to file exceptions allowed and
sanction increased, No. MR 19462 (Sept 24, 2004). None of these requirements have been met by
Respondent who bears the burden on this issue. In re Timpone, 208 Ill 2d 371, 380 (2004). The majority of
the crucial evidence was testimonial in nature and required the Hearing Board to judge the credibility of
numerous witnesses including Respondent. In such cases "credibility determinations rest with the Hearing
Board" to whom great deference is owed. Timpone at 383. The Hearing Board thoughtfully reviewed the
evidence, rejecting some charges for insufficient evidence and finding violations on others. Their findings,
which are supported by the evidence, are summarized below.
Count I involved Rachel Barker (Barker), a file clerk and legal assistant who worked at Respondent's law
firm from February 5, 2002, to October 10, 2003. Count I charged
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Respondent with violating 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(3) by committing battery, assault, unlawful restraint, and
telephone harassment. Ms. Barker was 19 years old at the time. She testified to an incident after attending a
Bulls game with Respondent, to improper phone calls to her, including during the evenings or weekends, and
to his improperly touching her. Respondent acknowledged having phone conversations with Ms. Barker, but
denied any improprieties. Evidence was also introduced of 2003 written statements attributable to Ms.
Barker, given to Respondent's attorneys. The Hearing Board deemed Barker a "very credible witness" with
no "motive to lie" (R.C3521), and found Respondent violated 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(3) for the conduct alleged
(R.C3524).
Count II involved alleged incidents with Tanja Samardjiza, an associate attorney with Respondent's law firm
from February 26, 2001, until her discharge on December 26, 2002. The Hearing Board found insufficient
proof to support allegations of battery and assault, in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3), and recommended that
Count II be dismissed. (R.C3529).
Count III involved Respondent's alleged conduct toward Krystle White, the 16-year-old sister of Ms. Barker
(identified in Count I). Ms. White worked as an office aide at Respondent's law firm during the summer of
2002. She had a baby at the time, lived with her boyfriend's parents, and had never worked in an office
before. On the first day she wore a skirt to work, she claimed Respondent "rubbed his hand across her butt
and thigh." Respondent denied this. Deeming White a "credible witness," and despite the "brevity" of the
touching incident, the Hearing Board found Respondent violated 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(3) by committing a
battery, but declared the proofs insufficient to support a finding that he had committed assault. (R.C3532).
PAGE 4:
Count IV involved Stephanie Newman, a paralegal at Respondent's firm working there between 1991 and
2001. She testified to a groping incident by Respondent, and of an incident where Respondent took off his
pants in her presence at the office and rubbed his crotch suggestively before changing into his suit pants. She
further testified to incidents of inappropriate comments. Respondent admitted he occasionally changed into
his suit in the office, agreed that this was not a good idea, but denied the remaining conduct. The Hearing
Board declared Newman "impressed us as being very frank in her manner and in her own selfappraisement." In Count IV, the Hearing Board found Respondent violated 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(3) by
committing the criminal offenses of assault and battery. (R.C3542)
Count V charged Respondent with violating 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(3) by committing acts constituting public
indecency and disorderly conduct, in repeated incidents with Molly Kelly. During 1999 and 2000, Ms. Kelly
lived on the third floor of a brownstone building in Chicago. Respondent and his wife occupied the secondfloor apartment. On several occasions, Respondent would open the door as Ms. Kelly was walking down the
stairs, tell Ms. Kelly he was not dressed, and ask if she would throw his daily newspaper up to him. After
several occasions, she came to believe Respondent was intentionally exposing himself, and asked him to
stop. On one occasion after that, she testified Respondent "just opened the door and exposed himself
completely." Respondent denied opening the door wide enough to be seen naked. The Hearing Board found
Kelly a credible witness, accepted her conclusions and impressions with regard to Respondent's behavior,
and found Respondent's conduct violated Rule 8.4(a)(3) for the crimes of public indecency and disorderly
conduct. (R.C3547-49)
Count VI involved an incident with Reyna Castellanos outside the Metra train station in Deerfield on July 8,
2003. Ms. Castellanos testified that after being asked to walk up
PAGE 5:

http://www.iardc.org/rd_database/disc_decisions_detail_print.asp?Group=11781

11/22/2018

ARDC | Rules and Decisions

Page 4 of 9

to the passenger side of Respondent's car, she saw the zipper on Respondent's pants undone with his penis
exposed. Respondent claimed he was wearing gym shorts, and that "his package" could have "fallen out a
little bit." Respondent was charged with disorderly conduct as a municipal ordinance violation, and received
supervision after a stipulated bench trial. The Hearing Board found Respondent committed public indecency
and disorderly conduct in violation of 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(3), but that the Administrator did not prove he
violated Rule 8.4(a)(5) (conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice). (R.C3560-61) The Hearing
Board rejected Respondent's arguments that expungement of an arrest or conviction bars disciplinary
charges, or that the Administrator only obtained this information due to the wrongful release of expunged
records, or some "bad motive" in obtaining these records. (R.C3557-38)
Count VII, the only count arising under the 2010 Rules, involved Angela Aneiros, an attorney at
Respondent's law firm during March 2010, and conduct toward her that year. She reported frequently and
increasingly aggressive sexual suggestions and touching by Respondent. In turn Respondent denied touching
her or talking "dirty" to her. She specifically detailed an incident on December 10, 2010, while in the
elevator with the Respondent, and later while both were walking to the train station. Respondent offered the
testimony of a building security officer that nothing looked amiss when the two of them alighted from the
elevator that afternoon. The Hearing Board determined "Aneiros the more credible witness" with no
"sufficient motivation to lie." (R.C3580) The Hearing Board found Respondent violated Rule 8.4(b) by
committing battery, assault, unlawful restraint and telephone harassment.
II. THE HEARING BOARD APPLIED THE LAW CORRECTLY.
The Administrator charged Respondent under a seven-count fourth amended complaint with violating the
Rules of Professional Conduct by engaging in inappropriate sexual
PAGE 6:
behavior involving seven different women. The Hearing Board rejected Respondent's contention that a
criminal "conviction" was a necessary predicate to finding Respondent committed a criminal "act" in
violation of 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(3), reasoning the attorney is being disciplined for the underlying conduct, not
for a conviction. (R.C3519) The Board made the same determination as to 2010 Rule 8.4(b) (Count VII).
The Hearing Board also rejected Respondent's contention that the conduct as alleged actually amounts to a
discriminatory act - sexual harassment - such that the affirmative bar of 1990 Rule 8.4(a)(9)(B) prevents
disciplinary action because no court or administrative agency ever first found the respondent had engaged in
an unlawful discriminatory act. We agree with the Hearing Board's findings as to these matters.
A. The Administrator did not Circumvent Former Rule 8.4(a)(9)(B)
by Recasting Charges of Sexual Harassment as Criminal Conduct.
In re-asserting Counts I, III, IV and VI should have been dismissed, Respondent cites 1993 amended Rule
8.4(a)(9)(A) and (B), that a lawyer shall not:
(9)(A) violate a Federal, State or local statute or ordinance that prohibits discrimination based
on ** by conduct that reflects adversely on the lawyer's fitness as a lawyer **
(B) no complaint of professional misconduct based on an unlawfully discrimination act,
pursuant to (9)(A) of this rule, may be brought until the court or administrative agency of
competent jurisdiction has found that the lawyer has engaged in an unlawfully discrimination
act, and that the determination of the court or administrative agency has become final and
enforceable **
R.P.C.8.4(a) (amended 10-15-93)
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Respondent asserts that Rule 9(A) "specifies that an unlawfully discriminatory act includes sexual
harassment." (Resp. Brief, at 9) He claims a "plain reading" of the allegations here "establishes that sexual
harassment is exactly what was alleged." Resp. Brief, at 9) Respondent concludes this by stating, "The
gravamen of the Administrator's charges is clearly based on alleged conduct consulting sexual harassment.
Given that there was never any final
PAGE 7:
determination of sexual harassment by a court or administrative agency against Respondent in relation to
those former employees as required by Rule 8.4(9)(b), those Counts should have been dismissed." (Resp.
Brief, at 13).
Rule 8.4(a)(9)(B) specifically prohibits "discrimination" based on certain factors, including sex. Assault and
battery, as well as the other charges against Respondent are not discrimination but rather criminal acts. These
acts bring the Profession into disrepute.
The Hearing Board correctly ruled the Administrator did not charge Respondent with a violation of Rule 8.4
(a)(9)(A), which would indeed be improper without a final court or agency determination of discriminatory
conduct. Rather, the Administrator charged Respondent with committing criminal acts of a sexual nature in
violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) which would bring the profession in disrepute. The Hearing Board considered the
two as being "distinct in purpose and application," and therefore the charge here did not constitute an attempt
to circumvent any requirement under Rule 8.4(a)(9)(A) or (B). (R.C3518). The findings of the Hearing
Board are correct.
B. A Criminal Conviction is Not Required to Find Respondent
Violated the Rules by Committing a Criminal Act.
Respondent argues a criminal "conviction" against him is a necessary predicate to finding that he committed
a criminal act for purposes of former Rule 8.4(a)(3) or current Rule8.4(b). Respondent declares this Board
has "specifically denounced the Administrator's practice of bringing disciplinary charges for purported
criminal conduct that does not involve a criminal conviction," citing In re Betts-Gaston, 08 CH 5 (Review
Bd., July 18, 2012) at 24. There was no such denunciation. In affirming Betts-Gaston, the Supreme Court did
not address the issue of whether there was a requirement of a conviction. The Review Board opinion in
Betts-Gaston made clear that its conclusion on this issue had no bearing on the sanction, it being
PAGE 8:
a very minor issue in a case with significant and substantial rules violations. Further, two members of this
Review Board who served on the Panel which decided Betts-Gaston, now, on further reflection, believe that
the conclusion dealing with the requirements of a criminal conviction was incorrect. We also reject
Respondent's argument that somehow In re Karavidas, 2013 IL 11567, bars the findings of misconduct.
Karavidas is not applicable because that case makes it clear that while not every instance of purported bad
behavior by an attorney outside the practice of law is an appropriate subject of a disciplinary prosecution,
violations of specific Rules are an appropriate subject for discipline. Here specific violations of the Rules
were charged.
An attorney need not be convicted of, or charged with, a criminal offense in order to have violated Rule 8.4
(a)(3). Illinois disciplinary law establishes that a criminal conviction is not a condition precedent to a finding
that Rule 8.4(a)(3) has been violated. The Supreme Court has in fact already stated:
It is not the conviction of a crime which justifies discipline, but the commission of the act.
The attorney being disciplined not because of his conviction but because of the conduct. This
court has held that "it is not necessary that his misconduct should subject him to indictment,

http://www.iardc.org/rd_database/disc_decisions_detail_print.asp?Group=11781

11/22/2018

ARDC | Rules and Decisions

Page 6 of 9

or that if the misconduct charged another to a crime, he should be prosecuted and convicted
before disbarment."
Even the formal acquittal of a criminal charge does not automatically bar a disciplinary
proceeding based on the attorney's conduct upon which the criminal charge was founded.
In re Rolley, 121 Ill.2d 222, 233 (1988)(citations omitted).
In addition, our Supreme Court reasoned, in In re Ettinger, 128 Ill.2d 351, 265 (1989) (citations omitted):
It is a well-established principle that disciplinary proceeds are sui generis based upon the
supreme court's inherent power to regulate the practice of law. The primary purpose of a
disciplinary proceeding is to protect the public from unqualified or unethical
PAGE 9:
practitioners. The Supreme Court alone is vested with the responsibility of admitting and
disciplining attorneys. As such, disciplinary proceedings are neither civil nor criminal in
nature and are governed solely by this Court's rules and decisions.
The Hearing Board also cited a recent Review Board decision affirming a determination that the respondent,
as assistant state's attorney, committed aggravated criminal sexual abuse in violation of Rule 8.4(a)(3) even
though not convicted of the offense. In re Hogan, 2011PR00047 (Review Bd., June 26, 2013), approved and
confirmed, No. M.R. 26266 (Nov. 20, 2013). The Hearing Board found the respondent's violation of a
criminal statute reflected adversely on his trustworthiness and fitness to practice law, and consequently
concluded respondent violated Rule 8.4(b). The Hearing Board also noted the respondent used his position of
trust and authority to take advantage of vulnerable girls in that matter. Acts or conduct which would
constitute the violation of a criminal statute which then reflected adversely on an attorney's trustworthiness
and fitness to practice law that would constitute the violation of Rule 8.4(b), or Rule 8.4(e)(3). See also, In re
Clark, 97 CH 111 (Review Bd., July 30, 2001), Administrator's petition for leave to file exceptions allowed,
No. M.R. 17713 (Nov. 29, 2001) (Rule 8.4(a)(3) violated without a criminal conviction where underlying
conduct affected the attorney's ability to practice law). And finally, it is difficult to imagine that the drafters
of the Rules did not understand the difference between the words "conviction" and "act" and that they really
meant "conviction" when they used the word "act". We decline to use our imagination in that regard.
C. Due Process Was Not Denied by Charging Violations For
Conduct in Matters That Were Subject to Expungement.
Respondent claims he was denied due process of law when the Administrator "disregarded" Illinois
expungement laws, both in relation to his disorderly conduct ticket in the Castellanos matter (Count VI), and
in relation to the Newman file, closed in 2002 but reopened
PAGE 10:
in 2010 (Count IV). Both claims are without merit. With respect to Castellanos, a police officer who had
investigated the disorderly conduct case gave the ARDC information about the incident unaware that there
had been an expungement order in that case. Several witnesses also testified about the underlying conduct.
With respect to the Newman mater, a computer error prevented the expungement of an earlier investigation
of the Respondent. However, in the course of Respondent's discovery, other witnesses referred to
Respondent's conduct toward Newman.
Due process affords the respondent a right to notice of the allegations against him and a fair opportunity to
defend, and Respondent has not identified any unfairness or inability to defend himself here. An
expungement order itself does not of itself bar the Administrator from filing charges based on the incident,
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In re Hayes, 03 SH 113 (Review Board, June 6, 2006) at 8. See also, In re Thomas, 2012 IL 113035, Section
100-104, where the Court held the Administrator has broad discretion whether to reopen a closed
investigation, where the attorney may be engaged in a pattern of misconduct making the previous
investigation relevant again.
Indeed in In re Hayes, the Review Board determined the fact an attorney had the records of his or her arrest
expunged "does not preclude discipline based on the underlying conduct." (Review Board, p. 8). Courts in
other jurisdictions have in fact upheld discipline for attorneys despite expunged underlying convictions. In re
Yarno, 713 So.2d 451 (La. 1998); In re Couser, 596 P.2d 26 (Ariz. 1979); In re Meaden, 628 N.W.2d 129
(Minn. 2001). Indeed too, in In re Thomas, 2012 IL 113035, Sections 100-111, the Supreme Court, though
not in an expungement case, nevertheless examined Rule 54 and opined that a closure letter confers no
substantive rights on an attorney, nor does it prevent the Administrator from re-examining the alleged
misconduct in the future; that is wholly within the Administrator's discretion. While Rule 778 sets forth for
the procedure and timing for expungement of an ARDC investigation
PAGE 11:
filed, it does not provide that the conduct that is the subject of a closed investigation is now forever protected
against reexamination. In In re Hoffman, 08 SH 65 (Review Bd., June 23, 2010) at 11, Respondent's petition
for leave to file exceptions denied, No. M.R. 24030 (Sept. 22, 2010), the Review Board determined Rule 778
(b) is strictly an administrative rule, not intended to foreclose or terminate the Administrator's ability to
charge an attorney.
III. A SUSPENSION OF THIRTY MONTHS AND UNTIL
FURTHER ORDER OF COURT IS APPROPRIATE.
The Hearing Board concluded the Respondent's conduct "resulted from his selfish motive of sexual
gratification, there was a pattern of misconduct over time," and he "took advantage of vulnerable employees
who were young, self-supporting and dependent upon him for their livelihood". Precedent, common sense,
and regard for the public and the legal profession support a suspension of thirty months and until further
order of the Court.
The Hearing Board correctly considered his prior discipline in aggravation. Factors in aggravation revealed
that, in 1993, while 26 years old, Respondent attended a high school girls' volleyball game where he first saw
a 17 year old girl he did not previously know. In November and December of 1993, Respondent made at
least six obscene telephone calls to the girl, resulting in his arrest in February 1994 and conviction in March
1994 for telephone harassment. In addition, between November 1993 and April 1994, Respondent made six
to eight obscene phone calls to another woman, a fellow associate working with him at a Chicago law firm.
From December of 1994 to January 1995, while on supervision for the telephone harassment conviction,
Respondent made at least four obscene phone calls to a woman who had been a paralegal at the firm where
he worked. During March 1993, again in the Fall of 1993, and in September 1994, Respondent made a
number of obscene phone calls to yet another woman.
PAGE 12:
Prior misconduct weighs most heavily in aggravation when it is similar to present misconduct. The fact an
attorney had been previously discipline amounts to a serious aggravating factor, especially if previously
disciplined for similar conduct. In re Gerstein, 99 SH 1 (Hearing Bd., Dec. 14, 2001), at 27, affirmed in part
(Review Bd., Aug. 12, 2002), Respondent's petition for leave to file exceptions denied, No. M.R. 18377
(Nov. 26, 2002) (prior discipline for similar misconduct deemed an additional aggravating factor). The
evidence shows that Respondent's "chronic problems with sexually-inappropriate behavior" have escalated,
despite the fact he was previously arrested, criminally convicted, and professionally disciplined in the 1990's,
and despite the fact he apparently underwent some sort of therapy. Respondent's attempts to "paint himself
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as a victim of unscrupulous liars" and "extortionists" show that he is at risk of continuing this behavior, and
will not rehabilitate himself. In re Houdek, 113 Ill.2d 323, 326-27 (1986).
The precise facts of this case - an attorney who has sexually importuned subordinate employees and others
and who has also had prior discipline for inappropriate sexual misconduct-- are unique in Illinois disciplinary
precedent. However, several cases support a 30 month suspension until further order of the Court.
In In re Fishman, 01 CH 109 (Review Bd., March 31, 2004), Administrator's petition for leave to file
exceptions allowed, No. M.R. 19462 (Sept. 24, 2004), the attorney was suspended for one year for
committing assault and battery by making sexual advances toward a female associate. Fishman's unwanted
advances occurred over a nine month period and included kissing the associate, touching her breast, reaching
up her skirt, masturbating as he was trying to kiss her, appearing at her home and accosting her, and inserting
his finger in her vagina. Like Respondent here, he was a supervising attorney and accused the associate of
fabricating the story. The misconduct by Respondent, here, is far more egregious; a pattern of sexual
PAGE 13:
misconduct involving six different women over an extended period of time. In contrast to the present case,
Fishman had not been previously disciplined and the Hearing Board found that he was unlikely to engage in
similar future conduct.
In In re Clark, 97 CH 111 (Review Bd., July 30, 2001), Administrator's petition for leave to file exceptions
allowed, No. M.R. 17713 (Nov. 29, 2001), the attorney committed unlawful restraint and battery by tying up
a secretary and two women interviewing at his law firm. The attorney cooperated with the Commission,
admitted the incidents had occurred, and had been diagnosed with paraphilia. He was suspended for 2 years
and until further order of the Court. Respondent, here, denies any misconduct and further claims all of the
women were lying.
While the Hearing Board did a painstaking and we believe correct analysis of case law to support its 30
month suspension, it appears to have paid little attention to the overriding issue of whether this particular
Respondent is likely to reoffend. We believe that, in this case, "what is past is prologue". Unless Respondent
comes to grips with his problems and takes affirmative steps to understand and resolve them he is a very bad
risk. We are also mindful that Respondent had done good work in his field of class action law and that the
bulk of his misconduct occurred quite some time ago. For these reasons we think disbarment is not
appropriate.
CONCLUSION
We affirm the findings of misconduct of the Hearing Board and by a majority recommend to the Court that
Respondent, Paul M. Weiss, be suspended from the practice of law for 30 months and until further order of
the Court.
Respectfully Submitted,
Charles E. Pinkston, Jr.
Jill W. Landsberg
PAGE 14:
Richard Green Dissenting as to Sanction Only
While I agree with my colleagues with respect to their agreement that the findings of the Hearing Board are
not against the manifest weight and their analysis of the applicable law, I must disagree as to the
recommended sanction. Respondent engaged in similar conduct in the 1990's, was disciplined and was to get
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treatment. Rather, he continued his bad behavior and in fact escalated it. Nothing in the record shows that he
will not continue with the misconduct. Clearly this behavior leads the profession into disrepute. I would
recommend that Respondent be disbarred.
Respectfully Submitted,
Richard A. Green
CERTIFICATION
I, Kenneth G. Jablonski, Clerk of the Attorney Registration and Disciplinary Commission of the Supreme
Court of Illinois and keeper of the records, hereby certifies that the foregoing is a true copy of the Report and
Recommendation of the Review Board, approved by each Panel member, entered in the above entitled cause
of record filed in my office on July 23, 2015.
Kenneth G. Jablonski, Clerk of the
Attorney Registration and Disciplinary
Commission of the Supreme Court of Illinois
_______________________
1
Beyond the violation of the municipal ordinance in the Castellanos matter, Respondent has not been
charged or convicted of any underlying crimes here.
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DECISION FROM DISCIPLINARY REPORTS AND DECISIONS SEARCH
M.R.27547 - In re: Paul M. Weiss.

(November 17, 2015)

Disciplinary Commission.
The petitions by the Administrator of the Attorney Registration and
Disciplinary Commission and respondent Paul M. Weiss for leave to file
exceptions to the report and recommendation of the Review Board are
allowed, and respondent Paul M. Weiss is disbarred.
Order entered by the Court.
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MEMORANDUM
To:
From:
Re:
Date:
You are being provided this memo in connection with an interview in order to inform you of (A)
the purpose of the interview, (B) interview expectations and disclosures, and (C) your rights in
connection with the interview.
A.

Purpose of the Interview

It has come to the attention of _________ that there are certain issues that have arisen
__________.
It is important to emphasize that neither the government nor any individual has accused you or
any employee of __________ of any wrongdoing. However, __________ has retained the law
firm of LAW FIRM, to help it find out more about this matter.
Your cooperation is requested in connection with this inquiry by answering questions in an
interview with LAW FIRM. It is very important that you do your best to provide full, complete
and truthful answers during the interview. If at any time during the interview you do not
understand the questions or need clarification, just let us know.
B.

Interview Expectations and Disclosures

Confidential notes will be taken in connection with the interview. These notes will be protected
by the attorney client and attorney work product privilege between LAW FIRM and
__________. Only __________ may determine whether the interview is disclosed to anyone
else. At this time, no decision has been made as to whether __________will disclose the
interview to any third party. However, __________ retains the right to waive its privilege, and
to disclose the interview to third parties, including government officials.
In addition, as part of the internal inquiry, __________ may collect and review documents. This
includes documents created, reviewed, or edited by its employees or any documents originating,
transmitted to, or saved on any __________ file, server, inbox or other storage receptacle. It is
important to stress to you that you should not delete or destroy any documents relevant to this
matter. If you have any questions regarding what may be relevant, please follow up and ask the
designated person.

Please do not discuss the substance of the interview with other __________ employees, or
anyone else. This is a confidential inquiry, and __________ is only interested in learning the
truth.
C.

Your Rights in Connection with the Interview

LAW FIRM has been retained by ____________ to represent __________ interest. LAW FIRM
does not represent any individual in connection with this inquiry. Therefore, you should not
consider counsel's communications with you to be protected by any privilege.
As an employee of __________, please cooperate with LAW FIRM in conducting the interview.
However, __________ is committed to making sure that you are comfortable with the process.
Neither LAW FIRM nor __________ can give you legal advice; if you want to talk with an
outside attorney, the interview may be rescheduled. If not, we would like to proceed with the
interview as planned.
By signing below, I affirm that I have read this letter, understand, and consent to going forward
with the interview.

_________________________________________________
Signature
_________________________________________________
(Print Name)
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___________
Date

Privileged and Confidential
Prepared at Direction of Legal Counsel
Attorney Work Product
Memorandum
To:

All _____________ Employees and Associates

From:

_____________

Date:

_____________

Re:

All Employee Update – Our Commitment to Compliance

_____________ is strongly committed to doing business the right way. In keeping with
that commitment, we are informing all employees about a recent situation concerning industry
regulations and our internal compliance program.
We were recently informed of allegations of misconduct that relate to certain practices that
are not in line with our compliance program. When we learned about these allegations, we
immediately launched an internal review. Before our assessment was complete, we were contacted
by the [INSERT] with the request that we assist the [INSERT] in investigating the same
_____________ activities. At this point, our knowledge of the allegations is very limited and we
cannot speculate on details until we learn more.
As you know, _____________ is unwavering in our commitment to compliance with all
state and federal laws and regulations that govern our business. We welcome and intend to fully
cooperate with the investigation and fully respect the process that is now underway. We also plan
to continue with our own internal audit in order to identify any _____________ policies that may
have been violated and to ensure that we have the proper guidelines and protocols in place.
While it is still early in the process, we have engaged an outside law firm, LAW FIRM, to
ensure that we have the right resources to properly manage the investigation and review process.
I.

Interviews with Government Representatives

It is possible that employees may be contacted directly for interviews by government
representatives. These contacts may occur at an employee’s home after hours or at
_____________ during work. If contacted by a government agent seeking an interview pertaining
to _____________ business, employees are requested to immediately notify _____________, our
General Counsel, and their Supervisor. If contacted during non-business hours, employees are
encouraged to contact _____________ or their Supervisor on their cell phones.
Employees have the right to decide whether to be interviewed, and may lawfully decline.
Employees also have the right to consult with an attorney, either a _____________ attorney or the
employee’s own private attorney, before deciding to be interviewed. The employee also may defer
an interview, until an attorney has been consulted. If an employee agrees to be interviewed by a

Privileged and Confidential
Prepared at Direction of Legal Counsel
Attorney Work Product
government representative, the employee may determine the location, time, length and scope of
the interview. An employee has the right to terminate an interview at any time after it has begun.
It is often very important to take the time to prepare for an interview with counsel. In any
interview in which the employee elects to participate, the employee MUST ALWAYS TELL THE
TRUTH to the best of his or her knowledge and belief. An intentional false statement to a
government agent may constitute a crime.
II.

Document Retention

All employees must retain and preserve any records that may be relevant to the
investigation. All employees are receiving a separate memorandum providing details about their
obligations to preserve existing records.
In addition, each employee must also take steps to preserve from destruction all potentially
relevant records that, without intervention, would automatically be destroyed or erased (such as emails or voicemail messages). Destruction of such records, even if inadvertent, could seriously
prejudice _____________ and any employee involved. If you have any questions regarding
whether a particular record pertains to an investigation or regarding how to preserve particular
types of records, you should contact _____________ for advice.
III.

Responding to Subpoenas and Requests for Documents and Records

Employees also may be served subpoenas by a government agency. The subpoena may be
served on the employee at work or at home, before or after business hours. The subpoena may
request that the employee testify at a proceeding or that the employee produce documents at a
specific time and place, or it may request both testimony and production of documents.
The rules governing subpoenas are very complex. Unlike interviews, where the employee
may choose not to participate, the employee is legally bound to respond to a subpoena. If you
receive a subpoena, please notify your Supervisor and _____________ immediately. You should
also feel free to discuss any concerns you may have with _____________. [He or She] is available
to consult with employees and to provide them with additional information about these topics.
IV.

Contact Information:

_____________
_____________
_____________
As you may know, it is not uncommon for companies in our industry to be the subject of a
governmental inquiry; however, we are taking this matter seriously and remain diligent in our
approach to good practices. We will continue to operate with the highest standards and live our
core values of Integrity, Commitment and Accountability moving forward.
2
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This situation will not affect our day-to-day activities or our interaction with our customers,
so please continue with your daily activities and conduct business as usual. In the meantime, we
ask that all employees refrain from speculation while our internal review and the government
process move ahead. We consider all aspects of our internal review strictly confidential, and ask
that you please cooperate with our legal counsel, if you are contacted for assistance.
Thank you.

3

SAMPLE WITNESS WARNINGS
My name is ______________. I am an attorney with the law firm of LAW FIRM. My
firm is legal counsel for the Company. Introduce _______________ [HR person or Company
representative].
The purpose of this interview is to obtain information about ____________________. It
is very important that you provide full, complete and truthful answers during the interview. If at
any time during the interview you don’t understand our questions or need clarification, just let us
know. There are a few things I need to explain before we begin.
(1)

Please understand that I am conducting a review of this matter on behalf of the
Company. I am counsel for, and represent, the Company.

(2)

Even though you are an employee of the Company, I do not represent you or any
other Company employee. As the Company’s lawyer, I represent the Company’s
interests and do not represent your interests if they are separate from those of the
Company. I intend to report the results of this interview to the Company so that it
may be considered along with other information collected during our review.

(3)

This conversation is protected by the attorney-client privilege and the attorney
work-product privilege, but these privileges belong to the Company and not to you
personally. That means that you have an obligation to keep the matters we discuss
confidential, but the Company can waive the privileges to permit disclosure of the
information you provide to law enforcement or regulatory authorities outside the
Company. You should assume that all of the information you provide will be
disclosed by the Company to its officers, joint venture partners, board of directors,
and/or to government representatives.

At this point in time, we do not know what, if anything, the Company will do with the
information you provide. However, in the interests of full disclosure, it is possible that the
information could be used against you in legal proceedings including, at least potentially, the filing
of criminal charges if the evidence shows that laws were violated.
As an employee of the Company, you have an obligation to cooperate with us in conducting
this review. But we want to make sure that you are comfortable with the process. We can’t give
you legal advice but you should know that you have the right to consult with an attorney of your
choosing before going forward with this interview. If you want to talk with an attorney, we can
reschedule for a few days from now. If not, we would like to interview you today. We can
accommodate reasonable requests for additional time to gather information or to consult with an
attorney, but the Company reserves the right to terminate your employment if you refuse to
cooperate with us. Are you willing to proceed with the interview now that the procedures and
implications have been explained to you?
No one has given, offered, or promised me anything, nor coerced or threatened me in any
way, to provide this information. I understand the importance of providing true and accurate
information, and I agree to do so.
Witness Initials: _____ Date: _____

By signing below, I affirm that I have read this memo, understand, and consent to going
forward with the interview.
___________________________________________
Signature

______________________
Date

___________________________________________
(Print Name)
___________________________________________
Witness
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Witness Initials: _____ Date: _____

Joshua I. Bosin leads the firm's Labor, Employment and Benefits Practice Group in its
Atlanta office. He is a trial lawyer who defends major corporations, educational institutions
and governmental entities throughout the United States in complex matters involving
federal and state anti-discrimination laws, constitutional law, minimum wage and overtime
statutes, the WARN Act, executive employment agreements, non-competition and nonsolicitation agreements, trade secret and unfair competition laws, and numerous other
state and local laws and regulations. Mr. Bosin's practice also includes counseling and
representing employers in connection with labor union matters and resisting union
organizing efforts.
Mr. Bosin serves as outside labor and employment general counsel for several private
colleges and secondary schools in Georgia. In addition, Mr. Bosin served as Hall County,
Georgia's lead litigation counsel during the firm's engagement as Interim County Attorney
in 2011.

Clients turn to Mr. Bosin for training and advice in the areas of workplace and sexual
harassment, discrimination and retaliation, employee discipline and termination,
reductions-in-force, confidential and proprietary information, employment and separation
agreements and workplace ethics. Mr. Bosin also conducts comprehensive internal audits
of human resources policies and procedures.

His experience includes conducting comprehensive Disparity Studies involving minority
and women business enterprises (MWBEs), disadvantaged business enterprises (DBEs),
and small disadvantaged businesses (SDBs) for numerous state and local governments and
public authorities.
Mr. Bosin maintains active membership in a variety of legal and professional organizations
and has been recognized for his achievements locally and nationally, including the
following: Georgia Super Lawyers magazine; Best LGBT Lawyers Under 40, The National
LGBT Bar Association; Leadership Council on Legal Diversity, Fellows Program; Georgia
Legal Elite, Georgia Trend magazine; and the State Bar of Georgia Young Lawyers Division
Leadership Academy.
Prior to joining the firm, Mr. Bosin worked in Artist and Repertoire Administration at the
Atlantic Recording Corporation (Warner Music Group) and in Business and Legal Affairs at
VH1: Music First (MTV Networks).

Trisha Rich is a partner in Holland & Knight’s Chicago office, where she practices in two
areas: commercial litigation and legal ethics and professional responsibility law.

As a member of the firm's Legal Profession Team, Ms. Rich advises lawyers, law firms, and
in-house counsel on a variety of issues related to professional responsibility and legal
ethics, including professional responsibility, malpractice, sexual harassment in the legal
field, partnership and corporate structuring, law firm management and employment issues,
fee disputes, conflicts, confidentiality, and privilege, as well as all areas of legal ethics. Ms.
Rich is a member of the Association of Professional Responsibility Lawyers, and is a
national voice on legal ethics issues. She has worked as an adjunct professor at
Northwestern University School of Law in the area of legal ethics and professional
responsibility. Ms. Rich also serves as the Deputy Professional Responsibility Partner for
the Chicago office of Holland & Knight. Prior to practicing law, Ms. Rich taught practical and
theoretical ethics at two universities.
In her commercial litigation practice, Ms. Rich represents a wide variety of clients in
litigation and other disputes, including national and international companies, financial
institutions, small businesses, municipalities and state agencies, and individuals. She has
extensive experience in resolving disputes between businesses and represents clients at
the trial and appellate levels in a wide variety of matters, including actions for breach of
contract, tort claims, breach of warranty, fraud, consumer fraud, deceptive trade practices,
tortious interference and all aspects of real estate, property management and receivership
litigation. Ms. Rich also has extensive experience in financial services and consumer
financial litigation.
Ms. Rich is active in several different legal, philanthropic, and political organizations. This
year, she was honored as one of Crain’s Chicago 40 Under 40, the only practicing attorney
included on the annual list. She’s also been included in Crain’s Chicago's Notable Women
Lawyers, Law Bulletin Media’s Forty Under 40 Illinois Lawyers to Watch, and with a
number of awards related to her pro bono legal work, including with Holland & Knight’s
Living the Commitment Award and with the Chicago Bar Foundation’s Maurice Weigle
Exceptional Young Lawyer Award.
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GEORGIA MANDATORY CLE FACT SHEET
Every “active” attorney in Georgia must attend 12 “approved” CLE hours of instruction annually,
with one of the CLE hours being in the area of legal ethics and one of the CLE hours being in the
area of professionalism. Furthermore, any attorney who appears as sole or lead counsel in the
Superior or State Courts of Georgia in any contested civil case or in the trial of a criminal case in
1990 or in any subsequent calendar year, must complete for such year a minimum of three hours
of continuing legal education activity in the area of trial practice. These trial practice hours are
included in, and not in addition to, the 12 hour requirement. ICLE is an “accredited” provider of
“approved” CLE instruction.
Excess creditable CLE hours (i.e., over 12) earned in one CY may be carried over into the next
succeeding CY. Excess ethics and professionalism credits may be carried over for two years. Excess
trial practice hours may be carried over for one year.
A portion of your ICLE name tag is your ATTENDANCE CONFIRMATION which indicates the
program name, date, amount paid, CLE hours (including ethics, professionalism and trial
practice, if any) and should be retained for your personal CLE and tax records. DO NOT SEND
THIS CARD TO THE COMMISSION!
ICLE will electronically transmit computerized CLE attendance records directly into the Oﬃcial
State Bar Membership computer records for recording on the attendee’s Bar record. Attendees
at ICLE programs need do nothing more as their attendance will be recorded in their Bar
record.
Should you need CLE credit in a state other than Georgia, please inquire as to the procedure at
the registration desk. ICLE does not guarantee credit in any state other than Georgia.
If you have any questions concerning attendance credit at ICLE seminars, please call:
678-529-6688

Follow ICLE on social media:
http://www.facebook.com/iclega
bit.ly/ICLELinkedIn
#iclega

INSTITUTE OF CONTINUING LEGAL EDUCATION

www.gabar.org/ICLE

